AFT Fathom™

Examples - English Units

AFT Fathom Version 13

Incompressible Pipe Flow Modeling

Published: September 13, 2023



Dynamic solutions for a fluid world ™

Contents

Walk-Through Examples	4
Beginner - Three Reservoir	
Sizing a Pump	34
Control Valve	
Heat Transfer in a Pipe	
Heat Exchanger System	
Spray Discharge System	
Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves	
Freon Delivery System with Heat Transfer	73
Cooling System	80
Housing Project	
Beginner - Cost Calculation	
Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping	
NFPA Firewater System	
Crude Oil Pipeline	
Hot Water System	
Plant Cooling Cost Calculation	
Non-Newtonian Mill Discharge Slurry	
Module Walk-Through Examples	
Goal Seek and Control (GSC) Examples	
Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC	
Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves - GSC	
Cooling System - GSC	
Model Calibration with Pipe Variables - GSC	

Spray Discharge System - GSC	
Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature - GSC	
NFPA Firewater System - GSC	
Extended Time Simulation (XTS) Examples	
Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS	
Reservoir Balance - XTS	
Valve Closing - XTS	
Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature - XTS	
Housing Project - XTS	
Variable Demand - XTS	
Settling Slurry (SSL) Examples	
Beginner - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System - SSL	
Slurries with Variable Fluid Properties - SSL	
Slurry System Feasibility Study - SSL (Metric Only)	
Automated Network Sizing (ANS) Examples	
Beginner - Three Reservoir Problem - ANS	
Control Valve - ANS	
Cooling System - Creating Libraries - ANS	
Cooling System - ANS	
Cooling System, Multiple Design Cases - ANS	
Hot Water System - ANS	
Variable Drive - ANS	
Housing Project - ANS	
Combined Modules Examples	441
Fixed Head Supply Tank - GSC XTS	441
Index	

Walk-Through Examples

The AFT Fathom Walk-Through Examples are designed to get new users trained to use AFT Fathom correctly in the shortest amount of time. If you are using AFT Fathom for the first time, start with the <u>Beginner</u> - <u>Three Reservoir Example</u> because it offers an in-depth explanation of how to use AFT Fathom. Otherwise, choose an example from the table below that you wish to learn more about. For examples using the AFT Fathom Add-on Modules, see the AFT Fathom Modules Overview.

Completed versions of the example model files are included with the default installation: C:\AFT Product-s\AFT Fathom 13\Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
<u>Beginner - Three</u> <u>Reservoir</u>	Beginner	Water	3	_	A new AFT Fathom user should start here. Get in- depth instructions of model building by solving a clas- sic three reservoir flow problem. Learn how to define a fluid in Analysis Setup, place pipes and junctions on the Work- space, define pipes and junctions, use the Model Data window, run a model, use the Output window, generate graphs in the Graph Results window, and view results in the Visual Report window.
<u>Sizing a Pump</u>	Beginner	Water	2	1	Learn how to size a pump to get the desired flowrate and head through an open system. Explore the dif- ferences between the Siz- ing and Pump Curve features in the Pump junc- tion. See how to interpret results, select a pump curve, and generate a Pump vs. System curve graph.
Control Valve	Beginner	Water	2	-	Learn about the Control Valve junction and how to use the Valve Summary tab in the Output window. See how to use the results

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
					to adjust the pipe size until reaching a desired min- imum pressure drop across the control valve.
<u>Heat Transfer in a</u> <u>Pipe</u>	Beginner	Water	1	-	Learn how to enable heat transfer calculations in Analysis Setup and how to use the Convective Heat Transfer model on the Heat Transfer tab of the Pipe Properties window. See how to use the Output Control window to display relevant heat transfer out- put parameters.
<u>Heat Exchanger</u> <u>System</u>	Beginner	Water	7	1	Learn how to define a Resistance Curve in a Heat Exchanger junction and how to size a pump in a closed system. See how to use the Pump Summary and Heat Exchanger Sum- mary tabs in the Output window and how to gen- erate a Pump vs. System Curve in the Graph Res- ults window.
<u>Spray Discharge</u> <u>System</u>	Beginner	Water	11	-	Learn how to define the Spray Discharge junction using the Cd Spray Loss Model. See how to use the Output Control window to display the discharged flow rate parameter. Fin- ally, learn how to enable the Isometric Grid on the Workspace, route pipes on the grid, and rotate junc- tions.
Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves	Beginner	Water	9	1	Learn how to resolve the Reference Pressure Needed window that may appear when modeling

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
					pumps and flow control valves in series. See how to use the results to select a pump curve for the sys- tem.
Freon Delivery Sys- tem with Heat <u>Transfer</u>	Beginner	R11 and R123	7	1	Learn how to enable heat transfer, use a NIST REFPROP fluid, and use the Convective Heat Trans- fer model in a Heat Exchanger junction. See how to view and interpret temperature results in the Pipes section of the Output window.
Cooling System	Beginner	Water	20	2	Learn how to import pump curve data to evaluate the performance of different pump curves. See how to use the Pump Summary tab in the Output window to view the power con- sumed by the pumps.
Housing Project	Beginner	Water	25	-	Learn how to use Scenario Manager and Global Pipe Edit to rapidly change pipes sizes to analyze dif- ferent system con- figurations. Also see how Assigned Flow junctions and Special Conditions work.
Beginner - Cost Calculation	Beginner	Water	10	1	Learn how to add, con- nect, and use both engin- eering and cost libraries. See how to define the Cost Settings panel in Analysis Setup, include objects in the cost calculations, and view the Cost Report in the Output window.
Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pump-	Beginner	Phosphate	2	1	Learn how to use and com- pare the Homogeneous

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
ing					Scale-up, Power Law, and Bingham Plastic non-New- tonian viscosity models in a simple system.
<u>NFPA Firewater</u> <u>System</u>	Beginner	Water	71	-	Learn how to enable NFPA calculations in the Mis- cellaneous group in Ana- lysis Setup. Explore how to use Groups to create an NFPA Report. See where to find the NFPA Report in the Output window.
<u>Crude Oil Pipeline</u>	Intermediate	Viscous Fluid	3	1	Learn how to specify a User Defined Fluid. See how results change when using the Viscosity Cor- rection on the Optional tab of the Pump Properties window. Explore the sens- itivity of junction elevation of pump speed as it relates to pressure in the system.
Hot Water System	Intermediate	Water	24	3	Learn how to add, con- nect, and use a library to define a pump curve. See how to use Global Junction Edit to rapidly apply changes. Explore how to use the Pump Con- figurations feature and Scenario Manager to ana- lyze the performance effects of impeller size and pump speed.
Plant Cooling Cost Calculation	Intermediate	Water	34	4	Explore how to create cost libraries for pipe materials, pipe fittings and losses, and junctions. Learn how to use the Library Manager window to connect lib- raries. See how to interpret the Cost Report in the Out- put window.

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
<u>Non-Newtonian</u> <u>Mill Discharge</u> <u>Slurry</u>	Intermediate	Mill Dis- charge Slurry	1	-	Learn how to use raw rhe- ological data to define the Bingham Plastic, Power Law, and Homogeneous Scale-up viscosity models. See how the various vis- cosity models produce dif- ferent results using the Multi-Scenario Output fea- ture.

Beginner - Three Reservoir

Summary

This example provides an overview of AFT Fathom's layout and structure. The basic features will be used to build a three-pipe, four-junction model to solve the classic three-reservoir problem.

Topics Covered

- Drawing the system with pipes and junctions
- Entering pipe and junction properties
- Completing Analysis Setup

Required Knowledge

No previous experience with AFT Fathom is required to complete this example. It begins with the most basic elements of laying out the pipes and junctions and solving the system hydraulics with the Newton-Raphson methodology.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Beginner - Three Reservoir.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

To start AFT Fathom, click Start on the Windows taskbar, choose AFT Fathom 13, and launch the program. (This refers to the standard menu items created by setup. You may have chosen to specify a different menu item during installation).

As AFT Fathom starts, the start-up screen, as shown in Figure 1, appears with several options before to start building a model. Some of the actions available are:

- Open a recent model, browse to a model file, or browse to an Example
- Activate an Add-on Module
- Select ASME Water or a recently used fluid to be the Working Fluid
- Review or modify Modeling Preferences
 - Select a Unit System
 - Filter units to include Common Only or Common Plus Selected Industries
 - Choose a Grid Style
 - Select a default Pipe Material
- Access other Resources, such as Quick Start Guides, Help Files, and Video Tutorials

Note: If you are working through the Metric Units version of the Examples, be sure to specify either Metric Only or Both with Metric Defaults as the unit set by modifying the Modeling Preferences.

OPEN A MODEL	START A NEW MODEL	RESOURCES
ly Files	Activate Modules (license needed)	What's New?
<u>lo Files Available</u>	XTS (Time Simulation) GSC (Goal Seek & Control) SSL (Settling Slurries) ANS (Automated Network Sizing)	New in Fathom 13 E ² You are currently using: Release (2023 07.11) Build: 13.0.1053
	Select Working Fluid I Will Select Fluid Later Use ASIME Water Select A Recently Used Fluid	View the Latest Release Notes 2 Subscribe to Receive Notifications 2 Getting Started
	AFT: Water (liquid) v Pressure: psia v Temperature: deg. F v Model Heat Transfer	Quick Start PDF US © Metric 0 Quick Start Video US & Metric 0 Examples Help File US © Metric 0
ther Files	Modeling Preferences Modify >>	Learning Center
Browse to a File	Units: All US and Metric units (US defaults) Language: English Interface: 2-D workspace, grid notshown Default Pipe Materiait. None	Video Tutorials 앱 Case Studies 앱 Tips and Tricks 앱
Browse to Examples		Training Seminars I ²⁷ Webinars I ²⁷

Figure 1: AFT Fathom 13 Start-Up Window

After clicking the Start Building Model button on the start-up window, the Workspace window is initially always the active (large) window, as seen in Figure 2. The tabs such as "Workspace" in the AFT Fathom window represent the Primary Windows. Each Primary Window contains its own toolbar that is displayed directly beneath the Primary Window tabs.

AFT Fathom supports dual monitor usage. You can click and drag any of the primary window tabs off of the main AFT Fathom window. Once you drag one of the primary windows off of the AFT Fathom window, you can move it anywhere you like on your screen, including onto a second monitor in a dual monitor configuration. To add the primary window back to the main Fathom primary tab window bar, simply click the X button in the upper right of the primary window.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be ran using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

The Workspace window

The Workspace window is the primary vehicle for building your model. This window has three main areas: the Toolbox, the Quick Access Panel, and the Workspace itself. The Toolbox is the bundle of tools on the far left.

The <u>Quick Access Panel</u> is on the right. It is possible to minimize the Quick Access Panel by clicking on the thumbtack pin in the upper right of the Quick Access Panel in order to allow for greater Workspace area.

The Workspace takes up the rest of the window.

You will build your pipe flow model on the Workspace using the Toolbox tools. At the top of the Toolbox is the Pipe Drawing Tool and Annotation Tool. The Pipe Drawing tool, on the upper left, is used to draw new pipes on the Workspace. The Annotation tool allows you to create annotations and auxiliary graphics.

Below the two drawing tools are twenty-three icons that represent the different types of junctions available in AFT Fathom. Junctions are objects that connect pipes and also influence the pressure or flow behavior of the pipe system. The twenty-three junction icons can be dragged from the Toolbox and dropped onto the Workspace.

When you pass your mouse pointer over any of the Toolbox tools, a tooltip identifies the tool's function.



Figure 2: The Workspace window is where the model is built

Step 2. Complete the Analysis Setup

>Next, click Analysis Setup on the Toolbar that runs across the top of the AFT Fathom window. This opens Analysis Setup (see Figure 3). Analysis Setup contains seven groups (additional groups will be displayed if the GSC, XTS or ANS modules are active). Each group needs to be completed (indicated with a green checkmark next to the group name) before AFT Fathom allows you to run the Solver.

Analysis Setup can also be accessed by clicking on the Status Light on the <u>Quick Access Panel</u>. Once the Analysis Setup is complete, the Model Status light turns from red to green.

Analys	is Setup			Х
20	Modules	\sim	Ruid	
<u></u>	Fluid Properties	^	○ AFT Standard	
	Fluid		○ Chempak Fluid ○ NIST REFPROP ○ ASME Steam/Water	
	Viscosity Model Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids Laminar and Non-Newtonian Corrections	5	Name: User Specified Fluid Properties Pressure: Issia	
8!	Pipes and Junctions	^	Temperature: deg. F V	
	Pipes and Junctions			
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim		
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Density:I lbm/ft3	
%⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Vapor Pressure: psia v	
	Miscellaneous	\sim		
			Edit Fluid List	
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🧐 Help	el

Figure 3: The Analysis Setup tracks the model's status and allows users to specify required parameters

A. Define the Modules Group

Although Analysis Setup initially opens to the Fluid panel of the Fluid Properties group, the first group, Modules, always has a green check when you start AFT Fathom because there are no modules activated by default. No further input is required here for this example.

B. Define the Fluid Properties Group

Next is the Fluid Properties group. This group allows you to specify your fluid properties (density, dynamic viscosity, and optional vapor pressure), viscosity model, heat transfer, and fluid corrections. Start by clicking on Fluid to open the **Fluid panel** (see Figure 4).

You can model the fluid properties using the following data sources:

- 1. **AFT Standard:** This fluid model uses fluid data from the AFT Standard library. These fluid properties are either temperature dependent or dependent on the solids concentration. Type in the desired condition (e.g., temperature), click the Calculate Properties button and the required properties are calculated. Users can add their own fluids to this option. This model supports heat transfer analysis if specific heat and thermal conductivity data is included. Custom fluids are created by opening the Library Manager window from the Library menu or by clicking the Edit Fluid List button on the Fluid panel.
- 2. **User Specified Fluid:** This fluid model allows you to directly type in the density, viscosity and vapor pressure. You cannot perform heat transfer analysis with a User Specified Fluid fluid.
- 3. **User Library Fluid:** This fluid model allows you to select user created fluids that are stored in the user's Fluid Library. You can perform heat transfer analysis with a User Library Fluid fluid if

specific heat, thermal conductivity, enthalpy data has been included in the fluid properties.

- 4. **ASME Steam/Water:** This fluid model obtains water data from the ASME Steam tables built into AFT Fathom. It also supports steam data, which can be used in AFT Fathom if incompressible.
- 5. **NIST REFPROP:** This fluid model allows you to select a single fluid or create a mixture of fluids from the REFPROP list. These fluid properties are pressure and temperature dependent, although some are temperature dependent only. This fluid model supports heat transfer analysis.
- 6. **Chempak Fluid:** This fluid model allows you to select a single fluid or create a mixture of fluids from the Chempak list. These fluid properties are pressure and temperature dependent, although some are temperature dependent only. This fluid model supports heat transfer analysis. Chempak is an optional add-on.

After selecting ASME Steam/Water, NIST REFPROP, or Chempak Fluid, you must then select a Fluid Phase: Liquid or Gas. Then, upon entering a pressure, AFT Fathom will display a temperature range applicable to liquid or gas, depending upon which was selected.

Note: Because heat transfer has a significant impact on compressible flow fluid properties and AFT Fathom calculates flow on an incompressible basis, heat transfer is disabled when Gas is selected as the Fluid Phase.

Select AFT Standard, by clicking the radio button next to the name. Then choose Water (liquid) from the list and click Add to Model. The properties for AFT Standard water are given only as a function of temperature. Enter 70 deg. F in the temperature box and click the Calculate Properties button.

Check the groups on the left side of Analysis Setup and you should now see the second group is checked complete with green checkmarks.

20	Modules	~	Fluid							
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	~	AFT Standard U	ser Specified Fluid	O User Library Fluid					
0	*Fluid		◯ Chempak Fluid ◯ N	IST REFPROP	O ASME Steam/Wat	er -				
	Viscosity Model		Fluids Available in Library				Ruid Properties			
	Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids		Name			^	Praeeura		neia	~
	Laminar and Non-Newtonian Corrections		Steam @ 250 psia Steam @ 50 psia				Temperature:	70	deg F	~
8!	Pipes and Junctions	^	Steam @ 500 psia Steam @ 750 psia				Range: 32 to 41	3.33 deg. F		
1	Pipes and Junctions		Sulfur Dioxide (liquid) Sulfur Trioxide (liquid)				Density:	62.34661	lbm/ft3	~
20	Steady Solution Control	~	Toluene (liquid)				Dynamic Viscosity:	2.3664	lbm/hr-ft	~
Ø	Environmental Properties	~	Water (liquid)			~	Vapor Pressure:	0.36337	psia	\sim
? 0	Cost Settings	~	V Add to Model V Fluids in Current Model				(optional)			
0	Miscellaneous	\sim	Water (liquid)			Remove Fluid				
						Add to Library				
			Alias: Water		Reset					
			Edit Fluid List							
	inee All Gmune		Same As Parent -	3 Help	1				🖌 ок	🔀 Ca

Figure 4: The Fluid panel lets you enter physical properties

On the **Viscosity Model panel**, users can specify how AFT Fathom will treat viscosity. By default, Newtonian is the viscosity model selected. AFT Fathom offers a variety of non-Newtonian models. However, for this example, the default selection of Newtonian will suffice.

On the **Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids panel**, users can specify variable fluid properties or enable heat transfer. For models with variable fluid properties, the values for density and viscosity are default fluid

properties. You can then enter different property values, if desired, for any pipe in the Pipe Properties window. Fluids that allow heat transfer can be modeled by choosing the Heat Transfer with Energy Balance option. In this case, you will be required to also enter heat transfer information for the pipes and temperature for some of the junctions. By default, Constant Fluid Properties is selected and will suffice for this example.

On the **Laminar and Non-Newtonian Corrections panel**, users can specify the type of corrections that the solver will apply when flow is laminar or if a non-Newtonian viscosity model is selected. The default selections are applicable for most cases, so no input is required for this example.

C. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

In order to fully define this group, there needs to be pipes and junctions on the Workspace. To lay out the classic three-reservoir model, you will place the three reservoir junctions and a branch junction on the Workspace. Then you will connect the junctions with pipes.

To go back to the Workspace and save the inputs made in Analysis Setup, click OK.

I. Place the first reservoir

To start, click on and drag a reservoir junction from the Toolbox and drop it on the Workspace. Figure 5 shows the Workspace with one reservoir.

Objects and ID numbers

Items placed on the Workspace are called *objects*. All objects are derived directly or indirectly from the Toolbox. AFT Fathom uses three types of objects: *pipes*, *junctions*, and *annotations*.

All pipe and junction objects on the Workspace have an associated ID number. For junctions, this number is, by default, placed directly above the junction and prefixed with the letter J. Pipe ID numbers are prefixed with the letter P. You can optionally choose to display either or both the ID number and the name of a pipe or junction. You also can drag the ID number/name text to a different location to improve visibility.

The reservoir you placed on the Workspace will take on the default ID number of 1. You can change this to any desired number greater than zero and up to 99,999.

Editing on the Workspace

Once on the Workspace, junction objects can be moved to new locations and edited with the features on the Edit menu. Cutting, copying, and pasting are all supported.



Figure 5: Three Reservoir Problem with one reservoir placed

II. Place the second and third reservoirs

The remaining two reservoirs can be created the same way as the first one or they can be derived from the existing reservoir.

To create a second reservoir from the existing one, select junction J1 by clicking it with the mouse. A red outline will surround the junction. Choose Duplicate from the Edit menu and move the J2 junction to the right of J1. Your Workspace should appear similar to that shown in Figure 6.

If you like, you can Undo the Duplicate operation and then Redo it to see how these editing features work. To undo an operation, click on the undo button on the Toolbar or choose Undo from the Edit menu. To redo an operation, choose Redo from the Edit menu.

To create the third junction, select one of the two reservoirs on the Workspace and once again choose Duplicate from the Edit menu. Arrange the three junctions, numbered J1, J2, and J3, as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 6: Three Reservoir Problem with two reservoirs placed



Figure 7: Three Reservoir Problem with three reservoirs placed

III. Place a branch junction

To add a Branch junction, select a Branch from the Toolbox and place it on the Workspace as shown in Figure 8. The Branch will be assigned the default number J4.

Note: The relative location of objects in AFT Fathom is not important. Distances and heights are defined through dialog boxes. The relative locations on the Workspace establish the *connectivity* of the objects, but have **no bearing on the actual length or elevation relationships.**

Before continuing, save the work you have done so far. Choose Save As from the File menu and enter a file name (Three Reservoir Problem, perhaps) and AFT Fathom will append the *.fth* extension to the file name.



Figure 8: Three Reservoir Problem with all junctions placed

IV. Draw a pipe between J1 and J4

Now that you have four junctions, you need to connect them with pipes.

To create a pipe, click the Pipe Drawing tool icon. The pointer will change to a crosshair when you move it over the Workspace. Draw a pipe above the junctions, similar to that shown in Figure 9.

The pipe object on the Workspace has an ID number (P1) shown near the center of the pipe.

To place the pipe between J1 and J4, use the mouse to grab the pipe in the center, drag it so that its left endpoint falls within the J1 Reservoir icon, then drop it there (see Figure 10). Next, grab the right endpoint of the pipe and stretch the pipe, dragging it until the endpoint terminates within the J4 Branch icon (see Figure 11).



Figure 9: Three Reservoir Problem with first pipe drawn



Figure 10: Three Reservoir Problem with first pipe inlet end connected



Figure 11: Three Reservoir Problem with first pipe connected

Reference positive flow direction

Located on the pipe is an arrow that indicates the reference positive flow direction for the pipe. AFT Fathom assigns a flow direction corresponding to the direction in which the pipe is drawn. You can reverse the reference positive flow direction by choosing Reverse Direction from the Arrange menu or selecting the reverse direction button on the Workspace Toolbar.

In general, the reference positive flow direction indicates which direction is considered positive. However, when used with pumps and certain other junction types the pipes must be in the correct flow direction because that is how AFT Fathom determines which side is suction and which is discharge. If the reference positive direction is the opposite of that obtained by the Solver, the output will show the flow rate as a **negative number**.

V. Add the remaining pipes

A faster way to add a pipe is to draw it directly between the desired junctions.

➤Activate the pipe drawing tool again (double-click to allow pipe drawing tool to stay active). Position the cursor on the J4 Branch. Press and hold the left mouse button. Stretch the pipe to the J2 Reservoir then release the mouse button. Then draw a third pipe from the J4 Branch to the J3 Reservoir. Your model should now look similar to Figure 12. In Figure 12, the J3 label has been moved slightly to the left (using drag-and-drop) so it is more visible.

At this point all the objects in the model are graphically connected. Save the model by selecting Save from the File menu or Toolbar.

Note: It is generally desirable to lock your objects to the Workspace once they have been placed. This prevents accidental movement and disruption of the connections. You can lock all the objects by choosing Select All from the Edit menu, then selecting Lock Object from the Arrange menu. The lock button on the Toolbar will appear depressed indicating it is in an enabled state, and will remain so as long as any selected object is locked. Alternatively, you can use the grid feature enabled from the Arrange menu or the User Options under the Tools menu bar and specify that the pipes and junctions snap to grid.



Figure 12: Three Reservoir Problem with all objects connected

VI. Define the pipes and junctions

To fully define the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup, all pipes and junctions must be connected and have the proper input data.

Object status

Every pipe and junction has an object status. The object status tells you whether the object is defined according to AFT Fathom's requirements. To see the status of the objects in your model, click the flood-light icon on the Workspace Toolbar (alternatively, you could choose Show Object Status from the View menu). Each time you click the floodlight, Show Object Status is toggled on or off.

When Show Object Status is on, the ID numbers for all undefined pipes and junctions are displayed in red on the Workspace. Objects that are completely defined have their ID numbers displayed in black. (These colors are configurable through User Options from the Tools menu.)

Because you have not yet defined the pipes and junctions in this sample problem, all the objects' ID numbers will change to red when you turn on Show Object Status.

Undefined Objects window

The Undefined Objects window lists all undefined pipes and junctions and further displays the items that are not yet defined.

VII. Define Reservoir J1

To define the first reservoir, open the J1 Reservoir Properties window (see Figure 13) by doubleclicking the J1 icon. Enter a reservoir Liquid Surface Elevation of 300 feet. You can assign any unit of length found in the adjacent dropdown list of units.

Note: You can also open an object's Properties window by selecting the object (clicking on it) and then either pressing the Enter key or clicking the Open Pipe/Jct Window icon on the Toolbar.

>Enter a Liquid Surface Pressure of 0 psig and a Pipe Depth of 0 feet.

Note: You can specify preferred units for many parameters (such as meters for length) in the User Options window.

You can give the object a name, if desired, by entering it in the Name field at the top of the window. In Figure 13, the name of this reservoir is Supply Tank A. By default the junction's name is the junction type. The name can be displayed on the Workspace, Visual Report or in the Output.

Most junction types can be entered into a custom library allowing the junction to be used multiple times or shared between users. To select a junction from the custom library, choose the desired junction from the Library list. The current junction will get the properties from the library junction.

The Copy Data From Jct list will show all the junctions of the same type in the model. This will copy the selected parameters from an existing junction in the model to the current junction.

The pipe table on the **Pipe Depth & Loss Coefficients** tab allows you to specify entrance and exit loss factors for each pipe connected to the reservoir (in this case there is one). You can enter standard losses by selecting the option buttons at the right. The default selection is the Custom option with loss factors specified as zero. To later change the loss factors, click within the pipe table and enter the loss. You can also specify a depth for the pipe.

The **Optional** tab allows you to enter different types of optional data. You can select whether the junction number, name, or both are displayed on the Workspace. Some junction types also allow you to specify an initial pressure as well as other junction specific-data. The junction icon graphic can be changed, as can the size of the icon.

Design Alerts can be entered for most junctions, which are applied to the pressure loss calculations for the junction in order to give additional safety margin to the model.

Each junction has a tab for **Notes**, allowing you to enter text describing the junction or documenting any assumptions.

The **Status** tab will list undefined parameters of the junction.

The highlight feature displays all the required information in the Properties window in light blue as shown in Figure 13. The highlight is on by default. You can toggle the highlight off and on by double-clicking anywhere in the window or by pressing the F2 key. The highlight feature can also be turned on or off by selecting it on the User Options menu. For the remainder of the examples, we will keep the highlight feature turned off.

Click OK. If Show Object Status is turned on, you should see the J1 ID number turn black again, telling you that J1 is now completely defined.

Reservoir Properties							
Number: Name: Library Jct: Conv. Data. From .lct	1 Supply Tank A	~	Note: All pipes ar zero depth	re currenti	ly specified a	as OK	:el
copy bata monitor		Ť				Help	
Reservoir Model	Pipe Depth & Loss Coefficients	O <u>p</u> tional	Design Alerts	<u>N</u> otes	S <u>t</u> atus		
Liquid Surface Eleva 300 feet						uid Surface Pressure psig Pipe Elevation Pipe Elevation Pipe Depth feet Same Depth for All Pipes	

Figure 13: Properties window for Reservoir J1

The Inspection feature

You can check the input parameters for J1 quickly, in read-only fashion, by using the Inspection feature. Position the mouse pointer on J1 and hold down the right mouse button. An information box appears, as shown in Figure 14.

Inspecting is a faster way of examining the input in an object than opening the Properties window.



Figure 14: Inspecting from the Workspace with right mouse button

VIII. Define junctions J2, J3, and J4

- J2 Reservoir
 - Liquid Surface Elevation = 200 feet
 - Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - Pipe Depth = 0 feet (default)
- J3 Reservoir
 - Liquid Surface Elevation = 100 feet
 - Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - Pipe Depth = 0 feet (default)

>Open the J4 Branch Properties window (see Figure 15). In this window, all three connecting pipes should be displayed in the pipe table area. You could associate loss factors with each pipe by clicking within the pipe table and entering the data.

Enter an elevation of zero feet for the J4 Branch junction (an elevation must be defined for all junctions). You could also click the Optional tab then specify a flow source or sink at the junction; for now leave this as zero. Click OK. All the junctions have now been defined.

Save the model again before proceeding.

Name: Library	er: : / Jct: Dete /	1-t	Branch			~	Elevation	feet	~		Cancel Jump
Loss (Coeffi	cients	O <u>p</u> tional	Design Alerts	Not <u>e</u> s	<u>S</u> tatu	S			9	Help
Pipe	Dir.	K - Flow into pipe	K - Flow out of pipe	Distance above Elevation							
1	In	0	0	0							
2	Out	0	0	0							
3	Out	0	0	0							
			-								

Figure 15: Properties window for Branch J4

IX. Define Pipe P1

Data for pipes and junctions can be entered in any order. In this example, we did the junctions first. The next step is to define all the pipes. To open the Pipe Properties window, double-click the pipe object on the Workspace.

First open the Pipe Properties window for Pipe P1 (see Figure 16). For Pipe P1, enter a length of 1000 feet, select the Pipe Material as Steel - ANSI, Size of 8 inch , and Type as STD (schedule 40). Click OK. Pipe P1 is now defined.

The Pipe Properties window

The Pipe Properties window offers control over all important flow system parameters that are related to pipes.

The Inspect feature also works within the Pipe Properties window. To Inspect a connected junction, position the mouse pointer on the connected junction's ID number and hold down the right mouse button. This is helpful when you want to quickly check the properties of connecting objects. (You can also use this feature in junction Properties windows for checking connected pipe properties.)

By double-clicking the connected junction number, you can jump directly to the junction's Properties window. Or you can click the Jump button to jump to any other part of your model.

umber:		1						Up	stream Jui	nction:	1			✓	ОК
ame:		Pipe					~	00	wisicalli	Junction.	-			×	Cance
opy Data I	From Pipe.						~	Cop	y Previou	s				3	Jump.
														9	Help
Pipe Mode	e <u>l</u> Fittir	ngs & Lo	ses	Ins <u>u</u> lation	Desi <u>a</u> n	Alerts	O <u>p</u> ti	onal	No <u>t</u> es	Status					
Size								enath							
Pipe N	laterial:	Steel - /	ANSI			\sim		1000		feet	, ,	1			
Pipe G	eometry:		Cylindr	ical Pipe		\sim		ПМ	odel As Z	ero-Length Co	onnector				
Size:			8 inch			~									
Type:			STD (schedule 40)		~									
Inner [Diameter:	ĺ	7.981	7.981 inches 🗸											
Outer	Pipe ID:	[inch	nes										
Inner F	Pipe OD:			inch	nes	\sim									
	Reduction	(Scaling):	%	(optional)										
Friction I	Nodel														
	Set Jser Speci	fied					Absol	ute Ro	ughness		\sim		Load Default		
	Standard					\sim	0.001	8	inc	hes	\sim				
<u> </u>	otariaara														

Figure 16: Properties window for Pipe P1

X. Define Pipes P2 and P3

Both pipes have a Pipe Material of Steel - ANSI, Size of 8 inch, and Type of STD (Schedule 40).

- 1. P2
 - a. Length = 2000 feet
- 2. P3
 - a. Length = 3000 feet

The Pipes and Junctions group should now be complete. Everything is ready to submit to the Solver.

Before running the model, save it one more time. It is also a good idea to review the input using the Model Data window.

D. Define the remaining groups in Analysis Setup

Open Analysis Setup once more to confirm that all groups are defined. No inputs or alterations are required to complete the last three groups: Steady Solution Control, Environmental Properties, and Miscellaneous. All seven groups should have a green checkmark next to its name. Click OK.

D. Review input in the Model Data window

The Model Data window is shown in Figure 17. To change to this window, you can select it from the Primary Window tabs, Window menu, or pressing CTRL+M. The Model Data window gives you a textbased perspective of your model. Selections can be copied to the clipboard and transferred into other Windows programs, saved to a formatted file, printed to an Adobe PDF, or printed out for review.

Data is displayed in three general areas. The top is called the general area, the middle the pipe area and the bottom the junction area.

The Model Data window allows access to all Properties windows by double-clicking the appropriate ID number in the far left column of the table. You may want to try this right now.

2° W	orkspace	e 🖪	Model Data	n 🖽 C	utput	🖄 Graph	Results		Visual Re	port					
2	- 🧃	- -													
☆ G	eneral	Notes													
Numbe	er Of Pipe	es= 3													^
Numbe	er Of June	ctions= 4													
Pressu	re/Head	Tolerance	= 0.0001 rela	ative chan	je										
Tempe	rature Tole	plerance= 0.0	0.0001 relative	cnange re change											
Pressu	re Relax	ation= (Autom ation= (Au	atic) tomatic)												~
•		1 1111	0.1												
	pes Pi	pe Fitting:	s & Losses	Pipe Deta	il Summa	iry									
Pipe	Name	Defined	Connector	Length	Units	Diameter	Diam. U	ulic Jnits	Data Set	Roughness	Roughness Units	Losses (K)	Initial Flow	Unitial Flo	W Ju (Up
1	Pipe	Yes	No	1000	feet	7.981	inches		Standard	0.0018	inches	0			
2	Pipe	Yes	No	2000	feet	7.981	inches		Standard	0.0018	inches	0			
3	Pipe	Yes	No	3000	feet	7.981	inches		Standard	0.0018	inches	0			-
۲.												_	_		>
• •			1												
× Br	ancn [<eservoir< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></eservoir<>													
Bran	ch Ni	ame C D)bject lefined Ele	Inlet evation	Elevation Units	Initial P	ressure	Initi	al Pressure Units	Library Source	Special Condition	Boundary Flo (+ = in/- = out	w Bounda t) Ur	its	(Pipe K In, K
4	Bra	nch	Yes	0 f	eet						None				(P1) 0,
•															>
Base S	cenario										Q 10	0% 😑 –			+

Figure 17: The Model Data window shows all input in text form

Step 3. Run the Solver

Click Run Model from the Toolbar or from the Analysis Menu. During execution, the Solution Progress window is displayed (see Figure 18). You can use this window to pause or cancel the Solver's activity. When the solution is complete, the Output, Visual Report, and Graphs Results windows can be accessed directly from the Solution Progress window. Click the Output button and the text-based Output window will appear (see Figure 19). The information in the Output window can be reviewed visually, saved to file, exported to a spreadsheet-ready format, copied to the clipboard, printed to an Adobe PDF file, and printed out on the printer.

Solution Progress - Co	mplete			
Maximum Iterations:	50000		Run Time:	31 📃 🚬
Relaxation:	Automatic			
		Absolute Tolerance Max Out of Tol.	Relative Tolerance Max Out of Tol.	Total Iterations
Head: 1.0E-04 Relativ Not used (Al	ve Change bsolute Change feet)	5.428E-04	6.698E-08	54
Vol. Flow Rate: 1.0E- Not used (Al	04 Relative Change bsolute Change gal/min)	9.166E-02	3.967E-05	4
Temperature:				
Setting up input Determining connectiv Initializing model Running Solver Writing output to file Calculations complete	/i ty			
Other + Actions	II X Pause Cancel	Graph Results	€ Visual Report	Output

Figure 18: The Solution Progress window displays the convergence progress

2° W	/orkspace		Model	Data 🔲	Output	🖄 Grap	h Results	۵)	/isual Report							
U.	₫ 2 ↓	1	<u>نې</u> ا	h -												
* 0	General V	/arning	s Desi	gn Alerts	Reservoir S	ummary										
Execu Total Total Numb Numb Matrix Press	ution Time= Number Of Number Of Number Of Piper Of Pipes wer Of Juncti Method= O ure/Head T	0.31 se Head/I Flow Ite Temper = 3 ions= 4 ions= 4 ions= 4	conds Pressure rations= rature Iter n Eliminat	Iterations= 5 4 rations= 0 ion 11 relative ch	4 nange											~
<																>
* F	vipes															
Pipe	Name	Vol. F Rat (gal/r	low \ e nin) (f	/elocity eet/sec)	P Static F Max (psia)	Static E Min (psia)	levation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	n dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	2,3	88.0	15.315	107.5	13.12	300.0	0	.0 -94.36	-94.36	-129.89	82.05	13.12	107.48	14.70	109.06
2	Pipe	7	54.2	4.837	108.9	14.54	0.0	200	.0 94.36	94.36	86.59	17.95	108.90	14.54	109.06	14.70
3	Pipe	1,6	33.8	10.478	108.3	13.96	0.0	100	.0 94.36	94.36	43.30	117.95	108.32	13.96	109.06	14.70
	Il Junctions	s Brai	nch Re P Stati	servoir c P Static Out	P Stag. In	P Stag. Out	Vol. Flo	w Rate I	Mass Flow Rat Thru Jct	te Loss Fa	ictor					
_	0.1.7		(psia)	(psia)	(psia)	(psia)	(gai/i	nin)	(Ibm/sec)	-	_					
1	Supply Ta	ink A	14.	/U 14./ 70 14.7	U 14./0	14./0		2,388.0	331	1.7	0					
3	Reservoir		14.	70 14.7	0 14.70	14.70		1 633 8	226	.o 39	0					
4	Branch		108.	36 108.3	6 109.06	5 109.06		N/A	N	I/A	0					
Base	Scenario											Q 10	00% \varTheta	-0		+

Figure 19: The Output window displays output in text form

Step 4. Review the output

The Output window is similar in structure to the Model Data window. Three areas are shown, and you can minimize or enlarge each area by clicking the arrow next to the General, Pipes, and Junctions tabs or from the View menu.

A. Specify output control

By default, AFT Fathom has a predefined set of Output Control parameters that are specified and the default units used depend on which unit set was selected when first running AFT Fathom (see Figure 1). A default title is also assigned in the Output Control.

>Open Output Control from the Tools menu (Figure 20). Click the General tab, enter a new title (if you like you can title this Classic Three-Reservoir Problem), then click OK to accept the title and other default data.

In addition, this window allows you to select the specific output parameters you want in your output. You also can choose the units for the output.

iopia) <u>-</u> arametere	<u>G</u> eneral	Eormat & Action	<u>S</u> how Pipes/Jcts	Jct Deltas Multi-Scenar	io			
Pipes Jur	nctions 🤦	Pumps 树 Va	ilves 📥 Heat Excha	angers Reservoirs	Cost Report			
<filter></filter>				Show Output in This Order				Reord
Available Output Par	rameters			Parameter	l	Jnits		^ ^
Area Flow			~	🚰 Name of Pipe				~
Conductivity of Flu	id Average			Call Volumetric Flow Rate	g	gal/min	\sim	
Convection Coef.	external nternal			C Velocity	f	eet/sec	\sim	
Convection Coef.	Overall			C Pressure Static Maxim	um p	osia	\sim	
Density of Fluid Av	erage			C Pressure Static Minimu	um p	osia	\sim	
Depth Outlet			-	C Elevation Inlet	f	eet	\sim	
Design Factor			Add	Elevation Outlet	f	eet	\sim	
Design Factor Hea	t Transfer			Pressure Loss Stag. To	otal p	osid	\sim	
Diameter Hydraulic	: /illianna Eastar			Pressure Loss Static T	otal p	osid	\sim	
Elevation Inlet	rilliams factor	1		Pressure Loss Gravity	. F	osid	\sim	
Elevation Outlet				Head Loss (dH)	f	eet	\sim	
Equivalent Length			v	Pressure Static Inlet		osia	\sim	
<		>		Pressure Static Outlet	F	osia	\sim	
90 of 90 paramete	rs shown (un	filtered)		Pressure Stagnation In	let p	osia	\sim	
			Show					×
Alphabeti <u>c</u> al (Categori <u>z</u> ed		Description	Remove Clear All	Same Units	Use Preferred U	Jnits	
Database								
Database			Load Control Format	. User Default	Fathom Defau	it 🗸	OK	

Figure 20: The Output Control window lets you customize the output

B. Modify the output format

If you selected the default AFT Fathom Output Control, the Pipe Results table will show volumetric flow rate in the second column (Figure 19) with units of gal/min (gallons per minute).

- Select Output Control from the Tools menu or Toolbar. On the right side of the Pipe tab is the list of selected output parameters. Click Volumetric Flow Rate and change the units by selecting gal/hr (gallons per hour) from the list at the bottom.
- Click OK to display changes to the current results. You should see the volumetric flow rate results, still in the second column, in units of gal/hr. Notice the Velocity results in the third column.
- Select Output Control from the Tools menu one more time. The reorder icons on the left side of the Output List allows you to reorder parameters in the list.
- Select the Velocity parameter and use the Reorder scroll bar to move it up to the top of the parameter list.
- Click OK to display the changes to the current results. You will see in the Pipe Results table that the first column now contains Velocity and the third column contains the volumetric flow rate. The Output Control window allows you to obtain the parameters, units and order you prefer in your output. This flexibility will help you work with AFT Fathom in the way that is most meaningful to you, reducing the possibility of errors.

• Lastly, double-click the column header Velocity in the Output window Pipe Results Table. This will open a window in which you can change the units again if you prefer. These changes are extended to the Output Control parameter data you have previously set.

C. View the Output on the Workspace with Workspace Layers

- Return to the Workspace window by choosing it from the Window menu, clicking on the Workspace tab on the tool bar, or by pressing CTRL+W. Workspace Layers allows you to integrate your text results with the graphic layout of your pipe network.
- Select the Workspace Layers tab at the bottom right of the screen within the Quick Access Panel. Select the layer named All Objects Layer and then select the single gear icon above to edit the Layer Settings. Alternatively, while hovering over the layer name, the Layer Settings icon will be revealed to the right. Select the Pipe Parameters tab and search for Volumetric Flow Rate with the Filter or within the Pipe Parameters list. Double click Volumetric Flow Rate to add it to the Workspace Layer. Select the Junction Parameters tab and search for both Junction Name and the Pressure Static Inlet. After adding these parameters to the display list, press Close. Rearrange the labels as desired for readability.



Figure 21: The Layer Settings window selects visible parameters for the Workspace Layers



Figure 22: The Workspace window displays input and output data utilizing Workspace Layers

D. Graph the results

Change to the Graph Results window by clicking the Graph Results tab. The Graph Results window offers full-featured Windows plot preparation.

The Graph Parameters menu will automatically be displayed in the Quick Access Panel on the far right of the Graph Results Window and is where you are to specify which graphs to generate.

The Profile graph tab in the Graph Parameters menu will also be selected by default on Quick Access Panel. Make sure the Plot Single Path option is selected from the Pipes drop-down menu. Select pipes 1 and 2 from the pipes list. Choose Pressure Static from the Parameter drop-down menu. Make sure feet is selected as the Length Units and psia as the Pressure Static units (see Figure 23). Then click Generate. The Show Junction Locations feature is located on the Graph Results toolbar and can be turned on by clicking the icon.

A graph appears showing the static pressure along the flow-path defined by pipes 1 and 2 in Figure 24.

You can use the other buttons in the Graph Results window to change the graph appearance and to save and import data for cross-plotting. The Graph Results window can be printed, saved to file, copied to the clipboard, or printed to an Adobe PDF file. The graph's x-y data can be exported to file or copied to the clipboard.

Note that the graph guide, located at the top right of the Graph Results window and represented with the What Would You Like to Do? icon, can guide you through the development of your graph. This feature can be hidden by clicking on the icon.

📝 Parameters	💖 Formatting >					
<u> P</u> rofile						
Pipes:	Plot Single Path 🔹					
All	✓ 1 Pipe					
None	☐ 3 Pipe					
Invert						
Workspace						
Special						
Multi-scenario 🝷	Current Only					
Length Units:	feet 💌					
Select Parameter 🛛 🕂 Ado	d 🗸 🗙 Remove 🚽 👚 🛑					
Parameter	Units DA					
■ Pressure Static	🝷 psia 📑 🗖					
🗹 Generate 🕞						
📇 Scenario 🚺 Graph Co	ntrol					

Figure 23: The Graph Control window controls the Graph Results content



Figure 24: The Graph Results window offers full-featured plot generation

Conclusion

You have now used AFT Fathom's Primary Windows and functions to build a simple model. Review the rest of the Fathom Help File contents for more detailed information on each of the windows and functions.

Sizing a Pump

Summary

This example will walk you through a simple calculation to size a pump.

A pump is to be used to transfer water from a supply reservoir to a holding reservoir at the top of a hill. The system consists of a supply reservoir, a pump, a discharge reservoir, and two pipes.

The first pipe from the supply reservoir to the pump is 10 feet long, and the second pipe leading from the pump to the discharge reservoir is 990 feet long. Both pipes are 4 inch, Steel - ANSI, STD (Schedule 40) pipes. Constant fluid properties are assumed.

The supply reservoir has a liquid surface pressure of 0 psig, and the liquid surface is at an elevation of 10 feet. The discharge reservoir has a liquid surface pressure of 0 psig, and the liquid surface is at an elevation of 200 feet. The pipes for both reservoirs connect to the reservoirs at a depth of 10 feet.

What is the head requirement for a pump to supply flow in this system at 500 gal/min?

Topics Covered

- Specifying a pump in the Pump Properties Window
- Defining pipe fittings and losses lumped into a pipe
- Sizing a pump
- Entering pump curve data

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Sizing a Pump.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for Sizing a Pump Example

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	10
2	990

The pipe model also allows for fittings and losses like valves or elbows. Select the Fittings & Losses tab for P2, and type in 25 for the Total K Factor. Now click OK to close the Pipe Properties window and accept your changes.

Note: A red ampersand (&) will now appear next to the pipe number for pipe P2. This indicates that Fittings & Losses are entered in the Pipe Properties window. This symbol can be edited or hidden in User Options.

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Lower Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Sizing
 - d. Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - e. Fixed Flow Rate = 500 gal/min
- 3. J3 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Upper Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 200 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will
have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

The Output window (Figure 2) contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. Because we were interested in the pump requirements for this system, select the Pump Summary tab in the General (top) window. The pump data can also be found in the Junction (bottom) window. We are primarily interested in the pump head (or pressure) requirement. This information can be found in the Pump Summary window.

Select Output Control from the Common Toolbar or Tools menu to open the Output Control window. Click the General tab, enter the title Water Transfer System, then click OK to save the title.

For this system, the head requirement of the pump is 380.7 feet. Because the difference in elevation of the reservoirs was 190 feet this is the minimum head rise regardless of flow rate or pipe size. Coincidentally, the friction loss was also approximately 190 feet. This can be seen in the *dH* column of the Pipe output window.

2° W	orkspace	M	odel Data	0 💷	utput	🖄 Graph	Results	•	Visual Rep	oort								
	i ĝ	1	Σ	÷ 📃														
≈ G	ieneral V	/arnings	Design Al	erts Pun	ip Summ	ary Rese	voir Sun	nmary										
Jct	Results Diagram	Name	e Vol. Flow (gal/mi	Mas Flo n) (Ibm/s	ss w sec) (p	dP dH osid) (feet	Ov Effic) (Per	erall ciency rcent) (Speed (Percent)	Overal Power (hp)	I BEP (gal/m	in) (Pe	i of I EP rcent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)			
2	Show	Pump	50	0.0 (9.45	164.8 380	.7	100.0	N/A	48.0	7	N/A	N/A	41.81	N//	4		
* P	ipes Name	Vol. Flov	v Veloc	ity PSt	atic P	Static Ele	vation	Elevatio	n dPSt	ag. d	P Static	dP	dH	P St	atic P S	Static	P Stag.	P Stag.
Pipe		Rate (gal/min	(feet/s	ec) (ps	ia) (Min psia) (nlet feet)	Outlet (feet)	Tot (psi	al d)	Total (psid)	Gravity (psid)	(feet)	lr (ps	ia) (p	Dut sia)	ln (psia)	Out (psia)
1	Pipe	500	.0 1	2.60 1	7.96	17.40	0	(D.O O.	5585	0.5585	0.00) 1.2	90 1	7.96	17.40	19.03	18.47
2	Pipe	500	.0 1	2.60 18	2.23	17.96	0	190	0.0 164.	2695	164.2695	82.26	189.4	08 18	32.23	17.96	183.30	19.03
* A	II Junction:	s Pump	Reservo	ir														
Jct	Nan	ne	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Fl Thr (gal	ow Rate u Jct //min)	Mass Flo Thru (Ibm/	ow Rate Jct sec)	Loss Fa (K)	ector						
1	Lower Re	servoir	14.70	19.03	14.7	0 19.03		500.0		69.45		0						
2	Pump		17.40	182.23	18.4	7 183.30		500.0		69.45		0						
3	Upper Re	servoir	14.70	19.03	14.7	0 19.03		500.0		69.45		0						
Base S	cenario												Q	100%	Θ			(

Figure 2: Output window for Pump Sizing Example

Step 6. Add a Pump Curve

Now that the pump head requirement has been identified as 380.7 feet at the design flow rate of 500 gal/min, a pump of the correct size can be purchased to meet this requirement. Once the actual pump has been identified, the pump characteristics can be added to the pump by adding the pump curve data to the pump junction.

Open the Pump Properties window and enter the following data:

- 1. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
- 2. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
- 3. Enter Curve Data
 - a. Flow Q Parameter = Volumetric
 - b. Head/Pressure dH Parameter = Head

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	400
500	381
1000	250

- c. Curve Fit Order = 2
- d. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- e. Click OK

Note: This is a situation where a user could create a new scenario using the Scenario Manager to examine a what-if situation, without disturbing the basic model. For an example that illustrates how to use the Scenario Manager, see the Water to Housing Project example.

^p ump <u>D</u> ata	Configuration	Data Perform	ance Graph								
							Curve Fitting				
Raw Data:			Option	al Data			Curve Fit Type:				
						_	Polynomial				
	Flow Head/ Q		NPSHR	Efficiency/Po	ower	^	Interpolated X-Y Data				
Parameter	Volumetric 🗸	Head 🗸		Efficiency	~						
Units	gal/min 🗸	feet 🗸	feet	Percent	\sim						
1	(400)								
2	500	381					All None Invert				
3	1000	250					Curve Fit Order				
4							2 ~				
5							1				
6							Generate Curve Fit Nov				
7							· <u>····</u> ··				
8											
9											
10					_		a 400				
11					_		b 0.0/4				
12					_		c -0.000224				
13					_		NPSHR				
14						×	None				
THE FLAT	Tabla		-2 -3	- 4			EFFICIENCY				
Ear		H = a + bQ +	$cQ^2 + dQ^2$	′+eQ~			None				
D-(Density D										
Reference	Density 2										

Figure 3: The Pump Configuration Window is used to enter pump curve data

Step 7. Re-evaluate the model

Re-run this model. Examine the Pump Summary in the General Output Section. The output (Figure 4) shows the pump operating at a flow rate of 500.2 gal/min, and a head rise of 381.0 feet, which is acceptably close to the previous sizing calculation.

Image: Second state Image: Second state General W Jct Results Diagram	Arnings [Design Alert	Pump Su												
General W.	/arnings [Design Alert	e Pumo Su												
Jct Results Diagram	Name		a ramp ou	mmary	Reservo	oir Summary									
	1	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHI (feet)	R		
2 Show	Pump	500.2	69.48	164.9	381.0	N/A	100.0	48.12	N/A	N//	41.8	1 N	/A		
Pipes Name Pipe	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Statio Min (psia)	c Eleva Ini (fee	ation Elevat et Outl et) (fee	tion dPS et Tot t) (psi	ag. dF al d	⁹ Static Fotal Gr psid) (p	dP (avity sid) (f	JH P: eet) (p	Static P In sia) (Static Out psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1 Pipe	500.2	12.6	1 17.96	17.4	40	0	0.0 0.	5590	0.5590	0.00	1.291	17.96	17.40	19.03	18.47
2 Pipe	500.2	12.6	1 182.34	17.9	96	0 1	90.0 164.	3873 1	64.3873	82.26 18	39.680	182.34	17.96	183.41	19.03
All Junctions	Pump ne P	Reservoir Static P In psia) (p	Static PS Out I psia) (ps	tag. P n ia) (j	Stag. \ Out psia)	/ol. Flow Rat Thru Jct (gal/min)	e Mass Flo Thru (Ibm/	ow Rate Jct sec)	Loss Facto (K)	r					
1 Lower Res	servoir	14.70	19.03	14.70	19.03	500	.2	69.48		0					
2 Pump		17.40	182.34	8.47	183.41	500	.2	69.48		0					
3 Upper Res	servoir	14.70	19.03	4.70	19.03	500	.2	69.48		0					

Figure 4: Output when running with a pump curve

Change to the Graph Results window (e.g., using the Windows menu), and click on the Pump vs. System tab (Figure 5) in the Graph Parameters menu on the Quick Access Panel. Click Generate to graph a pump vs. system curve, as shown in Figure 6.

parameters	💅 Formatting >
Pump vs. System	Profile
Curve Type:	Single 🔹
Flow Type:	Volumetric 🝷 gal/min 🝷
Pressure or Head:	Head 🔹 feet 🔹
Pump	CRV FUL MIN AOR POR
2 Pump (500.191 gal/min)	
Flow Rate Range:	Auto O User Specified
User Range:	0 600 gal/min
Data Points Per Curve:	30 -
I Gen	erate 💌
🚠 Scenario 🛛 🖸 Graph Cor	ntrol

Figure 5: Select Graph Data for creating a pump vs. system curve

Sizing a Pump



Figure 6: Pump vs. system curve using selected pump

Conclusion

AFT Fathom can be used to size pumps. Once the actual pump has been selected, the model can be modified to include the actual pump curve data. Then the actual system properties and behavior can be calculated.

Control Valve

Summary

This will walk you through a simple calculation to calculate a pipe size for a control valve system. Water will be flowing from a reservoir on a hill down to another reservoir. The pipe must be sized correctly to allow 250 gal/min to flow from one reservoir to the other. A control valve is used to control this flow, but the valve must have a minimum pressure drop of 10 psid to operate correctly. Only STD (schedule 40) pipes will be considered.

Topics Covered

- Using flow control valves
- Entering and changing pipe size data

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Control Valve.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
- b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for Control Valve Problem

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. For this example, we need to find the correct pipe size but we are limited to STD (schedule 40) pipe sizes. We need to use our engineering judgment to take an initial guess at the pipe size for 250 gal/min. Let's try 3 inch pipe. Specify the pipes as the following:

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 3 inch

- d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
- e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
- f. Length = 100 feet

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Upper Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 40 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 0 feet
- 2. J2 Control Valve
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Valve Type = Flow Control (FCV)
 - c. Control Setpoint = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - d. Flow Setpoint = 250 gal/min
- 3. J3 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Lower Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 0 feet

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

Open the Output Control window by selecting Output Control from the Output toolbar or Tools menu. This window allows the user to specify the output from the Fathom simulation. The window starts with a default set of output parameters which you are free to change.

In this example, we want to review the effects of changing the nominal pipe size. To simplify this, lets add this parameter to the output.

- 1. From the Pipes output list, select the parameter Nominal Size in the list on the left.
- 2. Click Add (or double-click the parameter), which adds the parameter to the list on the right.

- 3. Use the Reorder buttons (in the upper right) to move the Nominal Size up so that it becomes the second parameter in the list (see Figure 2).
- 4. Click OK.

splay <u>P</u> arameters <u>G</u> eneral <u>F</u>	ormat & Action	Show Pipes/Jcts	Jct Deltas Multi-So	cenario			
B Pipes 🗗 Junctions 💆 Pu	Imps 🏼 🗖 Valve	s 📥 Heat Excha	ingers Reservoirs	Cost Report			
<filter></filter>		1	Show Output in This O	rder			Reor
Available Output Parameters		1	Parameter		Units		~
Length	^		Name of Pipe				
Loss Factor Components (K)			C Nominal Size				
Loss Factor Friction (fL/D)			Volumetric Flow	Rate	gal/min	\sim	
Mass Flow Rate			C Velocity		feet/sec	\sim	
Material Name of Pine			Pressure Static M	laximum	psia	\sim	
Nominal Size		-	Pressure Static M	linimum	psia	~	
Prandtl Number		Add	Elevation Inlet		feet	~	
Pressure Ambient Inlet Pressure Ambient Outlet			C Elevation Outlet		feet	~	
Pressure Dynamic			Pressure Loss St	an Total	nsid		
Pressure Gradient Friction Wall			Pressure Loss St	atic Total	peid	-	
Pressure Gradient Stag. Total			Preseure Loss G	and rotal	poid		
Pressure Loss Gravity				lavity	poid fact	×	
Pressure Loss Stag. Total	Ň		Call Deserves Statis Is		ieel	~	
<			Pressure Static in	net	psia	~	
90 of 90 parameters shown (unfilter	<i>r</i> ed)		Pressure Static U	Jutlet	psia	~	v
Alphabetical Categorized		Show		All [C 11 2		111.5	-
Alphabelical		Description	Remove	r All Same Units	Use Preferre	a Units	_
utput Window Table Header: Pipe	e Nominal Size						
escription: Nor	ninal size of pipe						
Database							
Database		and Constant From 1	User D. C.	de Failes D.C.		014	
	La	ad Control Format	User Defa	ult Fathom Defa	ault 🧹	OK	

Figure 2: Output Control Window

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. The output is shown in Figure 3. In the summary window, there is a Valve Summary tab. Select this tab. You can see that the flow control valve achieved the flow rate of 250 gal/min but the pressure drop (dP) is only 1.316 psid (see Figure 3). The pressure drop requirement is 10 psid minimum. This pressure drop is too low. The pipe size needs to be increased.

Control Valve

2° W	/orkspace	R Model	Data 🔲	Output	🖄 Graph	Results	👁 Visual	Report								
17	i ĝ	1 1	b 🐴 🗏													
* G	ieneral \	Varnings Des	ign Alerts V	alve Summa	ary Reser	voir Summa	ry									
Jct	Nam	e Valve Type	Vol. Flow (gal/min) (Mass Flow Ibm/sec)	dP of Stag. (psid) (fe	H P Sta In set) (psi	atic Cv	К	Valve State							
2	Control V	alve FCV	250.0	34.73	1.316 3	3.040 2	1.06 217.	9 1.662 C)pen							
♠ P	ipes															
Pipe	Name	Pipe Nominal Size	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	3 inch	250.0	10.85	21.06	13.90	40.00	10.00	-7.153	-7.153	-12.99	13.48	13.90	21.06	14.70	21.85
2	Pipe	3 inch	250.0	10.85	19.74	13.90	10.00	10.00	5.836	5.836	0.00	13.48	19.74	13.90	20.53	14.70
* A	II Junction	s Control Valv	e Reservoi	r												
Jct	Nar	ne PSta In (psi	atic P Statio Out a) (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Thru Jo (gal/mi	Rate Mas ct n) (s Flow Rate Thru Jct Ibm/sec)	Loss Fact (K)	or						
1	Upper Re	servoir 14	4.70 14.7	0 14.70	14.70		250.0	34.73	0.0	00						
2	Control V	alve 2	1.06 19.7	4 21.85	20.53		250.0	34.73	1.6	62						
3	Lower Re	servoir 14	4.70 14.7	0 14.70) 14.70		250.0	34.73	0.0	00						
Base S	Scenario											Q 10	0% 😑	-0		

Figure 3: Output Window for Control Valve Example

Step 6. Change Pipe Sizes

Go back to the Workspace and change the pipe properties to a new pipe size. By trial and error, you can determine that by using 4 inch for both pipes, a pressure drop of 10.04 psid can be obtained (see Figure 4).

<u>⁄</u> *w	orkspace	R Model	Data 🔲	Output	🖄 Graph	Results	👁 Visual	Report								
	₫ 2 ↓	1 🦉 🛙	ի 🐴 🗏													
\$ G	ieneral V	Varnings Desi	gn Alerts Va	alve Summa	ry Reser	voir Summa	ry									
Jct	Name	e Valve Type	Vol. Flow (gal/min) (I	Mass Flow Ibm/sec)	dP c Stag. (psid) (fe	IH P Sta In set) (psi	ntic Cv a)	К	Valve State							
2	Control V	alve FCV	250.0	34.73	10.04 2	3.18 2	5.94 78.8	9 37.58 C	pen							
د P	Fipes															
Pipe	Name	Pipe Nominal Size	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	4 inch	250.0	6.301	25.94	14.43	40.00	10.00	-11.513	-11.513	-12.99	3.408	14.43	25.94	14.70	26.21
2	Pipe	4 inch	250.0	6.301	15.90	14.43	10.00	10.00	1.476	1.476	0.00	3.408	15.90	14.43	16.17	14.70
: A	II Junction	s Control Valv	e Reservoir	•												
Jct	Nan	ne PSta In (psia	tic P Static Out a) (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Thru Jo (gal/min	Rate Mase st 1 n) (I	s Flow Rate Thru Jct bm/sec)	Loss Facto (K)	Dr						
1	Upper Re	servoir 14	1.70 14.70	0 14.70	14.70		250.0	34.73	0.	00						
2	Control V	alve 25	5.94 15.9	0 26.21	16.17		250.0	34.73	37.	58						
3	Lower Re	servoir 14	14.70	0 14.70	14.70		250.0	34.73	0.	00						
_																

Figure 4: Output Window for modified Control Valve Example

Conclusion

To meet the system requirements, use 4-inch pipe.

Heat Transfer in a Pipe

Summary

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how to calculate heat transfer in a pipe. For this example we will specify a mass flow rate and an inlet temperature and calculate the outlet temperature and total heat loss for a 100 foot section of pipe.

Topics Covered

• Modeling heat transfer in a single pipe

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Heat Transfer in a Pipe.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)

- i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 70 deg. F
- d. This calculates the default fluid properties to use in the model to initialize the heat transfer calculations.
- 3. Open the Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids panel:
 - a. Heat Transfer = Heat Transfer With Energy Balance (Single Fluid)

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.

Although one pipe is all that we are modeling, we still need junctions at each end to define the pressure and flow conditions for this pipe.



Figure 1: Workspace for Heat Transfer Problem

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

Because heat transfer was selected on the Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids panel in Analysis Setup, the Pipe Properties window has an additional tab to define: Heat Transfer. We will use Convective Heat

Transfer for this example. Fathom allows you to perform a layered heat transfer analysis with internal and external convection coefficients and conduction through multiple insulation layers. For this example, we will consider the internal convection, conduction through the pipe wall, and external convection as affecting heat transfer in our system.

Pipe P1

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 6 inch
 - b. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - c. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - d. Length = 300 feet
- 2. Heat Transfer tab
 - a. Heat Transfer Model = Convective Heat Transfer
 - b. Ambient Conditions
 - i. Temperature = 32 deg. F
 - ii. Fluid Velocity = 20 miles/hr
 - iii. Fluid = Air
 - c. Fluid Internal
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Correlation
 - iii. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - iv. Convection Coefficient = Gnielinski
 - d. Pipe Wall
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Material Library
 - iii. Conductivity = From Library
 - iv. Thickness = 0.28 inches
 - v. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - e. External
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Correlation
 - iii. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - iv. Convection Coefficient = Forced (Churchill-Bernstein)

The heat transfer window looks like Figure 2 below.

Number:	Pipe		~	Upstream Junction: Downstream Junctio	n: 2			 ✓ (✓ (✓ (OK Cance
Copy Data From Pipe			~	Copy Previous				<u>ل</u> ان ان ا	ump. Ielo
Pipe Model Fittings	& Lo <u>s</u> ses	Heat Trans <u>f</u> er	Design Alerts	O <u>p</u> tional No <u>t</u> es	Status				Ċ
Resistance Geometry: Number of Insulation La	Ra yers: No	dial v		Fluid Velocity: Fluid	20 ater	miles/h	r v	Load Defa	ult
	1	Conductivity/Convection	n	Conductivity	Thickness	HT Area Ratio	Conv	vection fficient	
Resistance Type	Apply	Data Obaroo			v inches v		Btu/hr-ft2-R		~
Resistance Type Units	Apply	Data Cource	Btu/hr-ft-R		· monea ·				
Resistance Type Units Fluid Internal	Apply	Correlation	Btu/hr-ft-R		i inclica	1	Gnielinski		~
Resistance Type Units Fluid Internal Pipe Wall	Apply	Correlation Material Library	Btu/hr-ft-R From Librar	y	0.28	1	Gnielinski		~
Resistance Type Units Fluid Internal Pipe Wall External	Apply	Correlation Material Library Correlation	Btu/hr-ft-R From Librar	у	0.28	1 1 1	Gnielinski Forced (Churchil	I-Bernstein)	>

Figure 2: Pipe properties window for Heat Transfer Problem

Junction Properties

Now that the pipe is defined, specify the junction properties:

- 1. J1 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pressure = 50 psia
 - c. Temperature = 150 deg. F
 - d. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 2. J2 Assigned Flow
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Outflow
 - c. Flow Specification = Mass Flow Rate
 - d. Flow Rate = 10 lbm/sec

Note: The temperature at J2 will not be used by Fathom because the outlet temperature of the pipe is defined by the inlet temperature pipe due to the Assigned Pressure junction and the heat loss through the pipe.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

Open the Output Control window by selecting Output Control from the Output toolbar or Tools menu. From the Display Parameters tab, Pipes selection, double-click the parameters Heat Flux, Heat Rate, Temperature Inlet, and Temperature Outlet in the left list to add these output parameters to this model. Click OK to return to the Output window.

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. Because we added Inlet and Outlet temperatures to the output, we can see that the outlet temperature is 140.9 deg. F. The output is shown in Figure 3 below.

Note: If the default Output Control parameters are being displayed, a warning will be shown stating the *HGL*, *EGL*, and head loss results may not be meaningful for variable density systems as can be seen in Figure 3. If all head output parameters are hidden using Output Control, this warning will no longer appear.

2° W	/orkspace	Mc	odel Data	🛄 Outp	ut 🖄 🤅	raph Results	s 💿 Vis	ual Report											
I	1 ↔ 卦 ≵ 燮 ங 冉 目																		
* 0	ieneral W	/arnings	Design Alert	5															
Mess	ages																		
₹ V	or an expl VARNING HGL, EG	anation of	Warnings, c	lick an iten may not be	n in this list : meaningful	and press F1 for variable o	or search fo	or Warnings'i ems.	in the Help	system.									
* F	ipes Hea	t Transfer																	
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Heat Flux (Btu/s-ft2)	Heat Rate (Btu/s)	T Inlet (deg. F)	T Outlet (deg. F)
1	Pipe	73.17	7 0.812	26 50.0	0 49.94	0	0	0.05188	0.05188	0	0.1218	50.00	49.94	50.00	49.95	-0.1919	-91.39	150.0	140.8
* A	II Junctions	Assigne	ed Flow As	signed Pres	sure														
Jct	Nar	me	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	PStag.P In (psia)(Stag. Vol. Out T psia) (Flow Rate Thru Jct gal/min)	Mass Flow Thru Jc (Ibm/sec	Rate Los: t)	s Factor (K)									
1	Assigned	Pressure	50.00	50.00	50.00	50.00	73.17		10.00	0									
2	Assigned	Flow	49.94	49.94	49.95	49.95	73.17		10.00	0									
Base !	Scenario												Wa	nings Ex	ist 🔍 1	00% 😑	-0	-	+

Figure 3: Output window for Heat Transfer Problem

Heat Exchanger System

Summary

This example will walk you through a simple calculation to size a pump for a closed loop heat exchanger system. First you will build the system with a fixed flow pump and then enter a pump curve that meets these requirements.

Topics Covered

- Sizing a pump for a specific system
- Entering a loss curve for a Heat exchanger
- Graphing system curves versus pump curves

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Heat Exchanger System.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
- b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Layout of Heat Exchanger Problem

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)

- e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
- f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	200
2	15
3	100
4	100
5	200
6	15
7	200

Junction Properties

Specify each junction by entering the following properties in each corresponding Junction Properties window:

- 1. J1 Heat Exchanger
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 15 feet
 - b. Loss Model = Resistance Curve
 - c. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Pressure
gal/min	psid
0	0
100	5
200	20

- d. Curve Fit Order = 2
- e. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- 1. J2 & J7 Bend
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 15 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 2. J3 & J6 Bend
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees

- 3. J4 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pressure = 100 psia
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 4. J5 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Sizing
 - d. Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - e. Fixed Flow Rate = 100 gal/min

lunction <u>D</u> a	ta Junctio	n Grap	h		
Raw Data:			Fill As Quadr	atic	Curve Fitting Curve Fit Type:
	Flow Q		Head/Press dP	ure	Interpolated X-Y Data
Parameter	Volumetric	\sim	Pressure	\sim	
Units	gal/min	\sim	psid	\sim	
1	-	0		0	
2		100		5	
3		200		20	Curve Fit Order
4					2 ~
5					
6					Generate Curve Fit Nor
7					
8					
9					CONSTANTS
10					✓ a 0
					b 0
🐶 Edit	Table 🔻	∆ P -	= a + bQ +	- cQ	eQ ⁴ c 0.0005
Reference	Density ?	Water	@STP		
User :	Specified		lbm/ft3		

Figure 2: Heat Exchanger Loss Curve Fit Specification

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. Because we are interested in the pump requirements for this system, select the Pump Summary tab in the General (top) window. The pump data can also be found in the Junction window (bottom). If we are primarily interested in the head (or pressure) requirement, this is found in the summary window.

For this system, the head requirement of the pump is 7.281 psid (16.82 feet). At the assigned flow rate of 100.0 gal/min, the pressure drop across the heat exchanger was 5.000 psid (11.55 feet) so the total pipe and elbow loss was approximately 2.281 psi (5.27 feet). This output is shown in Figure 3a and Figure 3b.

;	\$	General Warnings Design Alerts			Pump Sur	mmary	Heat Exchanger Summary							
	Jc	t Results Diagram	Name	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
	5	Show	Pump	100.0	13.89	7.281	16.82	100.0	N/A	0.4247	N/A	N/A	229.5	N/A

Figure 3a: Pump Summary for Heat Exchanger Example

^	General Warnings Design Alerts Pump Summary						Exchanger	Summary					
	Jct	Name	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP dH Stag. (psid) (feet)		dT Heat Loss Rate In (deg. F) (Btu/s)		T Inlet (deg. F)	T T Inlet Outlet (deg. F) (deg. F)		T 2nd T 2nd Inlet Outlet (deg. F) (deg. F)	
	1	Heat Exchanger	100.0	13.89	5.000	11.55	N/A	N/A	70.00	70.00	N/A	N/A	

Figure 3b: Heat Exchanger Summary for Heat Exchanger Example

Step 6. Add Pump Curve

Now that we know the general requirements of the pump, we can select an appropriate pump and enter this data. Open the Pump Properties window and enter the following data:

- 1. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
- 2. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
- 3. Enter Curve Data
 - a. Flow Q Parameter = Volumetric
 - b. Head/Pressure dH Parameter = Head

Volumetric	Head				
gal/min	feet				
0	20				

Volumetric	Head				
gal/min	feet				
100	17				
200	12				

- c. Curve Fit Order = 2
- d. Click Generate Curve Fit Now

Step 7. Re-evaluate the Model

Select Run Model from the toolbar or Analysis menu. Because the pump head at 100 gal/min was slightly higher than required, the system will adjust with a slightly higher flow rate. The output of this run is shown in Figure 4.

2~ W	orkspace	Mo	del Data	🛄 Out	put 🖄	Graph R	esults 🧕 🧐	Visual Re	port							
	∯ ≙ ↓	1 🛬	b •	• 🔳												
≈ G	ieneral W	arnings	Design Alert	ts Pump	Summary	Heat Exc	changer Sum	mary								
Jct	Results Diagram	Name	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec	dP	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEI (gal/n	P 9 E nin) (Pe	6 of 1 BEP rcent)	NPSHA I	VPSHR (feet)		
5	Show .	. Pump	100.5	5 13.	96 7.351	16.98	N/A	100.0	0.4310	5	N/A	N/A	229.5	N/A		
₹ P	ipes															
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Stati Max) (psia)	c P Stati Min (psia)	c Eleva Inle (fee	tion Elevat et Outle et) (feet	ion dPS et To t) (ps	tag.dP tal T id) (p	Static otal osid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	100.5	5 2.53	4 94.:	34 93.	81 1	15.00 1	5.00 0	5339	0.5339	0.000	1.2330	7 94.3	4 93.81	94.39	93.85
2	Pipe	100.5	2.53	4 100.	24 93.	79 1	15.00	0.00 -6.	4544 -	6.4544	-6.494	0.0924	8 93.7	9 100.24	93.83	100.28
3	Pipe	100.5	2.53	4 100.	22 99.	96	0.00	0.00 0	2616	0.2616	0.000	0.6041	4 100.2	2 99.96	100.26	100.00
4	Pipe	100.5	5 2.53	99.9	96 99.	69	0.00	0.00 0	2669	0.2669	0.000	0.6165	4 99.9	6 99.69	100.00	99.73
5	Pipe	100.5	2.53	34 107.	04 106.	51	0.00	0.00 0	5339	0.5339	0.000	1.2330	7 107.0	4 106.51	107.08	106.55
6	Pipe	100.5	2.53	4 106.	49 99.	95	0.00 1	5.00 6	5345	6.5345	6.494	0.0924	8 106.4	9 99.95	106.53	99.99
7	Pipe	100.5	5 2.53	4 99.	93 99.	39 1	15.00 1	5.00 0	5339	0.5339	0.000	1.2330	7 99.9	3 99.39	99.97	99.44
_		7														
× A	II Junctions	Assigne	d Pressure	Bend H	leat Excha	nger Pu	mp									
Jct	Nan	ne	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Ra Thru Jct (gal/min)	ate Mass T (It	Flow Rate hru Jct om/sec)	e Loss	Factor (K)					
1	Heat Exch	anger	99.39	94.34	99.44	94.39	10	0.5	13.9	61	16.9959					
2	Bend		93.81	93.79	93.85	93.83	10	0.5	13.9	6	0.5092					
3	Bend		100.24	100.22	100.28	100.26	10	0.5	13.9	6	0.5092					
4	Assigned F	Pressure	N/A	N/A	100.00	100.00		N/A	N/	Α	0.0000					
5	Pump		99.69	107.04	99.73	107.08	10	0.5	13.9	6	0.0000					
6	Bend		106.51	106.49	106.55	106.53	10	0.5	13.9	6	0.5092					

Figure 4: Output window for Heat Exchanger Example with real pump data

This system is a good example to demonstrate how to use the Graph Results Tab. Change to the Graph Results window by choosing it from the Window drop-down on the menu bar, clicking the Graph Results tab on the toolbar, or by pressing CTRL+G. Now the Graph Control window will be displayed on the Quick Access Panel as shown in Figure 5. Select Pump Curve vs. System Curve and Fathom automatically selects the data you want to graph.

parameters	💅 Formatting >									
Pump vs. System	Profile									
Curve Type:	Single 🔹									
Flow Type:	Volumetric 🔹 gal/min 💌									
Pressure or Head:	Head 🔻 feet 💌									
Pump	CRV FUL MIN AOR POR									
5 Pump (100.529 gal/min)										
Flow Rate Range:	Auto O User Specified									
User Range:	0 121 gal/min									
Data Points Per Curve:	30 -									
🖌 Generate 🕞										
🚠 Scenario 🚺 Graph Cor	ntrol									

Figure 5: Select Graph Data window for Heat Exchanger System

Click Generate to view this graph. This graph is shown in Figure 6. The red line shows the pump curve that we entered. This starts out with 20 feet of head available at 0 gal/min and decreases slowly with increasing flow rate. The blue line is the overall system curve. The head requirement increases significantly with flow rate. Most of the pressure loss (head loss) is through the heat exchanger but this graph also includes the pipe and elbow loss. The lines cross right at 100.5 gal/min which is the operating point shown in the output in Figure 4.



Figure 6: Pump Curve vs. System Curve for Heat Exchanger System

Spray Discharge System

Summary

The objective of this example is to find the minimum supply pressure needed to supply a system of eight spray discharge heads with at least 100 gal/min to each spray head. The system has one main supply line that branches into two supply lines that supply four sprayers each.

Topics Covered

- Using spray discharge junctions
- Iterating on a supply condition to reach a desired output condition
- Using Isometric Pipe Drawing Mode

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Spray Discharge System.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
- b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for Spray Discharge System

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = Use table below
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Size	Length (feet)		
1 & 2	8 inch	500		
3	4 inch	9		
4 - 11	1-1/2 inch	10		

Note: The Global Edit tool found in the Edit menu can be used to enter the data for pipes P4-P11 all at once. The Guide at the top right of the window can be used to walk you through how to global edit if needed.

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 J8 Spray Discharges
 - 1. Elevation = 10 feet
 - 2. Loss Model = Cd Spray (Discharge Coefficient)
 - 3. Geometry = Spray Nozzle
 - 4. Exit Properties = Pressure
 - 5. Exit Pressure = 0 psig
 - 6. Cd (Discharge Coefficient) = 0.6
 - 7. Discharge Flow Area = 0.5 inches2
- 2. J9 Assigned Pressure
 - 1. Elevation = 1 feet
 - 2. Pressure = 200 psig
 - 3. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 3. J10 Branch
 - 1. Elevation = 10 feet
- 4. J11 Branch & J12 Dead End
 - 1. Elevation 1 feet

Note that the supply pressure is what we are trying to solve for, but we must supply a guess to start. We will need to iterate on the pressure at junction J9 to determine what the minimum pressure should be.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

Open Output Control by selecting Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu. Click the Junctions button, then add Vol. Flow Rate Net At Junction to the shown junction output. This output will show the volumetric flow rate discharged from the spray nozzle. Click OK to save the changes and close Output Control.

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the Output Control window. In the Junction output window at the bottom of the page there is a special tab for Spray Discharge, as shown in Figure 2. Select this tab and examine the flow rate out of each of these junctions. All flow rates are above 100 gal/min so we must decrease the supply pressure and re-run the model. You should find that the supply pressure must be above 170.4 psig for the flow rate to meet the minimum flow rate at each spray nozzle.

This example may be solved directly using the GSC Module.

Note: The parameter Volumetric Flow Rate Through Junction is for junctions with a single inlet and outlet, and will thus display N/A for the Spray Discharge nozzles that aren't at the end of the branch. The parameter Volumetric Flow Rate Junction Net is used instead to display the total volumetric flow rate that is exiting each spray nozzle.

All Junc	tions Assigned Pre	essure Br	anch Dea	ad End S	ipray Disch	narge			
Spray Discharge	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Factor (K)	Vol. Flow Rate Jct Net (gal/min)
1	Spray Discharge	103.5	14.70	105.4	14.70	108.6	15.08	46.05	108.6
2	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	108.6	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	110.5
3	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	121.0	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	117.5
4	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	150.0	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	132.6
5	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	150.0	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	132.6
6	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	121.0	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	117.5
7	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	108.6	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	110.5
8	Spray Discharge	103.5	14.70	105.4	14.70	108.6	15.08	46.05	108.6

Figure 2: Junction Output for Spray Discharge System with the supply pressure set to 200 psig

Figure 3 below displays the results for the final supply pressure of 170.4 psig.

^	All Junct	tions Assigned Pro	essure Br	anch Dea	ad End S	ipray Disch	arge			
	Spray Discharge	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Factor (K)	Vol. Flow Rate Jct Net (gal/min)
	1	Spray Discharge	89.99	14.70	91.66	14.70	100.0	13.89	46.05	100.0
	2	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	94.33	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	101.7
	3	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	104.89	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	108.3
	4	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	129.57	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	122.2
	5	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	129.57	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	122.2
	6	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	104.89	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	108.3
	7	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	94.33	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05	101.7
	8	Spray Discharge	89.99	14.70	91.66	14.70	100.0	13.89	46.05	100.0

Figure 3: Junction Output for Spray Discharge System with the supply pressure set to 170.4 psig

Step 6. Use the Isometric Grid

AFT Fathom allows the user to place pipe or junction objects anywhere in the Workspace. Objects are placed on a 2D grid by default, as was the case with this example. At times it may be convenient to demonstrate the three-dimensional nature of a system. For example, if you are building a model based on isometric reference drawings. AFT Fathom includes an isometric grid for these cases. The isometric grid has three gridlines that are offset by 60 degrees, representing the *x*, *y*, and *z* axes. Figure 4 shows the spray discharge system built on an isometric grid. The completed model file drawn in isometric can be seen in the Examples folder and is named Spray Discharge Isometric.



Figure 4: Spray discharge system with the isometric grid shown

You can enable the isometric grid in AFT Fathom by going to the Arrange menu. Under Pipe Drawing Mode, there are three options: 2D Freeform (default), 2D Orthogonal, and Isometric.

Creating the spray discharge system on an isometric grid will demonstrate how to use this feature:

- 1. Go to the File menu and select New.
- 2. Go to the Arrange menu again and under Pipe Drawing Mode, select Isometric
- 3. Place a Spray Discharge junction, J1, on the Workspace. You will notice that placing junctions onto the Workspace follows the usual rules, however, the visual appearance of the icon is more complex than in a 2D grid. Due to the increased number of axes, the preferred icon and rotation must be selected to obtain visual consistency.
- 4. Right click on J1 and select Customize Icon. Select the icon shown in Figure 5.

Note: If a junction in isometric mode has at least two pipes connected to it, the Auto-rotate Icon option can be selected instead of Customize Icon. Auto-rotate icon will automatically choose the icon orientation based on the connected pipes.

Customize Icon	×
The Rotate Report of the Repor	More
AFT Fathom Default User Default	Current Toolbox
🖌 ок	X Cancel

Figure 5: Right click on the junction to open the Customize Icon window and select the preferred icon and rotation

- 5. Copy J1 for the other spray discharges, J2-J8, to maintain the preferred icon and rotation.
- 6. Place the assigned pressure junction, J9, on the Workspace.
- 7. Place two branch junctions, J10 and J11, on the Workspace.
- 8. Place the dead end junction, J12, on the Workspace.
- 9. Right click on J12 and select Customize Icon. Notice that you may need to use the Rotate button to get the preferred icon and rotation, as shown in Figure 6.

Customize Icon X											
	[—	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	®⇒0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc						
🦜 Rota	ate					More					
AFT Fathom Default User Default Current Toolbox											
			~	🖉 ок	×	Cancel					

Figure 6: Use the Rotate button to obtain the preferred icon and rotation

- 10. Draw Pipes 1 and 2, as shown in Figure 4.
- 11. Draw Pipe 3 from J11 to J10. A red-dashed preview line will show how the pipe will be drawn on

the isometric grid. As you are drawing a pipe, you can change the preview line by clicking any arrow key on your keyboard or scrolling the scroll wheel on your mouse.





Figure 7: A preview line shows when drawing or adjusting pipes

- **Note:** You can hold the ALT key while adjusting a pipe by the endpoint to add an additional vertex. This can be used with the arrow key or mouse scroll wheel to change between different preview line options.
- 12. Draw Pipes 4-11, as shown in Figure 4.
- 13. The grid can be shown or turned off in the Arrange menu. Figure 8 shows the completed model with the grid not shown.



Figure 8: Isometric spray discharge system with the grid not shown

Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves

Summary

This example will demonstrate how to size and select pumps in a heat exchanger system with flow control valves. The system will pump water through a heat exchanger system from a supply tank at one elevation and pressure to a receiving tank at a higher elevation and pressure. There will be two flow control valves operating in parallel. The control valves require a minimum pressure drop of 5 psi in order to control the flow rate.

Topics Covered

- Using flow control valves
- Entering and changing pump data

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
- b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for Pump Selection with Flow Control Valves Example

The system is in place but now the properties of the objects must be entered.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 2 inch

- d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
- e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
- f. Length =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	20
2	50
3	60
4	20
5	100
6	20
7	60
8	20
9	100

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 5 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 10 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 5 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Sizing
 - d. Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - e. Fixed Flow Rate = 200 gal/min
- 3. J3 Tee
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Loss Model = Simple
- 4. J4 & J7 Control Valve
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Valve Type = Flow Control (FCV)
 - c. Control Setpoint = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - d. Flow Setpoint = 100 gal/min
- 5. J5 & J8 Heat Exchanger

- a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
- b. Loss Model = Resistance Curve
- c. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Pressure
gal/min	psid
100	10

- d. Click Fill as Quadratic
- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- f. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- 1. J6 Bend
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 2. J9 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Receiving Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 30 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Resolve Reference Pressure Needed

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.

The Reference Pressure Needed window will appear (see Figure 2). This window is displayed when a model is constructed that does not have a unique solution. A common occurrence of this is when a model contains one or more sections that are completely bounded by known flow rates.

In this case, because the pump has been designated as an assigned flow and the downstream control valves are flow control valves, there is no way to uniquely determine the pressure between the pump and the control valves without an additional reference pressure. The reference pressure is the pressure from which the other pressures in the system are derived. There can be more than one reference pressure, but there always has to be at least one.

For a more in-depth discussion of reference pressures, see the Fathom help file topic: <u>Role of Pressure</u> <u>Junctions - Detailed Discussion</u>

	Reference Pressure Needed						
AFT Fathom requires a pressure to be defined somewhere in the network to be used as a reference point. Additional reference pressures must also be supplied in certain cases, such as upstream of a PRV. Below is a list of the junctions that do not have a reference pressure defined on the upstream side, downstream side or both. Please click on OK and correct the problems. Click the Help button for additional information.							
		Propouro Not	_				
Jct	Name	Defined					
Jct 2	Name Pump	Defined					
Jct 2 4	Name Pump Control Valve	Defined Downstream Upstream		🖌 ок			
Jct 2 4 7	Name Pump Control Valve Control Valve	Defined Downstream Upstream		🖌 ОК			
Jct 2 4 7	Name Pump Control Valve Control Valve	Defined Downstream Upstream Upstream		V OK			

Figure 2: Reference Pressure Needed window

Open the J7 Control Valve Property window, and make the following changes.

- 1. Valve Type = Constant Pressure Drop (PDCV)
- 2. Control Setpoint = Pressure Loss
- 3. Pressure Drop = 5 psid

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

We can look at the pump summary and see that the head at 200 gal/min needs to be at least 167.3 feet (see Figure 3). The control valves both have enough pressure drop to control flow (see Figure 4).

2	:	General	War	nings	Design Alerts	Pump Su	mmary	Valve Su	ummary	Heat Exchang	ger Summar	y Reserve	oir Summary		
	Jc	Resu Diagr	lts am	Name	e Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficience (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
	2	Show		Pump	200.0	27.78	72.41	167.3	100	.0 N/.	A 8.447	N/A	N/A	48.00	N/A

Figure 3: Pump Summary window

2	2	General Warnin	ngs Des	ign Alerts	Pump Summ	ary Va	alve Sumr	nary He	at Exchan	ger Summ	ary
	Jct	Name	Valve Type	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP Stag. (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	Cv	К	Valve State
	4	Control Valve	FCV	100.0	13.89	6.839	15.79	74.1	38.23	11.118	Open
	7	Control Valve	PDCV	100.0	13.89	5.000	11.55	72.3	44.71	8.129	Open

Figure	1.	Valvo	Summar	window
riguic	-	vuiv c	Guillina	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

Step 7. Enter a Pump Curve

Now we need to specify a real pump. We will enter in some pump data and create a pump curve with the curve fitting routines in Fathom. Use the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel to create a child of the base scenario with a name of Pump Curve. Then in the Pump Curve scenario, open the Pump Properties window and enter the following data:

- 1. J2 Pump
 - a. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - b. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - c. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	175
200	168
400	120

- c. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 2. J7 Control Valve
 - 1. Valve Type = Flow Control (FCV)
 - 2. Control Setpoint = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - 3. Flow Setpoint = 100 gal/min

Re-run the model and verify that the flow rate and pressure drop across the control valves is still within the limits.
Freon Delivery System with Heat Transfer

Summary

This example will model a Freon delivery system to supply Freon at 75 deg. F. As the engineer you will evaluate two candidate refrigerants (Refrigerant 11 and 123) to determine the best choice. We will also calculate the temperature of the hot water supply (i.e., heat exchanger Secondary Fluid) needed for the heat exchangers.

Topics Covered

- Modeling heat transfer
- Entering a resistance curve for a Heat Exchanger

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Freon Delivery System with Heat Transfer.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = NIST REFPROP
- b. Fluid = R11 (after selecting, click Add to Model)
- c. Fluid Phase = Liquid
- d. Pressure = 150 psig
- e. Temperature = -50 deg. F
- 3. Open the Heat Transfer/Variable Fluids panel
 - a. Select Heat Transfer With Energy Balance (Single Fluid)

This calculates the default fluid properties to use in the model to initialize the heat transfer calculations.

Note: When Heat Transfer is enabled the fluid properties in the Analysis Setup window are only used as an initial guess. The final fluid properties will be calculated by the Solver.

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Model for Freon Delivery System

Now enter the properties for the pipes and the junctions.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 3 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1 - 2	10
3 - 6	5
7	30

- 2. Fittings & Losses tab
 - a. P3 P6 only
 - i. Click Specify Fittings & Losses
 - ii. Bends tab
 - iii. Standard Threaded, General, 90 deg. (C) Quantity = 1
 - iv. Click OK
- 3. Heat Transfer tab (Figure 2)
 - a. Heat Transfer Model = Convective Heat Transfer
 - b. Resistance Geometry = Radial
 - c. Number of Insulation Layers = 1 External
 - d. Ambient Conditions
 - i. Temperature = 60 deg. F
 - ii. Fluid Velocity = 5 miles/hr
 - iii. Fluid = Air
 - e. Fluid Internal
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Correlation
 - iii. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - iv. Convection Coefficient = Gnielinski
 - f. Pipe Wall
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Material Library
 - iii. Conductivity = From Library
 - iv. Thickness = 0.216 inches
 - v. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - g. Insulation #1 (external)
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = User Specified

- iii. Conductivity = 0.4 Btu/hr-ft-R
- iv. Thickness = 1 inches
- v. HT Area Ratio = 1
- h. External
 - i. Apply = Checked
 - ii. Conductivity/Convection Data Source = Correlation
 - iii. HT Area Ratio = 1
 - iv. Convection Coefficient = Forced (Churchill-Bernstein)

				Upstre	am Junction:		1				ОК
lame: Pi	pe			~ Downs	tream Junction:	-	2			×	Cance
opy Data From Pipe				✓ Copy P	revious					٠	Jump.
										9	Help
Pipe Model Fittings 8	Lo <u>s</u> ses	Heat Trans <u>f</u> er	De	sign Alerts Option	al No <u>t</u> es	-	Status				
Heat Transfer Model:	Co	pvective Heat Transfer		Ambi	ent Conditions						
neat nansier model.	0	ivective rieat manarer		Tem	perature:		60	deg. F	~ ?		
Resistance Geometry:	Ra	dial V		Fluid	Velocity:		5	miles/ł	n v		
Number of Insulation Lay	ers: 1 E	ixternal ~		- Flu	id						
					Air OWat	ter					
				0							
									,		
										Load De	fault
Resistance Type	Apply	Conductivity/Convecti Data Source	on	Conduct	vity		Thickness	HT Area Ratio	Conv Coef	ection ficient	
Units				Btu/hr-ft-R	~	r i	inches 🗸 🗸		Btu/hr-ft2-R		~
Fluid Internal	\checkmark	Correlation	\sim					1	Gnielinski		1
Pipe Wall	\checkmark	Material Library	\sim	From Library			0.216	1			
Insulation #1 (external)	\checkmark	User Specified	\sim		0.4	4	1	1			
External	\checkmark	Correlation	\sim					1	Forced (Churchill	-Bernstein)	~
External											

Figure 2: Heat Transfer tab defined in the Pipe Properties window

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Temperature = -50 deg. F
 - d. Update Density with Temperature = Checked
 - e. Liquid Surface Pressure = 150 psig
 - f. Pipe Depth = 0 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)

- c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
- d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head				
gal/min	feet				
0	25				
200	24				
500	15				

- d. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 3. J3 & J5 Branches

4.

- a. Elevation = 2 feet
- J4 & J6 Heat Exchangers
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Loss Model tab
 - i. Loss Model = Resistance Curve
 - ii. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Pressure
gal/min	psid
250	2

- iii. Click Fill As Quadratic
- iv. Curve Fit Order = 2
- v. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- c. Thermal Data tab
 - i. Thermal Model = Counter-Flow
 - ii. Heat Transfer Area = 80 feet2
 - iii. Overall Heat Transfer Coefficient = 500 Btu/hr-ft-R
 - iv. Flow Rate = 30 lbm/sec
 - v. Specific Heat = 1 Btu/lbm-R
 - vi. Inlet Temperature = 200 deg. F

Note: This secondary fluid inlet temperature will be the initial guess.

5. J7 Reservoir

- a. Name = Receiving Reservoir
- b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
- c. Liquid Temperature = 75 deg. F
- d. Update Density with Temperature = Checked

- e. Liquid Surface Pressure = 150 psig
- f. Pipe Depth = 0 feet

>Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

When the Output is first shown, note that if the default Output Control parameters are being displayed, a warning will be shown stating the *HGL*, *EGL* and head loss results may not be meaningful for variable density systems. If all head output parameters are hidden using Output Control, this warning will no longer appear.

Open Output Control by selecting Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu. Select the Pipes button to display the pipe output parameters, and remove the Head Loss (dH) from the list of shown output by highlighting the parameter and selecting Remove under the table. Next add the Temperature Inlet and Temperature Outlet to the shown output by double-clicking those parameters in the list on the left.

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. The output from this model is shown in Figure 3. Now look at the outlet temperature of the last pipe (pipe 7). This is the temperature of the delivered Freon. The temperature is about 114.99 deg. F. This is significantly higher than the required temperature of 75 deg. F.

♠ Pip	bes Hea	at Transfer														
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	T Inlet (deg. F)	T Outlet (deg. F)
1	Pipe	388.2	16.849	165.0	161.6	10.000	2.000	-3.4708	-3.4708	-5.669	161.6	165.0	164.7	168.2	-50.00	-49.96
2	Pipe	388.2	16.848	178.8	176.6	2.000	2.000	2.2002	2.2002	0.000	178.8	176.6	181.9	179.7	-49.96	-49.92
3	Pipe	194.1	8.425	178.9	178.2	2.000	2.000	0.7049	0.7049	0.000	178.9	178.2	179.7	179.0	-49.92	-49.88
4	Pipe	222.3	9.648	176.9	176.1	2.000	2.000	0.7911	0.7911	0.000	176.9	176.1	177.8	177.0	115.06	115.04
5	Pipe	194.1	8.425	178.9	178.2	2.000	2.000	0.7049	0.7049	0.000	178.9	178.2	179.7	179.0	-49.92	-49.88
6	Pipe	222.3	9.648	176.9	176.1	2.000	2.000	0.7911	0.7911	0.000	176.9	176.1	177.8	177.0	115.06	115.04
7	Pipe	444.4	19.286	173.4	161.1	2.000	10.000	12.3188	12.3188	4.953	173.4	161.1	177.0	164.7	115.04	114.99

Figure 3: Pipe Output window for Freon Delivery System with water supply at 200 deg. F

Now iterate on the temperature of the secondary fluid in the heat exchangers to find the temperature required to produce an outlet temperature of 75.00 deg. F for pipe 7. The answer for this should be 138.5 deg. F. The output for this run in shown in Figure 4.

♠ Pij	pes Hea	it Transfer														
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	T Inlet (deg. F)	T Outlet (deg. F)
1	Pipe	389.1	16.887	165.0	161.6	10.000	2.000	-3.4609	-3.4609	-5.669	161.6	165.0	164.7	168.2	-50.00	-49.96
2	Pipe	389.1	16.887	178.7	176.5	2.000	2.000	2.2101	2.2101	0.000	178.7	176.5	181.9	179.7	-49.96	-49.92
3	Pipe	194.6	8.444	178.9	178.2	2.000	2.000	0.7081	0.7081	0.000	178.9	178.2	179.7	179.0	-49.92	-49.88
4	Pipe	214.7	9.319	176.9	176.1	2.000	2.000	0.7675	0.7675	0.000	176.9	176.1	177.8	177.0	74.98	74.97
5	Pipe	194.6	8.444	178.9	178.2	2.000	2.000	0.7081	0.7081	0.000	178.9	178.2	179.7	179.0	-49.92	-49.88
6	Pipe	214.7	9.319	176.9	176.1	2.000	2.000	0.7675	0.7675	0.000	176.9	176.1	177.8	177.0	74.98	74.97
7	Pipe	429.2	18.627	173.5	161.2	2.000	10.000	12.2925	12.2925	5,139	173.5	161.2	177.0	164.7	74.97	74.96

Figure 4: Output window for Freon Delivery System with water supply at 138.5 deg. F

Now change the fluid on the Fluid panel to R123 and repeat the analysis. For R123, the temperature water supply to the heat exchangers necessary to meet the temperature requirement should be higher, around 154.7 deg. F. If water supply temperature is the main criteria, Refrigerant 11 would be the best choice.

Cooling System

Summary

The objective of this example is to determine how much flow will be delivered to the heat exchangers in the system. A secondary objective is to determine the best pump for the system.

Topics Covered

- Modeling a closed loop system
- Using a pressure reducing valve
- Generating a pump curve
- Generating a resistance curve for a heat exchanger
- Importing a pump curve to obtain pump data

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Cooling System.fth
- US Cooling System Pump A.txt
- US Cooling System Pump B.txt
- US Cooling System Pump C.txt

Note: If you open the completed **US - Cooling System.fth** model file, you will notice a child scenario named **Initial Model for ANS Quick Start Chapter 3**. This child scenario is used as the starting point for a model in the ANS Quick Start Guide. This scenario can be disregarded when comparing your model to this completed model.

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Dowtherm J (after selecting, click Add to Model)
 - c. Temperature = 150 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.

To add the segment into pipe P22, use the Pipe Segments tool on the Arrange menu.



Figure 1: Workspace window for Cooling System Problem

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = Use table below
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths = Use table below

Pipe	Size	Length (feet)				
1	6 inch	20				
2, 7, 9-10, 20- 21	4 inch	3				
3-6, 12-13, 15-16, 18-19	4 inch	5				
11, 14, 17	4 inch	10				
8, 22	6 inch	200				

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Liquid Surface Pressure = 40 psig
 - c. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. All Branches
 - a. Elevation = 2 feet
- 3. All Bends
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 4. J4 & J5 Pumps
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	70
500	60

Volumetric	Head				
gal/min	feet				
1000	40				

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 5. All Control Valves
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Valve Type = Pressure Reducing (PRV)
 - c. Control Setpoint = Pressure, Static
 - d. Setpoint = 50 psig
- 6. All Heat Exchangers
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 2 feet
 - b. Loss Model = Resistance Curve
 - c. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Pressure				
gal/min	psid				
500	10				

- d. Click Fill As Quadratic
- e. Curve Fit Order = 2

>Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

The output is shown below in Figure 2. The pump summary shows that the head requirement for the pumps is 60.48 feet and 62.42 feet. The heat exchanger summary shows that the flow rates through the heat exchangers range from 290.9 gal/min to 307.8 gal/min.

^	G	ieneral	War	nings	Design Alerts	Pump Sur	mmary	Valve Su	immary H	eat Exchange	r Summary	Reserve	ir Summary		
	Jct	Resu Diagr	ults am	Name	e Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
	4	Show		Pump	483.8	55.80	21.74	60.48	N/A	100.0	6.135	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	5	Show		Pump	414.3	47.78	22.44	62.42	N/A	100.0	5.422	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

^	All Juncti	ions Bend Branch Control Valve Heat Exchanger Pump Reservoir							
	Heat Exchanger	Name	Name P Static P Static P Stag. Vol. In Out In Out T (psia) (psia) (psia) (psia) (gsia)			Vol. Flow Rate Mass Flow Rate Loss Factor Thru Jct Thru Jct (K) (gal/min) (Ibm/sec)			
	14	Heat Exchanger	64.61	60.82	64.94	61.15	307.8	35.50	11.2726
	15	Heat Exchanger	64.61	61.02	64.93	61.34	299.7	34.57	11.2726
	16	Heat Exchanger	64.62	61.23	64.92	61.53	290.9	33.55	11.2726

|--|

Step 6. Evaluate Other Pumps

The customer for this project wants an evaluation of three other pumps to determine which uses the least energy. The pump curve for each of these pumps is found in a text file.

For each of the pumps follow the following set of steps:

- 1. Create a child of the base scenario in the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel for Pump A, Pump B, and Pump C.
- 2. Load scenario Pump A, open the Pump Properties window, click Enter Curve Data
- 3. Click Edit Table and select Import From File
- 4. Change the file format to Text (*.txt) then select the data file **US Cooling System Pump A.txt** and click Open.
- 5. Using the Comma Separator, click OK.
- 6. With a Curve Fit Order of 2, click Generate Curve Fit Now, then click OK
- 7. Select the second pump and set all the properties equal to the first pump.

Run each scenario and take note of the overall pump power in the pump summary window. The data should match the following:

Pump	J4	J5
А	5.755 hp	4.509 hp
В	6.866 hp	5.489 hp
С	6.546 hp	4.403 hp

From this data, Pump A is the best choice, because it consumes the least power.

Housing Project

Summary

The objective of this example is to model a pipeline system to supply water to a new housing development. As the engineer you will evaluate the design to find the smallest pipe size that will still meet the water supply requirements.

No Fire Conditions:

Each house requires 10 gal/min at a minimum of 60 psig.

Fire Conditions:

Each house requires 2 gal/min with no minimum pressure. One fire hydrant may be open at a time and requires 100 gal/min at 90 psig static.

Topics Covered

• Using Scenario Manager

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Housing Project Initial.fth
- US Housing Project.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Housing Project- Initial.fth* model file listed above, which is located in the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom application folder. **Save the file to a different folder**.

The model should appear as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Initial model for Housing Project example

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
 - Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)

2.

- i. After selecting, click Add to Model
- c. Temperature = 60 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipe and Junction Properties

The fire hydrants are both turned off to begin the problem. Select the Optional tab in the Assigned Flow Properties window and select Flow Off to close the hydrant. Do this for both hydrants.

Pipe Properties

All the mains are to be the same size. We will try 3, $3\frac{1}{2}$, and 4 inches to see which one meets the requirements. Enter 3-inch pipe for the main and hydrant supply lines in the base case.

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = PVC ASTM
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = Use table below
 - d. Type = schedule 40
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths = Use table below

Pipe	Size	Length (feet)
1	3 inch	2000
10 & 20	3 inch	300
101-105 & 201-205	3 inch	200
199 & 299	3 inch	10
206	1 inch	150
108 & 207	1 inch	125
106, 110, 208, & 210	1 inch	100
107, 109, & 209	1 inch	75

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = West Lake
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 235 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 0 feet
- 2. Branches
 - a. Elevation = Use table below

Branch	Elevation (feet)
203	-10

Branch	Elevation (feet)
102-105 & 204	-5
101, 106, 202, & 205	0
201 & 206	5

- 3. Assigned Flows
 - a. Elevation = Use table below
 - b. Type = Outflow
 - c. Flow Specification = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - d. Flow Rate = Use table below

Assigned Flow	Name	Elevation (feet)	Flow Rate (gal/min)	Special Conditions
107	Browns	10	10	None
108	Peters	20	10	None
109	Chambers	35	10	None
110	Fords	15	10	None
111	Kellys	20	10	None
199	North Hydrant	5	100	Flow Off
207	Norths	20	10	None
208	Stewarts	-15	10	None
209	Coles	30	10	None
210	Allens	10	10	None
211	Burns	5	10	None
299	South Hydrant	0	100	Flow Off

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

The flows will be varied based on the different scenarios examined. To do this, we need to create child scenarios. We will use the Scenario Manager to create the designs we need to evaluate.

Step 5. Manage the Scenarios

1. In the Scenario Manager, create a child of this scenario by right-clicking on the Base Scenario and selecting Create Child. Name this child scenario 3 inch Pipe. This will be the parent scenario for all

the runs with 3 inch main pipes. Alternatively, you can select the Create Child icon 📫 on the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel to create this child scenario.

- 2. Select the 3 inch Pipe scenario and create another child, this one named Fire Flow. set the flow rate at each house to 2 gal/min instead of 10 gal/min. This will be the flow rate demand that needs to be met at the houses when either hydrant is open.
- 3. Next, create two children of this scenario named North Hydrant Fire and South Hydrant Fire. Load the North Hydrant Fire scenario from the Scenario Manager. Open the properties window of the North Hydrant and on the Optional tab, toggle the flow on by changing the special condition to None.
- 4. Now load the South Hydrant Fire scenario turn on the South Hydrant.
- 5. You now have all the scenarios that need to be evaluated for each pipe size but we still have two more pipe sizes that we need to investigate.
- 6. Right-click the 3 inch Pipe scenario and select Clone With Children.
- 7. Name this scenario 3.5 inch Pipe.
- 8. Repeat this process to create another set of scenarios named 4 inch Pipe. The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel should look like Figure 2.

Scenario Manager	Щ.			
ਡ 🚠 🖏 🖬 🛧 🕂 🔠 -				
Base Scenario Sinch Pipe South Hydrant Fire South Hydrant Fire				
Notes				
	•			
Scenario	s			
Overview Map Add-on Modules	0			

Figure 2: Scenario Manager for Water Supply to Housing Project

After creating the scenarios for the 3.5 inch pipe and 4 inch pipe, we need to open these scenarios and change the pipe sizes. This is accomplished most quickly with the Global Pipe Edit window.

- 1. Load the 3.5 inch Pipe scenario.
- 2. Select Global Edit then Global Pipe Edit from the toolbar or Edit menu.
- 3. Click the radio button for Pipe Template at the top, if not already selected, and click Select Pipe Data.
- 4. Change the Size to 3-1/2 inch, click OK.
- 5. In the Parameters to Change (Select in List) area, check the box next to Nominal Size 3-1/2 inch.
- 6. Since we only want to apply this to certain pipes, select Special above the Pipe List.
- 7. Change the Selection Type to Pipe Input Properties.
- 8. For Pipe Property, select Pipe Inner Diameter.
- 9. For Range, enter From 2.9 to 3.1 inches.
- 10. Click Select Pipes and note that 15 of 25 pipes were selected, these are all the pipes that are currently 3 inches. Click OK.
- 11. Click Apply Selections. A message should appear to inform you that changes were successively applied.
- 12. Click OK.

Repeat this process for the 4 inch Pipe scenario but changing the pipe size to 4 inch.

Step 6. Specify Output

Before running the model, load the Base Scenario to set the Output Control. Open the Output Control window by selecting Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu. This window allows the user to specify the output from the Fathom simulation. The window starts with a default set of outputs. Often the default output is sufficient. You may also specify a title for the model. Click on the General tab and add a title of **Housing Project Example**. On the Display Parameters tab, select the Junctions button and change the static and stagnation pressure units to psig. Click OK to save and close the Output Control

Now load the 3 inch Pipe scenario.

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 8. Examine the Output

The output from this model is shown in Figure 3. For the 3 inch Pipe scenario, with no hydrants open, the flow to each house is 10 gal/min and the static pressure must be at least 60 psig. The pressure at each house is above 60 psig, so the system with 3 inch mains would be sufficient.

Assigned Flow	Name	P Static In (psig)	P Static Out (psig)	P Stag. In (psig)	P Stag. Out (psig)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Factor (K)
107	Browns	76.56	76.56	76.65	76.65	10.00	1.391	0
108	Peters	72.40	72.40	72.49	72.49	10.00	1.391	0
109	Chambers	64.31	64.31	64.40	64.40	10.00	1.391	0
110	Fords	73.92	73.92	74.01	74.01	10.00	1.391	0
111	Kellys	71.03	71.03	71.12	71.12	10.00	1.391	0
X199	North Hydrant	80.45	80.45	80.45	80.45	0.00	0.000	0
207	Norths	70.31	70.31	70.41	70.41	10.00	1.391	0
208	Stewarts	85.87	85.87	85.96	85.96	10.00	1.391	0
209	Coles	66.73	66.73	66.82	66.82	10.00	1.391	0
210	Allens	75.99	75.99	76.08	76.08	10.00	1.391	0
211	Burns	77.51	77.51	77.60	77.60	10.00	1.391	0
X299	South Hydrant	82.54	82.54	82.54	82.54	0.00	0.000	0

Figure 3: Output window for 3 inch mains with no fire

On the Scenario Manager, load the North Hydrant Fire scenario under the 3 inch Pipe scenario. Run the model, and look at the output. This output is shown in Figure 4. Although the hydrant receives 100 gal/min, the supply pressure is less than the required 90 psig.

*	All June	ctions	Assigned	Flow	Bran	ch Res	ervoir				
A	ssigned Flow	1	Name	P Sta In (psig	itic g)	P Static Out (psig)	P Stag. In (psig)	P Stag. Out (psig)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Factor (K)
	107	Brown	15	7	1.98	71.98	71.99	71.99	2.000	0.2781	0
	108	Peters	S	66	6.60	66.60	66.60	66.60	2.000	0.2781	0
	109	Cham	bers	58	3.99	58.99	58.99	58.99	2.000	0.2781	0
	110	Fords		66	6.95	66.95	66.96	66.96	2.000	0.2781	0
	111	Kellys	s	64	4.98	64.98	64.98	64.98	2.000	0.2781	0
	199	North	Hydrant	70).99	70.99	71.11	71.11	100.000	13.9058	0
	207	North	s	66	6.95	66.95	66.96	66.96	2.000	0.2781	0
	208	Stewa	arts	81	1.79	81.79	81.79	81.79	2.000	0.2781	0
	209	Coles		61	1.63	61.63	61.63	61.63	2.000	0.2781	0
	210	Allens	s	70	0.02	70.02	70.03	70.03	2.000	0.2781	0
	211	Burns		7	1.87	71.87	71.87	71.87	2.000	0.2781	0
	X299	South	Hydrant	75	5.14	75.14	75.14	75.14	0.000	0.0000	0

Figure 4: Output window for 3 inch mains with north hydrant fire

Because we know that 3 inch is sufficient for No Fire conditions, we only need to test the Fire conditions for each pipe size. The results of this testing are displayed in Table 1. After testing all the fire conditions, 4 inch pipe is the only size that will deliver 90 psig to the North Hydrant during fire conditions. Therefore, the housing development mains must be 4 inch pipe.

Fire Flow Location	ilow 3 inch 3.5 inch		4 inch	
North Hydrant Fire	70.99	85.39	91.89	
South Hydrant Fire	72.89	87.43	93.98	

Beginner - Cost Calculation

Summary

This example demonstrates how to set up cost calculations in AFT Fathom.

Determine the cost of the heat exchanger system over a 10-year period including material, installation, and energy costs.

Topics Covered

- Estimating simple costs
- Connecting cost libraries
- Using Cost Settings
- Using the Cost Report

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Beginner Cost Calculation.fth
- Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.dat engineering library
- Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature Junction Costs.cst cost library for Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.dat
- Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature Pipe Costs.cst cost library for Steel ANSI

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

If you have already worked the Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature example for either the GSC or XTS modules, you can open the file you built for those examples, create a new scenario for this example, and then skip to Step 4.

Important: The XTS and GSC modules and cost calculations can be performed in the same run to simulate control functions over time, but we are not going to do this here. Before proceeding, make sure to disable GSC by selecting the radio button for Ignore under GSC in the Modules panel in Analysis Setup. Also, make sure to disable XTS by selecting Steady Only in the XTS section.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F
 - d. This calculates the default fluid properties to use in the model to initialize the heat transfer calculations.
- 3. Open the Heat Transfer/Variable Fluidspanel:
 - a. Heat Transfer = Heat Transfer With Energy Balance (Single Fluid)

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature example

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 8 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Length =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1 & 3-8	20
2	5
9	200
10	100

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 & J9 Reservoirs
 - a. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Liquid Temperature = 200 deg. F
 - c. Update Density with Temperature = Checked

- d. Liquid Surface Pressure = 40 psig
- e. Pipe Depth = 0 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	70
500	60
1000	40

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 3. J3 Three Way Valve
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Combined Flow = P2
 - c. Split Flow Pipe #1 = P3
 - d. Split Flow Pipe #2 = P9
 - e. Loss Model = Cv
 - f. Open Percentage Data =

Open Pct.	oen Pct. Cv Pipe #1			
0	0	100		
100	100	0		

- g. Actual Percent Open = 75%
- 4. J4, J7, & J8 Branch Junctions
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
- 5. J5 & J6 Heat Exchangers
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Loss Model tab
 - i. Loss Model = K Factor
 - ii. K = 1400
 - c. Thermal Data tab
 - i. Thermal Model = Counter-Flow
 - ii. Heat Transfer Area = 1600 feet2
 - iii. Overall Heat Transfer Coefficient = 50 Btu/hr-ft2-R
 - iv. Flow Rate = 200 lbm/sec

- v. Specific Heat = 1 Btu/lbm-R
- vi. Inlet Temperature = 40 deg. F

>Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Define the Cost Settings group

To perform cost calculations they will first need to be enabled. Do this by opening Analysis Setup, navigating to the Cost Settings panel, then selecting Calculate in the Cost Calculation section. If it is only desired to estimate energy costs, the Pump Energy Only option could be selected instead to simplify the input.

The Cost Settings panel is where the types of costs to be included in the cost calculations are specified. The Cost Settings panel is shown in Figure 2.

The Cost Definitions section allows you to specify the type of costs to be determined. You may select from engineering parameter costs, such as pipe weight, or actual monetary costs, including material and installation costs. For this example, select Monetary Costs, if not already selected. Include Material, Installation, and Operation/Energy costs by selecting them from the list of available monetary costs, as shown in Figure 2.

Energy cost data can be specified through an energy cost library, or by directly entering an energy cost on the Cost Settings panel. Using an energy cost library allows you to specify multiple energy costs, such as energy costs at both peak and off-peak rates. For this example, select Use This Energy Cost Information and enter a Cost of 0.12 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr, as shown in Figure 2.

The system lifetime to be applied for the cost calculations is specified in the Cost Time Period section. You can also specify interest and inflation rates to be applied to the cost calculations as well. For this example, enter a system life of 10 years, as shown in Figure 2, then close the Cost Settings panel by clicking the OK button.

Analysi	is Setup			×
1	Modules	\sim	Cost Settings	
≝⊘	Fluid Properties	\sim	Cost Calculation	
۵	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	O Do Not Calculate O Pump Energy Only	Calculates the costs associated with system materials, installation, energy, and/or maintenance.
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Cost Definitions	Energy Cost
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Monetary Cost 🗸	 Use Energy Cost Libraries Use This Energy Cost Information
%	Cost Settings	^	Material	Cost: 0.12 U.S. Dollars ~
	Cost Settings			Per: kW-hr 🗸
	Miscellaneous	\sim	Operation/Energy	Only this fixed energy cost set here will be used. All Energy Cost settings in the Library Manager will be ignored.
			Cost Time Period System Life: 10 years Interest Rate: 0 % Per years Inflation Rate: 0 % Per years Aways Warn for Incomplete Pipe Subcomponent Costs	
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent 🚽 🦓 Help	V OK Cancel

Figure 2: General cost calculation information is defined in the Cost Settings panel

Step 5. Engineering and Cost Libraries

The actual material and installation costs that would be used with cost calculations are contained in cost libraries. The cost libraries needed for this example already exist, and just need to be accessed.

The Library Manager (opened from the Library menu) shows all of the available and connected libraries. Libraries can either be engineering libraries or cost libraries. Cost libraries are always associated with an engineering library, and are thus displayed subordinate to an engineering library in the library lists.

Here we will summarize some key aspects of libraries:

- Cost information for a pipe is accessed from a cost library. Cost library items are based on corresponding items in an engineering library. (The engineering library also includes engineering information such as pipe diameters, hydraulic loss factors, etc.)
- To access a cost for a particular pipe or junction in a model, that pipe or junction must be based on items in an engineering library that is connected to the model file.
- There can be multiple cost libraries associated with and connected to an engineering library (such as regionally varying costs, or multiple foreign currencies). This makes it easier to manage costs of items.

Open the Library menu and select Library Manager. Click Add Existing Library, select the **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.dat** engineering library from the AFT Fathom 13 Examples folder, and click Open. The engineering library titled **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature** should now appear in the list of available libraries.

Now add the cost libraries by clicking Add Existing Cost Library, and browsing to the **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature - Junction Costs.cst** and the **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature -Pipe Costs.cst** cost library files.

These libraries should connect automatically. If not, connect the newly added engineering and cost libraries by checking the box next to the name in the list of available libraries.

The Library Manager should appear as shown in Figure 3. The Library Manager window displays all of the available and connected libraries.



Figure 3: Library Manager with engineering and cost libraries added and connected

The engineering libraries associated with these two cost libraries are the **Steel - ANSI** pipe material library, and an external library called **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature**. For the cost data in the two cost libraries to be accessed by pipes and junctions in the model, the pipes and junctions must use these two engineering libraries.

The pipes for this example are already using data from the Steel - ANSI pipe material library, so no modifications need to be made for the pipes. All of the junctions except the reservoir junctions must be modified to use the junction data contained in the engineering libraries. Do this by opening the properties window for each junction, and selecting the junction name displayed in the Library list, as shown in Figure 4 for the Three-Way Valve Junction.

Number:	3							<u> </u>	OK
lame:	The	ee Way Valv	e	~]			×	Cano
ibrary Jct:	US	- 3-Way Val	ve for Controlled I	HEX Terr $ \smallsetminus $	Elevation			2	Jump
Copy Data Fr	rom Jct			~	0 fe	eet ~		2	Help
oss Model	O <u>p</u> tional	<u>D</u> esign Al	erts Cost	No <u>t</u> es Sta	atus		 		
Combined F	Flow	P2 \	1						
Split Flow F	Pipe #1:	P3 \	Cy Pipe #1	75					
			CV Tipe #1.	13					
Split Flow F	Pipe #2:	P9 \	Cv Pipe #1:	25					
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Mod © Cv Open Per	Pipe #2: cent Open: [del O Kv rcentage Data	P9 × 75 ×	 Cv Pipe #1: Cv Pipe #2: % 	25	Ontional Data				
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Mod © Cv Open Per	Pipe #2: cent Open: [del C Kv rcentage Data	P9 75 75 8	Cv Pipe #1: Cv Pipe #2: %	25 Cv	Optional Data Flow Area #2				
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Mod Cv Open Per	Pipe #2: cent Open: [del Okv rcentage Data Open Pct. 0	P9 × 75 × 75 × 9	Cv Pipe #2: 2 % Flow Area #1 (feet2)	25 Cv Pipe #2 100	Optional Data Flow Area #2 (feet2)	^			
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Mod © Cv Open Per 1 2	Pipe #2: cent Open: [del Cent Open: [Kv rcentage Data Open Pct. 0 100	P9 × 75 × Pipe #1 0 100	Cv Pipe #2: 2 % Flow Area #1 (feet2)	25 Cv Pipe #2 100 0	Optional Data Flow Area #2 (feet2)	^			
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Moc © Cv Open Per 1 2 3	Pipe #2: cent Open: [del C Kv rcentage Data Open Pct. 0 100	P9 × 75 × 75 × Pipe #1 0 100	Cv Pipe #2: v Pipe #2: v Ripe #2: Flow Area #1 (feet2)	25 Cv Pipe #2 100 0	Optional Data Flow Area #2 (feet2)	^			
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Moc © Cv Open Per 1 2 3 4	Pipe #2: cent Open: del Orcentage Data Open Pct. 0 100	P9 × 75 × 75 × Pipe #1 0 100	Cv Pipe #2: 2 % Flow Area #1 (feet2)	25 25 100 0	Optional Data Flow Area #2 (feet2)	^			
Split Flow F Actual Perc Loss Moc © Cv Open Per 1 2 3 4 5	Cent Open: Cent Open: Cent Open: Cent Open: Cent Open: Cent Open Pate Open P	P9 × 75 × 75 × Pipe #1 0 100	Cv Pipe #2: 2 % Flow Area #1 (feet2)	25 Pipe #2 100 0	Optional Data Flow Area #2 (feet2)	•			

Figure 4: The junctions to be included in the cost analysis must be associated with an engineering library

Step 6. Including objects in the Cost Report

The final step before performing a cost analysis is to specify which pipes and junctions you want to be included in the final cost report. This is done by opening the properties window, navigating to the Cost tab, and choosing Include in Cost Report **for each pipe and junction to be included**, as shown for Pipe 1 in Figure 5.

The Global Edit feature may be used to update this information for all of the pipes and junctions.

Name: Copy Data From Pipe	Pipe			Upstream Junction: 1 Downstream Junction: 2 Copy Previous	V OK Cance Jump Help
Pipe Model Fitting Cost Report Do Not Includ Include Cost in	s & Lo <u>s</u> ses s Cost in Rep Report	Heat Trans <u>f</u> er	Cost Info Cost Info Cost Info Cost Info Cost Info Cost	Dgbional Cost Notes Status nation: CuBRARIES USED === ted cost libraries INULTIPLIERS APPLIED === 100 % no 100 % no 100 % sees 100 % //CE DURATION === None	

Figure 5: The Cost tab on the pipe and junction Properties windows is used to include the objects in the Cost Report

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 8. Examine the Cost Report

The Cost Report is displayed in the General Results section of the Output Window. View the Cost report by selecting the Cost Report Tab. The content of the Cost Report can be controlled from the Output Control window. Figure 6 shows the Cost Report for this example with the Material, Installation, Energy, and Total costs displayed.

The Cost Report shows the total system cost, as well as the individual totals for the material, installation, and energy costs. In addition, the Cost Report displays the detailed cost for each pipe, junction, and fitting that was included in the report. The items are grouped together by type, and a subtotal for each category is listed.

Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TO
TOTAL OF ALL MODEL COST	S							100
Total of All Shown Costs			34,915	14,041	48,956	51,768	51,768	100
Pipe Subtotal			22,695	11,125	33,820	0	0	33
P1	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	1
P2	Pipe	Pipe	255	125	380	0	0	
P3	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P4	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P5	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P6	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P7	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P8	Pipe	Pipe	1,020	500	1,520	0	0	
P9	Pipe	Pipe	10,200	5,000	15,200	0	0	1
P10	Pipe	Pipe	5,100	2,500	7,600	0	0	
Branch Subtotal			1,620	666	2,286	0	0	2
J4	Branch	Branch	540	222	762	0	0	
J7	Branch	Branch	540	222	762	0	0	
J8	Branch	Branch	540	222	762	0	0	
Heat Exchanger Subtotal			6,000	1,200	7,200	0	0	7
J5	Heat Exchanger	Heat Exchanger	3,000	600	3,600	0	0	;
J6	Heat Exchanger	Heat Exchanger	3,000	600	3,600	0	0	
Pump Subtotal			1,500	500	2,000	51,768	51,768	53
J2	Pump	Pump	1,500	500	2,000	51,768	51,768	5
Three Way Valve Subtotal			3,100	550	3,650	0	0	3
J3	Three Way Valve	Three Way Valve	3,100	550	3.650	0	0	2

Figure 6: The Cost Report in the General Output section shows the results of the cost analysis

Cost Analysis Summary

The cost analysis for this example shows the total system cost over 10 years for the heat exchanger system is \$100,724. Of that cost, \$34,915 was for Material costs, \$14,041 was for Installation costs, and \$51,768 was energy cost over the life of the system.

Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping

Summary

This example demonstrates how to perform Non-Settling Slurry calculations in AFT Fathom to size a pump as part of a system design process.

Topics Covered

- Entering rheological data
- Using homogeneous scale-up features
- Obtaining Power Law and Bingham Plastic constants

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping.fth
- US Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping Scale-up Data.txt
- US Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping Rheology Data.txt

Problem Statement

The piping for a non-settling slurry system which moves phosphate is being designed. The system will pump 4,755 gal/min of phosphate through a horizontal pipe 2,300 feet long.

Use non-settling slurry calculations to size the pump for 4,755 gal/min and alternate potential flows of 3,170 and 6,340 gal/min.

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Fluid panel
 - a. Fluid Library = User Specified Fluid
 - b. Name = Phosphate Slime
 - c. Density = 70.5 lbm/ft3
 - d. Dynamic Viscosity = 1 centipoise (note that the viscosity entered here will *not* be used once the non-Newtonian parameters are entered).
- 3. Viscosity Model panel
 - a. Viscosity Model = Homogeneous Scale-up
 - b. Entered Scaled Data: The data provided by Wilson, et al, 2006 for 203 mm (8 inch) pipe is as follows:
 - i. Material = Steel ANSI
 - ii. Size = 8 inch
 - iii. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - iv. Raw Data table =

Parameters	Velocity	Jm	Elow Pogimo
Units	feet/sec	ft/ft	FIOW Regime
1	1.74	0.089	Laminar
2	4.99	0.100	Laminar
3	6.56	0.102	Laminar
4	8.50	0.105	Laminar
5	10.6	0.108	Laminar
6	12.5	0.110	Laminar
7	14.5	0.113	Laminar
8	16.8	0.119	Turbulent
9	18.5	0.130	Turbulent

Table 1: Pressure	drop data on p	hosphate slime fro	m Wilson. et al.	. 2006 page 76	(203 mm/8 inch i	(eqiq
	alop aata on p	noophato onnio no		puge / c		p.p.c/

1. In the table choose Velocity in feet/sec and Jm in ft/ft and use the Edit Table button to import the data from the *US - Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping Scale-up Data.txt* file. Alternatively, enter the data shown in Table 1 above, with the Flow Regime set to Laminar for the first 7 entries,

and Turbulent for rows 8 and 9.

- 2. Click Create Graph at the bottom.
- 3. To see how the data will scale to 305 mm, choose the **Cross-Plot Scale-Up Curves** option, with **Plot a Curve for Specific Pipe Size** selected, specify the following parameters: **Steel ANSI**, **12** inch, and **STD**
- 4. Click Update Graph at the bottom (see Figure 2)
- 5. To see how Power Law and Bingham Plastic model would work for this data choose them in the **Cross-Plot Correlation for Test Pipe Diameter** area.
- 6. Select OK

w Data G	aph								
Test Pipe	Material Data							~	OK
Material:		Stee	I - ANSI	\sim				×	Cano
Size:		8	inch	~				9	Help
Type:		S	TD (schedule 40)	\sim					
Inner Diar	neter: 7.981	inche	es	\sim					
	Flow		Head/Pressure						
	Velocity (feet/sec)		Jm (ft/ft)	Flow Regime		Î			
Paramete	r Velocity	~	Jm 🗸						
Units	feet/sec	\sim	ft/ft 🗸 🗸						
1		1.74	0.089	Laminar	\sim	Ī			
2		4.99	0.1	Laminar	\sim				
3		6.56	0.102	Laminar	\sim]			
4		8.5	0.105	Laminar	\sim				
5		10.6	0.108	Laminar	\sim				
6		12.5	0.11	Laminar	\sim]			
7		14.5	0.113	Laminar	\sim				
8		16.8	0.119	Turbulent	\sim				
9		18.5	0.13	Turbulent	\sim				
10				Turbulent	\sim				
11				Turbulent	\sim				
12				Turbulent	\sim				
12				Turbulent	24	i.	4		

Figure 1: Non-Settling Slurry Scale-up test data entry



Figure 2: Graph of Non-Settling Slurry scale-up data

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 3: Layout of pipe system for Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping Example

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 12 inch
 - d. Type = STD
 - e. Length =

Pipe	Length
1	1 inches
2	2300 feet

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 & J3 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pressure = 0 psig
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 2. J2 Pump

- a. Pump Model tab
 - i. Name = 4755 gal/min
 - ii. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - iii. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - iv. Analysis Type = Sizing
 - v. Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - vi. Fixed Flow Rate = 4755 gal/min
 - vii. Nominal Efficiency = 75 Percent
- b. Optional tab
 - i. Additional Efficiency Data

Motor Power	Motor Eff. (%)
100	95

ii. Power Units = hp

Step 4. Create Two Alternate Cases

The example in Wilson et al, 2006, also requires evaluation of alternate flow rates. To create the alternate cases do the following:

- 1. Go to the Edit menu and click Select All
- 2. From the Edit menu again, select Duplicate Special
- 3. Increment All Pipe and Junction Numbers By = 10
- 4. Click OK
- 5. Move the duplicate below the first and click Paste
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 on the pipes and junctions that were duplicated
- 7. For Pump J12, enter the following:
 - a. Name = 3170 gal/min
 - b. Fixed Flow Rate = 3170 gal/min
- 8. For the J22, enter the following:
 - a. Name = 6340 gal/min
 - b. Fixed Flow Rate = 6340 gal/min

To show the names of the pumps and their head rise, a new Workspace Layer will be created.

- 1. Select all pumps on the Workspace using a selection box (dragged from left to right) or holding CTRL while clicking each pump.
- 2. In the Quick Access Panel, open the Workspace Layers tab.
- 3. Create a new layer by selecting New Layer and then select the option From Workspace Selections in the drop-down menu. This creates a layer in which the selected objects and their labels are set to be visible.
- 4. Name the layer Pump Labels.
- 5. Edit the layer by selecting it and clicking the gear icon to bring up the Layer Settings window or by double clicking on the layer name.
- 6. Navigate to the Junction Parameters panel and expand the Commonly Used Junction Parameters list.
- 7. Double-click **Junction Name** to add it to the list on the right-hand side. This will add the Junction Name to the pump labels.
- 8. In the same panel, add **Head Rise** (ft) to the label from the Pump Summary Parameters group.
- 9. Close the Layer Settings window.
- **Note:** The Head Rise parameter will be grayed out in the right hand column since there is not yet output. After the model runs, this row will be white and each pump's head rise will be shown on the Workspace.

The workspace should resemble Figure 4.



Figure 4: Layout of pipe system for Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping Example with all three cases

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the Output Control window.

Figure 5 shows the Output window and includes the Pump Summary tab.

<u> </u>	orkspace	Mo	del Data	0 III OI	ıtput !	😤 Graph F	Results	💿 Visu	al Report							
	i ĝi	1 🦉	D _b 4	1												
: G	ieneral W	arnings [)esign Aler	rts Pum	p Summary	-										
Jct	Results Diagram	Nan	ne (a	Vol. Flow pal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)		
2	Show	4755 gal	/min	4,755	746.9	79.14	161.7	71.25	N/A	308.1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
12	Show	3170 gal	/min	3,170	497.9	75.84	154.9	71.25	N/A	196.8	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
22	Show	6340 gal	/min	6,340	995.9	90.89	185.6	71.25	i N/A	471.7	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
_																
: P	ipes															
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec	y PSta Ma c) (psi	ntic PSta x Mi a) (psi	atic Elev n In a) (fe	ation let et)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Stat In (psia	ic P Static Out) (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	4,755	13.4	89 1	3.31 1	3.31	0	0	0.002867	0.00286	67 (0.005	357 13	.31 13.3	1 14.70	14.6
2	Pipe	4,755	13.4	89 9	2.45 1	3.31	0	0	79.139900	79.13990	00 0	161.647	455 92	45 13.3	93.84	14.7
11	Pipe	3,170	8.9	93 1	4.08 1	4.08	0	0	0.002748	0.00274	18 (0.0056	612 14	.08 14.08	3 14.70	14.6
12	Pipe	3,170	8.9	93 8	9.92 1	4.08	0	0	75.836441	75.83644	11 (154.899	964 89	.92 14.00	3 90.53	14.7
21	Pipe	6,340	17.9	85 1	2.23 1	2.23	0	0	0.003293	0.00329	3 (0.006	726 12	23 12.2	3 14.70	14.6
22	Pipe	6,340	17.9	85 10	3.12 1	2.23	0	0	90.883720	90.88372	20 (185.634	333 103	.12 12.2	3 105.58	14.7
> 🛆	II. Junctions	A														
	in o dinoti o inc		Proceura	Pump												
	Max	Assigned	Pressure	Pump	D Stag	D Stag	Val E	leu Pate I	Maaa Elaw Pa	ta Lasa I	Tatas					
Jct	Nar	me	Pressure P Static In (psia)	Pump P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. F Th (ga	flow Rate I iru Jct al/min)	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	te Loss I (ł	Factor					
Jct 1	Nar Assigned	me Pressure	P Static In (psia) 13.31	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70	Vol. F Th (ga	low Rate I rru Jct al/min) 4,755	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744	te Loss ((†	Factor					
Jct 1 2	Nar Assigned 4755 gal/n	Pressure nin	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.45	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 5 14.69	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84	Vol. F Th (ga	Flow Rate I Iru Jct al/min) 4,755 4,755	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744	te Loss I (H	Factor () 0 0					
Jct 1 2 3	Nar Assigned 4755 gal/n Assigned	Pressure hin Pressure	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31 13.31	P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.4 13.3	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 5 14.65 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84 14.70	Vol. F Th (ga	Tow Rate ru Jct al/min) 4,755 4,755 4,755	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744 744	te Loss (() 5.9 5.9 5.9	Factor 0 0 0					
Jct 1 2 3 11	Nar Assigned 4755 gal/n Assigned Assigned	Assigned me Pressure hin Pressure Pressure	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31 13.31 14.08	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.4 13.3 14.08	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 5 14.69 14.70 8 14.70 8 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84 14.70 14.70	Vol. F Th (ga	Tow Rate ru Jct al/min) 4,755 4,755 4,755 3,170	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744 744	te Loss I (ł 5.9 5.9 5.9 7.9	Factor 0 0 0 0					
Jct 1 2 3 11 12	Nar Assigned I 4755 gal/n Assigned I Assigned I 3170 gal/n	Pressure hin Pressure hin Pressure hin	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31 13.31 14.08 14.08	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.45 13.3 14.00 89.92	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 5 14.65 14.70 8 14.70 8 14.70 9 14.65	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84 14.70 14.70 90.53	Vol. F Th (ga	Tow Rate Iru Jet al/min) 4.755 4.755 4.755 3.170 3.170 2.172	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744 744 493 493	te Loss I (H 5.9 5.9 5.9 7.9 7.9	Factor 0 0 0 0					
Jct 1 2 3 11 12 13 21	Nar Assigned 4755 gal/n Assigned 3170 gal/n Assigned	Assigned me Pressure hin Pressure hin Pressure hin Pressure	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31 13.31 14.08 14.08 14.08	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.4 13.3 14.0 89.92 14.0 89.92	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 5 14.65 14.70 8 14.70 2 14.65 14.70 2 14.65 8 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84 14.70 14.70 90.53 14.70	Vol. F Th (ga	low Rate ru Jct al/min) 4,755 4,755 4,755 3,170 3,170 3,170 3,170	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744 744 495 495 495	te Loss I († 5.9 5.9 5.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9	Factor 0 0 0 0 0					
Jct 1 2 3 11 12 13 21 22	Nar Assigned 4755 gal/n Assigned 3170 gal/n Assigned 6240 gal/n	Massigner me Pressure hin Pressure hin Pressure Pressure Pressure	P Static In (psia) 13.31 13.31 13.31 14.08 14.08 14.08 12.23 12.23	Pump P Static Out (psia) 13.3 92.4 13.3 14.0 89.9 2 14.0 89.9 2 14.0 8 9.9 2 14.0 8 9.9 2 14.0 8 9.9 2 14.0 12.2 10.1 13.3	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 14.65 14.70 14.65 14.70 14.65 14.70 14.65 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 14.70 93.84 14.70 14.70 90.53 14.70 14.70 14.70	Vol. F Th (gz	low Rate ru Jct al/min) 4,755 4,755 4,755 3,170 3,170 3,170 6,340 6,340	Mass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 744 744 744 497 497 497 999 999	te Loss I (H 5.9 5.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 5.9 5.9	Factor 0 0 0 0 0 0					

Figure 5: The Output window with default output data

The Output Control window can be used to customize the output and to add output parameters.

- 1. Open Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu
- 2. In the Pipes section choose **Head Gradient** and add it to shown output. Then change its units to ft/ft. Head gradient is the same thing as *Jm*. See Figure 6.
- 3. Next choose **Pressure Gradient Stag. Total** and add it. Then change its units to psi/ft.
- 4. Select the Pumps button that runs along the top of Output Control.
- 5. Choose **Pressure Rise Stagnation** and add it. Then change its units to ft. H2O std.. This is the head rise in terms of water head. See Figure 7.
- 6. Click OK. The Output now appears as in Figure 8.

Table 3 summarizes the results from all three cases which agree well with those published by Wilson et al, 2006.

splay <u>Parameters</u> <u>General</u> <u>Format</u> &	Action	Show Pipes/Jcts	Jct <u>D</u> eltas	<u>M</u> ulti-Scenari	io			
Pipes 🗗 Junctions 💆 Pumps	M Valve	s 📥 Heat Excha	ngers 📃 Re	servoirs	Cost Report			
<filter></filter>		1	Show Output in	n This Order				Reor
vailable Output Parameters		_	Paramete	r		Units		^
Prandtl Number	~		Pressure	Static Maxim	um	nsia		
Pressure Ambient Inlet			Pressure	Static Minim	m	nsia	-	
Pressure Dynamic			Elevation	Inlet		feet	-	
Pressure Gradient Friction Wall			Ci Elevation	Outlet		feet		
Pressure Gradient Gravity Pressure Gradient Stag. Total			Pressure Loss Star, Total			neid	~	
Pressure Loss Gravity			Pressure	Loss Static T	otal	nsid	~	
Pressure Loss Stag. Total Pressure Loss Static Friction Component		Add	C Pressure	Lose Gravity	otal	neid	-	
Pressure Loss Static Friction Total			Head Loss (dH)			feet	~	
Pressure Loss Static Friction Wall			C Propouro	Static Inlat		noin	~	
Pressure Stagnation Inlet			C Propouro	Static Intel Static Outlet		poia	~	
Pressure Stagnation Outlet				State Outlet	let	poid	~	
Pressure Static Inlet Pressure Static Maximum	~		C Pressure	Stagnation In Stagnation ()	iel utlat	psia	~	
<	>		Car Pressure	Jacob	ullet	psid	~	
90 of 90 parameters shown (unfiltered)			Cal Read Gra	Creations Char	Tatal	1011	~	
		Chow	Ga Pressure	Gradient Stag	g. i otal	psi/m	\sim	~
Alphabetical Categorized		Description	Remove	Clear All	Same Units	Use Prefer	red Units	
utput Window Table Header: dP/dx isual Report Abbreviation: dP/dx escription: Stagnation	(total) pres	sure drop per unit ler	igth along pipe					
Datahase								
Database								
Dutabase	Lo	ad Control Format	Us	er Default	Fathom Def	ault 😽	🖊 ок	

Figure 6: The Output Control window Pipes report

		ACTION	Snow Pipes/Jcts	Jct Delt	as <u>M</u> ulti-Scenario				
Pipes D Junctions	Pumps	▶ Valves	Heat Excha	angers	Reservoirs 😔	Cost Report			
<filter></filter>				Show O	tput in This Order			F	leon
Available Output Parameters				Par	ameter		Units		1
Number of Pumps		^		🕻 📑 Jun	ction Name				1
Percent of BEP				🚰 Voli	umetric Flow Rate		gal/min	\sim	
Power Motor Input				🚰 Mas	s Flow Rate		Ibm/sec	\sim	
Power Overall				🚰 Pre	ssure Rise Stagnatio	n	psid	\sim	
Power Shaft Pressure Discharge Stagnatio	n			🚰 Hea	d Rise		feet	\sim	
Pressure Discharge Static			-	Ç ∰ Effi	ciency Overall		Percent	\sim	
Pressure Rise Stagnation			Add	C Spe	ed		Percent	\sim	
Pressure Suction Static				C Pov	er Overall		hp	\sim	
Pump Model				C Bes	t Efficiency Point (BE	P)	gal/min	\sim	
Reliability Factor Diameter				C Per	cent of BEP		Percent	\sim	
Reliability Factor Speed					SHA		feet	\sim	
Reliability Factor Total		~			HR		feet	\sim	
<		>		C Pre	ssure Rise Stagnatio	n	ft. H2O std.	~	
36 of 36 parameters shown (u	infiltered)		Show			C 11 2			
Aipitabelical			Description	Remo	/e Clear All	Same Units	Use Preferred	d Units	-
Output Window Table Header:	dP								
lisual Report Abbreviation:	dP								
Description:	Stagnation	pressure ris	e generated by the	pump					
									_
Database									
5000000		Lo	ad Control Format		User Default	Fathom Def	ault 🧹	ОК	_

Figure 7: The Output Control window Pumps report

<u>/</u> W	orkspace	Mo	del Data	🛄 Out	put 🖄	Graph R	lesults	👁 Visu	al Report									
2	₿ Ž↓	1 💆	b *	e 🗐														
G	ieneral V	/arnings [Design Alert	s Pump	Summary													
Jct	Results Diagram	Nan	ne (gi	Vol. Flow al/min) (I	Mass Flow bm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp) (BEP gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)	dP (ft. H2O std.)			
2	Show	4755 gal	Vmin	4,755	746.9	79.14	161.7	71.25	N/A	308.1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	182.6	5		
12	Show	3170 gal	l/min	3,170	497.9	75.84	154.9	71.25	N/A	196.8	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	174.9			
22	Show	6340 gal	l/min	6,340	995.9	90.89	185.6	71.25	N/A	471.7	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	209.6	6		
: Pi	ipes																	
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec	P Station Max (psia)	P Stati Min (psia)	c Eleva Ini (fe	ation E let et)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Sta In (psi	itic PSta Ou a) (psi	tic PStag. t In a) (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	dH/ dx (ft/ft)	dP/ dx (psi/ft)
1	Pipe	4,755	13.4	39 13.3	1 13.	31	0	0	0.002867	0.00286	7 (0 0.005	857 1	3.31 13	3.31 14.70	14.69	0.07028	0.0344
2	Pipe	4,755	13.4	39 92.4	15 13.	31	0	0	79.139900	79.13990) (0 161.647	455 9	2.45 13	3.31 93.84	14.70	0.07028	0.0344
11	Pipe	3,170	8.99	3 14.0	14.	08	0	0	0.002748	0.00274	3 (0.005	612 14	4.08 14	4.08 14.70	14.69	0.06735	0.0329
12	Pipe	3,170	8.99	3 89.9	14.	08	0	0	75.836441	75.83644	1 (0 154.899	964 8	9.92 14	4.08 90.53	14.70	0.06735	0.0329
21	Pipe	6,340	17.9	35 12.2	3 12.	23	0	0	0.003293	0.003293	3 (0.006	726 1	2.23 12	2.23 14.70	14.69	0.08071	0.0395
22	Pipe	6,340	17.9	35 103.	12 12.	23	0	0	90.883720	90.88372) (0 185.634	833 10	3.12 13	2.23 105.58	14.70	0.08071	0.0395
A	Il Junction:	Assigned	d Pressure	Pump														
Jct	Na	me	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Fl Thr (gal	low Rate M nu Jct I/min)	Aass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	te Loss F (K	actor							
1	Assigned	Pressure	13.31	13.31	14.70	14.70		4,755	74	5.9	0							
2	4755 gal/r	nin	13.31	92.45	14.69	93.84		4,755	74	5.9	0							
3	Assigned	Pressure	13.31	13.31	14.70	14.70		4,755	74	5.9	0							
11	Assigned	Pressure	14.08	14.08	14.70	14.70		3,170	49	7.9	0							
	3170 cal/c	nin	14.08	89.92	14.69	90.53		3,170	49	7.9	0							
12	Silve gain		14.08	14.08	14.70	14.70		3,170	49	7.9	0							
12 13	Assigned	Pressure	14.00					0.040	00	0	0							
12 13 21	Assigned Assigned	Pressure Pressure	12.23	12.23	14.70	14.70		0,340	55.									
12 13 21 22	Assigned Assigned 6340 gal/r	Pressure Pressure min	12.23	12.23 103.12	14.70 14.69	14.70 105.58		6,340	99	5.9	o							

Figure 8: The Output showing head gradient, pressure gradient and pump water head rise

Also of interest is the system curve. Navigate to the Graph Results window by clicking the Graph Results tab on the toolbar, or by pressing Control+G. On the Graph Control tab in the Quick Access Panel, select the Pump vs. System Curve tab if not already selected. CRV for Pump 2 should be selected, see Figure 9. Click Generate.

The system curve is shown in Figure 10.

Graph List Manager					ф				
	Æ	h >	G	Ŧ					
📰 My Graphs									
Parameters */ Formatting									
Pump vs. System			file						
Curve Type:	Single				-				
Flow Type:	Volumetri	ic •	gal/	min	•				
Pressure or Head:	Head	•	feet		•				
Pump	CR	V FUL	MIN	AOR	POR				
2 4755 gal/min (4,755.00 gal/n	nin) ⊻	1							
12 31/0 gal/min (3,1/0.00 gal/	min)								
22 6340 gal/min (6,340.00 gal/	min)								
Flow Rate Range:	Auto	ΟU	ser Sp	ecified					
User Range:	0	5,706	6	gal/r	nin				
Data Points Per Curve:	30				-				
		_							
🗹 Ge	nerate	•							
🝰 Scenario 🗳 Graph Cor	trol								
📑 Overview Map		Add	-on M	lodule	s (

Figure 9: Data selection for graphing system curve



Figure 10: System curve in Graph Results window

Step 7. Compare Homogeneous Scale-Up to Power Law and Bingham Plastic Viscosity Models

Based on the fluid and flow regime and industry preference, a non-Newtonian model such as Power Law or Bingham Plastic may be preferred. How do those models compare to the Scale-up approach for the current example?

To perform the comparison, create two child scenarios. This can be done by opening the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel. Create two child scenarios and call them Power Law and Bingham Plastic.

Here the Power Law scenario will be reviewed. The Bingham Plastic scenario will be very similar and hence is not shown. Results for all three scenarios will be compared later in this example.

- 1. Load the Power Law scenario
- 2. Open Analysis Setup
- 3. Open the Viscosity Model panel in the Fluid Properties group
- 4. Click the Enter Scaled Data button
- 5. Click the Graph tab
- 6. Select the Cross-Plot Correlation for Test Pipe Diameter option
- 7. Make sure the Power Law option is selected
- 8. If not, select it and click Update Graph

Figure 11 shows that the Power Law correlation matches the data well. The Bingham Plastic correlation diverges from test data at higher flow rates.





Figure 11: Non-Settling Slurry Scale-up data and Power Law (top) and Bingham Plastic (bottom) correlations

- 1. Click Cancel
- 2. Select Power Law from the drop down list of Viscosity Models
- 3. Select Calculate from Rheological Data
- 4. Click Calculate Constants
- 5. Make sure the Raw Data Type selection is Tube Flow Rheometer Data (8V/D)
- 6. Enter the shear rate and shear stress data from Table 2, below. This data is equivalent to the data from Table 1, entered previously. Alternatively, use the **US Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pump**ing **Rheological Data.txt** file to import the shear rate and shear stress data into Fathom.
- 7. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- 8. Click OK

The data should be K = 69,240 lbm/hr-ft and n = 0.1341. See Figure 12. For the Bingham Plastic scenario the constants should be Plastic Viscosity= 86.63 lbm/hr-ft and Yield Stress= 0.007138 psia.

Table 2: Pressure drop data on phosphate slime from Wilson, et al, 2006 page 76 (203 mm/8 inch pipe) con-verted into shear rate (8V/D) and shear stress (Tau)

Bun	v	Jm	Shear Rate	Shear Stress
Kull	feet/sec	m/m	1/seconds	psia
1	1.74	0.089	20.89	0.0073
2	4.99	0.100	59.90	0.0082
3	6.56	0.102	78.82	0.0083
4	8.50	0.105	102.1	0.0086
5	10.6	0.108	127.7	0.0088
6	12.5	0.110	150.2	0.0090
7	14.5	0.113	174.6	0.0092
8	16.8	0.119	201.8	0.0097
9	18.5	0.130	222.3	0.0106



Figure 12: Power Law data curve fit

Each scenario can be loaded and run. Results are summarized in Table 3. It is clear that the Bingham Plastic model over predicts the required pump head and power at higher flow rates but is comparable at the lowest flow rate of 3170 gal/min. This is consistent with the lower part of Figure 11 where the Bingham Plastic correlation offers a poor match to the raw data as the flow rate increases.

Q	gal/mi- n	3	170 gal/n	nin	4	755 gal/n	nin	6340 gal/min			
		Scale- Up	Power Law	Bing- ham Plastic	Scale- Up	Power Law	Bing- ham Plastic	Scale- Up	Power Law	Bing- ham Plastic	
V	feet/se- c	8.993	8.993	8.993	13.489	13.489	13.489	17.985	17.985	17.985	
Jm	ft/ft	0.0673- 5	0.0684- 6	0.06985	0.0702- 8	0.0722- 8	0.08079	0.0807- 1	0.0821- 0	0.10506	
dP/dx	psid/ft	0.0329- 7	0.0335- 1	0.03420	0.0344- 1	0.0353- 9	0.03955	0.0395- 1	0.0401- 9	0.05144	
dP	psid	75.84	77.09	78.66	79.14	81.39	90.97	90.89	92.45	118.31	
dH Wate- r	feet	174.9	177.8	181.4	182.6	187.7	209.8	209.6	213.2	272.9	
dH Fluid	feet	154.9	157.5	160.7	161.7	166.3	185.8	185.6	188.8	241.7	
Powe- r	hp	196.8	200.0	204.1	308.1	316.8	354.1	471.7	479.8	614.0	

Table 3: Comparison of results between Homogeneous Scale-up, Power Law, and Bingham Plastic models

Analysis Summary

A non-settling phosphate slurry pipeline was modeled and the pump sized for a range of flow rates. AFT Fathom non-settling slurry calculations allow evaluation of the non-Newtonian viscous behavior of the slurry.

NFPA Firewater System

Summary

This problem walks through building a hydraulic model of a fire water sprinkler system using Fathom's NFPA features. This example is based off of figure B.2 (a) and associated calculations from NFPA 15 standard 8.5.3.1.

In this example, a firewater spray nozzle system is hydraulically modeled. The system consists of 28 spray nozzles and is supplied by a fixed pressure source. As the design engineer, it is your responsibility to ensure that all spray nozzles receive at least 40 gal/min, as well as the minimum supply pressure required to achieve these flows. To ensure that the proposed design is adequate, you will model the system and use the hydraulically most remote nozzle to ensure that all spray nozzles are satisfied.

Topics Covered

- Modeling a fire water spray system
- Making groups
- Using NFPA features
- Generating an NFPA report
- Using Excel Change Data

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US NFPA Firewater System Initial.fth
- US NFPA Firewater System Final.fth
- US NFPA AFT Transfer Spreadsheet.xlsx

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the **US - NFPA Firewater System - Initial.fth** model file listed above, which is located in the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom application folder. **Save the file to a different folder**.

The model should appear as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Initial model for NFPA Firewater System example

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Miscellaneous group

While still in the analysis setup, expand the Miscellaneous drop down and open the NFPA panel. Check the box next to Enable NFPA. This will enable various features throughout the software such as NFPA internal fittings & losses for pipes, equivalent length loss model for junctions, NFPA report, etc. Keep the Initial Values the same. A group for the NFPA report will be selected later.

Step 5. Define the Pipe and Junction Properties

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click the "Ok" button to save changes to the analysis setup and return to the workspace. At this point a user would need to draw their own network using the tools in the toolbox, but to save some time the piping layout for this model has already been created.

With the system in place, we now need to enter the properties of the objects. Because this model is large, all input has been added to a specially-configured <u>Excel Change data</u> spreadsheet that is included in the Examples folder and will be used to change the input to match the values in this example. Before importing this spreadsheet, it is necessary to define values in each pipe and junction because the Excel Change data spreadsheet is only capable of changing input data, not entering new data.

To quickly enter input data before using the Excel Change data spreadsheet, we will use the Global Pipe and Junction Editing features. If you are going to use Excel Change data to change the input you already have in your model, the values that you initially input in the model act simply as place holders and the value itself is not important. It is crucial, though, that you ensure that the units for each value that will be changed are specified correctly, because the Excel Change data spreadsheet will not change these units (it will only change the value itself).

Pipe Properties

To globally edit the pipes, select Global Pipe Edit from the Edit menu. Click All to select all pipes. Next, click Select Pipe Data and enter the following inputs in the pipe properties window.

- 1. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
- 2. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
- 3. Size = 1 inch
- 4. Type = STD (schedule 40)
- 5. Friction Model = User Specified
- 6. Data Set = Hazen-Williams Factor
- 7. Value = 120
- 8. Length = 10 feet

In the Parameters to Change section, click All to apply all changes to the selected pipes, then click Apply Selections at the bottom. Then click OK.

Next, fittings a losses will need to be added to various pipes throughout the system. On the fittings & losses tab of the pipe properties window move the slider from "Use K Factor" to "Use Equivalent Lengths" then specify the Fittings for each pipe according to the table below.

Note: Pipes that have Fittings & Losses entered in them will now have a red & displayed next to them. The symbol and display settings can be customized in User Options.

Pipes	Fitting Type	Quantity
4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39	Elbow, 90 deg. standard	1
2, 9, 13, 34, 38	Elbow, 90 deg. standard	2
7, 11, 19, 20, 22, 24, 25, 27, 29, 32, 36, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 47, 49, 50, 52	Tee or Cross, (flow turned 90 deg.)	1
15, 16, 17, 18, 40, 41, 42, 43	Elbow, 90 deg. standard and Tee or Cross, (flow turned 90 deg.)	1 Tee and 1 Elbow

Table 1: Fittings and Losses for pipe input in NFPA model

Junction Properties

To globally edit the junctions, select Global Junction Edit from the Edit menu. Next, click the appropriate junction based on what you are inputting. For example, Spray Discharge. Click All to select all junctions in the list. Then, click Select Spray Discharge Data and enter the following inputs in the pipe properties window. Repeat this process for all junction types in the model using the inputs below.

- 1. All Spray Discharges
 - a. Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Loss Model = K (Fire Sprinkler)
 - c. Exit Properties = Pressure
 - d. Exit Pressure = 0 psig

- e. K (Fire Sprinkler) = 3 gal/min per square root of psid
- f. Number of Sprinklers = 1
- 2. All Branches
 - a. Elevation = 5 feet
- 3. J1 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = .5 feet
 - b. Pressure = 63.8 psig
 - c. Pressure Specification = Static
- 4. J2 Valve
 - 1. Inlet Elevation = 2.5 feet
 - 2. Outlet Elevation = 4 feet
 - 3. Valve Data Source = Equivalent Length (English)
 - 4. Equivalent Length = User Defined
 - 5. Equivalent Length (User) = 13 feet

Import Excel Change Data

After you have input for all pipes and junctions, import the Excel Change data spreadsheet. To do this, import the spreadsheet in the Examples Help file entitled **US - NFPA AFT Transfer Spreadsheet.xlsx** by clicking on File > Import Excel Change Data, and then browsing to this spreadsheet. After all changes were made, a window will appear that lets you know that all changes were made.

Step 6. Create the NFPA Group

In order to generate an NFPA report, AFT Fathom needs to know the path for which you wish to generate the report. Generally, this report is developed for the hydraulically most remote path. For this model the hydraulically most remote path is either the path to J11 or J15. For Fathom to generate a path it will first need a group containing all pipes and junctions along the desired flow path.

To create a group, select all pipes and junctions that are along the flow path. For this example you will need to select pipes P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6, P7, P8, P9, and P10, and junctions J1, J2, J3, J4, J5, J6, J7, J8, J9, J10, and J11 (see this path selected in Figure 2). Note, to select multiple objects, hold the shift key while selecting each with this mouse. Alternatively, you can select these pipes and junctions directly from the Group Manager. Once these pipes and junctions are selected, open the Group Manager by going to Edit > Groups > Manager. Click on Create Group and name the group *NFPA Path*. Make sure this path is selected under Existing Groups, then under both the Pipes in Group and Junctions in Group columns, select Workspace. Press OK to confirm this group.



Figure 2: NFPA Group selected on the Workspace

The group we just selected contains the hydraulically most remote path, but this information was simply provided for the sake of convenience in this example and is not frequently known without modeling the system. If you have the GSC module, you can use it to determine the hydraulically most remote path. See the Example problem <u>NFPA Firewater System - GSC</u> if you are interested in seeing how to use the GSC module for this. Otherwise, if the hydraulically most remote path is not known, you will need to dig through Fathoms output to determine which spray nozzel is receiving the least flow.

Step 7. Specify the NFPA Path

Once you know the hydraulically most remote path, you will generate an NFPA report for this path. To specify which path in AFT Fathom you want to generate the NFPA report for, open Analysis Setup and go to the NFPA panel. Select the group in the Select a Group for the NFPA Report list.

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

You will notice there are numerous cautions about the pipe lengths being shorter than the elevation change. This model used pipe lengths and elevations based off a NFPA example. In the NFPA example, the length of the spray discharges raised the outlet height of the junction. Fathom treats junctions as single points in space, so to keep the inputs identical the pipe length had to be a little bit short.

Step 9. Examine the Output

The Output window contains the NFPA Report, as well as the standard AFT Fathom output parameters. To view the NFPA Report, click on the NFPA Report tab in the General section of the Output window. You can expand this section by dragging the border down. The NFPA Report for this model is shown in Figure 3a and Figure 3b.

4	А	B C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L
1						Hydra	ulic Calcu	lations			
2	For:									Sheet 1	of 2
3										By:	
4										Date:9/8/2	2023
t				Pipe Size				Pressure	Normal		
	Step No	zzle Ident. and	Flow in	Nominal / ID	Pipe Fittings and Devices (ft)	Equiv. Pipe	Friction Loss (nsi/ft)	Summary (nsig)	Pressure (nsig)	Notes	Re
t	1101		50	1	beneesing	Lason	(1937) (19	0. 10.0	0. 10.0	Hores	
		111/5000				1 0.500	-	Pt 19.8	Pt 19.8		
		Discharge	q	1 inch	0.10.0000	F 2.00		Pe 0.433	Pv 1.48		
┢)	Q 40.0	(1.049)	E=2.00	T 2.50	0.470	Pf 1.17	Pn 18.3		-
						L 6.00		Pt 21.4	Pt 21.4		
		110	q	1 inch		F 4.00		Pe 0.0	Pv 1.48		
L		(Branch)	Q 40.0	(1.049)	2E=4.00	T 10.0	0.470	Pf 4.70	Pn 19.9		
ſ						L 6.00		Pt 26.1	Pt 26.1		Γ
			a 42			F 3.00		Pe 0.0	Pv 2.08		
		J9 (Branch)	0.82.0	1-1/4 inch	F=3.00	T 9.00	0.467	Pf 4.20	Pn 24.0		
t		braneny	d ozio	(1.50)	2 5100	1 2 00	01407	D+ 20 2	0+ 20 2		t
								PC 30.3	PC 30.3		
		JS	q 45.4	1-1/2 inch	1000000	F 8.00	Consecutor	Pe 0.0	PV 2.71		
ł	_	(Branch)	Q 127.4	(1.61)	T=8.00	T 10.0	0.498	Pf 4.98	Pn 27.5		┝
						L 5.00	-	Pt 35.2	Pt 35.2		
		17	q 127.3	2 inch		F 5.00		Pe 0.433	Pv 3.99		
ŀ		(Branch)	Q 254.7	(2.067)	E=5.00	T 10.0	0.532	Pf 5.32	Pn 31.2		
						L 4.00		Pt 41.0	Pt 41.0		
		10	q 199.7	2.4/2:		F 0.0		Pe 0.0	Pv 6.24		
		(Branch)	Q 454.4	(2.469)		T 4.00	0.654	Pf 2.62	Pn 34.7		
ľ						L 5.00		Pt 43.6	Pt 43.6		Γ
			a 206 2			E 7.00	1	Penn	Dv 5 53		
		J5 (Benneth)	0 660 6	3 inch	5-7.00	T 12.0	0.454	DEFAE	Do 30 1		
ŀ		(branch)	Q 000.0	15.000	E-7.00	1 12.0	0.454	PI 5.45	PH 58.1		┢
						L 10.0	-	Pt 49.0	Pt 49.0		
			q			F 0.0	1	Pe 4.33	Pv 5.53		1

Figure 3a: NFPA Report Page 1

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L
30							Hydra	aulic Calcu	lations			
31	For:										Sh	eet 2 of 2
32											Ву:	
33											Date:	9/8/2023
					Pipe Size				Pressure	Normal		
34	Step No.	Nozzle I Loc	dent. and ation	Flow in gpm	Nominal / ID (in.)	Pipe Fittings and Devices (ft)	Equiv. Pipe Length (ft)	Friction Loss (psi/ft)	Summary (psig)	Pressure (psig)	Notes	Ref. Step
35							L 17.0		Pt 57.9	Pt 57.9		
36				q 694.1			F 41.0	1	Pe 2.81	Pv 1.52		
37			J3 (Branch)	Q 1354.7	6 inch (6.065)	V=13.0 2E=28.0	T 58.0	0.062	Pf 4.25	Pn 56.4		
38							L 2.00		Pt 64.3	Pt 64.3		
39				a			F 0.0	1	Pe 0.866	Pv 1.52		
40			12 (Valve)	0 1354.7	6 inch (6.065)		T 2.00	0.062	Pf 0.124	Pn 62.8		

Figure 3b: NFPA Report Page 2

Conclusion

AFT Fathom allows you to display the hydraulic calculations for an NFPA report. In this example, you have built a model of a firewater system and generated an NFPA hydraulic report. In this report we can see that the minimum pressure for this system is 63.8 psig in order to see 40 gal/min at the most hydraulic report. In this report we can is cally remote nozzle.

To those familiar with the NFPA Example this was based off, you may notice a slight difference in the minimum pressures calculated by Fathom. This is because Fathom uses a more detailed model to account for various behavior in the system. You can read more about these differences on the <u>NFPA-Panel</u> page.

Crude Oil Pipeline

Summary

The objective of this example is to model a pipeline system to investigate the effects of a viscous fluid. We will answer a number of questions about the pipeline system such as:

- 1. How does viscosity affect pump performance?
- 2. What is the flow rate?
- 3. What is the maximum pressure in the pipe?
- 4. Is the flow laminar or turbulent?
- 5. How high can the hill be until a vacuum (i.e., less than atmospheric pressure) is created?
- 6. How does the hill height affect flow rate?
- 7. How much can the pump speed be slowed down and still not pull a vacuum?

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Crude Oil Pipeline.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:

- a. Fluid Library = User Specified Fluid
- b. Name = Petroleum Product
- c. Density = 0.8 S.G. water
- d. Dynamic Viscosity = 500 centipoise

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Model for Pipeline Problem

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 24 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 20)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length
1	100 feet
2	25 miles
3	50 miles

Junction Properties

Enter the properties of the junctions in the workspace as follows:

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Liquid Surface Elevation = 750 feet
 - b. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - c. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 720 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
barrels/day	feet
0	2000
100,000	1800
200,000	1400

e. Curve Fit Order = 2

- 4. J3 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 1250 feet
- 5. J4 Reservoir
 - a. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - c. Pipe Depth = 10 feet

In the Pump Properties window on the Optional tab, Fathom includes an option to Use Viscosity Correction. We will turn this option on later to determine how much this option affects the answers. Leave the option off for now.

Note: If barrels/day is not an available unit, select User Options from the Tools menu, click on Preferred Units, and select the radio button for All Units.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

Open the Output Control window by selecting Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu. On the Display Parameters tab, select the Pumps button to display the list of output parameters that are specific to pumps. Then add the three correction parameters to pump efficiency CE, pump head rise CH, and pump flow CQ. These are the pump viscosity correction/pump de-rating factors that will de-rate the pump according to the Hydraulic Institute method, ANSI/HI Standard 9.6.7-2010. Change the Volumetric Flow Rate units to barrels/day.

Now select the Pipes button to display the pipe output parameters, then change the units for Volumetric Flow Rate to barrels/day. Also, add Reynolds Number to the list of output variables. Click OK to save the changes and close Output Control.

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window. The output from this model is shown in Figure 2. Note that the flow rate in all the pipes is 151,571 barrels/day.

2° W	/orkspace	Mode	I Data	Output	🖄 Grap	oh Results	s 💿 Vi	sual Repor	t									
U 🤤	₿ §↓	1 🦉	۰															
	ieneral W	arnings Des	sign Alerts	Pump Sum	mary Res	ervoir Sur	nmary											
Jct	Results Diagram	Name (Vol. Flow barrels/day)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/mi	n) (Per	of NF EP cent) (f	PSHA eet)	NPSHR (feet)				
2	Show	Pump	151,571	491	5 560.9	1,619	N/A	100.0	1,446	i N	√A	N/A	N/A	N//	4			
	5 m m m										_		-					
× •	Ipes	Vel Flau	Malasity	D Custo	D Curtie		- I Flouri			Parata	ar.			0.0446	D Charles	D Char	D Char	Deveelde II
Pipe	Name	(barrels/day)	(feet/sec)	Max (psia)	Min (psia)	lievation Inlet (feet)	Outle Outle (feet	on dPS t Tot (psi	ag. dP al T d) (p	static stal sid)	Gravity (psid)	(feet)		In (psia)	Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	No.
1	Pipe	151,571	1 3.34	1 24.8	3 18.10) 74	0.0 72	:0.0 -e	.724	-6.724	-6.931	0.5	960	18.10	24.83	18.16	24.89	9.613E+02
2	Pipe	151,571	1 3.34	1 585.7	5 129.49	72	0.0 1,25	60.0 456	.261 4	56.261	183.660	786.6	650	585.75	129.49	585.81	129.55	9.613E+02
3	Pipe	151,571	1 3.34	1 129.4	9 18.10) 1,25	0.0	0.0 111	.384 1	11.384	-433.160	1,571.4	285	129.49	18.10	129.55	18.16	9.613E+02
* A	II Junctions	Branch P	ump Rese	rvoir														
	Name	P Static	P Static F	Stan P	Stan Vo	L Elow Ba	te Mass F	low Rate	Loss Fac	tor			_					
Jct		In (psia)	Out (psia)	ln (psia) (Out psia)	Thru Jct (gal/min)	Th (Ibr	ru Jct n/sec)	(K)									
1	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	4,4	21	491.5		0								
2	Pump	24.83	585.75	24.89	585.81	4,4	21	491.5		0								
3	Branch	129.49	129.49	129.55	129.55	4,4	21	491.5		0								
4	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	4,4	21	491.5		0								
Base S	cenario									_	_	Caution	s Exis	t Q 1	00% (+

Figure 2: Output Window for Pipeline example

Return to the workspace and open the pump properties window. Navigate to the Optional tab and check the box for Use Viscosity Correction. Input the following:

- 1. Head Correction (ANSI/HI 9.6.7-2015) = Assume Calculated Flow Is At BEP
- 2. Rated Speed (rpm) = 3600

Click OK and run the model again. The output from this run is shown below. Now notice that the flow rate is 143,822 barrels/day. Click the Pump Summary tab in the General Output section to see the values for *CE*, *CH*, and *CQ*. The output from this model is shown in Figure 3.

<u>~</u> w	orkspace	Mode	l Data	🔲 Output	🖄 Gra	oh Results	💿 Visua	Report									
	₿ ĝ↓	1 🦉	•														
G	ieneral W	/arnings De	sign Alerts	Applied St	andards P	ump Summai	y Reserve	oir Summary									
Jct	Results Diagram	Name (Vol. Flow [barrels/day]	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec	dP) (psid)	dH O Eff (feet) (Pe	verall S iciency ercent) (P	Speed Ov Po ercent) (verall Bi ower hp) (gal	EP /min) (I	% of BEP Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)	CE	СН	CQ	
2	Show	Pump	143,82	2 466	.4 519.1	1,498	N/A	100.0	1,270	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/4	A 0.723	0.931	0.9319	1
Pipe	ipes Name	Vol. Flow Rate (barrels/day)	Velocity (feet/sec	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravit (psid	y (fe	H et)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Reynolds No.
1	Pipe	143,82	2 3.17	0 24.8	4 18.11	740.0	720.0	-6.735	-6.735	-6.9	931	0.5655	18.11	24.84	18.16	24.90	9.122E+0
2	Pipe	143,82	2 3.17	0 543.9	3 101.6	720.0	1,250.0	442.324	442.324	183.6	60 74	6.4461	543.93	101.61	543.99	101.66	9.122E+02
3	Pipe	143,82	2 3.17	0 101.6	1 18.11	1,250.0	0.0	83.503	83.503	-433.1	160 1,49	0.9/14	101.61	18.11	101.66	18.16	9.122E+02
A	II Junctions	Branch F	ump Rese	ervoir													
Jct	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	PStag. F In (psia) (Stag. Vo Out psia)	I. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Thru J (Ibm/se	rRate Los: ct c)	s Factor (K)								
1	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	4,195		466.4	0								
2	Pump	24.84	543.93	24.90	543.99	4,195		466.4	0								
	Branch	101.61	101.61	101.66	101.66	4,195		466.4	0								
3	-																

Figure 3: Output Window for Pipeline example with viscosity correction

Question 1. How does viscosity affect pump performance?

The flow rate, pump head, and overall power all decreased when the viscosity corrections were used.

Question 2. What is the flow rate?

Before the viscosity correction was added the flow rate was 151,571 barrels/day. After the viscosity correction was added the flow rate became 143,822 barrels/day. Therefore, the viscosity correction factor reduced the flow rate by approximately 5.1%.

Question 3. What is the maximum pressure in the pipe?

The maximum pressure can be found in the pipe summary in the P Static Max column. It occurs in Pipe 2 and it occurs at the inlet of the pipe (outlet of the pump). The pressure is 543.93 psia or 529.24 psig.

Question 4. Is the flow laminar or turbulent?

In the pipe summary window we can see that the Reynolds number is 912.2. Therefore the flow is laminar. The general cut-off for laminar flow is Reynolds number greater than 2,300.

Question 5. How high can the hill be until a vacuum is created?

To answer this question we have to change the elevation of branch J3 and re-run the model. If the hill height is raised to 1500 feet, the minimum pressure in pipe 2 and 3 and at junction J3 is 14.98 psia, or nearly atmospheric pressure. If the hill is higher than 1500 feet, a vacuum would be created. This output can be seen in Figure 4.

<u>~</u> w	orkspace	Mode	l Data	🛄 Outpu	it 🖄 Gr	aph Result	s 💽 Vi	sual Repor	t									
	∯ 2 ↓	1 🦉	b															
G	ieneral W	arnings De	sign Alerts	Applied	Standards	Pump Sum	mary Res	ervoir Sum	mary									
Jct	Results Diagram	Name	Vol. Flow barrels/day	Mas Flov) (Ibm/s	s dP / ec) (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% BE (Perc	of P cent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)	CE	СН	CQ	
2	Show .	Pump	143,82	2 4	66.4 519.	1 1,498	N/A	100.0) 1,270	N/A		N/A	N/A	N//	A 0.723	0.9319	0.9319	
				_							_	_	_					
. Pi	ipes																	
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (barrels/day)	Velocity (feet/sec	/ P Sta Max :) (psia	tic P Stati t Min i) (psia)	c Elevati Inlet (feet	on Elevat Outle (feet	ion dPS et Tot) (ps	tag. dPS al To d) (pe	tatic Gr tal Gr id) (p	dP avity sid)	di (fe	H et)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Reynolds No.
1	Pipe	143,82	2 3.1	70 24	.84 18.	11 74	0.0 7.	20.0 -6	.735	6.735	-6.931		0.5655	18.11	24.84	18.16	24.90	9.122E+02
2	Pipe	143,82	2 3.1	70 543	8.93 14.	98 72	0.0 1,5	00.0 528	3.956 52	8.956 2	70.292	74	6.4461	543.93	14.98	543.99	15.03	9.122E+02
3	Pipe	143,82	2 3.1	70 18	.11 14.	98 1,50	0.0	0.0 -3	.129 -	3.129 -5	19.792	1,49	0.9714	14.98	18.11	15.03	18.16	9.122E+02
Δ	II. Junctions	Branch F	ump Ree	envoir														
		branch 1	unp nea	01101							_	_	_					
Jct	Name	P Static In (psia)	Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	Out (psia)	ol. Flow R Thru Jct (gal/min)	ate Mass Th Th (Ibr	ru Jct n/sec)	Loss Fact (K)	or								
1	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	4.	195	466.4		0								
2	Pump	24.84	543.93	24.90	543.99	4.	195	466.4		0								
3	Branch	14.98	14.98	15.03	15.03	4.	195	466.4		0								
4	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	4.	195	466.4		0								
_																		

Figure 4: Output Window for Pipeline example with 1500 foot hill

Question 6. How does the hill height affect flow rate?

Compare Figure 3 and Figure 4 and you will see that the flow rate is exactly the same. Because the pipe length is the same and the net elevation change is the same, the flow rate will be the same.

Question 7. How much can the pump speed be slowed down and still not pull a vacuum?

The pump can be slowed down to 86.6% before the minimum pressure in pipes 2 and 3 goes below atmospheric (14.7 psia). The output of this run is shown in Figure 5.

2° W	orkspace	Mode	Data 🛛	Output	🖄 Grap	oh Results	💿 Vis	ual Repor	t									
D.	i §	1	h i															
☆ G	eneral W	arnings Des	sign Alerts	Applied St	andards P	ump Summ	ary Rese	ervoir Sum	mary									
Jct	Results Diagram	Name (Vol. Flow barrels/day)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec	dP) (psid)	dH E (feet) (i	Overall fficiency Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/mir	n) (Pero	of NPS EP cent) (fee	HA NI t) (f	PSHR leet)	CE	СН	CQ	
2	Show	Pump	119,726	388	2 389.2	1,123	N/A	86.60	792.7	N	/Α	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.6979	0.9216	0.9216	
* P	pes																	
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (barrels/day)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	n Elevati Outle (feet)	on dPSt t Tot (psi	ag.dP al T d)(p	Static otal (sid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Sta In (psi	itic F a)	Out Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Reynolds No.
1	Pipe	119,720	2.63	9 24.8	9 18.12	. 740	.0 72	0.0 -6	.767	-6.767	-6.931	0.470	7 1	3.12	24.89	18.16	24.93	7.593E+02
2	Pipe	119,726	5 2.63	9 414.1	0 15.11	720	.0 1,25	0.0 398	.986 3	98.986	183.660	621.382	9 41	4.10	15.11	414.14	15.15	7.593E+02
3	Pipe	119,720	5 2.63	9 18.1	2 15.11	1,250	0	0.0 -3	.012	-3.012	433.160	1,241.307	6 1	5.11	18.12	15.15	18.16	7.593E+02
☆ A	II Junctions	Branch P	ump Rese	rvoir														
Jct	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static F Out (psia)	Stag. F In (psia) (Stag. Vo Out psia)	l. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	e Mass F Thr (Ibm	low Rate u Jct √sec)	Loss Fac (K)	tor								
1	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	3,49	2	388.2		0								
2	Pump	24.89	414.10	24.93	414.14	3,49	2	388.2		0								
3	Branch	15.11	15.11	15.15	15.15	3,49	2	388.2		0								
4	Reservoir	14.70	18.16	14.70	18.16	3,49	2	388.2		0								
Base S	cenario													Q 10	0% 😑)		+

Figure 5: Output Window for Pipeline example with pump operating at 86.6% speed

Hot Water System

Summary

The objective of this example is to select the best pump configuration for a hot water system. The design goals of the system are:

- Minimum 6.5 psid drop across flow control valves
- Maximum 10 feet/sec velocity in all pipes
- No NPSH violations
- All pumps must operate between 70% and 100% of BEP
- The selected pump must also work in a special operating mode with one pump off
- The best pump will meet all the requirements and use the least power.

Topics Covered

- Using Junction Libraries to enter data
- Using multiple pump configurations
- Using NPSH and Efficiency data for pumps
- Turning off parts of a model to simulate different operating conditions

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Hot Water System.fth
- Hot Water System.dat engineering library

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 150 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Model Layout for Hot Water System

Note: A safety factor of 10% will be added to all pipe and junction friction losses. This is added by typing in 1.1 in the Pipe Friction field for Design Factors found on the Optional tab in the Pipe Properties window. The Design Factor of 1.1 will be added to the Junction Friction Losses on the Optional tab in the Junction Properties windows for every junction except for the three pumps.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = Use table below
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths = Use table below

Pipe	Size	Length (feet)
12, 13	4 inch	30
6, 8 ,10, 18, 20, 22, 24	4 inch	50
5, 7, 9, 17, 21	4 inch	100
19, 23	4 inch	150
11, 14	6 inch	30
3, 15	6 inch	50
1, 4, 16	6 inch	100
2	6 inch	300

- 2. Optional tab
 - a. Design Factors
 - i. Pipe Friction = 1.1

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Topping Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. All Tees

- a. Elevation = 0 feet
- b. Loss Model = Simple
- 3. All Bends
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 4. J14 & J17 Control Valves
 - a. J14 Name = FCV A
 - b. J17 Name = FCV B
 - c. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - d. Valve Type = Flow Control (FCV)
 - e. Control Setpoint = Volumetric
 - f. Flow Setpoint = 220 gal/min
- 5. All Pumps & Heat Exchangers
 - a. J4 Name = Pump A
 - b. J7 Name = Pump B
 - c. J10 Name = Pump C
 - d. J15 Name = Heat Exchanger A
 - e. J18 Name = Heat Exchanger B
 - f. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet

To show the names of the pumps, control valves, heat exchangers, and reservoirs, a new Workspace Layer will be created.

- 1. Create a new layer by selecting New Layer and then Blank Layer from the Workspace Layers tab of the Quick Access Panel.
- 2. Name the layer Junction Labels.
- 3. Edit the layer by selecting it and clicking the gear icon to bring up the Layer Settings window.
- 4. Open the Show/Hide Labels panel and uncheck Force Shown Labels to Match Shown Objects.
- 5. Toggle the visibility icon next to the pumps, heat exchangers, control valves, and reservoir to on. This will cause their labels to be shown.
- 6. Navigate to the Junction Parameters panel and expand the Commonly Used Junction Parameters list.
- 7. Double-click Junction Name to add it to the list on the right-hand side. This will add the Junction Name to the label of the junctions that were defined in the Show/Hide Labels panel.
- 8. Close the Layer Settings window.

To enter the pump and heat exchanger data, we will use a pre-defined library:

- 1. Open the Library menu and select the Library Manager.
- 2. At the bottom, click Add Existing Library. Navigate to the AFT Fathom 13 Examples folder and select the file titled *Hot Water System.dat* and Open. The library *Hot Water System* will be added to the list of available libraries.

- **Note:** Typically when a Library is first added to the list in Library Manager, it will automatically be connected and will appear with a checkmark next to it. Step 3 below is only needed if the library is not automatically connected.
- 3. If not already, check the box next to the library name Hot Water System, this will connect the library to the model.
- 4. Close Library Manager
- 5. Now open the Pump Properties window for Pump A, and in the Library Jct field at the top of the properties window, select US Hot Water Pump with Multiple Configs from the drop down menu.
- 6. In the Pump Curve area, make sure RPM = 1800 RPM and Impeller = 6 inches.
- 7. Repeat this process for Pump B and Pump C.
- 8. Open the Heat Exchanger Properties Window for Heat Exchanger A, and select US Hot Water Heat Exchanger in the library drop down box. This library includes the pressure loss data for the heat exchangers.
- 9. Repeat these steps for Heat Exchanger B.

Finally, use Global Junction Edit to add the 10% safety factor.

- 1. Select Global Edit then Global Junction Edit from either the toolbar or Edit menu.
- 2. Select Common Data
- 3. Click Select Common Junction Data
- 4. In the Design Factor area, set Junction Friction Loss = 1.1
- 5. Click OK
- 6. Click All to select all junctions in the list
- 7. Check the box in the Parameters to Change (Select in List) area next to Design Factor 1.1
- 8. Click Apply Selections. A message should appear to inform you that changes were successively applied.
- 9. Click OK.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

After running the model, select the Pump Summary tab and review these results. The pump summary data is shown in Figure 2.

\$ G	eneral	War	nings	Design Alerts	Pump Sum	mary	Valve Sum	mary He	at Exchanger	Summary	Reservoir	Summary		
Jct	Resu Diagr	ults am	Nam	e Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
4	Show		Pump	A 145.4	19.85	16.8	6 39.63	75.9	9 100.0	1.882	176.2	82.54	33.25	9.476
7	Show		Pump	B 149.2	20.37	16.77	7 39.42	76.5	5 100.0	1.907	176.2	84.71	33.01	9.546
10	Show		Pump	C 145.4	19.85	16.8	6 39.63	75.9	9 100.0	1.882	176.2	82.54	32.58	9.476

Figure 2: Pump Summary for First Configuration

Now we must review these results to determine if the requirements are met. The pumps operate at 82% to 85% of BEP and there are no NPSH violations. Although the pump meets the requirements, we can see from the valve summary in Figure 3 that the flow control valves do not maintain a minimum of 10 psid pressure drop. The velocity in all the pipes is less than 10 feet/sec. The pipe summary is shown in Figure 4.

*	General	Warnings	Design A	lerts Pump	Summary	/ Valve	Summary	Heat Ex	changer	Summary	Reservoir Summ
Jct	Name	Valve Type	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP Stag. (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	Cv	К	Valve State	
14	FCV A	FCV	220.0	30.02	4.481	10.534	31.89	103.0	22.05	Open	
17	FCV B	FCV	220.0	30.02	3.083	7.249	31.19	124.2	15.17	Open	

Figure 3: Valve Summary for First Configuration

Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	0.0	0.000	18.95	18.95	0	0	0.00000	0.00000	0	0.0000	18.95	18.95	18.95	18.95
2	Pipe	440.0	4.886	20.82	19.15	0	0	1.66826	1.66826	0	3.9219	20.82	19.15	20.97	19.31
3	Pipe	440.0	4.886	19.07	18.79	0	0	0.27804	0.27804	0	0.6537	19.07	18.79	19.23	18.95
4	Pipe	440.0	4.886	18.79	18.24	0	0	0.55608	0.55608	0	1.3073	18.79	18.24	18.95	18.39
5	Pipe	145.4	3.665	18.30	17.78	0	0	0.52684	0.52684	0	1.2386	18.30	17.78	18.39	17.87
6	Pipe	145.4	3.665	34.64	34.37	0	0	0.26342	0.26342	0	0.6193	34.64	34.37	34.73	34.46
7	Pipe	149.2	3.761	18.22	17.67	0	0	0.55368	0.55368	0	1.3017	18.22	17.67	18.32	17.76
8	Pipe	149.2	3.761	34.44	34.16	0	0	0.27667	0.27667	0	0.6504	34.44	34.16	34.53	34.25
9	Pipe	145.4	3.665	18.02	17.49	0	0	0.52684	0.52684	0	1.2386	18.02	17.49	18.11	17.58
10	Pipe	145.4	3.665	34.35	34.09	0	0	0.26315	0.26315	0	0.6187	34.35	34.09	34.44	34.18
11	Pipe	294.7	3.273	18.32	18.25	0	0	0.07716	0.07716	0	0.1814	18.32	18.25	18.39	18.32
12	Pipe	145.4	3.665	34.32	34.17	0	0	0.15779	0.15779	0	0.3709	34.32	34.17	34.41	34.2
13	Pipe	145.4	3.665	18.23	18.07	0	0	0.15805	0.15805	0	0.3716	18.23	18.07	18.32	18.10
14	Pipe	294.7	3.273	34.18	34.11	0	0	0.07716	0.07716	0	0.1814	34.18	34.11	34.25	34.1
15	Pipe	440.0	4.886	34.02	33.74	0	0	0.27804	0.27804	0	0.6537	34.02	33.74	34.18	33.9
16	Pipe	440.0	4.886	33.66	33.11	0	0	0.55609	0.55609	0	1.3073	33.66	33.11	33.82	33.2
17	Pipe	220.0	5.545	33.06	31.89	0	0	1.16965	1.16965	0	2.7497	33.06	31.89	33.27	32.1
18	Pipe	220.0	5.545	27.41	26.83	0	0	0.58482	0.58482	0	1.3749	27.41	26.83	27.62	27.0
19	Pipe	220.0	5.545	22.53	20.77	0	0	1.75447	1.75447	0	4.1246	22.53	20.77	22.73	20.9
20	Pipe	220.0	5.545	33.06	32.48	0	0	0.58482	0.58482	0	1.3749	33.06	32.48	33.27	32.6
21	Pipe	220.0	5.545	32.36	31.19	0	0	1.16965	1.16965	0	2.7497	32.36	31.19	32.57	31.4
22	Pipe	220.0	5.545	28.11	27.53	0	0	0.58482	0.58482	0	1.3749	28.11	27.53	28.31	27.73
23	Pipe	220.0	5.545	23.22	21.47	0	0	1.75447	1.75447	0	4.1246	23.22	21.47	23.43	21.6
24	Pipe	220.0	5.545	21.36	20.77	0	0	0.58482	0.58482	0	1.3749	21.36	20.77	21.56	20.9

Figure 4: Pipe Output for First Configuration

After examining this pump configuration, this process needs to be repeated for each configuration, in order to find which pump best meets the specified requirements. A tool that can be used for this kind of evaluation is the Scenario Manager. Open the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel and create

five scenarios, one for each pump configuration. Below each scenario, create a child scenario for each configuration named Pump A Off. The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel should look like Figure 5. Alternatively, you can access the Scenario Manager from the Tools menu.



Figure 5: Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel for Hot Water System

Now, work your way through each scenario and change the pump configuration to the pump configuration for each scenario. For the scenarios where Pump A is off, use the Special Condition Pump Off No Flow. Run each scenario, note the sum of the three pump's power usage, and determine if the pump meets all the requirements. It would help to create a table of the requirements and configurations as shown in Table 1.

Pump	1800 x 6	1800 x 7	1800 x 8	3600 x 4	3600 x 5
Normal Mode					
BEP OK?	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
NPSH OK?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FCV dP OK?	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Pipe Velocity OK?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Pump	1800 x 6	1800 x 7	1800 x 8	3600 x 4	3600 x 5
Power Used (hp)	5.671	8.401	11.948	11.948	21.899
Special Mode (Pump A Off)					
NSPH OK?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FCV dP OK?	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Pipe Velocity OK?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

From Table 1, it can be seen that the only configurations that meet all the requirements are the 1800 RPM x 7-inch impeller. One thing to note is that the 1800 RPM x 8-inch and 3600 RPM x 4-inch configurations are actually the *same* pump configuration due to the affinity laws. The power usage of both configurations help show that they are the same pump.

Note: The 1800 RPM x 6-inch configuration with Pump A turned off is a case where the flow control valves will have to add pressure in order to maintain their set point. A flow control valve adding pressure is physically unrealistic, however, it is useful for troubleshooting purposes because it shows how close a control valve is to being able to maintain set point. The fact that the FCVs fail with this particular scenario is an example of how a certain pump configuration and operating condition may not be able to provide the system pressure and meet the requirements.

Plant Cooling Cost Calculation

Summary

This example demonstrates the fundamental concepts of doing a cost analysis with AFT Fathom. The example illustrates how to calculate initial and life cycle costs for a given system design.

After designing a plant cooling system, it is necessary to calculate the system cost over a 10-year period to determine the feasibility of the design. The system model consists of four circulating water pumps, schedule 20 steel - ANSI pipes and fittings, and two sets of cooling tower cells.

To determine the cost of the cooling system for a 10-year period, include material, installation, and energy costs for the pumps, pipes, and fittings. The cooling towers costs will be determined apart from the system cost (cooling tower cost calculations are not included in this example).

Topics Covered

- Creating cost libraries
- Entering pipe, junction and fitting cost data into libraries
- Connecting cost libraries
- Using Cost Settings
- Using the Cost Report

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Cost Calculation</u> example and is familiar with the basics of doing cost calculations.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Plant Cooling Cost Calculation Initial.fth
- US Plant Cooling Cost Calculation Final.fth
- *Plant Cooling.dat* existing engineering library
- Plant Cooling Pump Costs.cst completed cost library for Plant Cooling.dat

- Plant Cooling Elbow Costs.cst completed cost library for AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY
- Plant Cooling Pipe Costs US.cst completed cost library for Steel ANSI

Note: The cost libraries above will be recreated as part of this example, but they are also included as reference material.

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the **US** - **Plant Cooling Cost Calculation** - **Initial.fth** model file listed above, which is located in the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom application folder. **Save the file to a different folder**.

The model should appear as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: The Plant Cooling Cost Calculation model (from the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom application directory)
Step 3. Define the Cost Settings group

By default, the cost calculations are turned off. To turn on the cost calculations, open Analysis Setup, navigate to the Cost Settings panel, and select Calculate in the Cost Calculation section. The Cost Settings panel is shown in Figure 2.

The Cost Definitions section allows you to specify the type of costs to be determined.

In the Cost Definitions area, select Material, Installation, and Operation/Energy costs by checking the box next to the name in the list.

In the Energy Cost section, select Use This Energy Cost Information, and enter a Cost of 0.12 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr.

In the Cost Time Period section, enter a System Life of 10 years.

The Cost Settings panel should look like Figure 2. Close the Analysis Setup window by clicking OK.

Analys	is Setup			×
20	Modules	\sim	Cost Settings	
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	Cost Calculation	
۵	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	O Do Not Calculate O Pump Energy Only Calculate Calculates the costs associated with system materials, installation, energy, and/or maintenance.	
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Cost Definitions Energy Cost	
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Monetary Cost Use Energy Cost Libraries Use This Energy Cost Information	
%⊘	Cost Settings	^	Cost: 0.12 U.S. Dollars	
	Cost Settings		Maintenance Per: kW-hr	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	Only this fixed energy cost set here will be used. All Energy Cost settings in the Library Manager will be ignored.	
			Cost Time Period System Life: 10 years Interest Bate: 0 % Inflation Bate: 0 % ✓ Aways Warn for Incomplete Pipe Subcomponent Costs	
Colla	apse All Groups		Same As Parent V 🥐 Help	

Figure 2: The cost calculations are selected on the Cost Settings window

Step 4. Create the Cost Libraries

Refer to the AFT Fathom Help Content for detailed information regarding creating and using cost libraries.

The energy cost for the pumps was specified in the Cost Settings as a fixed cost rate. Now, the material and installation cost for the pumps, pipes, and fittings must be included. This will be done by creating **three new cost libraries**.

The **first** cost library will be for the pipe material and installation costs and it will be associated with the engineering library that contains the pipe material data, which is the Steel - ANSI pipe material library.

The **second** cost library will be for the additional pipe fittings and losses costs for the elbow losses that are lumped into the pipes. The second cost library will be associated with the AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY.

This is because the AFT Internal Library contains the loss information for the additional fittings and losses tab in the Pipe Properties window.

The **third** cost library will be for the pump material and installation costs, and it will be associated with the engineering library that contains the pump information (i.e., the *Plant Cooling.dat* engineering library).

Create a cost library for the pipe material and installation costs

Create a new cost library for the pipe costs by opening the Library menu and selecting Cost Library. Create a new cost library by clicking New at the bottom. When you click New, you are prompted to choose the engineering library with which the cost library will be associated.

The piping material data used in the model comes from the default Steel - ANSI Pipe Material Library, so the pipe cost library will be connected to this library, as well. Select **Steel - ANSI** from the library list shown in the Select Library window, then click Select.

Important: Make this choice carefully, because once you have made the association you cannot change it.

Once the library is created, you must enter a meaningful description and select the cost units. Enter the following data on the General tab:

- 1. Cost Type = Monetary
- 2. Monetary Unit = U.S. Dollars
- 3. Description = Plant Cooling Pipe Costs US
- 4. Notes = This library is for the Plant Cooling Cost Calculation example file

Save the cost library to a file by clicking Save. Specify a file name such as, *Plant Cooling - Pipe Costs* **US.cst**, and click Save. After saving, if prompted, choose to add the new library to the list of available and connected libraries by clicking Yes.

The information on the General tab should appear as shown in Figure 3. The selected library file information, cost type and monetary units, a description of the cost library, and any descriptive notes you have added will be displayed.

Be sure to keep the Edit Cost Library window open for the next step. For this cost library, you will enter pipe material and installation costs on the Pipe Material tab.

Note: The library filenames may be different than those shown in Figure 3.

	pe <u>M</u> aterials	Ta <u>b</u> les	S <u>u</u> mmary						
C 111 - E									
Cost Library File	ename:	Non	e						
Engineering Lib	orary Filename:	C:\/	VFT Products V	AFT Fathom 13\Pipe N	laterial Libraries\Stee	el - ANSI.da	t		
Engineering Lib	orary Description	n: Stee	el - ANSI						
					Multipliers on Cost	t Items:			
					Cost Items	Material	Installation	Maintenance	
Cost Type:	Monetary	O Non	-Monetary		Pipe Materials	1	1	1	
Monetary Unit:	U.S. Dollars		\sim		Junctions	1	1	1	
					Fittings/Losses	1	1	1	
Description:	Plant Cooling	- Pipe Cost	s US						
						Set All N	<u>Aultipliers</u> to Or	he	
Notes:									
		na Cost Ca	lculation exam	ole					
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli		rochación colania						
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli	ng cost cu	iociation examp						
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli	ng cost cu	lociation examp						
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli	ng cost cu	iouutor examp						
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli								
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli								
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli	ing cost co							
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli								
This library is for	r the Plant Cooli								

Figure 3: The Edit Cost Library window is used to enter cost library data

Enter the pipe material costs

After the pipe cost library has been created, select the Pipe Materials tab. This is where you will enter the material and installation costs for the piping.

The Pipe Materials tab shows all the pipes in the engineering library (AFT Steel - ANSI Pipe Material Library). Costs can be entered at several levels. You can enter costs at the material level, the nominal size level, and finally at the type (i.e., schedule) level. Costs entered at the material level apply to all nominal sizes and types in that material type. Costs entered at the nominal size level apply to all schedules within that nominal size. Costs entered at the type (schedule) level apply only to that type. **For this example, all of the pipe material costs will be entered at the type (schedule) level for specific sizes.**

To enter a new cost, start by switching the Sort selection to Material, Type or Schedule, Nominal Size. Navigate to Steel - ANSI, STD, 8 inch. Next click New Cost to create a new cost item in the table. The new cost item will appear as a new column.

Each pipe size in this example has two non-recurring (NR) costs associated with it. The costs to be entered are the material and installation costs. You will need to make a second column and chang Cost Type to Installation (NR). Figure 4 shows the costs entered for 8-inch STD Steel - ANSI.

Enter the non-recurring pipe costs for the pipe in this example, as shown below.

All pipes are STD Steel - ANSI:

Nominal Size (inches)	Material Cost (dollars/foot)	Installation Cost (dol- lars/foot)
8	10.50	24.00
14	22.50	51.50
18	27.40	70.00
20	35.40	85.50
24	40.00	96.50
28	58.00	110.00
30	60.00	129.00

Pine Materiale, Sizee a	/		
Tipe Materials, Sizes a	nd Types:	팀 팀 펌	
	h h h h h h	~	Sort O Material, Nominal Size, Type or Schedule Material, Type or Schedule, Nominal Size Diameter = 7.981 inches Current: Steel - ANSI, 8 inch, STD (schedule 40) New Cost Delete Cost
	Cost #1	Cost #2	
Description			
Cost Type	Material (NR) 🗸	Installatio	on (NR) 🗸
Cost (U.S. Dollars)	10.5		24
Cost Per	Length 🗸		Length 🗸
Cost Per Units	feet 🗸		feet 🗸
Cost Per Units #2			
Time Scaling Table			
T Internal Library (Rea	d-Only) (NR) = Nonrecurring	Costs, (R) = Recurrin	ng Costs 📑 Open Available 🖬 Save 🧇 Help

Figure 4: Non-recurring pipe costs, such as material and installation costs, are entered on the Pipe Materials tab

After the material and installation costs are entered for each STD type for the sizes listed above, click Save to save the information in the cost library file, and then click Close to close the Edit Cost Library window.

Create a cost library for the elbow fittings with cost scale tables

Several pipes in the model have 90 degree elbows specified in the Fittings and Losses tab in the respective Pipe Properties windows. The cost of these 90 degree elbow fittings can be included in the cost calculation. The costs for these items will be accounted for in scale tables. Scale tables can be used to vary a cost with a parameter such as diameter (i.e., size). Once created, this scale table can be applied to fittings and losses items.

Create a cost library for the elbow fittings and losses costs by opening the Library menu and selecting Cost Library. Create a new cost library by clicking **New**. You are prompted to choose the engineering library with which the cost library will be associated.

>The cost library for the elbow fittings and losses will be associated with the AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY, as this is the engineering library in which the pipe fittings and losses data is kept for the default elbow pipe fittings and losses. Select AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY and click Select.

On the General tab, specify the following information:

- 1. Cost Type = Monetary
- 2. Monetary Unit = U.S. Dollars
- 3. Description = Plant Cooling Elbow Costs
- 4. Notes = This library is for the elbows included as additional Fittings and Losses for the pipes

Click Save and save this cost library with a file name such as Plant Cooling - Elbow Costs.cst

The first table to create is the scale table for the 90-deg. elbow installation costs. Select the Tables tab, and click New Table.

Enter the following data for the scale table on the New Scale Table window:

- 1. Name = 90 Elbows Installation
- 2. Table Type = Diameter
- 3. Table Format = Cost

After entering the data, click OK.

Now enter the cost data in the table using the values in the table below, as shown in Figure 5.

Diameter (inches)	Installation Cost (US dollars)
7.981	185.50
12.25	298.00
17.376	446.00
23.25	595.00
29.00	744.00
33.00	843.00

You do not need to enter data in the scale tables for every diameter in the model. If a diameter falls between two data points in the table, AFT Fathom will use the points on either side to linearly interpolate for a value. If the cost function is non-linear, you may need to add additional data points to achieve a more accurate cost value.

Create another scale table for the material costs using the following data:

- 1. Name = 90 Elbows Material
- 2. Table Type = Diameter
- 3. Table Format = Cost

Diameter (inches)	Material Cost (US dollars)
7.981	68.00
12.25	151.50
17.376	262.50
23.25	373.50
29.00	484.50
33.00	558.50

After the scale tables have been created, and the cost data entered, the Tables tab should appear as shown in Figure 5.

eneral	Pipe Fittings & Losses	Tables	Summary					
ables:					Table	Units: inches	~ 🔯 Ed	dit Table 👻
Table			Туре	Format		Diameter (inches)	Cost (U.S. Dollars)	^
0 Elbows li	nstallation		Diameter	Cost	1	7.981	185.5	
0 Elbows N	Material		Diameter	Cost	2	12.25	298	
					3	17.376	446	
				4	23.25	595		
					5	29	744	
				6	33	843		
					7			
					9			×
New Table	Delete Table	Rename Ta	ible		Sel	ect Size From Libr	ary	

Figure 5: The Tables tab on the Edit Cost Library window is used to create cost scale tables

Click Save after the two cost tables are created and keep the Edit Cost Library window open for the next step.

Add the costs for pipe fittings

With the cost scale tables for the fittings defined, the costs for the pipe fittings can be added. Select the Pipe Fittings & Losses tab. A list of all of the available fittings and losses is displayed in the Pipe Fittings

& Losses list.

The fittings in the model are Elbow/Bend, Smoothed Flanged, r/D=1, 90 deg. (C). Navigate through the list until you find the proper selection for these fittings.

Add the material cost by clicking New Cost, and entering the following data:

- 1. Description = Elbow Material Costs
- 2. Cost Type = Material (NR)
- 3. Material = Steel ANSI
- 4. Material Size = All Sizes
- 5. Material Type = All Types
- 6. Use Size Table = Table of Costs
- 7. Multiplier = 1
- 8. Size Scaling Table = 90 Elbows Material

Now add the installation cost by clicking New Cost again and entering the following data:

- 1. Description = Elbow Installation Costs
- 2. Cost Type = Installation (NR)
- 3. Material = Steel ANSI
- 4. Material Size = All Sizes
- 5. Material Type = All Types
- 6. Use Size Table = Table of Costs
- 7. Multiplier = 1
- 8. Size Scaling Table = 90 Elbows Installation

The actual cost values used for the fittings are the values that were entered in the scale tables on the Tables tab. The scale table to use for each cost is specified when the cost is defined. After the cost data is entered, the Pipe Fittings & Losses tab should appear as shown in Figure 6.

General riper	ittings & Losses Tables	S <u>u</u> mmary						
Pipe Fittings & Losses	:	팁	5. T	Usedheel	Library List Do	finitions		
Elbow/Bend	eaded		^	Abbreviat D= Dia Po= Per	ions: ameter rcent Open	AR= Area Ratio deg.= degrees	(C)= Crane (I)= Idelchik (M)= Miller	
i⇔ r/D=1 <mark>90 d</mark> 15 d 30 d 45 d	eg (C) eg. (C) eg. (C) eg. (C)		~	Current: r/	D=1 - 90 deg. ((Cost	C) Delete Cost		
	Cost #1		Cost #2					
Cost Type	Material (NR)	~	Installatio	n (NR) 🗸				
Material	Steel - ANSI	~	Steel	- ANSI 🗸				
Material Size	All Sizes	~	A	I Sizes 🗸				
Material Type	All Types	~	All	Types 🗸				
Use Size Table	Table of Costs	~	Table of	Costs ~				
Cost (U.S. Dollars)								
Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per								
Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units								
Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units Multiplier		1		1				

Figure 6: The Pipe Fittings & Losses tab in the Edit Cost Library window is used to specify costs for pipe fittings and losses items

Click Save and close the Edit Cost Library window, as now, the cost library for the elbow fittings and losses is now completed.

Create a cost library for the pumps

To enter cost for a pump, or any other junction type, the junction must first be added to the an engineering library in the Library Manager. Cost data is then entered in a cost library associated with that engineering library. The pumps used in this example have already been added to an engineering library, but no costs have been created for it yet. Create a new cost library associated with the Plant Cooling engineering library by opening the Library menu and selecting Cost Library.

Click **New**, then select the **Plant Cooling** library and click **Select**. Specify the following general information on the General tab:

- 1. Cost Type = Monetary
- 2. Monetary Unit = U.S. Dollars
- 3. Description = Plant Cooling Pump Costs
- 4. Notes = This library is for the pumps in the Plant Cooling engineering library

Save the cost library to a file by clicking Save and giving the file a name such as *Plant Cooling - Pump Costs.cst*. When prompted, choose to add the new library to the list of available and connected libraries. Keep the Edit Cost Library window open for the next step.

Enter the pump costs

After the pump cost library has been created, select the Junctions tab. This is where you will enter the material and installation costs for the pumps.

All of the junctions that are available in the selected engineering library will be listed. Select the **US** - **Plant Cooling Pump** from the list of pumps.

Add the material cost by clicking New Cost, and entering the following data:

- 1. Description = Pump Material Cost
- 2. Cost Type = Material (NR)
- 3. Use Size Table = (None)
- 4. Cost (U.S. Dollars) = 28500
- 5. Cost Per = Item

Add the installation cost by clicking New Cost again and entering the following data:

- 1. Description = Pump Installation Cost
- 2. Cost Type = Installation (NR)
- 3. Use Size Table = (None)
- 4. Cost (U.S. Dollars) = 12500
- 5. Cost Per = Item

Figure 7 shows the pump costs entered in the cost library.

Click Save and then click Close.

<u>General</u> <u>Junction</u> Junction Components: ⊡- Pump └ US - Plant Co	oling Pump	별 별 됨 Show E	ngineering Data	Import from Excel Export to Excel
		Current: P New	ump, US - Plant Cooling Pump Cost Delete Cost	
	Cost #1	Cost #2		
Description	Pump Material Cost	Pump Installation Cost		
Cost Type	Material (NR) 🗸	Installation (NR) 🗸		
Use Size Table	(None) 🗸	(None) 🗸		
Cost (U.S. Dollars)	28500	12500		
Cost Per	Item 🗸	ltem 🗸		
Cost Per Units				
Multiplier				
Size Scaling Table				
Time Scaling Table				
T Internal Library (Rea	ad-Only) (NR) = Nonrecurring	Costs, (R) = Recurring Costs	💕 Open Available	Save 🦓 Help
temal Library (Read-O	nly)	No.		
cal User Library		New	🗁 Open Any	Save As 🙁 Close

Figure 7: The Junctions tab on the Edit Cost Library window is used to specify costs for junctions

Connecting the cost libraries

The Plant Cooling engineering and cost libraries should have been added to the list of available libraries and been connected to the example model. If they were not, you can use the Library Manager to connect the cost libraries now (see Figure 9). The **Plant Cooling - Pump Costs** is connected subordinate to the **Plant Cooling - Pipe Costs US** is connected subordinate to the **Steel - ANSI** pipe material library. Lastly, the **Plant Cooling - Elbow Costs** is connected subordinate to the **AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY**. Refer to the AFT Fathom Help Content for information on how to connect libraries using the Library Manager.

Make sure that the pumps are utilizing the engineering library junction data, otherwise the costs will not be calculated.

Pump Properties				
Number: Name:	110 Pump 1A ~	Upstream Pipe: Downstream Pipe:	100 101	V OK
Library Jct:	US - Plant Cooling Pump	Elevation Inlet: 0 feet	V NDCU	Jump
Pump Mode <u>l</u> Va	riable Speed Optional Design Alerts	Outlet:	Same as Inlet Reference:	Help

Figure 8: Pump using the engineering library data

Library Browser	Library Browser	
Edit Junctions		
Edit Fluids	Search: Search:	Selected Content Type Information
Edit Fluids Edit Pipe Materials Edit Insulations Edit Fittings & Losses	Search: Image: Construction of the search of the searc	Number of Cost Libraries = 1 Plant Cooling - Elbow Costs
	Stainless Studing - AFT Customary Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary Steel - AFT Customary Pop Matrials Cost Part Cooling - Pipe Costs Metric Plant Cooling - Pipe Costs Metric Plant Cooling - Pipe Costs US Steel - DIN 2391-1 Steel - DIN 2458 Cotter Actions Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Library	rary User Default Set as Default

Figure 9: Library Manager with connected engineering and cost libraries

Step 5. Including objects in the Cost Report

The final step before performing a cost analysis is to specify which pipes and junctions you want to be included in the final cost report. This is done by opening the properties window, navigating to the Cost tab, and choosing Include in Cost Report for each pipe and junction to be included, as shown for Pipe 100 in Figure 10.

Include the four circulating water pumps and all of the pipes in the cost report. The Global Edit feature may be used to update this information for all of the pumps and pipes.

Number: 100 Name: Circ Pump 1A Suction		A Suction		Upstream Junc Downstream Ju	Upstream Junction: Downstream Junction:				×	OK Cance	
					Copy Honous.	-				?	Jump Help
Pipe Mode <u>l</u>	Fittings &	.o <u>s</u> ses	Ins <u>u</u> lation	Fluid Properties	Design Alerts	O <u>p</u> tional	😔 Cost	No <u>t</u> es	Status		
Include	le Cost in Report			=== COST Material Installation Maintenan Ritings/Lo === SERV Start End	MULTIPLIERS A 100 % 100 % 200 100 % sses 100 % ICE DURATION = None None None	PPLIED ===					

Figure 10: The Cost tab on the Pipe and Junction Properties windows is used to include the objects in the Cost Report

Step 6. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 7. Examine the Cost Report

The Cost Report is displayed in the General Results section of the Output window. View the Cost report by selecting the Cost Report tab. The content of the Cost Report can be modified from the Output Control window. Figure 11 shows the Cost Report for this example with the Material, Installation, Operation/Energy, and Total costs displayed.

The Cost Report shows the total system cost, as well as the individual totals for the material, installation, and energy costs. In addition, the Cost Report displays the detailed cost for each pipe, junction, and fitting that was included in the report. The items are grouped together by type, and a subtotal for each category is listed.

ieneral Warnings Design Al	erts Cost Repor	Pump Summary	Valve Summary	Heat Exch	anger Summary	Reservoir Summ	ary		
Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
TOTAL OF ALL MODEL CO	STS								5,296,174
Total of All Shown Costs			417,883	697,484	1,115,366	0	4,180,806	4,180,806	5,296,173
Pipe Subtotal			291,480	627,460	918,940	0	0	0	918,940
P100	Pipe C	irc Pump 1A Suction	354	855	1,209	0	0	0	1,209
P101	Pipe C	irc Pump 1A Disch	708	1,710	2,418	0	0	0	2,418
P102	Pipe C	irc Pump 1B Suction	354	855	1,209	0	0	0	1,209
P103	Pipe C	irc Pump 1B Disch	708	1,710	2,418	0	0	0	2,418
P104	Pipe S	upply 1	60,000	129,000	189,000	0	0	0	189,000
P105	Pipe C	ond 1 In	2,900	5,500	8,400	0	0	0	8,400
P106	Pipe C	ond 1 Out	2,900	5,500	8,400	0	0	0	8,400
P107	Pipe L	O Clr 1 In	210	480	690	0	0	0	690
P108	Pipe L	O Clr 1 Out	210	480	690	0	0	0	690
P109	Pipe F	eturn 1	60,000	129,000	189,000	0	0	0	189,000
P110	Pipe C	T 1 Hdr A	1,600	3,860	5,460	0	0	0	5,460
P111	Pipe C	T 1 Hdr B	1,096	2,800	3,896	0	0	0	3,896
P112	Pipe F	iser 1/1	900	2,060	2,960	0	0	0	2,960
P113	Pipe F	iser 1/2	900	2,060	2,960	0	0	0	2,960
P114	Pipe F	liser 1/3	900	2,060	2,960	0	0	0	2,960
P200	Pipe C	irc Pump 2A Suction	354	855	1,209	0	0	0	1,209
P201	Pipe C	irc Pump 2A Disch	708	1,710	2,418	0	0	0	2,418
P202	Pipe C	irc Pump 2B Suction	354	855	1,209	0	0	0	1,209
P203	Pipe C	irc Pump 2B Disch	708	1,710	2,418	0	0	0	2,418
P204	Pipe S	upply 2	60,000	129,000	189,000	0	0	0	189,000
P205	Pipe C	ond 2 In	2,900	5,500	8,400	0	0	0	8,400

Figure 11: The Cost Report in the General Output section shows the results of the cost analysis

Analysis Summary

The cost analysis for this example shows the following costs for the plant cooling system design:

Total of All Model Costs	\$5,296,174
Total Material Cost	\$417,883
Total Installation Cost	\$697,484
Total Operation/Energy Cost	\$4,180,806
Total Cost of Pipe	\$918,940
Total Cost of Pumps	\$4,344,806
Total Cost of Fittings	\$32,426

Minimizing Cost with AFT Fathom Automated Network Sizing Module™

The AFT Fathom <u>Automated Network Sizing Module (ANS)</u> is a tool built on AFT Fathom technology. With the ANS module you can automatically size all pipes or ducts in your system to minimize monetary cost, weight, volume, or surface area. In addition, you can concurrently size the pumps and pipes to obtain the absolute lowest cost system that satisfies your design requirements. Finally, by accounting for non-recurring and recurring costs, you can size pipe and duct systems to minimize life cycle costs over some specified duration.

By using the AFT Fathom Automated Network Sizing Module (ANS) on this example, not only could the system cost be determined, the cost could also be minimized by varying selected pipe and junction sizes in the system.

Non-Newtonian Mill Discharge Slurry

Summary

This example demonstrates how one can take small-scale raw rheological data for a mill slurry at a minerals plant and use it on a full-scale pipe calculation.

Topics Covered

- Reviewing and entering rheological data
- Using homogeneous scale-up features
- Obtaining and using Power Law and Bingham Plastic constants

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

In addition the user should have worked through Non-Newtonian Phosphates Pumping example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Non-Newtonian Mill Discharge Slurry.fth
- Non-Newtonian Mill Discharge Slurry Data.xlsx

Problem Statement

The piping for a non-settling slurry for a mill discharge at a minerals plant is being designed. The system will supply 880 gal/min of slurry through a 12-inch horizontal pipe 300 feet long.

Rheological data using the actual fluid in a 1/4 inch pipe has been obtained. Perform non-settling slurry calculations to evaluate how well the Bingham Plastic and Power Law models follow the raw data. Then determine the pressure drop in the full-scale pipe using Bingham Plastic, Power Law and Homogeneous Scale-up models.

Step 1. Review Raw Data in Excel

The data taken for 1/4 inch STD schedule (0.364 inch ID), 2.5 foot pipe is as follows:

Density = 87.4 lbm/ft3

Run	Q (gal/min)	<i>dP</i> (psid)
1	0.013	3.6
2	0.066	5.2
3	0.110	6.4
4	0.220	7.7
5	0.440	8.7

Table 1: Pressure drop data on mill slurry (1/4 inch pipe - 0.364 inch ID, 2.5 foot long)

The Bingham Plastic and Power Law models typically process data in terms of **shear rate** and **shear stress**. The above data needs to be changed into a form for input into AFT Fathom.

Open the provided Excel spreadsheet *Non-Newtonian Mill Discharge Slurry Data.xlsx*. Click the Excel tab for English units. Here one can see the raw data and calculated shear rate and shear stress. See Figure 1 for a view of the data. The shear rate and shear stress data is in the yellow columns.

Tube Diar Tube Len Slurry De	meter gth nsity	0.364 2.5 87.4	inches feet Ibm/ft3							
	Test Data		Ca	alculated Da	ita	Data Inpu	t to Fathom	Fa	thom Resu	ilts
						Shear	Shear		Bingham	Power Law
						Rate	Stress (Tau)		Plastic	
Run #	Flow rate	ΔP	Flow rate	Velocity	Jm	8v/D	PD/4L	Vol. Flow	dP Stag.	dP Stag.
	gal/min	psid	ft3/sec	feet/sec	ft/ft	1/seconds	psia	gal/min	psid	psid
1	0.013	3.6	0.000029	0.0401	2.37	10.6	0.011	0.013	4.927	3.610
2	0.066	5.2	0.000147	0.2035	3.43	53.7	0.016	0.066	5.605	5.430
3	0.110	6.4	0.000245	0.3391	4.22	89.4	0.019	0.110	6.016	6.173
4	0.220	7.7	0.000490	0.6783	5.07	178.9	0.023	0.220	6.884	7.348
5	0.440	8.7	0.000980	1.3566	5.73	357.8	0.026	0.440	8.396	8.746

Figure 1: Mill slurry raw and calculated data from Excel file

Step 2. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel:
 - a. Fluid Library = User Specified Fluid
 - b. Name = Mill Discharge Slurry
 - c. Density = 87.4 lbm/ft3
 - d. Dynamic Viscosity = 10 lbm/hr-ft (note that the viscosity entered here will not be used once the non-Newtonian parameters are entered)
- 3. Open the Viscosity Model panel
 - a. Viscosity Model = Bingham Plastic
 - b. Select Calculate from Rheological Data
 - c. Click Calculate Constants
 - d. Raw Data Type = Tube Flow Rheometer Data (8V/D)
 - e. Raw Data =

Parameter	Shear Rate	Shear Stress
Units	1/seconds	psia
1	10.6	0.011
2	53.7	0.016
3	89.4	0.019
4	178.9	0.023
5	357.8	0.026

f. Curve Fit Order = 1

Raw Data T	ype: () Tube Fl	ow Rheometer Dat]	Curve Fitting Curve Fit Type:
	Shear Rate 8V/D	Rheometer Data (di Shear Stress Tau	-	Polynomial
Parameter	Shear Rate	Shear Stress		Shear Stress
Units	1/seconds 🗸	psia 🗸		
1	10.6	0.011		
2	53.7	0.016		
3	89.4	0.019		Curve Fit Order
4	178.9	0.023		1 ~
5	357.8	0.026		
6				Generate Curve Fit Now
7				: <u></u>
8				
9				
10				
11				
12				
13				
14				*
Edit	Table 🔻			

Figure 2: Bingham Plastic data entry



Figure 3: Bingham Plastic curve fit and constants calculation

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 4: Layout of pipe system for Mill Discharge Slurry example

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
- 2. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
- 3. Size = 1/4 inch
- 4. Type = STD (schedule 40)
- 5. Length = 2.5 feet

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pressure = 100 psia
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 2. J2 Assigned Flow
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Outflow
 - c. Flow Specification = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - d. Flow Rate = 0.013 gal/min

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will

have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

Figure 5 shows the Output window. It can be seen that the pressure drop is 4.927 psid for 0.01300 gal/min, compared to the raw data value of 3.6 psid.

\$ Pip	bes														
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	0.01300	0.04008	100.0	95.07	0	0	4.927	4.927	0	8.118	100.0	95.07	100.0	95.07

Figure 5: The Output window with default output data

Step 7. Create Scenarios

From the Base Scenario, make a child scenario named Bingham Plastic.

Step 8. Run Other Bingham Plastic Scenarios

Load the Bingham Plastic scenario and use the Duplicate Special feature to create five identical runs. Enter flow rates of 0.066, 0.11, 0.22 and 0.44 gal/min at the Assigned Flow junctions. Run the model and note the pressure drop for each pipe.

Step 9. Create and Run Power Law Scenarios

In the Scenario Manager, right click the Bingham Plastic scenario and select **Clone Without Children**. Name this scenario *Power Law*.

- 1. Load the Power Law Scenario
- 2. Open Analysis Setup
- 3. Open the Viscosity Model panel

- a. Viscosity Model = Power Law
- b. Select Calculate from Rheological Data
- c. Click Calculate Constants
- d. Raw Data Type = Tube Flow Rheometer Data (8V/D)
- e. Raw Data = should still be loaded from before
- f. Curve Fit Order = 1
- g. Click Generate Curve Fit Now
- h. Click OK
- 4. Click OK

Run the model again.

Figure 7 shows the output for each of the ten cases. Figure 8 plots the test data against the results of Bingham Plastic and Power Law. From Figure 8 it is clear the Power Law model fits the mill discharge slurry data better than Bingham Plastic.



Figure 6: Power Law curve fit from Viscosity Model panel

Tube Diar Tube Len Slurry De	meter gth nsity	0.364 2.5 87.4	inches feet Ibm/ft3							
	Test Data		Ca	Iculated Da	ta	Data Inpu	t to Fathom	Fa	thom Resu	ilts
						Shear	Shear		Bingham	Power Law
						Rate	Stress (Tau)		Plastic	
Run #	Flow rate	ΔP	Flow rate	Velocity	Jm	8v/D	PD/4L	Vol. Flow	dP Stag.	dP Stag.
	gal/min	psid	ft3/sec	feet/sec	ft/ft	1/seconds	psia	gal/min	psid	psid
1	0.013	3.6	0.000029	0.0401	2.37	10.6	0.011	0.013	4.927	3.610
2	0.066	5.2	0.000147	0.2035	3.43	53.7	0.016	0.066	5.605	5.430
3	0.110	6.4	0.000245	0.3391	4.22	89.4	0.019	0.110	6.016	6.173
4	0.220	7.7	0.000490	0.6783	5.07	178.9	0.023	0.220	6.884	7.348
5	0.440	8.7	0.000980	1.3566	5.73	357.8	0.026	0.440	8.396	8.746

Figure 7: Summary of AFT Fathom output and test data



Pressure Drop vs. Flow

Figure 8: Graph comparing AFT Fathom output and test data

Step 10. Evaluate Full Scale Data

- 1. Make another child scenario called Full Scale 12 inch
- 2. Change pipe P1 to 300 feet length and 12 inch diameter
- 3. Change junction J2 to a flow rate of 880 gal/min
- 4. Make three child scenarios below Full Scale 12 inch: one for each, **Bingham Plastic**, **Power** Law, and Homogeneous Scale-up

- 5. Load the Bingham Plastic scenario, open Analysis Setup, and perform a curve fit for Bingham Plastic
- 6. Run the Bingham Plastic scenario and note the pressure drop
- 7. Repeat the above for the Power Law scenario
- 8. For the Homogeneous Scale-up scenario, use the test data from the Excel spreadsheet. Make sure to enter the data as Volumetric in gal/min and Jm in ft/ft. All 5 data points are laminar flow, as shown in Figure 9.

v Data Grap	bh							_	
Test Pipe Ma	aterial Data							\checkmark	OK
Material:		Stee	I - ANSI	\sim				×	Can
Size:		1.	/4 inch	\sim				9	Hel
Type:		s	TD (schedule 40)	~					
Inner Diame	ter: 0 364	inche	PS	~					
	0.004	in or it							
	Flow Volumetric (gal/min)		Head/Pressure Jm (ft/ft)	Flow		^			
Parameter	Volumetric	~	Jm 🗸	. toginio					
Units	gal/min	~	ft/ft 🗸						
1	1	0.013	2.37	Laminar	\sim	Ī			
2		0.066	3.43	Laminar	\sim				
3		0.11	4.22	Laminar	\sim				
4		0.22	5.07	Laminar	\sim				
5		0.44	5.73	Laminar	\sim				
6				Laminar	\sim				
7				Laminar	\sim				
8				Laminar	\sim				
9				Laminar	\sim				
10				Laminar	\sim				
11				Laminar	\sim				
12				Laminar	\sim				
13				Laminar	\sim	~	/		

Figure 9: Homogeneous Scale-up window with test data input

Figure 10 shows a comparison of pressure drop results using multi-scenario output for the three children. It can be seen that there is closer agreement between Power Law and Homogeneous Scale-up. The Bingham Plastic results are not as close which was true earlier in this example comparing to actual test data (Figure 8). Therefore the Bingham Plastic pressure drop should be excluded and the design pressure drop should be based on Power Law and Homogeneous Scale-up.

☆ Pipes															
Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Dutlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
I - Bingham Plastic	N/A	880.0	2.496	99.94	81.32		0 0	18.62	18.62	0	30.68	99.94	81.32	100.0	81.38
1 - Power Law	N/A	880.0	2.496	99.94	84.52		0 0	15.42	15.42	0	25.40	99.94	84.52	100.0	84.58
1 - Homogeneous Scale-up	Pipe	880.0	2.496	99.94	85.57		0 0	14.37	14.37	0	23.67	99.94	85.57	100.0	85.63
All Junctions Assigned Flow	Assigne	d Pressure													
Jct	N	ame	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. I In (psia)	PStag. \ Out (psia)	/ol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flor Thru (Ibm/s	w Rate Lo Jct ec)	ss Factor (K)					
I - Bingham Plastic	N/A		99.94	99.94	100.00	100.00	880.0)	171.4	0					
1 - Power Law	N/A		99.94	99.94	100.00	100.00	880.0)	171.4	0					
1 - Homogeneous Scale-up	Assigne	d Pressure	99.94	99.94	100.00	100.00	880.0)	171.4	0					
2 - Bingham Plastic	N/A		81.32	81.32	81.38	81.38	880.0)	171.4	0					
2 - Power Law	N/A		84.52	84.52	84.58	84.58	880.0)	171.4	0					
2 - Homogeneous Scale-up	Assigne	d Flow	85.57	85.57	85.63	85.63	880.0)	171.4	0					

Figure 10: Full scale pressure drop comparison of Bingham Plastic, Power Law, and Homogeneous Scale-up

Analysis Summary

A non-settling mill discharge slurry for a minerals plant was modeled using non-settling slurry calculations in AFT Fathom. Runs for small scale and full-scale calculation were made and pressure drop was determined for these cases.

Module Walk-Through Examples

The examples in the Fathom Module Help System are designed to get new users trained to use the Fathom modules correctly in the shortest amount of time.

If this is your first time using Fathom, please start with the <u>Walk-Through Examples</u> to learn how to create and run Fathom models. Start with the <u>Three Reservoir Model</u>, because it provides the most complete, basic description on how to set up and run a Fathom model. After this example, it is recommended that you work through the remaining Walk-Through examples.

If you are just learning to work with the Fathom modules, start with the Beginner model for each module, then choose an example from the tables on the Module pages that most closely matches your application. The examples are arranged in order of increasing complexity.

 Fathom GSC Examples

 Fathom XTS Examples

 Fathom SSL Examples

 Fathom ANS Examples

 Fathom Combined Module Examples

The examples below utilize the Goal Seek and Control module.

Fathom GSC Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
<u>Beginner - Heat</u> <u>Transfer in a Pipe</u>	Beginner	Water (liquid)	1	0	Learn the basics of the GSC module. See how to use Analysis Setup to activate and enable the GSC module and to use the Goal Seek and Control group to define variables and goals. Learn where to find the GSC Vari- ables and GSC Goals tabs in the Output window.
Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves	Beginner	Water (liquid)	9	1	Learn how to use the GSC module to size a pump in a system with a pump and flow control valves in series.
Cooling System	Beginner	Water (liquid)	20	2	Learn how to link GSC vari- ables together to apply mul- tiple variables and goals in a single simulation.
Model Calibration with Pipe Vari- ables	Beginner	Water (liquid)	6	0	Learn how to use the GSC module to vary pipe friction to calibrate a model to match a measured volu- metric flow rate.
Spray Discharge System	Intermediate	Water (liquid)	11	0	Learn how to create groups and use the Group Max/Min and Group Sum goals using the GSC module.
Controlled Heat Exchanger Tem- perature	Intermediate	Water (liquid)	10	1	Learn how to use the GSC module with heat transfer to vary the open percentage of a three-way valve to achieve a desired temperature.
NFPA Firewater System	Intermediate	Water (liquid)	71	0	Learn how to use the GSC module to determine the most hydraulically remote

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
					nozzle for NFPA Reports.

Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC

Summary

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how goals and variables are used in the GSC module to achieve an objective.

For this example, we will use the GSC module to determine the flow rate required such that the fluid at the outlet of a 100-foot section of pipe, with heat transfer, reaches a temperature of 120 deg. F.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Defining the Goal Seek and Control group
- Understanding Goal Seek and Control Output

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Beginner Heat Transfer in a Pipe.fth
- US Beginner Heat Transfer in a Pipe GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the **US - Heat Transfer in a Pipe.fth** example file listed above, which is located in the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom application folder. Save the file to a different folder. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Heat Transfer example

Step 3. Define the Modules group

The GSC module is controlled through the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. Open Analysis Setup and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use. Alternatively, GSC can be enabled from the Analysis menu by going to the Goal Seek & Control option and selecting Use, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: GSC can be enabled and disabled from the Analysis menu

Step 4. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

The Goal Seek and Control group is made up of three items: Variables, Goals, and Numerical Controls. The default settings in Numerical Controls will suffice for most applications and no input is necessary in this panel for this example. The variables and goals are defined in their respective panels. The Variables panel is shown in Figure 3 below:



Figure 3: Variables panel

Variables Panel

In the GSC module, variables are the parameters that the solver will modify in order to achieve the specified goals. There should be one variable defined for each goal. Open the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. The Variables panel allows you to create and modify the system variables. The object type and junction type are selected, then the name and number of the object to which the variable applies, and the object parameter that is to be varied are specified all on the Variables panel.

To create a new variable, follow these steps:

- 1. Click New Variable
- 2. Apply = Checked
- 3. Object Type = Junction
- 4. Junction Type = Assigned Flow
- 5. Junction Number and Name = J2 (Assigned Flow)
- 6. Variable Parameter = Flow
- 7. Link To = (None)
- 8. Lower Bound (Optional) = 0

The Apply column allows users to specify which of the variables that have been defined will be used. This allows the flexibility of creating multiple variable cases, while only applying selected variables for any given run.

The Link To column allows users to apply the same variable to multiple objects. This allows users to force parameters for several objects to be varied identically.

Upper and Lower Bounds provide logical extremes during the goal search. For this case, leave both the lower bound and the upper bound values blank.

After entering the data, the Variables panel should appear as shown in Figure 4:



Figure 4: The Variables panel is used to specify the variables

Goals Panel

Goals are the parameter values set by the user that Fathom adjusts the variables to achieve. There should be one goal defined for each variable.

Open the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group. The Goals panel allows you to create and modify the system goals. The goal type, object type, and the goal parameter are selected. A criterion for determining if the goal has been met is then specified, along with a value and units for the goal parameter. You can select the object to which the goal applies, and, if applicable, the location on the object at which the goal applies (i.e. the inlet or outlet of a pipe object).

Do the following:

- 1. Click New Goal
- 2. Apply = Checked
- 3. Goal Type = Point
- 4. Object Type = Pipe
- 5. Goal Parameter = Temperature
- 6. Criteria = =
- 7. Goal Value = 120
- 8. Goal Units = deg. F
- 9. Object ID = P1 (Pipe)
- 10. Object Location = Outlet

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 5:

Analys	is Setup		×			
20	Modules	\sim	Goals			
<u>_</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim				
٢	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete Al Goals Desired goals in Output			
60	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Type Parameter Value Units ID Location			
2	*Variables		1 V Point V Pipe V Temperature V = 120 deg. F V P1 (Pipe) V Outlet V			
2	Goals					
	Numerical Controls					
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim				
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim				
? 0	Cost Settings	\sim				
	Miscellaneous	\sim				
Yoriables Y						
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🎯 Help			

Figure 5: The Goals panel is used to specify the goals

As variables and goals are added to a model, Fathom will display symbols beside the pipes and junctions that have variables or goals applied to them. The default is a V for variables, and a G for goals. The goal symbol is not displayed next to objects that are part of a group goal. This is illustrated in Figure 6:



Figure 6: Workspace with Goal and Variable symbols displayed

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

Figure 7 shows the Output window with the General, Pipes, and Junctions sections displayed.

2 W	Vorkspace 🔡 M	odel Data	🛄 Outp	ut 🖄 🤇	iraph Result	s 💿 Vis	ual Report								
	🚳 灯 🛃 🎽		e 🗏 👘												
* 0	General Warnings	Design Aler	ts GSC Va	riables G	SC Goals										
General Warnings Design Alerts GSC Variables GSC Goals Variable Object Type Direct Parameter Variable Variable															
1	Concernal Warnings Design Alerts GSC Variables GSC Goals Concernal Warnings Design Alerts GSC Valiables GSC GSC Goals Concernal Warnings Design Alerts GSC Valiables GSC GSC Goals Concernal Warnings Design Alerts GSC Valiables GSC														
	Pipes Heat Transfer														
× +	ripes Heat Transfer														
Pipe	e Name Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec	Ubas Em Ordprint W ordprint Rectures W visible report Image: All the intervention GSC Variables GSC Variables GSC Coals Biget: Prameter Value Units E Flow 2.528 Ibm/sec Envedion Envedion Envedion Velocity P Static P Static P Static P Static P Static Velocity P Static P Static												
1	Pipe Name Vol. Flow Velocity P Static P Static Direction dP Static P Partic Elevation dP Static P Static <t< td=""><td>120.0</td></t<>											120.0			
* A	All Junctions Assign	ed Flow As	signed Pres	sure											
Jct	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static F Out (psia)	PStag. P In (psia) (Stag. Vol. Out T psia) (Flow Rate hru Jct gal/min)	Mass Flow R Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	ate Loss F (K	actor)						
1	Assigned Pressure	50.00	50.00	50.00	50.00	19.17	2.	628	0						
2	Assigned Flow	49.99	49.99	50.00	50.00	19.17	2.	628	0						

Figure 7: The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the output control window

The results of the GSC analysis are shown in the General Output section in the GSC Variables and GSC Goals tabs. The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 8. The GSC Goals tab shows the final value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 9.

^	Gener	al Warnings	Desi	gn Aler	s GSC	Variables	GSC G	oals
Va	ariable	Object Type	Oł	oject l	Parameter	Value	Units	
	1	Assigned Flo	w J2	F	low	2.627	Ibm/sec	

Figure 8: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Goal Goal Object Type Object ID Object Location Parameter User Goal Value Actual Goal Value Units 1 Point Pipe P1 (Pipe) Outlet Temperature 120 120.0 deg. F	1	Ceneral Warnings				s Design A	lerts 0	GSC	Variables	G	SC Goals			
1 Point Pipe P1 (Pipe) Outlet Temperature 120 120.0 deg. F		Go	oal Goal Object Type Type		Object ID Obj Loca		ct on	Parameter		User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units		
		1		Point	Pipe	P1 (Pipe)	Outlet		Temperature		120	120.0	deg. F	

Figure 9: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

The GSC module analysis determined that a mass flow rate of 2.627 lbm/sec (19.16 gal/min) results in a pipe outlet temperature of 120 deg. F. In order to achieve the desired temperature, the assigned flow rate was varied from the initial value of 10 lbm/sec, to the final value of 2.628 lbm/sec. In addition to the GSC module tabs in the General Output section, the resulting pipe flow and temperature results can be seen in the Pipes section of the Output Window.

Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves - GSC

Summary

The piping for a heat exchanger system is being designed. The system will pump supply water from a tank pressurized to 10 psig with a liquid surface elevation of 5 feet to a receiving tank with a pressure of 30 psig and a liquid surface elevation of 10 feet. The heat exchangers operate in parallel. The flow through the heat exchangers is controlled to 100 gal/min by two flow control valves. There is a design requirement that the control valves have a minimum pressure drop of 5 psid.

Use the GSC module to size the pump.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Defining the Goal Seek and Control group
- Using Pump head rise as a GSC Variable
- Using Group Max/Min Goals

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the <u>Beginner: Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC</u> example and the <u>Spray Discharge System - GSC</u> example, which demonstrates how to use Group Max/Min goals.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves.fth
- US Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Pump Sizing and Selection with Flow Control Valves.fth* example file and save it as a new file. Right click on the Base Scenario and select Create Child. Name the child scenario Goal Seek Control.

Set the J2 Pump Sizing Parameter to Head Rise, with a Fixed Head Rise of 20 feet. In this example, the head rise will become the GSC variable.

The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Pump Selection with Flow Control Valves example
Step 3. Create a Group

Create a group named *Flow Control Valves* by opening the Edit menu, hover over Groups, and select Create. Add both Control Valve junctions J4 and J7 to the group.

Step 4. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 5. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Select the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group. For this example, click New Variable and enter the following variable data:

- 1. Apply = Checked
- 2. Object Type = Junction
- 3. Junction Type = Pump
- 4. Junction Number and Name = J2 (Pump)
- 5. Variable Parameter = Head Rise
- 6. Link To = (None)

After entering the data, the Variables panel should appear as shown in Figure 2:

Analys	is Setup		Х
P	Modules	\sim	Variables
<u>_</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
٢	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Variable Duplicate Variable Delete Variable Delete All Variables Parameters to vary in order to reach goals
<u></u>	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Object Type Junction Type Object Number Variable Link To Lower Bound Upper Bound and Name Parameter (Optional) (Optional)
1	*Variables		1 🗹 Junction 🗸 Pump 🗸 J2 (Pump) 🗸 Head Rise 🗸 (None) 🗸
1	*Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
%0	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert Dube and lower bounds provide logical extremes for the search. Units for bounds are same as on Properties window. Double-click or press right mouse button on the far left column to view the Specifications or inspection window.
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent V 🔮 Help

Figure 2: The Variables panel is used to specify the variables

Goals Panel

Select the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group.

Create a new goal for the pressure drop across the flow control valves as defined below (if the option for a group goal is not visible, you may have forgotten to create a group as discussed above). Click New Goal and enter the following:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Goal Type = Group
- 3. Object Type = Group Max/Min
- 4. Goal Parameter = Pressure Loss
- 5. Criteria = >=
- 6. Goal Value = 5
- 7. Goal Units = psid
- 8. Object ID = Flow Control Valves
- 9. Object Location = NA

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 3:

Analys	is Setup		X
120	Modules	\sim	Goals
<u>_</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
۵	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete Al Goals Desired goals in Output
00	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Type Parameter Value Units ID Location
2	Variables		1 Group V Group Max/Min V Pressure Loss V >= V 5 psid V Flow Control Valves V NA
2	Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
?⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert A Note: Double-click or press right mouse button on the far left column to view the Properties or inspection window for a pipe or junction.
Colla	apse All Groups		· Same As Parent - 🖗 Help 🖌 Kancel

Figure 3: The Goals panel is used to specify the goals

Step 6. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 7. Examine the Output

The results of the GSC module analysis are shown in the General Output section. The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 4. The pump head rise required for this system to supply a minimum of 5 psid pressure drop at each of the Flow Control Valve junctions is 167.3 ft. The GSC Goals tab shows the final value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 5. This shows the goal of a minimum 4.999 psid pressure drop was obtained for both valves.

Note that the results for this example are same as the results for the original Pump Selection with Flow Control Valves example.

1	\$	GSC \	/ariables	GSC G	ioals			÷
	Va	ariable	Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units	
		1	Pump	J2	Head Rise	167.3	feet]

Figure 4: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

;	*	Pur	mp Sumn	nary Valve Sum	mary Heat Exchange	r Summary	Reservoir Sum	mary 0	GSC Variables	GSC Goa	ls 4	
	Go	oal	Goal Type	Object Type	Object ID	Object Location	Parameter	User Go Value	al Actual Goa Value	I Units	Object Used for Group Goal	
	1	1	Group	Group Max/Min	Flow Control Valves	N/A	Pressure Loss		5 4.99	9 None	J7 (Control Valve)	

Figure 5: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Cooling System - GSC

Summary

The objective of this example is to use the GSC module to vary the required pump speed and control pressure such that a minimum flow of 150 gal/min is maintained through the Heat Exchanger, and the control valve open percentage remains above 30%.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Applying multiple variables and goals.
- Using linked variables

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Cooling System.fth
- US Cooling System GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the **US - Cooling System.fth** example file and save it as a new file.

Load the Pump A scenario and turn off Pump J5 by opening the properties window, navigating to the Optional tab, and selecting the Pump Off No Flow special condition.

Open the properties window for Control Valves J11. On the Control Valve Model tab, under Loss When Fully Open, select Cv and then select From Open % Table (on Optional Tab) for the Loss Source.

Go to the Optional tab and add the following data to Open Percentage Data table:

Open Pct.	Cv
0	0
100	150

Click OK. Make these same changes to Control Valves J12 and J13. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Cooling System example

Step 3. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 4. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Open the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. For this example, we will be adding four variables: one pump variable and three control valve variables which will be linked. Enter the variable inputs shown in Figure 2:

Analys	sis Setup				×
1	Modules	\sim	Variables		
<u>~</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim			
	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Variable Duplicate Variable Delete Variable Delete Al Variables Parameters to vary in order to re	ach goals	
©!	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Object Type Junction Type Object Number Variable Link To and Name Parameter	Lower Bound (Optional)	Upper Bound (Optional)
	*Variables		1 🗹 Junction 🗸 Pump 🗸 J4 (Pump) 🗸 Speed 🗸 (None) 🗸	0	
	l toulu		2 Junction Valve V111 (Control Valve) Control Setpoint (None)	-	
	Goals		3 Junction Valve J12 (Control Valve) Control Setpoint J11 (Control Valve)		
	Numerical Controls		4 Junction Valve J13 (Control Valve) Control Setpoint J11 (Control Valve)		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim			
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim			
% 0	Cost Settings	\sim			
	Miscellaneous	\sim			
			Al None Invert The None Vertex Constraints of the search. Using a search using a	or bounds are same a cifications or inspect	as on Properties window. ion window.
Colla	apse All Groups		Same As Parent -	 Image: A start of the start of	OK Cancel

Figure 2: The Variables panel is used to specify the variables

Goals Panel

There should be one goal defined for each variable. In this case we essentially have two variables, since all of the control valve variables are linked, causing them to act as a single variable.

Open the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. Create two new goals as defined below in Figure 3:

Analys	is Setup															×
120	Modules	\sim	Goal	s												
<u>.</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim		***			*		×	a						
٢	Pipes and Junctions	\sim		New Goal		Duplica	ate Goal	Dele	te Goal D	elete Al (Goals	Desire	ed goals in Out	put		
00	Goal Seek and Control	^		Apply	Goal	Туре	Object Type		Goal Paramete	r	Criteria	Goal Value	Goal Units	Object ID	Object Location	
2	Variables		1		Point	~	Heat Exchange	r v	Volumetric Flow	Rate 🗸	-	150	gal/min 🗸	J16 (Heat Exchange	r) 🗸 NA	
2	Goals		2		Point	~	Control Valve	~	Open Percentage	~	-	30	Percent ~	J13 (Control Valve)	∨ NA	
	Numerical Controls															
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim														
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim														
%0	Cost Settings	\sim														
	Miscellaneous	\sim														
			A	None	Invert			Note	e: Double-click or pr	ess right r	nouse button	i on the far le	eft column to vi	ew the Properties or in	spection window fo	ra pipe or junction.
Colla	ipse All Groups			Same As	Parent	• 9	Help								 ✓ 	OK X Cancel

Figure 3: GSC Manager Goals tab is used to specify the goals

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 3. Note that by setting the most hydraulically remote heat exchanger and control valve equal to the minimum requirements, we are ensuring that the other heat exchangers and control valves will exceed the minimum values.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

The results of the GSC module analysis are shown in the General Output section. The GSC Variables tab shows the final values for the variable parameters, as shown in Figure 4. The pump speed was determined to be 81.98%, and the control setpoint for the valves was determined to be 44.82 psig. The GSC Goals tab shows the final values achieved for the goals, as shown in Figure 5.

Viewing the Valve Summary tab will show that control valves J11 and J12 have open percents above the minimum of 30%. The Heat Exchanger Summary tab will similarly show that heat exchangers J14 and J15 have volumetric flow rates above the required minimum of 150 gal/min.

Rese	rvoir Summary	GSC Var	riables GSC Goa	ls	4
Variable	Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units
1	Pump	J4	Speed	81.98	Percent
2	Control Valve	J11	Control Setpoint	44.82	psig
3	Control Valve	J12	Control Setpoint	44.82	psig
4	Control Valve	J13	Control Setpoint	44.82	psig

Figure 4: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Goal	Goal Type	Object Type	Object ID	Object Location	Parameter	User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units
1	Point	Heat Exchanger	J16 (Heat Exchanger)	N/A	Volumetric Flow Rate	150	149.9	gal/min
2	Point	Control Valve	J13 (Control Valve)	N/A	Open Percentage	30	30.02	Percent

Figure 5: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Model Calibration with Pipe Variables - GSC

Summary

A supply reservoir feeds a water treatment pond through gravity flow and the pipeline has been in existence for about 15 years. The original pipeline delivered about 2,000 gal/min and recently, the operators working at the treatment pond have reported that the flow has dropped by about 20%. Their lead engineer has determined that the cause of the flow reduction is most likely due to pipe corrosion.

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how to use the GSC module to determine the amount of additional frictional resistance in the pipeline due to years of corrosion. This could factor into the decision on whether or not to replace the pipeline and when.

For this example, the GSC module will be used to approximate the absolute roughness due to corrosion in the pipeline which has reduced the flow rate from 2,000 gal/min to 1,600 gal/min.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Defining the Goal Seek and Control group
- Setting Variables and Goals
- Understanding Goal Seek and Control Output

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Model Calibration with Pipe Variables - GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 3. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Model Calibration Using Pipe Variables Example

Enter the following pipe and junction properties.

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 8 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Length =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1&5	5280
2, 3, & 4	2640
6	2000

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Reservoir
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 1201 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Elevation = 1000 feet
- 2. J2 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 500 feet
- 3. J3 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 600 feet
- 4. J4 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 100 feet
- 5. J5 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 300 feet
- 6. J6 Branch
 - a. Elevation = 50 feet
- 7. J7 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Treatment Pond
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 0 feet

To show the names of the reservoirs a new Workspace Layer will be created.

- 1. Create a new layer by selecting New Layer and then Blank Layer from the Workspace Layers tab of the Quick Access Panel.
- 2. Name the layer Reservoir Labels.
- 3. Edit the layer by selecting it and clicking the gear icon to bring up the Layer Settings window.
- 4. Open the Show/Hide Labels panel and uncheck Force Shown Labels to Match Shown Objects.
- 5. Toggle the visibility icon next to the reservoirs to on. This will cause their labels to be shown.
- 6. Navigate to the Junction Parameters panel and expand the Commonly Used Junction Parameters list.
- 7. Double-click Junction Name to add it to the list on the right-hand side. This will add the Junction Name to the label of the junctions that were defined in the Show/Hide Labels panel.
- 8. Close the Layer Settings window.

>Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 4. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 5. Examine the Output

After running the model based upon the original pipeline operation with brand new clean steel pipe, we find that the flow rate is 2000 gal/min, as shown in Figure 2.

*	Pip	es														
P	ipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Static Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
	1	Pipe	2,000	12.83	184.15	100.61	1,000.00	500.00	-83.54	-83.54	-216.48	307.1	100.61	184.15	101.72	185.26
	2	Pipe	2,000	12.83	184.15	74.38	500.00	600.00	109.77	109.77	43.30	153.5	184.15	74.38	185.26	75.49
	3	Pipe	2,000	12.83	224.39	74.38	600.00	100.00	-150.01	-150.01	-216.48	153.5	74.38	224.39	75.49	225.50
	4	Pipe	2,000	12.83	224.39	71.33	100.00	300.00	153.06	153.06	86.59	153.5	224.39	71.33	225.50	72.44
	5	Pipe	2,000	12.83	71.33	46.63	300.00	50.00	24.70	24.70	-108.24	307.1	71.33	46.63	72.44	47.73
	6	Pipe	2,000	12.83	46.63	13.59	50.00	10.00	33.04	33.04	-17.32	116.3	46.63	13.59	47.73	14.70

Figure 2: Original pipeline results based upon clean pipe

Step 6. Create a child scenario named Flow Reduction from Corrosion

In the child scenario, we are going to use the GSC module to determine how much additional frictional resistance due to corrosion is in the pipeline. In this new scenario, we know that the flow rate has been reduced to 1600 gal/min in the physical system by corrosion and therefore the GSC goal in this case is going to be the volumetric flow rate.

The GSC module is a very useful tool that allows one to calibrate their models so that the predicted results can match measured data. There are four different GSC pipe variables that can be used to assist with this calibration including the specified pipe Friction (e.g. absolute roughness), pipe Design Factor, pipe ID (scaling), and Insulation Thickness.

In order to use GSC to determine the amount of additional frictional resistance due to corrosion, an input parameter must be varied. In this case, we are going to vary each pipe's absolute roughness in order to achieve the desired goal flow rate of 1600 gal/min.

Step 7. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 8. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Select the Variables panel within the Goal Seek and Control group. The Variables panel allows users to create and modify the system variables.

In this scenario, we are going to vary the current pipe friction model (i.e. absolute roughness) for each pipe in the system. Since there are six individual pipes, there will be six individual pipe variables. If all six variables were to be able to vary independently of each other and there is only one goal associated, then this could lead to a less unique solution (as there could be several different combinations of pipe roughness values that would lead to the desired result). Therefore, we are going to assume that the entire pipeline has the same level of additional frictional resistance due to corrosion. In order to accomplish this, all pipe variables can be linked together. Since only one goal is present, we will only need one effective variable and so all of the pipe variables will be linked to the first variable.

Since there are six pipes, we will set pipes P2 - P6 to be linked to pipe P1.

For pipe P1, set the following variable data:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Object Type = Pipe
- 3. Junction Type = NA
- 4. Object Number and Name = P1 (Pipe)
- 5. Variable Parameter = Friction
- 6. Link To = (None)

Now, add new variables for pipes P2 - P6. The only differences between the variables for these pipes and the variable for pipe P1 will be the Object Number and Name and instead of selecting (None) under the Link To column, select P1 (Pipe). This will link pipes P2 - P6 to pipe P1 which will force all six pipe

variables to be varied identically, requiring only one goal to be specified. Figure 3 below shows all the linked pipe variables.

20	Modules	~	Varia	ables												
<u>.</u> 0	Fluid Properties	~	-					_		_	1					
_	Pipes and Junctions	~	N	ew Variat	le Dup	licate Variable	Delete Var	iable	Delete	All Variables		Parame	ters	to vary in order to re	ach goals	
⊚!	Goal Seek and Control	^		Apply	Object T	ype Junction	n Type	Object N and Na	umber ame	Variable Paramet	e er	Link To	2	Lower Bound (Optional)	Upper Bound (Optional)	
	*Variables		1		Pipe	✓ NA	P1	(Pipe)	~	Friction	\sim	(None)	\sim	0		
	*Goals		2		Pipe	✓ NA	P2	(Pipe)	~	Friction	\sim	P1 (Pipe)	\sim	0		
	Numerical Controls		3		Pipe	✓ NA	P3	(Pipe)	~	Friction	\sim	P1 (Pipe)	\sim	0		
	Numerical Collidois	_	4		Pipe	✓ NA	P4	(Pipe)	\sim	Friction	\sim	P1 (Pipe)	\sim	0		
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	5		Pipe	✓ NA	P5	(Pipe)	~	Friction	\sim	P1 (Pipe)	~	0		
ø	Environmental Properties	~	6		Pipe	l∼ NA	P6	(Pipe)	~	Friction	~	P1 (Pipe)	~	0		
? 0	Cost Settings	~														
	Miscellaneous	~														
			A	I Nor	e Invert		1 Note:	Jpper and	d lower b	ounds provid	e log	ical extreme	es fo	r the search. Units fo	or bounds are same a	as on Properties wi
			1	Emrs ex	let Click hara	for datalla	Double	-click or p	press righ	t mouse butt	on o	n the far left	colu	imn to view the Spe	cifications or inspect	ion window.

Figure 3: Six linked pipe variables (working effectively as a single variable) to vary the pipe friction model (i.e. absolute roughness)

Goals Panel

Goals are the parameter values set by the user that the solver tries to achieve by adjusting the variables. There should be one goal defined for each unlinked (and thus independent) variable. Since variables 2 - 6 are all linked to variable 1, only one goal will be required.

Select the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group.

Create a new goal and set up the following goal information:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Goal Type = Point
- 3. Object Type = Pipe
- 4. Goal Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
- 5. Criteria = =
- 6. Goal Value = 1600
- 7. Goal Units = gal/min
- 8. Object ID = P6 (Pipe)
- 9. Object Location = NA

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 4.

On the Numerical Control panel, the Search Method can be modified for Goals between two options, Beta Method and Least Squares. The Beta Method is useful in situations where there are multiple variables and multiple goals. For this model, make sure that the Least Squares method is selected.

Analys	is Setup		X
120	Modules	\sim	Goals
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
۵	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete Al Goals Desired goals in Output
00	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Type Parameter Value Units ID Location
2	Variables		1 Point V Pipe Volumetric Flow Rate V = 1600 gal/min V P6 (Pipe) V NA
2	Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
% Ø	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			A None Invert To A Note: Double click or press right mouse button on the far left column to view the Properties or Inspection window for a pipe or junction.
Colla	pse All Groups	_	Same As Parent - 🎯 Help 🖉 Cancel

Figure 4: GSC Manager Goals tab is used to specify the goals

Step 9. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 10. Examine the Output

The results of the GSC module analysis are shown in the General section of the Output window. The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 5. The resulting absolute roughness value that would decrease the flow rate to 1600 gal/min would be about 0.01584 inches. The additional frictional resistance in the pipeline due to corrosion is about nine times larger than the absolute roughness for clean steel pipe. The GSC Goals tab shows the final value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 6.

^	Rese	rvoir Sum	mary G	iSC Variables	GSC Go	als 🖣
	Variable	Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units
	1	Pipe	P1	Friction	0.01584	inches
	2	Pipe	P2	Friction	0.01584	inches
	3	Pipe	P3	Friction	0.01584	inches
	4	Pipe	P4	Friction	0.01584	inches
	5	Pipe	P5	Friction	0.01584	inches
	6	Pipe	P6	Friction	0.01584	inches

Figure 5: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

3	\$	Ge	neral	Warning	s Design A	lerts	Res	ervoir Summary	GSC	Variables	GSC Goals	
	G	oal	Goal Type	Object Type	Object ID	Objec Locati	ct ion	Parameter		User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units
		1	Point	Pipe	P6 (Pipe)	N/A		Volumetric Flow	Rate	1600) 1,600	gal/min

Figure 6: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Spray Discharge System - GSC

Summary

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how the Group Max/Min and Group Sum goal types can be used in the GSC module to achieve a goal for a group of objects.

For this example, we will use the GSC module to solve for the supply pressure required to:

Supply a minimum of 125 gal/min to each spray discharge junction using a Group Max/Min goal.

Supply a total flow rate of 1,000 gal/min through the system using a Group Sum goal.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Creating Groups
- Using Group Max/Min and Group Sum Goals

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Spray Discharge System.fth
- US Spray Discharge System GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the **US** - **Spray Discharge System.fth** example file and save it as a new file. We will not need the existing child scenarios for this example: right click on the Base Scenario in the Scenario Manager and select Delete All Children. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Spray Discharge system example

Step 3. Create a Group

In order to use the Group Max/Min and Group Sum goal types, the junctions included in the goal must be added to a group. To create a group, go to the Edit menu and select the Groups -> Create option. Give the new group the name Spray Discharges, and click OK. The Group Manager will be displayed. Select all of the Spray Discharge junctions from the junction list, as shown in Figure 2. After choosing the Spray Discharge junctions, click OK on the Group Manager form.

Note: If the Spray Discharge junctions were selected in the Workspace before Create Group was selected from the Edit menu, then they would be automatically selected for us in the Group Manager window.



Figure 2: Groups are Created Using the Group Manager

Step 4. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 5. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Open the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group. For this example select New Variable, then choose following variable data:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Object Type = Junction
- 3. Junction Type = Assigned Pressure
- 4. Junction Number and Name = J9 (Assigned Pressure)
- 5. Variable Parameter = Pressure
- 6. Link To = (None)

After entering the data, the Variable panel should appear as shown in Figure 3:

Analys	is Setup		X
20	Modules	\sim	Variables
<u>.</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
۲	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Variable Duplicate Variable Delete Variable Delete All Variables Parameters to vary in order to reach goals
©!	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Object Type Junction Type Object Number Variable Link To Lower Bound Upper Bound (Optional) (Optional)
	*Variables		1 🗹 Junction v Assigned Pressure v J9 (Assigned Pressure) v Pressure v (None) v
1	*Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
%0	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			All None Invert Image: The transmission of the search with the search withe search w
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🧐 Help

Figure 3: The Variables panel is used to specify the variables

Goals Panel

Open the Goals panel next. For this example, we are going to define two goals. We will apply one goal at a time for the sake of comparing the impact that each goal has on the results.

The first goal type is a Group Max/Min goal. This type of goal allows a single goal to be applied to a group of objects. Fathom applies a Group Max/Min goal by ensuring the final goal value is either greater than or equal to (Min) or less then or equal to (Max) the specified value. For this example, a Group Max/Min goal will be applied to ensure the minimum flow rate out of all of the spray discharge junctions is at least 125 gal/min.

The second goal type is a Group Sum goal. This type of goal is used to set the sum of the goal parameter for all the members in the group to a specified value. For this example, the Group Sum goal will be applied to ensure the sum of the flow rates through the spray discharges equals 1000 gal/min.

Create two new goals defined as follows:

Group Max/Min:

- 1. Apply = Checked
- 2. Goal Type = Group
- 3. Object Type = Group Max/Min
- 4. Goal Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate Out
- 5. Criteria = >=
- 6. Goal Value = 125
- 7. Goal Units = gal/min
- 8. Object ID = Spray Discharges
- 9. Object Location = NA

Group Sum:

- 1. Apply = Not Checked
- 2. Goal Type = Group
- 3. Object Type = Group Sum
- 4. Goal Parameter = Volumetric Flow Rate
- 5. Criteria = =
- 6. Goal Value = 1000
- 7. Goal Units = gal/min
- 8. Object ID = Spray Discharges
- 9. Object Location = NA

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 4 in Step 7.

Step 6. Create Scenarios

Using the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel, create two child scenarios, one named *Group Max Min* and another named *Group Sum*.

Step 7. Select Group Max/Min Goal

Load the Group Max Min scenario.

Open the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. Make sure the Group Max/Min goal is applied, indicated by the check mark in the Apply column for that goal. Make certain Group Sum goal is NOT applied by unchecking the check box in the Apply column. The GSC goals should appear as shown in Figure 4:



Figure 4: Group Max Min Goal Applied in the Goals panel

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 9. Examine the Output

The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 5. The supply pressure required to supply a minimum of 125 gal/min at each of the Spray Discharge junctions is 263.3 psig. The GSC Goals tab shows the value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 6. The flow rates determined for the Spray discharge junctions are shown in Figure 7. The spray discharge flow rates shown in Figure 7 illustrate how the Group Max/Min resulted in a the flow rate through each of the spray discharges meeting or exceeding the specified minimum flow rate of 125 gal/min. The total system flow is 1079.9 gal/min.

Variable	Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units
1	Assigned Pressure	J9	Pressure	263.3	psig

Figure 5: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

:	Ge	eneral \	Varnings Design	Alerts GSC Varial	oles GSC	Goals				
	Goal	Goal Type	Object Type	Object ID	Object Location	Parameter	User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units	Object Used for Group Goal
	1	Group	Group Max/Min	Spray Discharges	N/A	Volumetric Flow Rate Out	125	125.0	gal/min	J1 (Spray Discharge)

Figure 6: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

All Junc	tions Assigned Pre	essure Br	anch Dea	ad End S	ipray Disch	arge		
Spray Discharge	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Factor (K)
1	Spray Discharge	132.3	14.70	134.9	14.70	125.0	17.36	46.05
2	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	139.1	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
3	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	155.5	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
4	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	193.8	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
5	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	193.8	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
6	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	155.5	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
7	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	139.1	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.05
8	Spray Discharge	132.3	14.70	134.9	14.70	125.0	17.36	46.05

Figure 7: Flow Rates Calculated for the Spray Discharge junctions for Group Max/Min goal

Step 10. Select Group Sum Goal

Load the Group Sum scenario.

Open the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group from Analysis Setup. Apply the Group Sum goal by clicking the check box next to the Group Sum goal in the Apply column. Make certain Group Max/Min goal is NOT applied by unchecking the check box in the Apply column. The GSC goals should appear as shown in Figure 8:

Analys	is Setup		×
120	Modules	\sim	Goals
<u>~</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete Al Goals Desired goals in Output
© >	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Discont Location
و و	Variables Goals		1 Group ✓ Group Max/Min ✓ Volumetric Flow Rate Out ✓ >= ✓ 125 galimin ✓ Spray Discharges ✓ NA 2 ✓ Group ✓ Group Sum ✓ Volumetric Flow Rate ✓ = 1000 gal/min ✓ Spray Discharges ✓ NA
	Numerical Controls		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
%0	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert Roperties or inspection window for a pipe or junction.
Colla	pse All Groups		😰 Same As Parent 🔹 👰 Help 🖉 Cancel

Figure 8: Group Sum Goals are applied in the GSC Manager

Step 11. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 12. Examine Output

The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 9. The supply pressure required to supply a total system flow of 1000 gal/min is 226.5 psig. The GSC Goals tab shows the final value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 10. The goal of 1000 gal/min for the system flow in this example was achieved. The flow rates determined for the Spray Discharge junctions are shown in Figure 11. Note that overall, the flows through the spray discharges in the Group Sum scenario are less than the flows determined for the Group Max/Min scenario. This is because in the Group Max/Min scenario, the restriction was placed on the flow rate at each of the spray discharges, resulting in a system flow of 1079.9 gal/min, while the restriction in the Group Sum scenario was on the total system flow equaling 1000 gal/min.

^	Warnii	ngs Design Alerts	GSC Va	riables	GSC	Goals	4	Þ
Va	ariable	Object Type	Object	Param	eter	Value	Units	
	1	Assigned Pressure	J9	Pressu	re	226.5	psig	

Figure 9: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Goal Type Object Type Object ID Object Location Parameter User Goal Value Actual Goal Value Units 2 Group Group Sum Spray Discharges N/A Volumetric Flow Rate 1000 1,000 gal/min	1	\$	Ger	neral	Warnings	Desig	n Alerts	GSC V	ariables	GSC Goals				
2 Group Group Sum Spray Discharges N/A Volumetric Flow Rate 1000 1,000 gal/min		Go	oal	Goal Type	Object Type		Object	ID	Object Location	Para	meter	User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units
		2	2	Group	Group Su	m Sp	oray Discl	narges	N/A	Volumetric	Flow Rate	1000	1,000	gal/min

Figure 10: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

Spray Discharge	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow Rate Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	Loss Facto (K)
1	Spray Discharge	115.5	14.70	117.8	14.70	115.7	16.08	46.0
2	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	121.3	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.0
3	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	135.4	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.0
4	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	168.3	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.0
5	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	168.3	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.0
6	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	135.4	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.
7	Spray Discharge	N/A	14.70	121.3	14.70	N/A	N/A	46.
8	Spray Discharge	115.5	14.70	117.8	14.70	115.7	16.08	46.0

Figure 11: Flow Rates Calculated for the Spray Discharge junctions for Group Sum Goal

Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature - GSC

Summary

The objective of this example is to use the GSC module to vary a Three Way Valve percent open to divert heat exchanger flow to maintain a downstream temperature of 120 deg. F for a specified upstream supply temperature.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

• Using GSC to control flow splits

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.fth
- US Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature GSC.fth
- Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.dat

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the **US** - **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.fth** example file and save it as a new file. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for GSC Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature example

Step 3. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 4. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Open the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group. For this example, we will be adding a variable for the Three Way Valve % Open. Click New Variable and enter the following data:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Object Type = Junction
- 3. Junction Type = Three Way Valve
- 4. Junction Number and Name = J3 (Three Way Valve)
- 5. Variable Parameter = Open Percentage
- 6. Link To = (None)

- 7. Lower Bound = 0
- 8. Upper Bound = 100

Analys	is Setup		Х
P	Modules	\sim	Variables
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
۵	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Variable Duplicate Variable Delete Variable Delete All Variables Parameters to vary in order to reach goals
©!	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Object Type Junction Type Object Number Variable Link To Lower Bound Upper Bound and Name Parameter (Optional) (Optional)
1	*Variables		1 🗹 Junction 🗸 Three Way Valve 🗸 J3 (Three Way Valve) 🗸 Open Percentage 🗸 (None) 🗸 0 100
1	*Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
% 0	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert Ref Alter Upper and lower bounds provide logical extremes for the search. Units for bounds are same as on Properties window. Errors exist. Click here for details.
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🧐 Help

Figure 2: GSC Manager Variables tab is used to specify the variables

Goals Panel

Open the Goals panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. Click New Goal for the downstream temperature and define it with the data below:

- 1. Apply = Selected
- 2. Goal Type = Point
- 3. Object Type = Branch
- 4. Goal Parameter = Temperature
- 5. Criteria = =
- 6. Goal Value = 120
- 7. Goal Units = deg. F
- 8. Object ID = J8 (Branch)
- 9. Object Location = Outlet

After entering the data, the Goals panel should appear as shown in Figure 3:

Analys	is Setup		>
20	Modules	\sim	Goals
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete All Goals Desired goals in Output
09	Goal Seek and Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Dipect Type Parameter Value Units ID Location
2	Variables		1 Point v Branch v Temperature v = 120 deg. F v J8 (Branch) v Outlet v
2	Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
% Ø	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert A Note: Double-click or press right mouse button on the far left column to view the Properties or inspection window for a pipe or junction.
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🖗 Help

Figure 3: The Goals panel is used to specify the goals

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

The results of the GSC module analysis are shown in the General Output section. The GSC Variables tab shows the final value for the variable parameter, as shown in Figure 4. The open percentage required for the Three Way Valve to achieve a temperature of 120 deg. F at Branch J8 is 85.94%. The GSC Goals tab shows the final value achieved for the goal, as shown in Figure 5. This shows the goal of 120 deg. F was achieved for the downstream temperature.

			voir Summary	GSC Variabl	es GSC Goals		4	•
	Variable		Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units	
	1 Three Way \		Three Way Valv	e J3	Open Percentage	85.94	Percent	

Figure 4: GSC Variable Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

1	: H	eat Exch	anger Sur	mmary	Reservoir Summary GSC Variables					GSC	Goals			
	Goal	Goal Type	Object Type	Obje	ct ID Object Location		P	Parameter		User Goal Value		Actual Goal Value		
	1	Point	Branch	J8 (Bra	anch)	Outlet	Ten	nperature		120		120.0	deg. F	

Figure 5: GSC Goal Results are displayed in the General section of the Output Window

NFPA Firewater System - GSC

Summary

The goal of this example is to determine how to use the GSC module to determine the hydraulically most remote path to generate an NFPA report.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the GSC module.

Topics Covered

- Defining the Goal Seek and Control group
- Setting Variables and Goals
- Understanding Goal Seek and Control Output

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through the Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US NFPA Firewater System.fth
- US NFPA Firewater System GSC.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the US - NFPA Firewater System - Final.fth file and save under a different name.

The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace window for NFPA Firewater System - GSC Example

Step 3. Create the Spray Nozzles group

In this example, we will use the GSC module to determine the hydraulically most remote path.

To do this, you first need to create a group of all spray nozzles. Make this group by going to the Edit menu and selecting groups, and then clicking on Create. Name the group *Spray Nozzles* and under the

Junctions in Group section, click on Special, specify Selection Type as Junction Type, and choose Spray Discharge as the Junction Type. Click on Select Junctions and then press OK to confirm the selected junctions, then press OK to exit the Group Manager. 28 junctions should be selected.

Step 4. Define the Modules Group

Open Analysis Setup, and navigate to the Modules panel. Check the box next to Activate GSC. The Use option should automatically be selected, making GSC enabled for use.

Step 5. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Next, ensure that GSC is both activated and enabled in the Modules panel of Analysis Setup. Then open the Variables panel. Click on New Variable and specify the Assigned Pressure J1 as the variable. This pressure boundary will be varied in order to achieve the goal, which in this case is a goal of at least 40 gal/min through each sprinkler. See Figure 2 to see this variable specified.



Figure 2: Assigned Pressure Variable on Goal Seek and Control Manager window

Goals Panel

Open the Goals panel and select New Goal. Specify the goal as shown in Figure 3.

Analys	is Setup														2
20	Modules	~	Goal	s											
<u>_</u> 0	Fluid Properties	~	_	24-			×	0	_						
	Pipes and Junctions	~		New Goal		uplicate Goal	Delete Goal	Delete Al Goal	s	Desired goals	s in Output				
© ⊅	Goal Seek and Control	^		Apply	Goal Ty	rpe Object Type	· F	Goal arameter	Criteria	Goal Value	Goal Units	Object ID	Object Location		
2	"Variables		1		Group	✓ Group Max/M	n 🗸 Volumetric	Flow Rate Out 🗸	>= ~	40 g	al/min 🗸	Spray Nozzles 🗸	NA		
2	*Goals														
	Numerical Controls														
30	Steady Solution Control	~													
60	Environmental Properties	~													
0	Cost Settings	~													
0	Miscellaneous	~													
			A	I None	e Invert		Note: Double-clic	k or press right mou	se button on the	e far left colu	mn to view ti	ne Properties or ins	pection window for a	pipe or junc	tion.
														52.0	

Figure 3: Minimum Flow Rate Group Goal on Goal Seek and Control Manager window

Step 6. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

You will notice there are numerous cautions about the pipe lengths being shorter than the elevation change. This model used pipe lengths and elevations based off a NFPA example. In the NFPA example, the length of the spray discharges raised the outlet height of the junction. Fathom treats junctions as single points in space, so to keep the inputs identical the pipe length had to be a little bit short.

Step 7. Examine the Output

The GSC module displays the value of the variable required in order to achieve the specified goal, as well as the object that was used for the group goal (in this case, this object is the spray discharge that receives the minimum amount of flow and, therefore, is the spray nozzle that contains the hydraulically most remote path). You can see that the pressure needed at J1 in order to ensure that all spray nozzles receive 40 gal/min of flow is 63.77 psig, and that the hydraulically most remote spray nozzle is J15 (see Figure 4 and Figure 5).

t GSC		/ariables	GSC Goal	s NFPA Report				
v	ariable	Obj Ty	ect pe	Object	Parameter	Value	Units	
	1	Assigned	Pressure	J1	Pressure	63.77	psig	

Figure 4: Calculated value for the GSC Variable in the Output

Ge	neral	Warnings D	esign Alerts	Alerts Valve Su		Summary GSC Variables		NFPA Rep	ort					
Goal	Goal Type	Object Type	Ob	ject ID	Object Location	Param	eter	User Goal Value	Actual Goal Value	Units	Object Used for Group Goal			
1	Group	Group Max/	Min Spray	Nozzels	Nozzels	Nozzels	Nozzels	N/A	V/A Volumetric Flow	w Rate Out	40	40.00	gal/min	J15 (Spray Discharge)

Figure 5: Calculated value for the GSC Goal when the GSC Variable is applied in the Output

The examples below utilize the Extended Time Simulation module.

Fathom XTS Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
<u>Beginner - Filling a</u> <u>Tank</u>	Beginner	Water	28	1	Learn the basics of the XTS module such as defining a transient junction and spe- cifying the Transient Control group in Analysis Setup. See how to generate a Quick Graph from the Output win- dow to see how a tank fills up over time.
Reservoir Balance	Beginner	Water	2	0	Learn how to use the XTS module to see the effects of a system with multiple finite open tanks.
<u>Valve Closing</u>	Beginner	Water	3	1	Learn how to use the XTS module to define an initiating transient event, such as a valve closing when a reser- voir liquid height reaches a specified value.
Controlled Heat Exchanger Tem- perature	Beginner	Water	10	1	Learn how to use the XTS module to model a system with a pump that shuts off once the liquid level of a tank reaches a specified value.
Housing Project	Intermediate	Water	28	1	Learn how to use the XTS module to specify a Dual Event Cyclic transient ini- tiation, such as a pump turn- ing on or off depending on a reservoir liquid height.
Variable Demand	Intermediate	Water	19	2	Learn how to use the XTS module to define a Single Event Initiation of Transient for multiple junctions within a system.

Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS

Summary

The objective of this example is to introduce the user to the Extended Time Simulation (XTS) module by modeling the filling of a tank. A liquid transfer system will be modeled. The pump will run for a specified time, and the change in fluid height in the delivery tank will be examined using the transient output data.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

- Specifying Transient Control
- Understanding Transient Output

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A
new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Filling a Tank example

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	10
2	990

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Lower Reservoir
 - b. Tank Model = Infinite Reservoir
 - c. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - d. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - e. Pipe Elevation = 0 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	300
500	380
1000	250

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 3. J3 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Upper Reservoir
 - b. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - c. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)

- d. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 150 feet2
- e. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
- f. Liquid Height = 0 feet
- g. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
- h. Tank Height = 30 feet
- i. Pipe Elevation = 200 feet
- j. Tank Bottom Elevation = 200 feet

To show the names of the reservoirs a new Workspace Layer will be created.

- 1. Create a new layer by selecting New Layer and then Blank Layer from the Workspace Layers tab of the Quick Access Panel.
- 2. Name the layer Reservoir Labels.
- 3. Edit the layer by selecting it and clicking the gear icon to bring up the Layer Settings window.
- 4. Open the Show/Hide Labels panel and uncheck Force Shown Labels to Match Shown Objects.
- 5. Toggle the visibility icon next to the reservoirs to on. This will cause their labels to be shown.
- 6. Navigate to the Junction Parameters panel and expand the Commonly Used Junction Parameters list.
- 7. Double-click Junction Name to add it to the list on the right-hand side. This will add the Junction Name to the label of the junctions that were defined in the Show/Hide Labels panel.
- 8. Close the Layer Settings window.

Step 5. Define the Transient Control Group

XTS module transient simulations are controlled through the Transient Control group in Analysis Setup. Access the Transient Control group by opening the Simulation Duration panel. When Fathom is set to perform a transient analysis, Transient Control becomes one of the items required to run the model.

The Simulation Duration panel in the Transient Control group is used to specify transient start and stop times, as well as the time step controls and solution parameters for finite tank liquid level calculations. Start times, stop times, and time steps can be specified in any units from seconds to years. From the Simulation Duration panel, users can specify the number of output points that are saved to the transient output file. This allows XTS to do transient calculations with a small time step while limiting the size of the transient data output file. Enter the following inputs in the Simulation Duration panel, as shown in Figure 2.

- 1. Start Time = 0 minutes
- 2. Stop Time = 30
- 3. Time Step = 1 minutes

Analys	is Setup			×
120	Modules	\sim	Simulation Duration	
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim		
٢	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	Start Time: 0 minutes Stop Time: 30	
Ö	Transient Control	^	Time Step: 1 minutes V	
	*Simulation Duration		Total Time Steps: 30	
8⊘	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Save Output to File Every Time Step Save Intermediate Output To File Every Time Steps	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Finite Tank Liquid Level Adjustments	
%⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Forward Difference Central Difference	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	Relative	
			Absolute Relaxation: Maximum	
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent V Help VK IS Canc	el

Figure 2: The Transient Control panel is used to control transient simulations

In addition to Transient Control, it is possible in define transient events for individual junctions. This allows the user to define events such as pump trips or start-ups, or valve closures. For this example, we will not specify any junction transients. The transient data for this example will be related to the fluid being pumped into the tank over the transient time period we have defined in Transient Control.

Step 6. Specify the Time Simulation Formatting

Open the Output Control window and select the Format & Action tab. Set the Time Simulation Formatting units to **minutes** and click OK to save and close the window.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

After all of the pipes and junctions have been defined, and all of the transient data and transient control items have been specified, the transient simulation may be executed.

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

When using the XTS module, the Solution Progress window displays the progress through the transient analysis. This information is displayed below the solution tolerance data, as shown in Figure 3:

Relaxation: Automatic Transient Parameters: Stop Time: 30 minutes, Time Step: 1.000000 minutes Head: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change feet) Vol. Row Rate: 1.0E-04 Relative Change gal/min) Transient 4.431E-02 Transient Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	rance Total Iterations Tol. 0 211
Relaxation: Automatic Transient Parameters: Stop Time: 30 minutes, Time Step: 1.000000 minutes Absolute Tolerance Relative Tolerance Max Out of Tol. 0.000E+00 Not used (Absolute Change feet) 0.000E+00 Vol. Row Rate: 1.0E-04 Relative Change gal/min) 4.431E-02 Transient 7.722E-05 Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete. Calculations complete.	rance Total Iterations Tol. 0 211
Head: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change feet) Absolute Tolerance Max Out of Tol. Relative Tol Max Out of Tol. Vol. Row Rate: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change gal/min) 4.431E-02 7.722E-05 Transient Setting up input Etermining connectivity Initializing model Relative change Setting up input Calculations complete. Calculations complete. Calculations complete.	rance Total Iterations Tol. 0 211
Absolute Tolerance Relative Tol Max Out of Tol. Max Out of Max Out of Tol. 0.000E+00 0.000E+00 0.000E+00 0.000E+00 0.000E+00 4.431E-02 7.722E-05 Transient Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	rance Total Iterations Tol. 0 211
Head: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change feet) 0.000E+00 0.000E+00 Vol. Flow Rate: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change gal/min) 4.431E-02 7.722E-05 Transient Setting up input 1 1 Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete. 1	0
Vol. Flow Rate: 1.0E-04 Relative Change Not used (Absolute Change gal/min) Transient Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	211
Transient Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	
Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	
Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	100%
Setting up input Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	
Determining connectivity Initializing model Running Solver Calculations complete.	
Running Solver Calculations complete.	
Calculations complete.	

Figure 3: Solution Progress Window shows the convergence progress, as well as the transient solution progress when running transient cases

Step 8. Examine the Output

AFT Fathom displays transient output for all Pipes and Junctions in the Output Window, as shown in Figure 4.

🧨 Worl	kspace	e 📑 Mo	del Data	🛄 Ou	tput 🔰	😤 Graph Re	esults 🤇	Visual	Report							
>	₽↓	1	P ₂	÷ 📃												
	eral \	Warnings [Design Ale	erts Pump	o Summary	Pump Tr	ansient Re	eservoir	Summary	Reservoir 1	ransient					
Tan Jct (Tim	k t e)	Name		Туре	Liq. Height (feet)	Liq. Elevation (feet)	Surface Pressure (psia)	Liquid Volume (feet3)	E Liquid Mass (Ibm)	Net Vol Flow (gal/min	Net Ma Flov (Ibm/s	ec)				
± 1 (0)		Lower Rese	rvoir Inf	inite	N/A	10.00	14.70	N	/A N//	A -595	.7 -8	2.75				
± 3 (0)		Upper Rese	rvoir Fi	nite Open	0	200.00	14.70		0 (0 595	.7 8	2.75				
E Pipe	s Tra Name	ansient e Vol. Flow	/ Veloc	sity ∣P St	atic PS	tatic Eleva	ation Elev	ation	dP Stag.	dP Static	dP	dH	P Static	P Static	P Stag.	P Stag.
0 Pipe		Rate (gal/min)	(feet/s	ec) (ps	ax M ia) (ps	in Inl ia) (fe	let Ou et) (fe	tlet et)	Total (psid)	Total (psid)	Gravity (psid)	(feet)	ln (psia)	Out (psia)	ln (psia)	Out (psia)
1	Pipe	595.	7 1	5.01 1	7.51	16.72	0	0.0	0.7847	0.7847	0.00	1.812	17.51	16.72	19.03	18.24
2	Pipe	595.	7 1	5.01 17	7.51	13.18	0	200.0	164.3323	164.3323	86.59	179.553	177.51	13.18	179.03	14.70
∗ Alij	unction	ns Pump	Reservoi	r Transie	nt											
Time: 0 Jct	١	Name	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow F Thru Jc (gal/min	Rate M t)	ass Flow Ra Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	ite Loss F (H	actor					
1	Lower	Reservoir	14.70) 19.03	3 14.70) 19.03	5	95.7	82	.75	0					
2	Pump		16.72	2 177.5	1 18.24	179.03	5	95.7	82	.75	0					
3	Upper	Reservoir	14.70) 14.70) 14.70	14.70	5	95.7	82	.75	0					
ìme: 0 mir	nutes			ee 🖡				1				0 10				

Figure 4: Transient output is displayed in the Output Window

Each of the summary tables in the General Output section has a companion transient summary tab which displays the summary data at each time step in the transient run. Each junction included in the summary is included in the transient summary. The transient summary data for each junction may be expanded or collapsed by clicking the + or – sign in beside the junction data list. The entire list may be expanded or collapsed by clicking the button in the top left-hand corner of the transient summary window. Figure 5 shows the Reservoir Transient summary tab, with all of the data sets collapsed. Figure 6 shows the Reservoir Transient summary tab, with the data for the J3 Reservoir expanded.

1	Gener	al Warnings	Design	Alerts	Pump	Summary	Pump Tra	ansient	Res	ervoir Sur	mmary	Reservoir Transient		
	Tank Jct (Time)	Nan	1e	Тур	e	Liq. Height (feet)	Liq. Elevation (feet)	Surface Pressur (psia)	e re \	Liquid Volume (feet3)	Liquid Mass (Ibm)	Net Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Net Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	
	± 1 (0)	Lower Re	servoir	Infinite		N/A	10.00	14.	70	N/A	N//	A -595.7	-82.75	
	± 3 (0)	Upper Re	servoir	Finite O	pen	0	200.00	14.	70	0		0 595.7	82.75	

Figure 5: Transient Summaries are displayed in the General Output section

Tank Jct (Time)	Name	Туре	Liq. Height (feet)	Liq. Elevation (feet)	Surface Pressure (psia)	Liquid Volume (feet3)	Liquid Mass (Ibm)	Net Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Net Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)
1 (0)	Lower Reservoir	Infinite	N/A	10.00	14.70	N/A	N/A	-595.7	-82.7
3 (0)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	0	200.00	14.70	0	0	595.7	82.7
3 (1)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	0.5309	200.53	14.70	79.64	4,965	595.3	82.7
3 (2)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	1.061	201.06	14.70	159.2	9,927	594.6	82.6
3 (3)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	1.591	201.59	14.70	238.7	14,883	593.9	82.4
3 (4)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	2.121	202.12	14.70	318.1	19,832	593.1	82.3
3 (5)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	2.649	202.65	14.70	397.4	24,776	592.4	82.2
3 (6)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	3.177	203.18	14.70	476.6	29,713	591.7	82.1
3 (7)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	3.704	203.70	14.70	555.7	34,644	590.9	82.0
3 (8)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	4.231	204.23	14.70	634.7	39,569	590.2	81.9
3 (9)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	4.757	204.76	14.70	713.6	44,488	589.4	81.8
3 (10)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	5.282	205.28	14.70	792.4	49,401	588.7	81.7
3 (11)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	5.807	205.81	14.70	871.1	54,307	588.0	81.6
3 (12)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	6.331	206.33	14.70	949.7	59,208	587.2	81.5
3 (13)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	6.854	206.85	14.70	1,028	64,102	586.5	81.4
3 (14)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	7.377	207.38	14.70	1,107	68,990	585.7	81.3
3 (15)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	7.899	207.90	14.70	1,185	73,872	585.0	81.2
3 (16)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	8.420	208.42	14.70	1,263	78,747	584.2	81.1
3 (17)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	8.941	208.94	14.70	1,341	83,617	583.5	81.0
3 (18)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	9.461	209.46	14.70	1,419	88,480	582.8	80.9
3 (19)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	9.980	209.98	14.70	1,497	93,337	582.0	80.8
3 (20)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	10.50	210.50	14.70	1,575	98,188	581.3	80.7
3 (21)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	11.02	211.02	14.70	1,653	103,033	580.5	80.6
3 (22)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	11.53	211.53	14.70	1,730	107,871	579.8	80.5
3 (23)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	12.05	212.05	14.70	1,808	112,703	579.0	80.4
3 (24)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	12.57	212.57	14.70	1,885	117,529	578.3	80.3
3 (25)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	13.08	213.08	14.70	1,962	122,349	577.5	80.2
3 (26)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	13.60	213.60	14.70	2,040	127,162	576.8	80.1
3 (27)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	14.11	214.11	14.70	2,117	131,970	576.0	80.0
3 (28)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	14.62	214.62	14.70	2,194	136,771	575.3	79.9
3 (29)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	15.14	215.14	14.70	2,271	141,565	574.5	79.8
3 (30)	Upper Reservoir	Finite Open	15.65	215.65	14 70	2 347	146 354	573.8	79.7

Figure 6: Transient Summary data can be expanded to show the junction data for every Time Step

The Quick Graph feature can be used to quickly plot transient data for quick examination. To use the Quick Graph feature, place the mouse cursor over the column of data you wish to examine. Then, right click with the mouse, and select Quick Graph from the list. Figure 7 illustrates how to do this for J3 Reservoir Liquid Height vs. Time. Figure 8 shows the resulting graph. The graph illustrates how the liquid level in the Reservoir rises with time, as would be expected. The Graph Results window may also be used to create a full range of graphs related to the XTS module transient output.

*	General	Warnings	Design	Alerts	Pump	Summary	Pump Tra	ansient	Reservoir Su	ummary	Reservoir Tra	insient
	Tank Jct (Time)	Nan	1e	Тур	be	Liq. Height (feet)	Liq. Elevation (feet)	Surface Pressure (psia)	e Liquid Volume (feet3)	Liquid Mass (Ibm)	Net Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Net Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)
÷	1 (0)	Lower Rea	servoir	Infinite		N/A	10.00	14.7	70 N/A	N//	-595.7	-82.75
	3 (0)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	0	200.00	14.7	0 0	(595.7	82.75
	3 (1)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	0.5309	Quick	Graph				82.70
	3 (2)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	1.061	Add I	2 "1 : 14	vight" to Ev	ol Export	Managor	82.60
	3 (3)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	1.591	Add J	5 LIQ. H	agni to exi	Lei Export	wanager	82.49
	3 (4)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	2.121	Open	Excel Exp	oort Manag	er		82.39
	3 (5)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	2.649	Creat	e Design	Alert			82.29
	3 (6)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	3.177	-					82.19
	3 (7)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	3.704	Сору	Selected	Cell Data			82.08
	3 (8)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	4.231	204.23	14.7	634.7	39,56	9 590.2	81.98
	3 (9)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	4.757	204.76	14.7	0 713.6	44,48	8 589.4	81.88
	3 (10)	Upper Res	servoir	Finite C)pen	5.282	205.28	14.7	70 792.4	49,40	1 588.7	81.78

Figure 7: Use Quick Graph to easily plot J3 Reservoir liquid height



Figure 8: Quick Graph Plot of J3 Reservoir liquid height

Similar to the summary transient data, the transient tabs in the Pipe and Junctions sections of the Output Window are used to display the transient data for each pipe and junction at every time step, as shown in Figure 9. This transient data can be expanded or collapsed in the same manner as in the General Output transient summaries.

Pipes	Transient														
Pipe (Time)	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec)	P Statio Max (psia)	P Static Min (psia)	Elevatio Inlet (feet)	n Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1 (0)	Pipe	595.	7 15.0	1 17.5	1 16.72	2	0 0.0	0.7847	0.7847	7 0.00	1.812	17.51	16.72	19.03	18.24
2 (0)	Pipe	595.	7 15.0	1 177.5	1 13.18	1	0 200.0	164.3323	164.3323	86.59	179.553	177.51	13.18	179.03	14.70
2 (1)	Pipe	595.3	3 15.0	0 177.5	4 13.41		0 200.0	164.1244	164.1244	86.59	179.073	177.54	13.41	179.05	14.93
2 (2)	Pipe	594.0	6 14.9	9 177.5	8 13.64	l.	0 200.0	163.9384	163.9384	86.59	178.643	177.58	13.64	179.09	15.10
2 (3)	Pipe	593.9	9 14.9	7 177.6	3 13.88	1	0 200.0	163.7521	163.7521	86.59	178.213	177.63	13.88	179.14	15.3
2 (4)	Pipe	593.1	1 14.9	5 177.6	8 14.11		0 200.0	163.5659	163.5659	86.59	177.783	177.68	14.11	179.18	15.6
2 (5)	Pipe	592.4	4 14.9	3 177.7	2 14.34	1	0 200.0	163.3798	163.3798	86.59	177.353	177.72	14.34	179.22	15.8
2 (6)	Pipe	591.	7 14.9	1 177.7	7 14.58	1	0 200.0	163.1938	163.1938	86.59	176.923	177.77	14.58	179.27	16.0
2 (7)	Pipe	590.9	9 14.8	9 177.8	2 14.81		0 200.0	163.0078	163.0078	86.59	176.494	177.82	14.81	179.31	16.3
2 (8)	Pipe	590.2	2 14.8	7 177.8	6 15.04	4	0 200.0	162.8220	162.8220	86.59	176.065	177.86	15.04	179.35	16.5
2 (9)	Pipe	589.4	4 14.8	6 177.9	1 15.27	'	0 200.0	162.6363	162.6363	86.59	175.636	177.91	15.27	179.39	16.7
2 (10)	Pipe	588.	7 14.8	4 177.9	5 15.50)	0 200.0	162.4507	162.4507	86.59	175.207	177.95	15.50	179.43	16.9
All Jur Jct (Time)	N	np Reserv ame	P Static I In (psia)	P Static I Out (psia)	^o Stag. P In (psia) (j	Stag. V Out osia)	ol. Flow Rate Thru Jct (gal/min)	Mass Flow F Thru Jct (Ibm/sec	Rate Loss (Factor K)					
1 (0)	Lower F	Reservoir	14.70	19.03	14.70	19.03	595.7	8	2.75	0					
2 (0)	Pump		16.72	177.51	18.24	179.03	595.7	8	32.75	0					
3 (0)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	14.70	14.70	14.70	595.7	8	32.75	0					
3 (1)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	14.93	14.70	14.93	595.3	8	32.70	0					
3 (2)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	15.16	14.70	15.16	594.6	8	32.60	0					
3 (3)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	15.38	14.70	15.38	593.9	8	32.49	0					
3 (4)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	15.61	14.70	15.61	593.1	8	32.39	0					
3 (5)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	15.84	14.70	15.84	592.4	8	32.29	0					
3 (6)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	16.07	14.70	16.07	591.7	8	32.19	0					
3 (7)	Upper F	Reservoir	14.70	16.30	14.70	16.30	590.9	8	32.08	0					
0.000			4 4 7 7 1	40.00	4 4 7 6	40.00									

Figure 9: Output Window showing the Pipe and Junction Transient tabs

Figure 10 shows the output data for the pipes and junctions, found on the Pipes and All Junctions tabs, at the initial time step, Time = 0 minutes. The output for all of the pipes and junctions can be displayed at any time step by using the slider bar located at the bottom of the Output window. Figure 11 shows the pipe and junction data at Time = 5 minutes.

♠ Pip	es Tran	sient														
Time: 0 Pipe	Name	Vol. Flov Rate (gal/min	Velocit	y P Stati Max c) (psia)	c PStat Min (psia	ic Eleva Inl) (fea	ation Elevat et Outle et) (feet	on dP: t To (p:	Stag. Stal sid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	595	7 15	.01 17.	51 16	.72	0	0.0	0.7847	0.7847	0.00	1.812	17.51	16.72	19.03	18.24
2	Pipe	595	7 15	.01 177.	51 13	18	0 20	0.0 16	4.3323	164.3323	86.59	179.553	177.51	13.18	179.03	14.70
AII.	Junctions	Pump	Reservoir	Transient]											
Time: 0 Jct	Na	ime	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. Flow Ra Thru Jct (gal/min)	e Mass T (Ib	Flow Ra hru Jct om/sec)	ite Loss F (K	actor)					
1	Lower R	eservoir	14.70	19.03	14.70	19.03	59	5.7	82.	.75	0					
2	Pump		16.72	177.51	18.24	179.03	59	5.7	82	.75	0					
3	Upper R	eservoir	14.70	14.70	14.70	14.70	59	5.7	82	.75	0					
Time: 0 mi	nutes		BID													

Figure 10: Pipe and Junction transient data at Time = 0 minutes

Time: 5 Pipe	Name	Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	Velocity (feet/sec	P Stati Max (psia)	c PSta Mir (psia	tic Elev n In a) (fe	ation let et)	Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)
1	Pipe	592.4	14.	3 17.	53 16	6.75	0	0.0	0.7762	0.7762	0.00	1.793	17.53	16.75	19.03	18.25
2	Pipe	592.4	14.	3 177.	72 14	1.34	0	200.0	163.3798	163.3798	86.59	177.353	177.72	14.34	179.22	15.84
All J	lunctions Na	Pump F	Reservoir P Static	Transient P Static	P Stag.	P Stag.	Vol. F	low Rate	Mass Flow F	late Loss I	actor					
E All Ju Time: 5 Jct	lunctions Na	Pump F	Reservoir P Static In (psia)	Transient P Static Out (psia)	P Stag. In (psia)	P Stag. Out (psia)	Vol. F Thi (ga	low Rate ru Jct al/min)	Mass Flow F Thru Jct (Ibm/sec)	late Loss (actor					
E All Ju Time: 5 Jot 1	lunctions Na Lower Re	Pump F me eservoir	Reservoir P Static In (psia) 14.70	Transient P Static Out (psia) 19.03	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70	P Stag. Out (psia) 19.03	Vol. F Thi (ga	low Rate ru Jct al/min) 592.4	Mass Flow F Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 8	Late Loss () () 2.29	Factor					
X All J Time: 5 Jct 1 2	lunctions Na Lower Re Pump	Pump F me eservoir	P Static In (psia) 14.70 16.75	Transient P Static Out (psia) 19.03 177.72	P Stag. In (psia) 14.70 18.25	P Stag. Out (psia) 19.03 179.22	Vol. F Thi (ga	flow Rate ru Jct al/min) 592.4 592.4	Mass Flow F Thru Jct (Ibm/sec) 8 8	late Loss (H 2.29 2.29	Factor 0 0					

Figure 11: Pipe and Junction transient data at Time = 5 minutes

Step 9. Create a New Scenario

Create a new scenario called Variable Speed Pump.

Open the Pump Properties window for J2. On the Variable Speed tab, set the pump to Controlled Pump (Variable Speed) and select Volumetric Flow Rate with a Control Setpoint of 450 gal/min.

Rerun the model.

Step 10. Examine the Output

Figure 12 shows a Quick Graph plot of the Pump Speed vs. Time for the controlled flow pump. Note how the pump speed increases over time to maintain the controlled flow. This is because the hydrostatic pressure downstream of the pump is increasing because the tank is slowly filling over time.



Figure 12: Quick Graph plot of Controlled Pump Speed vs. Time

Reservoir Balance - XTS

Summary

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how the interaction of different hydrostatic pressures between can be analyzed using the XTS module. This example will use three finite reservoirs connected in series, with different initial liquid elevations.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

• Using Finite Reservoirs Junctions

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of XTS transient analysis.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Reservoir Balance - XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Reservoir Balance example

Pipe Properties

Enter the following for both pipes P1 and P2.

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Length = 250 feet

Junction Properties

Figure 2 shows the Reservoir Properties window for junction J1. In the Fathom XTS module, reservoir junctions can have finite dimensions. The reservoirs can also be open, or closed. If the tank is closed, the user must specify the gas thermodynamics inside the closed tank. Users may also specify different initial known parameters for the reservoir. If only the Liquid Surface level is known, Fathom will calculate the Surface Pressure. Alternatively, if only the Surface Pressure is known, Fathom will calculate the Liquid Height. When using a reservoir as a finite tank, users must also specify the tank height, the initial liquid height in the tank, as well as the tank cross sectional area.

Number: 1 Note: All pipes are currently specified as zero elevation Name: Reservoir Image: Zero elevation Library Ldt: Image: Zero elevation Image: Zero elevation Copy Data From Jet. Image: Zero elevation Image: Zero elevation Reservoir Model Pipe Depth & Loss Coefficients Iransient Ogtional Design Alerts Notes Status Tark Model Infinite Reservoir Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Known Parameters Initially Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Reservoir Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Image: Status Reservoir Image: Status Imag	Reservoir Properties								
Reservoir Model Pipe Depth & Loss Coefficients Transient Optional Design Alerts Notes Status Tank Model Infinite Reservoir Both Parameters Initially Both Parameters Infinite Reservoir Both Parameters Infinite Reservoir Inf	Number: Name: Library Jct: Copy Data From Jct	1 Reservoir	~ ~	Note: All pip zero elevati	bes are currently sp on	ecified as			OK Cancel Jump Help
Tank Model Known Parameters Initially Both Parameters Both Parameters Both Parameters Uiguid Surface Pressure Image: Cross-Sectional Area Image: Cross-Sectional Area Image: Cross-Section Image: Cross-Section Area Image: Cross-Section Area Image: Cross-Section Image: Cross-Section Area Image: Cross-Section Area Image: Cross-Section Image: Cross-Section Ar	Reservoir Model	Pipe <u>D</u> epth & Loss Coefficients	<u>T</u> ransient	O <u>p</u> tional	Design Alerts	<u>N</u> otes	S <u>t</u> atus		
	 Infinite Reserva Infinite Reserva Finite Open Tar Finite Closed Ta Cross-Sectional Area Constant ○ Va 150 feet2 Liquid Height: Elevation ● Hei 40 feet 	ir ak ank riable				Equite O Feet O Tank Bc Feet eference	d Surface	Pressure psig eight: v evation O Pip feet Bevation for All vation: v	e Depth

Figure 2: Reservoir Properties Window in Fathom XTS

Next, define the reservoir junctions.

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - b. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (i.e. Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)
 - c. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 150 feet2
 - d. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - e. Liquid Height = 40 feet
 - f. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - g. Tank Height = 50 feet
 - h. Pipe Elevation = 0 feet
 - i. Tank Bottom Elevation = 0 feet
- 2. J2 Reservoir
 - a. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - b. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (i.e. Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)
 - c. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 150 feet2

- d. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
- e. Liquid Height = 0 feet
- f. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
- g. Tank Height = 50 feet
- h. Pipe Elevation = 0 feet
- i. Tank Bottom Elevation = 0 feet
- 3. J3 Reservoir
 - a. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - b. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (i.e. Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)
 - c. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 150 feet2
 - d. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - e. Liquid Height = 10 feet
 - f. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - g. Tank Height = 50 feet
 - h. Pipe Elevation = 0 feet
 - i. Tank Bottom Elevation = 0 feet

Step 5. Define the Transient Control Group

Open Analysis Setup again and navigate to the Simulation Duration panel, part of the Transient Control group.

For this example, with a Start Time of 0 minutes, set the Stop Time to 120 minutes with a time step of 1 minute. The output will be saved to the output file for every time step.

Step 6. Specify the Time Simulation Formatting

Open the Output Control window and select the Format & Action tab. Set the Time Simulation Formatting units to **minutes** and click OK to save and close the window.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 8. Examine the Output

For this model, the output will be easiest to view as a graph, so select the Graph Results tab. Use the Graph Results window to plot the liquid height in each of the three reservoirs on the same plot. Figure 3 shows the Graph Control tab of the Quick Access Panel for simultaneously plotting the transient liquid height in all three reservoirs. After selecting the Transient graphing tab, select Reservoir from the Pipes or Junctions drop-down menu.

Figure 4 show the resulting graph. Note that, as one would expect because the tanks are the same sizes and at the same elevations, the liquid heights between the tanks eventually reach the same equilibrium value.

Graph List Manager	ц				
₽ 5 % 8 1 ± 1	æ 🕨 x 💭 -				
💼 My Graphs					
📝 Parameters	💅 Formatting >				
Profile	<mark>∼ T</mark> ransient				
Pipes or Junctions:	Reservoir 🔹				
Reservoirs:	 ✓ 1 Reservoir ✓ 2 Reservoir 				
All	✓ 3 Reservoir				
None					
Invert					
Workspace					
Special					
Multi-scenario 🔻	Current Only				
X Axis Units:	seconds 🔹				
Time Frame:	All Times User Specified				
Select Parameter 🛛 💠 A	dd 🛛 🗙 Remove 🚽 🛧 🛑				
Parameter	Units DA				
Liquid Height	🔹 feet 🔄 🖃				
✓ Generate					
🖧 Scenario 🗳 Graph Control					
	📃 Add-on Modules 🛛 🍚				

Figure 3: The transient liquid height in all three reservoirs can be selected in the Select Graph Data window



Figure 4: Reservoir liquid heights can be plotted using the Graph Results window

Valve Closing - XTS

Summary

The objective of this example is to demonstrate how to set up an event based transient in the XTS module for a valve junction. A valve is set to close when the liquid height in discharge tank reaches a specified level.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

- Defining Junction Transients
- Understanding Transient Output

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of XTS transient analysis.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Valve Closing - XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Valve Closing example

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	10
2	980
3	10

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Lower Reservoir
 - b. Tank Model = Infinite Reservoir
 - c. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - d. Liquid Surface pressure = 0 psig
 - e. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	300
500	380
1000	250

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 1. J3 Valve
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 200 feet
 - b. Valve Data Source = User Specified
 - c. Loss Model = Cv
 - d. Loss Source = Fixed Cv
 - e. Cv = 100
- 3. J4 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Upper Reservoir
 - b. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - c. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters
 - d. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 150 feet2
 - e. Liquid Height Specification = Height from Bottom
 - f. Liquid Height = 0 feet
 - g. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - h. Tank Height = 30 feet
 - i. Pipe Elevation = 200 feet
 - j. Tank Bottom Elevation = 200 feet

Step 5. Define the Transient Control Group

Open Analysis Setup again and navigate to the Simulation Duration panel, part of the Transient Control group.

For this example, with a Start Time of 0 minutes, set the Stop Time to 60 minutes with a time step of 1 minute. The output will be saved to the output file for every time step.

Step 6. Specify the Time Simulation Formatting

Open the Output Control window and select the Format & Action tab. Set the Time Simulation Formatting units to **minutes** and click OK to save and close the window.

Step 7. Enter the Valve Transient Data

For this example, we will set an event-based transient on the valve junction such that when the liquid elevation in the reservoir reaches a height of 15 feet, the valve will close over a period of 30 seconds. Junction transient events are defined on the Transient Data tabs in the Junction Properties windows. Open the J3 Valve Properties window, and select the Transient tab.

Transients for junctions can be defined as either time based or event based transients. A time based transient starts at a specified absolute time. Event based transients are initiated when a defined criteria, such as when a pressure in a particular pipe is reached or exceeded. There are three types of event transients for junctions. Single event transients are events that occur only once in a simulation. Dual cyclic events are two transient events that repeat one after the other as many times as the event triggers occur during a simulation (such as a valve closing then reopening). Dual sequential transient events are two transients events which occur one after the other, without repeating.

For this example, we will define a single transient event. The event will occur when the liquid height in the upper reservoir reaches 15 feet. When the liquid height reaches 15 feet, the valve will close over a period of 30 seconds.

Figure 2 shows the Transient Data tab for the Valve Properties window. The transient event is defined in the Initiation of Transient area. This is where the event that will trigger the transient event is defined. The profile of what occurs when the transient is initiated is defined in the Transient Data area. For this example, the transient data consists of the valve closing profile. The valve Cv profile is specified over the time period that the valve is to close. In this example, the Cv profile is linear over the 30-second closing time. Enter the transient data as shown below and in Figure 2, then select OK.

- 1. Transient tab
 - a. Transient Special Condition = None
 - b. Initiation of Transient = Single Event
 - c. Event Type = Reservoir Liquid Height
 - d. Condition = Greater Than
 - e. Value = 15 feet
 - f. Junction = 4 (Upper Reservoir)
 - g. Transient Data = Absolute Values
 - h. Data Points =

Time (seconds)	Cv
0	100

Time (seconds)	Cv
30	0
3600	0

Number:	3				Upstr	eam Pip	e: Pino:		2			<	ОК
Name:	Valve			~	Dowi	istream i	-ipe.		3			×	Cancel
Library Jct:				\sim	Eleva	tion					2	lumo	
Copy Data From J	ct			\sim	Inlet:	200	feet		~				oump
					Outlet			ame as ini	et			4	Help
Loss Model	<u>T</u> ransient	O <u>p</u> tional	<u>D</u> esign Alerts	No <u>t</u> es	St	atus							
Transient Specia	al Condition				Tra	nsient Da	ata						
None					0	Absolu	te Values						
O Ignore Tran	sient Data				Č) Relativ	e To Stead	y-State Val	ue				
Initiation of Tran	sient				С) Open I	Percentage						
O Time	O Du	al Event Cvcl	ic		ſ	Data	Time						
Single Ev	ent 🔾 Du	al Event Seq	uential			Point	(seconds)	Cv				
						1		0		100			
Event Type	Reservoir	^r Liquid Heigh	t N	1		2		30		0			
Condition:	Greater T	han	\sim			3	36	00		0			
Value:	15	feet	~			4							
lunction:	4 (Upper	Perenvoir) V				6							
Junction.	4 (opper	neservoir) *				7							
						8							
						9							
						10							
						11							
						12							
						13					~		
						📝 Ed	t Table 👻	Show	Graph				
Devent 📜						📜 Tra	nsient						
	_				_								

Figure 2: Valve closing Event Transient definitions are made on the Transient tab in the Valve Properties window

Fathom will display a T next to the junction label on the workspace when a transient has been defined for a junction.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 9. Examine the Output

When junction event transients occur, these events are recorded and displayed in the general output section of the Output Window. Open the Output Control and navigate to Format & Action. Change the Time Simulation Formatting to minutes. The events are displayed on two different tabs. The first tab sorts the events by junction number, and the second tab sorts the events by time, in the order in which they occur. The tabs are shown in Figure 3:

*	Ceneral Warnings Design Alerts Event Messages By Jct Event Messages By Time Pump								
Ev	ent Messag 35.00 mir	ges nutes: J3(V	alve) first event	started					

Figure 3: Event Transient Tabs in are shown in the General Output section of the Output Window

A Quick Graph plot of the liquid height in the reservoir, shown in Figure 4, shows that the final liquid height in the Upper Reservoir is about 16 feet. This is because the valve closes over a 30-second period. The valve starts to close when the liquid reaches 15 feet. During the 30-second period that the valve is closing, liquid continues to flow into the tank. Thus, there is some *overshoot* which results in approximately 10 additional inches of fluid being added to the tank. This can also be seen by looking at the liquid height at the final time step shown on the Reservoir Transient tab.



Figure 4: A Quick Graph plot can be used to plot reservoir liquid height showing overshoot due to valve closure time

Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature - XTS

Summary

Use the Extended Time Simulation module to determine the length of time required to fill the discharge reservoir, and to turn off the pump when the tank is full.

The discharge reservoir is a finite size tank, 20 feet high, with a cross sectional area of 80 feet2. The pump is to shut off when the tank is filled. How long does it take to fill the tank? What happens after the pump is turned off?

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

- Defining Transient Control
- Defining system transients

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of XTS transient analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.fth
- US Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the Model

Open the **US** - **Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature.fth** example file and save it as a new file. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below.

Important: The XTS and GSC modules and cost calculations can be used in the same run to simulate control functions over time, but we are not going to do this here.



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Controlled Heat Exchanger Temperature example

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Note: The XTS module does not perform heat transfer calculations. You will be prompted to disable heat transfer calculations in order to proceed with modeling a transient. Click Yes.

Step 4. Define Pipes and Junctions group

Most of the input is already entered. The only exception is for Reservoir J9. Enter the following junction properties.

- 1. J3 Three Way Valve
 - a. Library Jct = (None)
 - b. Actual Percent Open = 86 %
 - i. This value comes from the Actual Percent Open value calculated from the GSC example
- 2. J9 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Discharge Reservoir
 - b. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - c. Known Parameters Initially = Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure
 - d. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 80 feet2
 - e. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - f. Liquid Height = 0 feet
 - g. Liquid Surface Pressure = 40 psig
 - h. Tank Height = 20 feet
 - i. Pipe Elevation = 10 feet
 - j. Tank Bottom Elevation = 10 feet

Step 5. Setup the Transient Data

For this example, we will set an event-based transient on the pump so the pump will turn off when the liquid level in the discharge tank reaches 20 feet.

You will define a single transient event. The event will occur when the liquid height in the reservoir reaches 20 feet. When the liquid height reaches 20 feet, the pump speed will drop from 100% to 0% in 10 seconds.

Open the Pump Properties window, and enter the following information. Then the Transient tab should appear as shown in Figure 2.

- 1. Library Jct = (None)
- 2. Transient tab
 - a. Transient Type = Speed vs. Time
 - b. Transient Special Condition = None
 - c. Initiation of Transient = Single Event
 - d. Event Type = Reservoir Liquid Height
 - e. Condition = Greater Than or Equal To
 - f. Value = 20 feet
 - g. Junction = 9 (Discharge Reservoir)
 - h. Transient Data = Absolute Values
 - i. Data Points =

Time (seconds)	Speed (Percent)
0	100
10	0

2			Upstre	am Pipe:		1			🖌 ок
ime: Pump		~	Down	stream ripe		2			🔀 Cance
irary Jct:		\sim	Eleval	on					Lumo
py Data From Jct		\sim	iniet:	U	reet	~	NPSH		y oump.
			Outlet:		∠ Sa	me as Inlet	Reference:		🎱 Help
ump Model Variable Sp	eed M Transient	Optional Desi	ian Alerts	Notes	Status				
			-	-	-				
				Transie	nt Data				
					solute Va	alues			
time time	-			OR	elative Io	Steady-State	Value		
None Speed vs.	Time				Data	Time	Speed	^	
Transient Special Condition					Point	(seconds)	(Percent)		
None O Ignore T	ransient Data				2	10	100		
Initiation of Transient					2	10	v v		
					3				
	Dual Event Cyclic				3				
 ○ Time ○ I ○ Single Event ○ I 	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential				3 4 5				
 ○ Time ○ I ○ Single Event ○ I 	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential		1		3 4 5 6				
O Time O I ● Single Event O I Event Type: Reserv	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential roir Liquid Height	~			3 4 5 6 7				
Time Time Single Event Condition: Greater	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential roir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	~			3 4 5 6 7 8				
Time Ime Single Event Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential roir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9				
Time Time Single Event Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyolic Dual Event Sequential oir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To feet	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10				
○ Time ○ I ● Single Event ○ I Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential ori Liquid Height r Than or Equal To feet harge Reser v	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12				
Time Ine Single Event Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential oir Liquid Height rThan or Equal To Feet harge Reser	>			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 12 13				
Time Ine Single Event Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential oir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14				
○ Time ○ I ⑨ Single Event ○ I Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential oir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To feet harge Reser v	> > > > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 12 13 14 15				
Time Ime Single Event Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential oir Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16				
○ Time ○ I ● Single Event ○ I Event Type: Reserv Condition: Greater Value: 20 Junction: 9 (Disc	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential ori Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17			v	
 ○ Time ○ Iingle Event 	Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequential ori Liquid Height r Than or Equal To	> > >			3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 2 ₩ 2 8 4 8 17	Table 🕶 🛯	ihow Graph	v	

Figure 2: Junction transients are specified on the Transient tabs on the junction Properties windows

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 6. Define the Transient Control Group

Open Analysis Setup again and navigate to the Simulation Duration panel, part of the Transient Control group.

For this example, with a Start Time of **0 minutes**, set the Stop Time to **45 minutes** with a time step of **1 minute**. The output will be saved to the output file for every time step.

Step 7. Specify the Time Simulation Formatting

Open the Output Control window and select the Format & Action tab. Set the Time Simulation Formatting units to **minutes** and click OK to save and close the window.

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 9. Examine the Output

Open the Output Control and navigate to Format & Action. Change the Time Simulation Formatting selection to minutes and click OK. The transient reservoir data shows that the water in the discharge tank reached a height of 20 feet in 32 minutes. This is confirmed by the event message indicating the pump transient also initiated at this time (Figure 4).

The Quick Graph plot (Figure 3) shows the tank liquid height over time. To create this graph, go to the Reservoir Transient tab in the top section of the window, then right-click on any of the Liq. Height cells for the Discharge Reservoir, junction J9, and select the Quick Graph option. There is an increase in the tank liquid height until the time when the pump turns off. The graph then shows that there is actually back flow into the system, due to the hydrostatic pressure of the fluid in the tank. This explains why there is a Critical Warning, which states that the pump head cannot be predicted due to reverse flow through the pump. A check valve would need to be added to the system to prevent this situation in the case of pump shutdown.



Figure 3: The liquid level in a finite tank junction can change with time



Figure 4: Event transients occurrences are recorded in the General section of the Output Window

Housing Project - XTS

Summary

This example uses the XTS module to simulate a supply pump used to replenish a water storage tank that is used to supply water to a housing development. There is a requirement that the height of the liquid in the water supply tank is not to drop below 10 feet. Use the flow conditions specified in the **4 inch Pipe** scenario (not the fire flow scenarios) of the Housing Project walk-through example as the basis for this example.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

- Using Dual Cyclic Junction Transients
- Understanding Transient Output
- Resolving Time Step issues

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of XTS transient analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Housing Project.fth
- US Housing Project XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Housing Project.fth* example file. Right-click on the 4 inch Pipe scenario and select Save Scenario to File Without Children and save this scenario to a new model file.

The Workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Water to Housing Project Example

For this example, we will be changing the West Lake junction (J1) from an infinite reservoir to a finite water supply tank. We will then add a new supply reservoir, as well as a supply pump and a check valve to the system. The new supply pump will replenish the supply tank as the water level in the tank is depleted.

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 4. Modify the existing model



Figure 2: Workspace for XTS water to Housing Project example with supply pump system added

Modify the workspace to include the new supply reservoir, supply pump, check valve, and piping as shown in Figure 2. You may need to move the objects to the right on the Workspace to create room for the new pipes and junctions. Do this by selecting all pipes and junctions by either using CTRL+A or click-and-drag and selection box encompassing all objects. Then click, hold, and drag the objects to the right. Now define the new objects.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = PVC ASTM
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = schedule 40
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
300	25
301	500
302	5
Junction Properties

- 1. J300 Reservoir
 - a. Name = West Lake
 - b. Tank Model = Infinite Reservoir
 - c. Liquid Surface Elevation = 0 feet
 - d. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - e. Pipe Depth = 0 feet
- 2. J301 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - i. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - ii. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	1000
200	1150
400	800

iii. Curve Fit Order = 2

- c. Optional tab
 - i. Special Condition = Pump Off With Flow Through
- 1. J302 Check Valve
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 200 feet
 - b. Loss Model = Cv
 - c. Cv = 10
 - d. Forward Velocity to Close Valve = 0 feet/sec
 - e. Delta Pressure/Head to Reopen = Pressure
 - f. Delta Pressure = 0 psid
- 2. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Tank
 - b. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - c. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)
 - d. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 80 feet2
 - e. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - f. Liquid Height = 14.9 feet
 - g. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - h. Tank Height = 15 feet

- i. Pipe Depth = 15 feet
- j. Tank Bottom Elevation = 200 feet

Step 5. Define the Transient Control Group

Open Analysis Setup again and navigate to the Simulation Duration panel, part of the Transient Control group.

For this example, with a Start Time of 0 minutes, set the Stop Time to 120 minutes with a time step of 1 minute. The output will be saved to the output file for every time step.

Step 6. Specify the Time Simulation Formatting

Open the Output Control window and select the Format & Action tab. Set the Time Simulation Formatting units to **minutes** and click OK to save and close the window.

Step 7. Enter the Pump Transient Data

For this example, the pump will be set to turn on when the liquid level in the supply tank drops below 10 feet, and turn off when the water level returns to 15 feet. To do this, we will use a Dual Event Cyclic event transient.

The Dual Event Cyclic event requires that two transients be defined. In this case, the first transient will be the pump turning on when the water level drops below 10 feet, and the second transient will be the pump turning off when the water level returns to 15 feet. The pump speed transients need to be included for both transient events as well. Enter the following in the pump properties window.

- 1. Transient tab
 - a. Transient Type = Speed vs. Time
 - b. Transient Special Condition = None
 - c. Initiation of Transient = Dual Event Cyclic
 - d. First Event
 - i. Event Type = Reservoir Liquid Height
 - ii. Condition = Less Than or Equal To
 - iii. Value = 10 feet
 - iv. Junction = 1 (Supply Tank)
 - e. First Transient =

Time (seconds)	Speed (Percent)
0	0
30	100

- e. Second Event
 - i. Event Type = Reservoir Liquid Height
 - ii. Condition = Greater Than or Equal To
 - iii. Value = 15 feet
 - iv. Junction = 1 (Supply Tank)
- e. Second Transient =

Time (seconds)	Speed (Percent)
0	100
30	0

umber: 301	Upstream Downstre	n Pipe: eam Pipe:	300 301		 ✓ 	ОК
hranz lot:	Elevation					Cance
opy Data From Ict	Inlet: 0	fe	et 🗸 🗸	NECH	3	Jump
	Outlet:		Same as Inlet	Reference:		Help
Pump Model Variable Speed 🛛 Iransient 🗸	Optional Design Alerts	No <u>t</u> es	S <u>t</u> atus			
		Transient Dat	a			
		Absolute Deletion	e Values	Value		
			TO Sleady-Slate	value		
None Speed vs. lime		Dat Poi	a Time nt (seconds)	Speed (Percent)	^	
None Olynome Transient Data		1	0	0		
		2	30	100		
Initiation of Transient		3	_			
Single Event Dual Event Cyclic Single Event Dual Event Sequential		4				
		6				
Event Type: Reservoir Liquid Height	~	7				
Condition: Less Than or Equal To V		8				
Value: 10 feet ~		9				
lunction: 1 (Supply Taply)		10)			
		11				
		13				
First Event Necond Event		14				
		15	5			
		16	; ;			
		17			~	
		📝 E	dit Table 👻 S	how Graph		
		B	epeat Transient			
		1				

Figure 3: First Event and First Transient Data for Water to Housing Project XTS example

umber: 301	Upstream F	Pipe:		300		\checkmark	ОК
lame: Pump ~	Downstrea	m Pipe:	Pipe: 301			X	Cancel
brary Jct:	Elevation						Ganoo
nov Data From Jet	Inlet: 0		feet \checkmark		NECH	<u></u>	Jump
	Outlet:		Same	e as Inlet	Reference:		Help
Pump Model_ Variable Speed 🛛 Iransient 🗸 Optional	Design Alerts	No <u>t</u> es	S <u>t</u> atus	5			
		ransient	Data				
		O Rela	ative To S	ies iteadv-State	Value		
time time							
Transient Special Condition			Data Point	(seconds)	(Percent)	^	
			1	0	100		
			2	30	0		
Initiation of Transient O Trans O Dual Function			3				
Single Event Dual Event Cyclic Single Event Dual Event Sequential			4				
			6				
Event Type: Reservoir Liquid Height ~			7				
Condition: Greater Than or Equal To V			8				
Value: 15 feet ~			9				
lunction: 1 (Supply Taply)			10				
reapply ranky			11				
			13				
First Event 📜 Second Event			14				
			15				
			16				
			17			~	
			🖉 Edit Ta	able 👻 S	how Graph		
			Repeat	Transient			

Figure 4: Second Event and Second Transient Data for Water to Housing Project XTS example

For this example, at the beginning of the simulation, the storage tank is full, so the pump will not be running initially. To account for this, the pump Special Condition on the Optional Tab must be set to Pump Off With Flow Through. In order to be consistent, the First Transient defined must be defined with an initial speed of 0, indicating a pump startup.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 9. Examine the Output

Figure 5 shows a Quick Graph plot of the liquid height in the J1 Supply Tank. The plot illustrates how the Dual Event Cyclic transient will repeat continuously as the event to trigger each transient is met, in turn. The plot shows the tank draining due to the flow to the housing project. When the liquid level reaches 10 feet, the pump starts, causing the liquid level in the tank to rise again. When the level reaches 15 feet, the transient to stop the pump is initiated. Because the liquid level reaches the top of the tank at this time, the Warnings tab will display a warning about the tank overflowing at 65 minutes. With the pump turned off, the tank drains until the level drops to 10 feet and the pump is started again.

The plot shows the liquid level dropping below 10 feet. This is due, primarily with the time step resolution that was set in Transient Control. The time step was set to 1 minute, but the pump startup transient is 30 seconds. The size of the time step leads to *overshoot* in the calculations. Open the Simulation Duration panel, and set the time step to 10 seconds. Set the output to save to file every 6th time step (write output once every minute). The results from this case are shown in Figure 6. The results using the 10-second time step clearly show the effect of using the smaller time step.

The user should always carefully consider the time step being used in relation to the length of the transient events defined for their analysis.

Note: You may notice a warning message indicating that the static pressure is lower than vapor pressure at the outlet of pipe 301. Since this example is for demonstration purposes only, this warning may be ignored. However, warnings should otherwise never be ignored.



Figure 5: Plot of Supply Tank liquid level showing Dual Event Cyclic transient



Figure 6: Plot of Supply Tank liquid level with 10-second time step

Variable Demand - XTS

Summary

This example uses a pump transient to initiate auxiliary pump start up for a system with variable demands to ensure adequate pressure drop across a control valve. Additional loads will be added to the system every 30 seconds, until the control valve open percentage exceeds 50%. At that time, the auxiliary pump will start to handle the additional capacity.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the XTS module.

Topics Covered

- Defining Control Valve Event Transient
- Understanding Transient Output
- Using Transient Graphs

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of XTS transient analysis.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Variable Demand - XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate XTS and select Transient to enable the XTS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Steady Only mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Workspace for XTS Variable Demand example

The system is in place but now we need to enter the properties of the objects. Double-click each pipe and junction and enter the following properties. The required information is highlighted in blue.

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = PVC ASTM
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 4 inch
 - d. Type = schedule 40
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1-7 & 10-19	10
8&9	50

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - b. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters
 - c. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 20 feet2
 - d. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - e. Liquid Height = 5 feet
 - f. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - g. Tank Height = 5 feet
 - h. Pipe Depth = 5 feet
 - i. Tank Bottom Elevation = 0 feet
- 2. J2, J7, & J9 Branches
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
- 3. J3 & J5 Pumps
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Pump Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
0	80

Volumetric	Head
gal/min	feet
125	90
250	50

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 4. J4 & J6 Valves
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Valve Data Source = User Specified
 - c. Loss Model = Cv
 - d. Loss Source = Fixed Cv
 - e. Cv = 100
- 5. J8 Control Valve
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Control Valve Model tab
 - i. Valve Type = Pressure Reducing (PRV)
 - ii. Always Control (Never Fail) = Unchecked
 - iii. Control Setpoint = Pressure, Static
 - iv. Setpoint = 45 psia
 - v. Loss When Fully Open = Cv
 - vi. Loss Source = From Open % Table (on Optional Tab)
 - c. Optional tab
 - i. Open Percentage Data =

Open Pct.	Cv
0	0
100	100

- 6. J10, J12, J14, J16, & J18 Valves
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Valve Data Source = User Specified
 - c. Loss Model = Cv
 - d. Loss Source = Fixed Cv
 - e. Cv = 10
- $7. \quad J11, J13, J15, J17, \& J19 \ Assigned \ Pressures$
 - a. Elevation = 10 feet
 - b. Pressure = 0 psig
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation

Step 5. Define the Transient Control Group

Open Analysis Setup again and navigate to the Simulation Duration panel, part of the Transient Control group.

For this example, with a Start Time of 0 minutes, set the Stop Time to 3 minutes with a time step of 5 seconds. The output will be saved to the output file for every time step.

Step 6. Enter the Transient Data

Valve Transients

Initially, the only flow through the system will be through the J10 Valve. Valves J12, J14, J16, and J18 will start closed, and they will open 30 seconds apart, in sequence. Set the Special Condition for Valves J12, J14, J16, and J18 to Closed on the Valve Properties Optional tab.

The valve opening transient for Valve J12 is shown in Figure 2. Valves J14, J16, and J18 should be set up with the same opening transient, and by adding 30 seconds to the Time Absolute event for each valve so that valve J14 opens at 60 seconds, valve J16 opens at 90 seconds, and valve J18 opens at 120 seconds.

Note that a red XT will now be displayed next to the junction labels to show that these valves are closed, and have transients applied to them.

lumber:	12				eam Pipe:		12			┥ ОК	(
lame:	Valve	ve ~		Dowr	Downstream Pipe:		13			🔀 Car	ncel
ibrary Jct:			```	Eleva	tion					3 . lun	
opy Data From Jct.			`	/ Inlet:	10	feet	~			y our	ψ
				Outlet		✓ Same	as Inlet			弾 Hel	P
oss Model 🏼 M	<u>F</u> ransient	✓ O <u>p</u> tional	<u>D</u> esign Alerts	No <u>t</u> es	S <u>t</u> atus						
Transient Special (ondition -			Tra	nsient Data						
None				۲	Absolute	Values					
O Ignore Transie	nt Data			C	Relative	Fo Steady-Sta	te Value				
Initiation of Transie	nt			C) Open Per	centage					
◯ Time	O Du	al Event Cyclic		ſ	Data	Time	_	,	~		
Single Even	t 🔿 Du	al Event Sequent	tial		Point (seconds)	Cv				
					2	1		10			
Event Type:	Time Abs	olute	~		3	180		10			
Condition:	Greater T	han or Equal To	~		4						
Value:	30	seconds	\sim		5						
					6						
					7						
					8						
					9						
					11						
					12						
					13						
					📝 Edit T	able 🔸 !	Show Graph				
Event					📜 Transi	ent					

Figure 2: Valve J12-J18 opening transient profiles are defined on the Transient tab on the Valve Properties window

Pump Transient

Pump J5 is not operating at the beginning of this simulation. On the Optional tab of the Pump Properties window set the Pump J5 Special Condition to Pump Off With Flow Through. The pump is set to start when the open percentage of Control Valve J8 exceeds 50%. The transient event definition and pump startup profile are shown in Figure 3.

umber: 5		Upstream Downstrea	Pipe: am Pipe:		5		•	ок
ame: Pump	~	Elevation					E Contraction of the second se	Cance
orary Jct:	\sim	Inlet: 0		foot	~		3	Jump.
ppy Data From Jct	\sim	0.11.1			· · · ·	NPSH		
		Outlet:		⊻ San	ne as inlet	Reference:		Help
ump Model Variable Speed 🗹 Iransient 🗸	Optional	Design Alerts	Notes	Statu	JS			
			-	-				
			Transient	Data				
			Abso	olute Val	ues			
time time			⊖ Rela	tive To	Steady-State	Value		
None Speed vs. Time				Data	Time	Speed	^	
Transient Special Condition				Point	(seconds)	(Percent)		
None O Ignore Transient Data				1	0	0		
Initiation of Transient				2	5	100		
				3	180	100		
Single Event Dual Event Sequential				5				
		- I		6				
Event Type: Valve Open Percent	\sim			7				
Condition: Greater Than				8				
Volue: 50 Percent				9				
				10				
Junction: 8 (Control Valve) V				11				
				12				
In Frank		_		13				
Lvent				14				
				15				
				17				
				- 17 				
				Z Edit I	able + S	snow Graph		

Figure 3: Pump J5 transient startup profile is defined on the Transient tab on the Pump Properties window

Isolation Valve J6 should be closed initially to prevent flow through the leg while Pump J5 is not operating. Do this by setting the Valve J6 Special Condition to Closed on the Optional tab. Valve J6 will open when Pump J5 starts. To do this, use the same transient event as defined for Pump J5. This is shown in Figure 4.

Number:	6		Upstr	eam Pipe	:	6			~	ОК
Name:	Valve	~			ipe.	/			×	Cancel
Library Jct:		~	lelet:		feet				>	Jump
Copy Data From Jct		~	Outlot			eo ao Inict			0	Hele
			Outlet		✓ Jai	ile da inier			*	Theip
Loss Model M	ransient 🗸 O <u>p</u> tional	Design Alerts	Vo <u>t</u> es	S <u>t</u> atus						
Transient Special Co	ondition		Trar	nsient Da	a					
None			۲	Absolut	e Values					
Ignore Transien	t Data		С	Relative	e To Steady-S	itate Value				
Initiation of Transien	t		С) Open P	ercentage					
 Time Single Event 	 Dual Event Cyclic Dual Event Sequent 	tial	Γ	Data Point	Time (seconds)	Cv		^		
	0			1	0		0			
Event Type:	Valve Open Percent	~		2	1		100			
Condition:	Greater Than	~		3	180		100			
Value:	50 Percent	~		4						
hunstian:	2 (Centrel Value)			с а						
Juncuon.	o (control valve) v			7						
				8						
				9						
				10						
				11						
				12						
			ŀ	13				*		
				📝 Edit	Table 👻	Show Graph				
Event				📜 Tran	sient					

Figure 4: Valve J6 opening transient profile is defined on the Transient tab on the Valve Properties window

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 8. Examine the Output

The occurrence of the transient events is recorded on two tabs in the General Output section. The first tab sorts the events by junction, and the second tab sorts the events chronologically. Figure 5 shows the chronological ordering of the transient events for this run. This output shows the downstream valves opening at 30-second intervals. It also shows that Pump J5 started 65 seconds into the run, and the isolation valve J6 also opened at 65 seconds.

^	General	Warnings	Design Alerts	Event Messages By Jct	Event Messages By Time	Pur 🖣	•	
	Events Sor	ted By Time	(seconds) ***				ןר	
30. 60. 65. 65. 90. 12(30.00Valve Junction 12 first event started at Time: 30 seconds60.00Valve Junction 14 first event started at Time: 60 seconds65.00Pump Junction 5 first event started at Time: 65 seconds65.00Valve Junction 6 first event started at Time: 65 seconds90.00Valve Junction 16 first event started at Time: 90 seconds120.0Valve Junction 18 first event started at Time: 120 seconds							
<						3	>	

Figure 5: A chronological list of Transient Events is shown in the General Output section of the Output Window

Plotting the speed of Pump J5 vs. time as a Quick Graph from the Output shows the pump starting up at 65 seconds, and coming up to full speed over 5 seconds. This is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Quick Graph can be used to plot the Pump J5 Speed vs. Time

Now go to the Graph Results window. A stacked graph can be made for the Control Valve J8 as shown in Figure 7 to see the affect of the opening valves on the flow rate at the control valve, as well as how the open percent at the control valve responds. It can be seen here that the control valve open percent reaches 50% at 65 seconds, which correlates with the beginning of the pump startup.

To create these stacked graphs, go to the Transient tab in Graph Control. Change the Pipes or Junctions selection to Valves and check the box next the 8, Control Valve. At the bottom, click the Add button next to Select Parameter to add a second parameter to graph. Set the first parameter to Volumetric Flow Rate with gal/min Units, and set the second parameter to Open Percentage with Percent Units. Now click Generate.



Figure 7: Stacked graph on the Graph results tab showing the Volumetric Flow Rate and Open Percentage over time at Control Valve J8

Settling Slurry (SSL) Examples

The examples below utilize the Settling Slurry module.

Fathom SSL Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
Beginner - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System	Beginner	Slurry	3	1	Learn the basics of the SSL module such as defin- ing a Detailed slurry cal- culation model in Analysis Setup, using the Slurry De-Rating feature in the Pump Properties window, adding Slurry parameters using the Output Control window, and generating Slurry System Curves in the Graph Results win- dow.
<u>Slurries with</u> <u>Variable Fluid</u> <u>Properties</u>	Intermediate	Water/Slurry	2-3	1	Learn how to use the SSL module with Variable Fluid Properties. See how to use the Volume Balance junction and the Simplified slurry calculation model.
<u>Slurry System</u> <u>Feasibility</u> <u>Study</u>	Advanced	Slurry	1	0	Learn how to use the SSL module and the Scenario Manager to determine the feasibility of selected oper- ating conditions. See how to use the Multi-Scenario output feature in the Out- put window and how to per- form a Batch run for a model with multiple scen- arios.

Beginner - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System - SSL

Summary

This example demonstrates the fundamental concepts of the Settling Slurry (SSL) add-on module by way of example. The example shows how SSL can be used to size a slurry pump as part of a system design process.

The piping for a slurry system that moves sand is being designed. The system will pump 25% sand by volume from an open supply vessel with a liquid surface elevation of 5 feet to an open receiving tank with a liquid surface elevation of 10 feet.

Use the SSL module to size the pump.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the SSL module.

Topics Covered

- Entering solids data
- Reviewing calculated slurry output
- Creating slurry system curves

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System - SSL.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate SSL and select Settling to enable the SSL module for use. The items in the Fluid Properties group will change to accommodate slurry definitions. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Slurry. From here you can quickly toggle between Disable mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Settling (SSL mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu and input the following on the respective panels.

- 1. Carrier Fluid Figure 1
 - a. Fluid Model = Basic (Water)
 - b. Temperature = 70 deg. F
- 2. Solids Definition Figure 2
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Detailed
 - b. Solids Specifications = User Specified Solids Added
 - c. M (Stratification Ratio Exponent) = Calculated
 - d. Terminal Velocity Parameter = Vt / Vts (Xi)
 - e. Value = 1
 - f. Density = 2.9 S.G. water
 - g. d50 = 0.015 inches
 - h. d85 = 0.03 inches
- 3. Slurry Definition Figure 3
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Detailed (this selection will be the same as on the Solids Definition panel)
 - b. Concentration Type = Volume Fraction
 - c. Amount Solids Added = 25 Percent
 - d. Name Alias = Water slurry

-0	Modules	\sim	Carrier Fluid	
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	^		
0	Carrier Fluid			
2	Solids Definition			
2	Slurry Definition		Basic (Water) Advanced	
0!	Pipes and Junctions	^	Carrier Fluid Properties	
1	Pipes and Junctions		Temperature: 70 deg. F V	
3⊘	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Range: 32 to 413.33 deg. F	
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Calculate Slumy Properties	
%⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Density: 62.34661 91.98183 lbm/ft3 ✓	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	<u>V</u> iscosity: 2.3664 2.3664 Ibm/hrft ∨	
			Vapor Pre <u>s</u> sure: 0.36337 0.36337 psia ~	

Figure 1: Carrier Fluid panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Analysi	s Setup			×
20	Modules	\sim	Solids Definition	
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	^	Slumy Calculation Method	
0	Carrier Fluid		O Minimal	
2	Solids Definition		O Simplified	
2	Slurry Definition		Detailed	
8!	Pipes and Junctions	^		
	Pipes and Junctions		Ive Solids Added User Specified Solids Added	
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	O From Library	
(B)	Environmental Properties		Solids Properties:	
	LIN TOTILICALIZATI TOPCILICS	Ŷ	M (Stratification Ratio Exponent)	
?⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Calculated User Specified M Curve Fit	
	Miscellaneous	\sim		
			Shape Factor (K) Override Vt / Vts (Xi)	
			Density: 2.9 S.G. water V Override	
			d50: 0.015 inches ✓ Override	
			<u>a85:</u> 0.03 inches V Ovemde	
			Edit Solids Library	
Collap	ose All Groups		Same As Parent V P Help	X Cancel

Figure 2: Solids Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Analysi	is Setup										
20	Modules	\sim	Slurry Definition								
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	^	Slurry Calculation Metho	d							
0	Carrier Fluid		O Minimal								
2	Solids Definition		 Simplified Detailed 								
2	Slurry Definition		Detailed								
8!	Pipes and Junctions	^	Slurry Definition Concentration Type:	Volume Fraction	~	1					
1	Pipes and Junctions		Amount Solids Added:	25 Pe	rcent ~	j					
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	<u>S</u> lumy Model:	Settling Sluny - Wil	son, Addie, Clift 🛛 🗸						
Ø9	Environmental Properties	\sim	Sliding Friction Coefficient (µs):			1					
%⊘	Cost Settings	~	Bed Concentration: Name Alias:	Water slumy	iceni v	Reset					
	Miscellaneous	\sim									
			Pure Fl	uid Slumy							
			Density: 62.3466	1 91.98183	lbm/ft3 \checkmark						
			Viscosity: 2.3664	2.3664	lbm/hr-ft 🗸 🗸						
			Vapor Pre <u>s</u> sure: 0.36337	0.36337	psia 🗸						
			Deposition Velocity (Vsn	1)							
			Nomograph - Equation	Limited V	feet/sec	. ~					
			Edit Solids Library	Edit Solids Library							
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent	- 🥐 <u>H</u> elp			V OK 🔀 Cancel				

Figure 3: Slurry Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 4: Layout of pipe system for Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System example

Enter the following pipe and junction properties.

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 12 inch
 - d. Type = STD
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Length =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	20
2	500
3	50

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 5 feet

- c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 10 psig
- d. Pipe Depth = 5 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model tab
 - i. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - ii. Analysis Type = Sizing
 - iii. Parameter = Mass Flow Rate
 - iv. Fixed Flow Rate = 1400 ton/hr Solids
 - c. Slurry De-Rating tab
 - i. De-Rating Method = ANSI/HI Standard 12.1-12.6-2016
 - ii. Percent Fines = 0 %
 - iii. Head De-Rating Data = Specify Impeller Size Directly
 - iv. Impeller Size = 8 inches
- 3. J3 Elbow
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - c. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 4. J4 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Receiving Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 10 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 30 psig
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet

To show the names of the reservoirs, a new Workspace Layer will be created.

- 1. Create a new layer by selecting New Layer and then Blank Layer from the Workspace Layers tab of the Quick Access Panel.
- 2. Name the layer Reservoir Labels.
- 3. Edit the layer by selecting it and clicking the gear icon to bring up the Layer Settings window.
- 4. Open the Show/Hide Labels panel and uncheck Force Shown Labels to Match Shown Objects.
- 5. Toggle the visibility icon next to the reservoirs to on. This will cause their labels to be shown.
- 6. Navigate to the Junction Parameters panel and expand the Commonly Used Junction Parameters list.
- 7. Double-click Junction Name to add it to the list on the right-hand side. This will add the Junction Name to the label of the junctions that were defined in the Show/Hide Labels panel.
- 8. Close the Layer Settings window.

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

Open the **Output Control** window by selecting Output Control from the Output toolbar or Tools menu.

On the Display Parameters tab, click the **Pumps** button, and add the De-rating Head Correction factor **(CH)** to the Pump Summary output.

The Output Control window can also be used to configure the slurry output data, as is shown in Figure 5. Click OK when you are finished.

isplay <u>P</u> arameters <u>G</u> eneral <u>F</u> orr	mat & Action	how Pipes/Jcts J	ct <u>D</u> eltas <u>M</u> ulti-Scenario		
Pipes 🗗 Junctions 受 Pump	os ► Valves	Heat Exchange	ers 📑 Reservoirs 🤤 Cost Report	Sluny	
<filter></filter>		S	now Output in <u>T</u> his Order		Reor
Available Output Parameters			Parameter	Units	
4CM Carrier Fluid Fraction (Xf)	^	¢	Pipe Name		
4CM Fully Stratified Fraction (Xs)		¢	🚪 lm	ft/100 ft	~
4CM Pseudo-homogeneous Fraction (Xp)	¢	🚪 Jm	ft/100 ft	\sim
Chw Concentration Mana		¢	Velocity	feet/sec	\sim
Concentration Mass			Velocity Settling Maximum (Vsm)	feet/sec	\sim
d50		- (Velocity Ratio (Vm/Vsm)		
085 Density Clear Fluid		<u>A</u> dd 🕻	Head Loss - Slurry	feet	\sim
Density Slurry		¢	Pressure Drop Total	psid	\sim
Density Solid Friction Factor Clear Fluid		¢	Mass Flow Rate	Ibm/sec	\sim
Friction Factor Slurry		¢	Volumetric Flow Rate Slurry	gal/min	\sim
Head Loss - Clear Fluid		¢	Im - Iw / Sm - Sw		
Im	~				
<	>				
51 of 51 parameters shown (unfiltered)				
		- Show			
Alphabeti <u>c</u> al		Description	Remove Clear All Same Units	Us <u>e</u> Preferre	d Units
Library					
	Loa	d Control Format	User Default Fathom	Default 🧹	ОК
The second					

Figure 5: The Output Control window can be used to configure the slurry output data

The Slurry tab in the pipes section shows the slurry results, as shown in Figure 6. Here one can see that the velocity is 21.90 feet/sec, which is safely above the 11.48 feet/sec settling velocity. Other pressure drop and relevant slurry data can be viewed here.

Also shown in Figure 6 is the Pump Summary in the General Section. There the required pump head is shown as 93.98 feet, and the de-rating correction factor is 0.7917. Hence a pump should be selected that can generate 93.98/0.7917 = 118.7 feet of head based on water.

*	General V	Varnings	Design Alert	s Applied	Standards	Pump	Summary	Rese	ervoir Su	mmary					
lot	Results	Name	Vol.	Mass Flow	dP	dH	Overall Efficiency	S	peed	Overall Power	BEP	% of BEP	NPSHA	NPSHR	СН
JCI	Diagran	n	(gal/min)	(Ibm/sec)	(psid)	(feet)	(Percent)	(Pe	ercent)	(hp)	(gal/min)	(Percent)	(feet)	(feet)	
2	Show	Pump	7,720	1,582	60.03	93.98	100.0)	N/A	270.3	N/A	N/A	41.17	N/A	0.7917
*	Pipes Slu	rry													
	Name	lm	Jm	Velocity	9	ettling	Vm/Vs	m	dH	dP	Mass Flow	Vol Flow	(lm - l	w)	
Pip	e	(ft/100 ft)	(ft/100 ft)	(feet/sec) Velocit) (fe	y Maxim et/sec)	num		Slurry (feet)	(psid)	(Ibm/sec)	(gal/min)) / (Sm -	Sw)	
1	Pipe	14.1	7 9.60	8 21.9	90	1	1.48 1.9	908	1.922	1.228	1,58	2 7,72	0.0	8564	
2	Pipe	14.1	7 9.60	8 21.9	0	1	1.48 1.9	808	48.040	30.683	3 1,58	2 7,72	0.0	8564	
3	Pipe	14.1	7 9.60	8 21.9	90	1	1.48 1.9	808	4.804	3.067	1,58	2 7,72	0.0	8564	
*	All Junction:	s Bend	Pump Re	servoir											
Jct	Nan	ne	P Static P In (psia) (Static PS Out I psia) (ps	tag. PS n (sia) (p	Stag. \)ut sia)	/ol. Flow Rat Thru Jct (gal/min)	te M	lass Flo Thru (Ibm/s	w Rate Jct ec)	Loss Factor (K)				
1	Supply Ta	ank	24.70	27.89	24.70	27.89	7,7	20		1,582	0.0000				
2	Pump		21.90	81.93	26.66	86.69	7,7	20		1,582	0.0000				
3	Bend		51.25	49.39	56.01	54.15	7,7	20		1,582	0.3900				
4	Receiving	g Tank	44.70	51.08	14.70	51.08	7,7	20		1,582	0.0000				

Figure 6: The Output window shows the Slurry results table in the center Pipes section and the pump de-rating in the Pump Summary in the upper General section

Also of interest is the system curve. Select the Graph Results window tab then in the Graph Control tab in the Quick Access Panel select the Slurry System Curve tab. See Figure 7.

By default the parameter to graph is Jm vs. Velocity. Select the units of Jm as ft/ft that will make it completely dimensionless as is typically done. Check the box for Water System Curve which cross-plots the water curve and then click Generate. The curves are shown in Figure 8.

Graph List Manager			џ					
	1 e	h × ¢	T					
·····								
📝 Parameters		*	Formatting >					
Pump vs. System	<u>P</u> rofile	<u>S</u> lurry S	ôystem Curve					
Slurry System Curve	_							
Flow Parameter:	Velocity	✓ fe	eet/sec 🔹					
Pressure/Head Parameter:	Jm	▼ ft.	∕ft ▼					
Operating Point:	21.90 feet/sec							
Vsm:	11.48 feet/sec							
Range Start/End:	8.607	26.28	feet/sec					
Data Points Per Curve:	30		•					
Water System Curve:	Show							
Pump Curve:	Show							
✓ Generate								
Graph Co	ontrol							
🔄 Overview Map	E	Add-on	Modules 🛛 🥥					

Figure 7: Data selection for graphing slurry system curve



Figure 8: Slurry system curve and water curve in Graph Results window

A slurry of sand and water flowing through 570 feet of pipe was modeled. Total pipe head loss was determined and pump head requirements were calculated. A slurry system curve was created to allow the user to see where the system was operating with respect to solids settling.

Slurries with Variable Fluid Properties - SSL

Summary

This example demonstrates the fundamental concepts of the Settling Slurry (SSL) add-on module by way of example. The example shows how SSL can be used to model the introduction of solids into a clear fluid stream.

Evaluate pump and system performance for a slurry system that will pump 30% sand by volume for three cases:

- 1. Pumping clear water (no solids in system)
- 2. Solids introduced into the system, and propagated through to the pump discharge
- 3. Solids have propagated through the entire system

This example is essentially modeling four snapshots in time as the slurry is injected and pumped through the pipeline. These four snapshots in time can be modeled through the usage of the <u>Volume Balance</u> junction.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the SSL module.

Topics Covered

- Entering solids data
- Using Volume Balance junctions with variable fluid properties
- Creating slurry system curves and evaluating pump performance

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through <u>Beginner - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System -</u> <u>SSL</u> example.

Model File

This example uses the following file, which is installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Slurries with Variable Fluid Properties - SSL.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate SSL and select Settling to enable the SSL module for use. The items in the Fluid Properties group will change to accommodate slurry definitions. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Slurry. From here you can quickly toggle between Disable mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Settling (SSL mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu and input the following on the respective panels.

- 1. Carrier Fluid Figure 1
 - a. Fluid Model = Advanced
 - b. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - c. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - d. Temperature = 35 deg. F
 - e. Select Variable Fluid Properties
- 2. Solids Definition Figure 2
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Simplified
 - b. Solids Specifications = User Specified Solids Added
 - c. M (Stratification Ratio Exponent) = User Specified
 - d. Value = 1.7
 - e. Density = 2.65 S.G. water
 - f. d50 = 0.016 inches
- 3. Slurry Definition Figure 3
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Simplified (this selection will be the same as on the Solids Definition panel)
 - b. Concentration Type = Volume Fraction
 - c. Amount Solids Added = 30 Percent

Analys	is Setup		
2	Modules	\sim	Carrier Ruid
	Modules Modules Partice Fluid Solido Definition Solido Definition Pipes and Junctions Steady Solution Control Environmental Properties Cost Settings Miscellaneous	 <	Carrier Ruid Image: State Water Advanced Image: State Water Advanced Image: State Water Advanced Image: State Water Provided at the time. Image: State Water Provide State Water Ruids Available in Lbray Provide State Water Name Seem IP 500 pala State W 500 pala Seem IP 500 pala State Wood Roud() State Water Ruid Vater Roud (Roud) Prove Ruid Vater Roud (Roud) Prove Ruid Vater Roud (Roud) Prove Ruid Vater Roud) Denviet Ruid Water Roudo) Denviet Ruid
Colla	pse All Groups		Add to Library The actual properties used in each pipe depend on user input in each Pipe Properties window. Alge: Water (kquid) Reset. Edit Ruid Lat Same As Parent • Edit Solds Library

Figure 1: Carrier Fluid panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Analysis Setup	×
Modules	✓ Solids Definition
Fluid Properties Carrier Fluid Solids Definition	Slumy Calculation Method Minimal Simplified Detailed
Slurry Definition Pipes and Junctions Pipes and Junctions	Solids Specifications No Solids Added User Specified Solids Added
Steady Solution Control	✓ O From Library ✓
Bo Environmental Properties	Solids Properties: M (Stratification Ratio Exponent)
Cost Settings	Calculated Override User Specified 17 M Curve Ft
Miscellaneous	Image: Solid Subrary Image: Solid Subrary

Figure 2: Solids Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Analysi	is Setup			×							
1	Modules	\sim	Slurry Definition								
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	^	Slumy Calculation Method								
0	Carrier Fluid		O Minimal								
2	Solids Definition		Simplified								
2	Slurry Definition		O Detailed								
8!	Pipes and Junctions	^	Slumy Definition Concentration Type: Volume Fraction								
!	Pipes and Junctions		Amount Solids Added: 30 Percent ~								
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Settling Slumy - Wilson, Addie, Clift 🗸 🗸								
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Stiding Friction Coefficient (Js): Ped Concentration: Percent								
%⊘	Cost Settings	\sim									
	Miscellaneous	~	Deposition Velocity (Vsm) Nomograph - Equation Limited Vieture Vi	position Velocity (Vsm)							
			Edit Solids Library								
Collap	pse All Groups		Same As Parent - 🧐 Help	cel							

Figure 3: Slurry Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 4: Layout of pipe system for Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System example

Enter the following pipe and junction properties.

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 6 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Length =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	50
2	1000

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 & J3 Assigned Pressures
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pressure = 150 psig
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head	Efficiency
gal/min	feet	Percent
0	200	-
500	188	45
800	175	64
1100	155	75
1400	130	77
1700	100	74

e. Curve Fit Order = 2

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 5. Create the Scenarios

For this example, there are four cases to be examined. Create a scenario for each of the four cases, as shown in Figure 5:

Scenario Manag	ger	ц
3 🖧 E	, \$\$ 1 ↓ ≣ -	
Base Sce Clear Slumy Slumy All Slumy	enario Water / to Pump Suction / to Pump Discharge umy	
Notes		
		0
Scenario	Properties	

Figure 5: Use the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel to create the four analysis cases

Clear Water Scenario

Load the Clear Water scenario by double-clicking the scenario name in the Scenario Manager.

This case requires that the pipes use clear water as their fluid. As pipes are drawn on the workspace, they automatically assume the same fluid type that is defined in the Analysis Setup window. As a result, at this point, all of the pipes are defined as using the sand slurry. Reset **both** pipes to use only water by opening the **pipe properties window** and inputting the following:

- 1. Fluid Properties tab
- 2. Fluid Properties button
- 3. In the Analysis Setup window that appears, click the **Solids Definition** item, and select **No Solids Added**, as shown in Figure 6. This will treat the fluid as clear water.
- 4. Click OK.
- 5. Make sure to do this to both pipes.

Fluid Properties	Solids Definition
 Fluid Properties Carrier Fluid Solids Definition Slurry Definition 	 Solids Definition Slury Calculation Method Minimal Simplified Detailed Solids Specifications No Solids Added User Specified Solids Added From Library Solids Properties: M (Stratification Ratio Exponent) Override User Specified M Curve Fit Terminal Velocity Parameter Shape Factor (K) Vt / Vts (X) Override Vt / Vts (X) Override
	Density: S.G. water Override
	d50: Override
	d85: Override

Figure 6: Fluids can be treated as clear fluid by selecting No Solids Added as the Solids Specification

Slurry to Pump Suction Scenario

Now load the Slurry to Pump Suction as the active scenario in the Workspace.

For the case where the fluid far upstream of the pump suction is slurry, and the fluid just upstream of the pump is clear water, a <u>Volume Balance junction</u> must be used to account for the difference in fluid density. The Volume Balance junction balances the flow based on volume rather than mass, ensuring that the velocity across the interface is the same. This junction must be used any time there is a system interface with fluids of different densities.

Add a Volume Balance junction just upstream of the pump suction by splitting the pipe as follows:

- 1. While holding the **Shift** key drag and drop the **Volume Balance junction** over pipe **P1**.
- 2. In the dialogue box set Pipe A as **49.9 feet**, then select **OK**. The Workspace should now appear as shown in Figure 7. This will insert the fluid interface shortly before the pump suction.
- 3. Open the **Volume Balance properties window** for junction J4 and check that the elevation is **0 feet**.

This case requires that the short pipe just upstream and the pipe downstream of the pump use clear water as their fluid. Set **both** pipes P2 and P3 to use only water as follows:

- 1. Fluid Properties tab
- 2. Fluid Properties button
- 3. In the Analysis Setup window that appears, click the **Solids Definition** item, and select **No Solids Added**, as shown in Figure 6. This will treat the fluid as clear water.
- 4. Click **OK**.
- 5. Make sure to do this to **both** pipes.



Figure 7: Layout of pipe system for partial slurry case with slurry at the pump suction showing the Volume Balance junction for the Slurries with Variable Fluid Properties example

Slurry to Pump Discharge Scenario

Load the Slurry to Pump Discharge scenario as the active scenario.

For the case where the fluid upstream and just downstream of the pump discharge is slurry, and the rest of the system downstream is clear water, a Volume Balance junction must be used again to account for the difference in fluid density.

Add a Volume Balance junction just downstream of the pump discharge by splitting pipe 2.

- 1. While holding the **Shift** key drag and drop the **Volume Balance junction** over pipe **P2**.
- 2. In the dialogue box set Pipe A as **0.1 feet**, then select **OK**. The Workspace should now appear as shown in Figure 8. This will insert the fluid interface shortly after the pump discharge.
- 3. Open the **Volume Balance properties window** for junction J5 and check that the elevation is **0 feet**.

This case requires that the pipe P4 downstream of the pump use clear water as its fluid. Set pipe **P4** to use only water as follows:
- 1. Fluid Properties tab
- 2. Fluid Properties button
- 3. In the Analysis Setup window that appears, click the **Solids Definition** item, and select **No Solids Added**, as shown in Figure 6. This will treat the fluid as clear water.
- 4. Click OK.



Figure 8: Layout of pipe system for partial slurry case with slurry at the pump discharge showing the Volume Balance junction for the Slurries with Variable Fluid Properties example

All Slurry Scenario

For this case, all of the pipes contain the sand slurry. The system layout is the same as is shown in Figure 4.

Step 6. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Note: All scenarios can be run automatically by Fathom by completing a Batch Run from the File menu.

Step 7. Examine the Output

Table 1 shows the variation of the system flows, velocities, and pump performance as the slurry progresses through the system.

Figure 9 shows the pump curve plotted along with both the water and slurry system curves. This graph was generated in the All Slurry scenario using the Slurry System Curve graph type.

As the slurry progresses from the system inlet to the pump suction, the system volumetric flow rate, pump head, and power are not significantly changed (compare Table 1 output for Clear Water to Slurry to Pump Suction).

After the slurry arrives at the pump discharge (compare Table 1 output for Slurry to Pump Suction to Slurry to Pump Discharge), there is a notable increase in the system volumetric flow rate (1,401 to 1,595 gal/min). This is a result of the new density passing into the pump, which results in a different velocity in the pipe line (15.56 to 17.71 feet/sec), a different pressure loss (which varies as velocity squared, and the velocity is now higher), and hence a different head rise on the pump. This shifts the pump operation out on the curve to a higher flow rate and lower head (130.1 to 111.2 feet).

Eventually the slurry fills the entire pipe (compare Table 1 output for Slurry to Pump Discharge to All Slurry). Because of the increased overall head loss of the slurry compared to water, the system shifts back on the pump curve to a lower flow rate (1,595 to 1,497 gal/min) and higher head rise (111.2 to 121.0 feet). The system operating velocity also drops (17.71 to 16.63 feet/sec).

The power requirement on the pump increases from the Clear Water to All Slurry scenario as the system progresses from all water to all slurry.

Of significance here is the fact that, perhaps counter to intuition, the clear water and all slurry cases do not encompass the entire flow and system performance cases for the pump. The highest and lowest flow cases actually occur as the system is only partially full of slurry. Care should be taken to examine intermediate slurry flow cases to determine system feasibility for situations where slurry is being introduced into the flow, as the maximum and minimum flow cases will not necessarily occur when the system is flowing all clear fluid, or all slurry.

It is difficult to quantify the intermediate cases through the use of pump vs. system curves. This is a result of the variation in density that occurs in the system, which confuses the meaning of Head which itself depends on constant density. Thorough analysis is needed in these cases. Figure 9 shows the clear water and all slurry system curves.

Finally, note that to keep the example clearer, the effect of pump de-rating was not addressed. In real systems when the slurry progresses from the Slurry to Pump Suction case to the Slurry to Pump Discharge case, there will be a further decrease in pump performance which will effectively lower the pump curve in Figure 9. This would serve to shift operation to even higher flow rates for the Slurry to Pump Discharge and All Slurry cases.

 Table 1: System flow and pump performance for different scenarios. The velocity and volumetric flow results

 are for the inlet of the pipe at the pump discharge

Parameter	Vol. Flow Rate	Velocity	dP	dH	Overall Power	
Units	gal/min	feet/sec	psid	feet	hp	
Clear Water	1,408 15.63		56.20	129.5	59.25	
Slurry to Pump Suction	Slurry to 1,401 15.56		56.46	130.1	59.24	
Slurry to Pump Dis- charge	1,595	17.71	72.07	111.2	88.20	
All Slurry	1,497	16.63	78.42	121.0	88.54	



Figure 9: Plotting the pump curve along with the water and slurry system curves illustrates how the pump performance will vary as the slurry progresses through the system

Slurry System Feasibility Study - SSL (Metric Only)

Summary

Note: Because this example is presented in SI units in the reference from which it was taken, it is presented in the same units here for consistency when discussing the results.

This example demonstrates how the Settling Slurry (SSL) add-on module can be used to evaluate the feasibility of a slurry system operating point. The example is based on Case Study 13.1 found on page 329 of *Slurry Transport Using Centrifugal Pumps*, 3rd Edition, by Wilson, Addie, Sellgren, and Clift. Here only the 0.65 m case is evaluated.

An operating condition from a previous case study was selected:

Condition A:

D = 0.65 meters

Vsm = 4.84 meters/sec

Cvd = 0.20

Vm = 6.30 meters/sec

It was noted in the previous study that increasing Cvd and decreasing Vm reduced the specific energy consumption, and a revised operating point was also selected:

Condition B:

D = 0.65 meters

Vsm = 4.84 meters/sec

Cvd = 0.221

Vm = 5.70 meters/sec

Using these two operating points, determine whether either operating point would be feasible for the system.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the SSL module.

Topics Covered

- Entering solids data
- Reviewing calculated slurry output
- Evaluating stability of system operability

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition the user should have worked through <u>Beginner - Pump Sizing for Sand Transfer System -</u> <u>SSL</u> example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- Metric Slurry System Feasibility Study SSL.fth
- Slurry System Feasibility Study SSL.xlsx

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate SSL and select Settling to enable the SSL module for use. The items in the Fluid Properties group will change to accommodate slurry definitions. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Slurry. From here you can quickly toggle between Disable mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Settling (SSL mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu and input the following on the respective panels.

- 1. Carrier Fluid Figure 1
 - a. Fluid Model = Basic (Water)
 - b. Temperature = 4 deg. C
- 2. Solids Definition Figure 2
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Detailed
 - b. Solids Specifications = User Specified Solids Added

- c. M (Stratification Ratio Exponent) = Calculated
- d. Terminal Velocity Parameter = Vt / Vts (Xi)
- e. Value = 0.56
- f. Density = 2.65 S.G. water
- g. d50 = 0.7 mm
- h. d85 = 1 mm
- 3. Slurry Definition Figure 3
 - a. Slurry Calculation Method = Detailed (this selection will be the same as on the Solids Definition panel)
 - b. Concentration Type = Volume Fraction
 - c. Amount Solids Added = 20 Percent

-0	Modules	\sim	Carrier Fluid
<u> -</u> 0	Fluid Properties	\sim	
0	Carrier Fluid		
2	Solids Definition		
2	Slurry Definition		Basic (Water) Advanced
8!	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	Carrier Fluid Properties Fluid Name: AFT Standard Water (liquid)
₹⊘	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Temperature: 4 deg. C V
Ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Range: 0.0 to 211.85 deg. C Calculate Slumy Properties
?⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Pure Fluid Slumy
0	Miscellaneous	\sim	Density: 1001.023 1330.369 kg/m3 ~
			Viscosity: 0.00156 0.00156 kg/sec-m ~
			Vapor Pressure: 0.00814 0.00814 bar ~

Figure 1: Carrier Fluid panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Analysis Setup		
Modules	\sim	Solids Definition
Fluid Properties Carrier Fluid Solids Definition	^	Slumy Calculation Method Minimal Simplified O Detailed
Slurry Definition Pipes and Junctions Steady Solution Control	~	Solids Specifications O No Solids Added O User Specified Solids Added
Cost Settings	s v	From Library Solids Properties: M (Stratification Ratio Exponent)
Miscellaneous	~	Calculated Override User Specified M Curve Fit Terminal Velocity Parameter Shape Factor (K) 0.56 Override
		Density: 2.65 S.G. water Override d50: 0.7 mm Override d85: 1 mm Override

Figure 2: Solids Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

- 📀	Modules	\sim	Slumy Definition	
<u>.</u> 0	Fluid Properties	^	Slurry Calculation Meth	nod
0	Carrier Fluid		O Minimal O Simplified	
نه د	Slurpy Definition		 Detailed 	
3!	Pipes and Junctions	~	Sluny Definition Concentration Type:	Volume Fraction V
30	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Amount Solids Added	d: 20 Percent ~
Ø	Environmental Properties	~	Sluny Model: Sliding Friction	Settling Sluny - Wilson, Addie, Clift $~~$
0	Cost Settings	~	Coefficient (µs): Bed Concentration:	Percent ~
Ø	Miscellaneous	~	Name Alias:	Water sluny Reset
			Pure Density: 1001.0 Viscosity: 0.0015 Vapor 0.0085 Pressure: 0.0085	Slumy kg/m3 123 1330.369 kg/m3 i6 0.00156 kg/sec-m i4 0.00814 bar
			Deposition Velocity (V Nomograph - Equatio	sm) n Limited V meters/sec V

Figure 3: Slurry Definition panel in the Fluid Properties group in Analysis Setup with SSL activated

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 4: Layout of pipe system for Slurry System Feasibility Study example

Enter the following pipe and junction properties.

Pipe Properties

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Pipe Material = (User Specified)
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Inner Diameter = 0.65 meters
 - d. Friction Model Data Set = User Specified
 - e. Friction Factor = Explicit Friction Factor
 - f. Value = 0.012
 - g. Length = 100 meters

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Assigned Pressure
 - a. Elevation = 0 meters
 - b. Pressure = 10 bar
 - c. Pressure Specification = Stagnation
- 2. J2 Assigned Flow

- a. Elevation = 0 meters
- b. Type = Outflow
- c. Flow Specification = Mass Flow Rate
- d. Flow Rate = 4000 m-ton/hr Solids (metric tons equivalent to 4.0 x 10^6 kg/hr)
 - i. (metric tons equivalent to 4.0 x 10^6 kg/hr)

Turn on Show Object Status from the View menu to verify if all data is entered. If so, the Pipes and Junctions group in Analysis Setup will have a check mark. If not, the uncompleted pipes or junctions will have their number shown in red. If this happens, go back to the uncompleted pipes or junctions and enter the missing data.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Examine the Output

The maximum settling velocity for Condition A calculated by Fathom is 4.833 meters/sec, as shown in Figure 5. The value for the maximum settling velocity for Condition B can be reproduced in a similar fashion using Fathom.

3	e Pi	pes Slur	ry											
	Pipe	Name	lm (m/100 m)	Jm (m/100	Ve m) (met	locity ers/sec)	Settlin Velocity Ma (meters/	ng aximum /sec)	Vm/Vsn	n dH Slurry (meters)	dP (bar)	Mass Flow Rate (kg/sec)	Vol Flow Slurry (m3/hr)	(Im - Iw) / (Sm - Sw)
	1	Pipe	6.12	0 4	596	6.323	4.833		1.30	4.596	0.6010	2,791	1 7,554	0.07152
	A													
	Jct	All Junctions Assigned Flow Assigned Pressure Name P Static P Stag. P Stag. Vol. Flow Rate Mass Flow Rate Loss Factor Jet In Out In Out Thru Jet (K) (bar) (bar) (bar) (bar) (bar) (bar) (bar)												
	1 Assigned Pressure 9.734 9.734 10.000 10.000						7,554	2,7	91	0				
	2	Assigned	Flow	9.133	9.133	9.399	9.399		7,554	2,7	91	0		

Figure 5: Output for Condition A calculation showing maximum settling velocity

Step 7. Evaluate System Operability

To determine the feasibility of the selected operating conditions, it is helpful to examine how the operating points relate to the system operability. One method of evaluating the system operability is to plot the system curves in terms of head of slurry (Jm vs. velocity). It is useful to plot the system curves as lines of constant concentration, as well as lines of constant slurry throughput. The system curves for a given slurry throughput and concentration can be plotted directly by using the graphing capabilities of Fathom. However, to examine the system operability over a range of flows and concentrations, it may be more convenient to use a spreadsheet application, such as Microsoft Excel, to plot the system data all together. Fathom's scenario manager and multi-scenario output features can be utilized to facilitate this process.

Evaluating the system in this manner may require a large number of scenarios to sufficiently capture the system operability. For your convenience, all of the necessary cases have been set up in the Fathom model file *Metric - Slurry System Feasibility Study - SSL.fth*.

Steps 8 through 12 describe how the cases were set up in Fathom, and then copied into a spreadsheet for evaluation, should you wish to build the evaluation cases for yourself. The final evaluation of the operating points is presented in Step 13.

Step 8. Creating Scenarios to Evaluate System Operability

For this example, scenarios can be used to calculate Jm and velocity data for three different lines of constant concentration, as well as for three different lines of constant throughput.

Setup the scenarios for constant concentrations as follows:

- 1. From the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel, create a scenario under the Base Scenario called *0.65 meters pipe*.
- 2. Under the 0.65 meters pipe scenario, create a scenario called Cvd = 0.15. Load this scenario, and open the Analysis Setup window. Set the solids concentration to 15% in the Slurry Definition panel.
- 3. Under the *Cvd* = 0.15 scenario, create scenarios for a range of mass flow rates from 1,000 m-ton per hr to 10,000 m-ton per hr in increments of 500 m-ton per hr, as shown in Figure 6. Load each of these scenarios and set the flow value in each Assigned Flow junction to the corresponding throughput value for each scenario.
- 4. Right-click scenario Cvd = 0.15 and select Clone With Children. Name the new scenario Cvd = 0.20. In this scenario, open Analysis Setup and change the solids concentration to 20%. Repeat this process, and create a set of scenarios for Cvd = 0.34.
- 5. There are now three groups of scenarios, each for a different solids concentration. Each of the three concentrations will have a set of scenarios for a range of different through puts, as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 6: The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel can be used to set up multiple throughput cases for a given solids concentration



Figure 7: The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel can be used to clone scenarios to easily create additional constant solids concentration cases

Setup the scenarios for constant throughput as follows:

- 1. Under the 0.65 meters pipe scenario, create a scenario called *Flow* = 3500 m-ton per hr. Load this scenario, and set the flow value in the Assigned Flow junction 3500 m-ton/hr.
- 2. Under the *Flow* = 3500 *m*-ton per hr scenario, create scenarios for a range of solids concentrations, as shown in Figure 8. Load each of these scenarios and set the solids concentration value in the Slurry Definition panel in Analysis Setup to the corresponding solids concentration value for each scenario.
- 3. Right-click scenario *Flow* = *3500 m-ton per hr* and select Clone With Children. Name the new scenario *Flow* = *4000 m-ton per hr*. In this scenario, set the flow value in the Assigned Flow junction 4000 m-ton/hr. Repeat this process, and create a set of scenarios for *Flow* = *4500 m-ton per hr*.

4. There are now three additional sets of scenarios, each for a different throughput value. Each of the three flows will have a set of scenarios for a range of different solids concentrations, as shown in Figure 9.

Scenario Manager	щ
💰 👬 🖥 🖬 🛨 🗐 -	
■ • • • • • 0.65 meters pipe • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Notes	
	0
Scenario E Properties	

Figure 8: The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel can be used to set up multiple solid concentration cases for a given throughput

Scenario Manager	щ
🐔 🚠 🗄 🛨 🛨 📑	
■ ● 0.65 meters pipe • 0.65 meters pipe • 0.65 meters pipe • 0 Cvd = 0.15 • 0 Cvd = 0.20 • • • Cvd = 0.34 • • • Flow = 3500 m-ton per hr • • • Flow = 4000 m-ton per hr • • • Flow = 4500 m-ton per hr • • • Flow = 4500 m-ton per hr • • • Cvd = 0.05 • • Cvd = 0.10 • • Cvd = 0.15 • • Cvd = 0.20 • Cvd = 0.20 • Cvd = 0.25 • • Cvd = 0.35 • • Cvd = 0.40 • • Cvd = 0.45	
Notes	
	0
Scenario E Properties	

Figure 9: The Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel can be used to clone scenarios to easily create additional constant throughput cases

Step 9. Specify Output

Make sure that the Base Scenario is active, the open Output Control by selecting Output Control from the toolbar or Tools menu.

Knowing that for this example, the output data will be exported to a spreadsheet application, use the output control to set up the slurry output in a way that will make it simpler to plot the data in the spreadsheet. Open Output Control and on the Display Parameters tab, click the Slurry button. Then select the specific data to be displayed on the Slurry tab in the Output Window, as well as the order in which the data appears.

Figure 10 illustrates how the slurry output data could be organized in the Output Window. Because we will be plotting Jm vs. velocity in the spreadsheet, velocity and Jm are displayed next to each other in the output. One might also wish to plot Im vs. velocity, so velocity can be displayed again adjacent to the output data for Im.

Pipes Junctions Pumps Valves Iter> ailable Output Parameters Tw	Heat Exchar	Show	Output in	ervoirs 🛛 😔 This Order	Cost Report	Sluny	
Filter> ailable Output Parameters Tw		Show	Output in	This Order			
vailable Output Parameters							-
Chw A			'arameter			Units	-
Concentration Mass			/elocity			meters/sec	~
Concentration Volumetric			m			m/m	~
150			relocity			meters/sec	~
Density Clear Fluid			m			m/m	~
Density Slury			oncentrat	ion Volumetri	с	Decimal	~
Jensity Solid Friction Factor Clear Fluid			/elocity	_		meters/sec	~
Friction Factor Sluny	Add	G S	specific En	ergy Consun	nption (SEC)	kW-hr/mton-km	~
Head Loss - Clear Fluid Head Loss - Slumy			lass Flow	Rate Solids		m-ton/hr	~
m			ensity So	lid		S.G. water	~
m - Iw		C d	150			mm	\sim
Im Finimum			185			mm	\sim
W		Ç 🖬 🛚	4				_
Jm Jm Standard (at Jm equals Iw)		(] \	/50			meters/sec	\sim
M		C 1	/elocity Se	ttling Maxim	um (Vsm)	meters/sec	\sim
Mass Flow at Minimum Im Mass Flow Rate		C	m - Iw				_
Mana Plani Pata Itanda		Ç 🛛 🗸	elocity at	Minimum Im		meters/sec	\sim
		ن ا یک	/elocity Sta	andard (at Jn	n equals lw)	meters/sec	\sim
Alphabeti <u>c</u> al	Show Description	Rer	nove	Clear All	Same Units	Use Preferred L	nits

Figure 10: The Output Control window can be used to configure the slurry output into a format convenient for importing into a spreadsheet application

For this example, the multi-scenario output feature can also be used to simplify exporting the output data to a spreadsheet application. This feature allows the output from multiple scenarios to be viewed simultaneously. Load the *1000 m-ton per hr* scenario that is under the Cvd = 0.15 scenario. Open the **Output Control** window and select the **Multi-Scenario** tab. Under Display Type, click **Selected Scenarios** and the Select Scenarios window appears. Check the box beside each scenario for which data is to be displayed in the Output, as shown in Figure 11. 84 of 92 scenarios should be selected. Click **OK** when finished.

Under Scenario Name Format, select **Show Scenario Ancestral Name**. Under Display Current Scenario, select **In the Order Listed**, if not selected already. Click the **Clear All Colors** button to make all scenario rows white.

This information should now appear, as shown in Figure 12. Close the Output Control window by clicking OK.

Selections	Scenarios
	📮 Base Scenario
	□ 0.65 meters pipe
	…
\checkmark	1000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	1500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	2000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	2500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	3000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	3500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	4000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	4500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	5000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	5500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	6000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	6500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	7000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	7500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	8000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	8500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	9000 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	9500 m-ton per hr
\checkmark	10000 m-ton per hr
	… 🖃 Cvd = 0.20
\checkmark	1000 m-ton per hr
All No	ne Invert With Output Without Output 🗐 🗐 開 🖺

Figure 11: Multiple scenarios can be selected for display in the Output window

splay <u>P</u> arameters	<u>G</u> eneral	Format & Action	Show Pipes/Jcts	Jct <u>D</u> eltas	Multi-Scenario			
Display Type		Scenario N	lame Format		Display Current Sc	enario		
O Current Scer	nario Only	O Show	Only the Scenario Na	ime	O First In the List	t		
Selected Sc	enarios	Show	Scenario Ancestral N	ame	In the Order Li	isted		
Select S	cenarios				O Both First and	In the Order Listed		
Scenario Order an	d Colors:							
Dase - Cellar	Scena	rio Ancestrial Name		Color	^			
Base Scenario/0	65 meters n	ipe/Flow = 4000 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.4					
Base Scenario/0	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4000 m-to	on per hr/Cvd = 0.45					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.05		i l			
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.1					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.15					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.2					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.25					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.3					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.35					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.4					
Base Scenario/0.	65 meters p	ipe/Flow = 4500 m-te	on per hr/Cvd = 0.45		¥			
<				>				
🚹 🤑 Cha	nge Color	Reset All Colors	Clear All Colors	1				
The features on th	is tab folder a	are common to all sce	narios.					
								_
Database								
			oad Control Format		User Default	Fathom Default	- V	ок

Figure 12: The Output Control window can be used to display the output from multiple scenarios simultaneously

Step 10. Run the Model

All of the different cases that have been set up for this example in each of the scenarios must now be run so the results can be examined. Because there are so many scenarios, the Batch Run feature in the File menu can be used to make running all of the different scenarios much easier.

From the File menu, select Start Batch Run. Under Batch Run Type, Scenarios In Current Model should be selected. Click Add Scenarios, and in the Select Scenarios window, select all 84 of the scenarios to be run, then click OK. All of the selected scenarios will be displayed in the Scenarios to Run list, as shown in Figure 13.

Click Start Run to start the analysis. The batch run manager will load and run each of the listed scenarios sequentially.

Patch Run			
Batch Kun			
Batch Run Type Scenarios In Current Model O Models in Diffe	erent Files		
Add Scenarios	ave List To File	Clear List	× Remove Selections
Scenarios to Run:			Reorder: 🏠 🖟
Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1500 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2500 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3500 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3500 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/5000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6000 m ton Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6000 m ton	per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr per hr		~
Save Using Excel Export Manager			
 Save Scenarios to Separate Sheets 		Expo	ort Only (Do Not Run)
 Save Scenarios to Separate Workbooks 			
Output Options Save All Results to PDF Save All Results to File	Create Mut	li-scenario Pump v	s. System Graphs Using: ~
 Run Batch in Background Close Window When Batch Run Is Finished 	🧹 Start Run	🥐 Help	X Cancel

Figure 13: The Batch Run Manager is used to automatically run multiple scenarios

Step 11. Examine the Output

Once the batch manager has finished running all of the selected scenarios, load the scenario in which the multi-scenario output was set up (1000 m-ton per hr scenario that is under the Cvd = 0.15 scenario).

The Output window contains all the data that was specified in the Output Control window. Because the multi-scenario output feature was selected, it will also display the calculated output for each of the selected scenarios simultaneously. Figure 14 shows the multi-scenario output on the Slurry tab.

Pipe	Velocity (meters/sec)	Jm (m/m)	Velocity (meters/sec)	lm (m/m)	Cv (Decimal)	Velocity (meters/sec)	SEC (kW-ht/mton-km)	Mass Flow Solids (m-ton/hr)	Density Solid (S.G. water)	d50 (mm)	d85 (mm)	м	V50 (meters/sec)	Settling Velocity Maximum (meters/sec)	lm - hw	V at Min.lm (meters/sec)	V Standard (meters/sec)
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1000 m-ton per hr	2.1077	0.09498	2.1077	0.11864	0.15000	2.1077	0.8125	1,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.1144550	4.934	7.52
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1500 m-ton per hr	3.1616	0.05352	3.1616	0.06685	0.15000	3.1616	0.4578	1,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0574486	4.934	7.52
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2000 m-ton per hr	4.2154	0.04159	4.2154	0.05195	0.15000	4.2154	0.3558	2,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0352277	4.934	7.52
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2500 m-ton per hr	5.2693	0.04022	5.2693	0.05023	0.15000	5.2693	0.3440	2,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0241056	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3000 m-ton per hr	6.3232	0.04427	6.3232	0.06530	0.15000	6.3232	0.3787	3.000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0176819	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3500 m-ton per hr	7.3770	0.05189	7.3770	0.06481	0.15000	7.3770	0.4439	3,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0136056	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4000 m-ton per hr	8.4309	0.06223	8.4309	0.07773	0.15000	8.4309	0.5323	4,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0108426	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4500 m-ton per hr	9.4847	0.07487	9.4847	0.09352	0.15000	9.4847	0.6405	4,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0088751	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/5000 m-ton per hr	10.5386	0.08960	10.5386	0.11192	0.15000	10.5386	0.7665	5.000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0074197	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/5500 m-ton per hr	11.5925	0.10629	11.5925	0.13276	0.15000	11.5925	0.9092	5,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0063098	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6000 m-ton per hr	12.6463	0.12483	12.6463	0.15593	0.15000	12.6463	1.0679	6,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0054422	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6500 m-ton per hr	13.7002	0.14520	13,7002	0.18136	0.15000	13.7002	1.2420	6,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0047499	4.934	7.5
I - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/7000 m-ton per hr	14,7540	0.16733	14.7540	0.20902	0.15000	14.7540	1.4314	7,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0041876	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/7500 m-ton per hr	15.8079	0.19123	15.8079	0.23886	0.15000	15.8079	1.6358	7,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0037242	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/8000 m-ton per hr	16.8617	0.21685	16.8617	0.27087	0.15000	16.8617	1.8550	8,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0033372	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/8500 m-ton per hr	17.9156	0.24420	17.9156	0.30503	0.15000	17.9156	2.0690	8,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0030104	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/9000 m-ton per hr	18.9695	0.27326	18.9695	0.34133	0.15000	18.9695	2.3375	9,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0027316	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/9500 m-ton per hr	20.0233	0.30402	20.0233	0.37975	0.15000	20.0233	2.6007	9,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0024917	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/10000 m-ton per hr	21.0772	0.33648	21.0772	0.42030	0.15000	21.0772	2.8784	10,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0022837	4.934	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/1000 m-ton per hr	1.5806	0.18867	1.5808	0.25122	0.20000	1,5808	1.2903	1,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.2488684	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/1500 m-ton per hr	2.3712	0.09779	2.3712	0.13021	0.20000	2.3712	0.6688	1,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.1249150	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/2000 m-ton per hr	3.1616	0.06459	3.1616	0.08600	0.20000	3.1616	0.4417	2,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0765982	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/2500 m-ton per hr	3.9520	0.05040	3.9520	0.06711	0.20000	3.9520	0.3447	2,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0524170	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/3000 m-ton per hr	4.7424	0.04477	4.7424	0.05961	0.20000	4.7424	0.3062	3,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0384471	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/3500 m-ton per hr	5.5328	0.04385	5.5328	0.05839	0.20000	5.5328	0.2999	3.500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0295838	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/4000 m-ton per hr	6.3232	0.04596	6.3232	0.06120	0.20000	6.3232	0.3143	4,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0235759	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/4500 m-ton per hr	7.1135	0.05025	7.1135	0.06691	0.20000	7.1135	0.3437	4,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0192978	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/5000 m-ton per hr	7.9039	0.05627	7.9039	0.07492	0.20000	7.9039	0.3848	5,000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0161332	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/5500 m-ton per hr	8.6943	0.06372	8.6943	0.06485	0.20000	8.6943	0.4358	5.500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1,700	3.265	4.833	0.0137200	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/6000 m-ton per hr	9,4847	0.07246	9.4847	0.09648	0.20000	9,4847	0.4956	6.000	2,650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0118335	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/6500 m-ton per hr	10.2751	0.08237	10.2751	0.10967	0.20000	10.2751	0.5633	6,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0103280	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/7000 m-ton per hr	11.0655	0.09337	11.0555	0.12432	0.20000	11.0655	0.6386	7.000	2 650	0.7000	1.000	1,700	3 265	4.833	0.0091055	5.333	75
I - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/7500 m-ton per hr	11.8559	0.10542	11,8559	0.14036	0,20000	11.8559	0.7209	7,500	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1,700	3.265	4.833	0.0080978	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/8000 m-ton per hr	12.6463	0.11847	12,6463	0.15774	0.20000	12,6463	0.8102	8.000	2.650	0.7000	1.000	1.700	3.265	4.833	0.0072563	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/8500 m-ton per hr	13,4367	0.13251	13,4367	0.17643	0.20000	13,4367	0.9052	8,500	2,650	0.7000	1.000	1,700	3.265	4.833	0.0065457	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/9000 m-ton per hr	14,2271	0.14750	14.2271	0.19640	0.20000	14,2271	1.0088	9,000	2 650	0.7000	1.000	1,700	3 265	4.833	0.0059396	5.333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/9500 m-ton per hr	15,0175	0 16344	15,0175	0.21763	0,20000	15 0175	1,1178	9,500	2 650	0 7000	1.000	1,700	3 265	4.833	0.0054180	5 333	7.5
1 - Base Scenario D 65 meters pice/Curl = 0.20/10000 m-ton per br	15,8079	0 18022	15,8079	0.24010	0.20000	15 9079	1 2222	10,000	2 650	0.7000	1.000	1 700	3 265	4 933	0.0049656	5 122	7.5

Figure 14: The Output window shows the Slurry results table in the center Pipes section for multiple scenarios

Step 12. Transfer the Output Data to a Spreadsheet

The information displayed on the Slurry tab in the Output window can be copied and pasted directly into a spreadsheet application, such as Excel, as shown in Figure 15. If the scenarios and the output were set up carefully, the data will already be formatted in such a way that graphing the information using the spreadsheet graphing features can be extremely straightforward.

Using the data in the spreadsheet, plot the Jm vs. velocity data for the three lines of constant solids concentration, and the three lines of constant solids throughput, as shown in Figure 16.

Pipe	Velocity (meters/sec)	Jm (m/m)	Velocity (meters/sec)	lm (m/m)	Cv (Decimal)	Velocity (meters/sec)
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1000 m-ton per hr	2.1077	0.095	2.1077	0.1186	0.15	2.1077
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/1500 m-ton per hr	3.1616	0.0535	3.1616	0.0669	0.15	3.1616
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2000 m-ton per hr	4.2154	0.0416	4.2154	0.052	0.15	4.2154
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/2500 m-ton per hr	5.2693	0.0402	5.2693	0.0502	0.15	5.2693
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3000 m-ton per hr	6.3232	0.0443	6.3232	0.0553	0.15	6.3232
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/3500 m-ton per hr	7.377	0.0519	7.377	0.0648	0.15	7.377
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4000 m-ton per hr	8.4309	0.0622	8.4309	0.0777	0.15	8.4309
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/4500 m-ton per hr	9.4847	0.0749	9.4847	0.0935	0.15	9.4847
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/5000 m-ton per hr	10.5386	0.0896	10.5386	0.1119	0.15	10.5386
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/5500 m-ton per hr	11.5925	0.1063	11.5925	0.1328	0.15	11.5925
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6000 m-ton per hr	12.6463	0.1248	12.6463	0.1559	0.15	12.6463
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/6500 m-ton per hr	13.7002	0.1452	13.7002	0.1814	0.15	13.7002
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/7000 m-ton per hr	14.754	0.1673	14.754	0.209	0.15	14.754
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/7500 m-ton per hr	15.8079	0.1912	15.8079	0.2389	0.15	15.8079
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/8000 m-ton per hr	16.8617	0.2169	16.8617	0.2709	0.15	16.8617
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/8500 m-ton per hr	17.9156	0.2442	17.9156	0.305	0.15	17.9156
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/9000 m-ton per hr	18.9695	0.2733	18.9695	0.3413	0.15	18.9695
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/9500 m-ton per hr	20.0233	0.304	20.0233	0.3798	0.15	20.0233
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.15/10000 m-ton per hr	21.0772	0.3365	21.0772	0.4203	0.15	21.0772
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/1000 m-ton per hr	1.5808	0.1887	1.5808	0.2512	0.2	1.5808
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/1500 m-ton per hr	2.3712	0.0978	2.3712	0.1302	0.2	2.3712
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/2000 m-ton per hr	3.1616	0.0646	3.1616	0.086	0.2	3.1616
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/2500 m-ton per hr	3.952	0.0504	3.952	0.0671	0.2	3.952
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/3000 m-ton per hr	4.7424	0.0448	4.7424	0.0596	0.2	4.7424
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/3500 m-ton per hr	5.5328	0.0439	5.5328	0.0584	0.2	5.5328
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/4000 m-ton per hr	6.3232	0.046	6.3232	0.0612	0.2	6.3232
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/4500 m-ton per hr	7.1135	0.0503	7.1135	0.0669	0.2	7.1135
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/5000 m-ton per hr	7.9039	0.0563	7.9039	0.0749	0.2	7.9039
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/5500 m-ton per hr	8.6943	0.0637	8.6943	0.0849	0.2	8.6943
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/6000 m-ton per hr	9.4847	0.0725	9.4847	0.0965	0.2	9.4847
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/6500 m-ton per hr	10.2751	0.0824	10.2751	0.1097	0.2	10.2751
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/7000 m-ton per hr	11.0655	0.0934	11.0655	0.1243	0.2	11.0655
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/7500 m-ton per hr	11.8559	0.1054	11.8559	0.1404	0.2	11.8559
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/8000 m-ton per hr	12.6463	0.1185	12.6463	0.1577	0.2	12.6463
1 - Base Scenario/0.65 meters pipe/Cvd = 0.20/8500 m-ton per hr	13.4367	0.1325	13.4367	0.1764	0.2	13.4367

Figure 15: The Slurry results table in the Output window can be copied and pasted into a spreadsheet application in order to utilize the graphing features of the spreadsheet to generate the slurry system curves

Step 13. Analyze the Results

The results are shown in Figure 16. The solid lines refer to the constant solids concentration cases, and the broken lines refer to the constant throughput cases.



Figure 16: Slurry system curves for Slurry System Feasibility Study example

The arrows on the graph indicate the proposed operating conditions for the system on the 4000 m-ton/hr constant throughput line.

It is evident from the system characteristics that the proposed operating point Condition B, with the lower specific energy consumption, does not represent a feasible operating point for this slurry system. The system characteristics show the Jm decreasing as the mean velocity increases, so the operation would be unstable.

Even the first proposed operating condition, Condition A, is marginal. If the pump has a variable speed drive, and the solids concentration of the system does not fluctuate very much, this operating point could be used. However, as Figure 16 shows, if the concentrations vary from 3500 m-ton/hr to 4500 m-ton/hr, then the system operation is close to unstable for Condition A as well.

In order to allow for fluctuations in solids concentrations during system operations, and still maintain stable operation, it would be better to operate closer to the standard velocity. The standard velocity point is also shown in Figure 14 at about 7.5 m/s.

For this case, if operability is also considered, lower slurry concentrations, and higher energy consumption should be used to ensure system stability. Further, as discussed in the original reference, a different diameter pipe can be considered. The original reference suggests 0.55 m pipe as a better option than 0.65 m pipe because of operation closer to the standard velocity and lower capital cost. The examples below utilize the Automated Network Sizing module.

Fathom ANS Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
Beginner - Three-Reser- voir Model	Beginner	Water	3	0	Learn the basics of the ANS module such as defining all panels in the Sizing window to achieve a minimum flow volume objective
<u>Control Valve</u>	Beginner	Water	2	0	Learn how to use the ANS module and how Common Size Groups work to minimize the pipe weight of a system.
<u>Cooling Sys</u> - <u>tem, Creating</u> <u>Libraries</u>	Intermediate	Water	21	2	Learn how to build cost lib- raries and engineering lib- raries for use with the ANS module. See how to use Scale Tables for defining pump or bend costs, how to specify material versus installation costs, and how to define costs for pipes.
Cooling System	Intermediate	Water	21	2	Learn how to use the ANS module to minimize monetary cost based on initial cost and recurring costs. See how to use the Assign Cost Libraries panel and the Sizing Summary panel. Explore how the system life and the sizing objective impacts the optimal pipe sizes.
Cooling Sys- tem, Multiple Design Cases	Intermediate	Water	21	2	Learn how to use the ANS module to define and size a system based on a dependent design configuration, called a Dependent Design Case.
Hot Water Sys- tem	Intermediate	Water	24	3	Learn how to use the ANS module to define a system with multiple specific design

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
					requirements and minimize ini- tial and recurring costs. See how to use a Dependent Design Case to see how a sys- tem configuration affects the system sizing.
Variable Drive	Intermediate	Lube Oil	23	2	Learn how to use the ANS module to see the life cycle cost savings in a sized system using a Variable Frequency Drive instead of a Control Valve.
Housing Project	Advanced	Water	25	0	Learn how to use the ANS module to size a system with more than one Dependent Design Case with unique design requirements for each dependent case.

Beginner - Three Reservoir Problem - ANS

Summary

The objective of this example is to familiarize the user with the panels in the ANS module. We will apply automated sizing to determine the ideal pipe sizes from our previously built three-reservoir model to reduce costs while meeting certain requirements.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Minimizing the flow volume to minimize cost
- Specifying Pipe Design Requirements
- Choosing Candidate Sets

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also

watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Beginner Three Reservoir.fth
- US Beginner Three Reservoir ANS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the US - Beginner - Three Reservoir Problem.fth example file and save it as a new file.

We will be using the Base Scenario to compare the original results without Sizing to the results with Sizing. Create a child scenario named *Sized*.

The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Layout of Three Reservoir Model in Workspace

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Figure 2 below shows the Analysis menu options when ANS is activated.



Figure 2: Activating Network Sizing from the Analysis menu

Step 4. Configure Sizing Settings

Here we will pursue a brief introduction to some of the sizing capabilities in the ANS module. A more complete discussion is given in the AFT Fathom Help file.

The Sizing window is comprised of multiple panels which can be accessed using the buttons on the Sizing Navigation panel along the bottom of the window, as shown in Figure 3. The sizing panels can be accessed in any order, though it is easiest to enter the information by navigating the panels from left to right, since the input on panels such as the Sizing Objective and Sizing Assignments panels will affect the options available on later panels. Depending on the type of sizing being done, some panels may be disabled or unused.

Each panel button contains either a green checkmark or red circle which denotes the completion status of that panel. If the minimum required information is present to run the model, the symbol will be green, whereas the red symbol represents incomplete input. The amount of information required will vary based on whether the Sizing Level Status (located on the Sizing Objective panel) is set to Perform Sizing, Calculate Costs, or Do Not Size. A detailed summary of the items which have been completed and the items which are still incomplete can be seen in the Sizing Status panel, opened from the Sizing Toolbar.

Note that some panels will always be shown as complete since the model can be run without any additional information entered on them, such as with the Design Requirements panel. However, in order to find the best system design it will often be necessary to enter more than the minimum information required by the solver.

The Lock Panel toggle located on the Sizing Toolbar prevents changes to the current panel when it is enabled. This is primarily useful to prevent editing once a scenario has been run, since any changes that are made to a scenario which has output will cause all output to be erased. By default, the ANS module will lock all panels after a sizing run is completed, requiring panels to be unlocked before any changes can be made. This setting can be changed on the Sizing Objective panel. All panels can be locked or unlocked simultaneously by using the Lock/Unlock All Panels buttons on the Sizing Toolbar.

🧨 Workspace	🧳 Sizing	📳 Model Data	🛄 Output	🖄 Graph Res	ults <	💽 Visual Report]	
Cock Panel	띁 Lock All Par	nels 💣 Unlock	All Panels	Show Status Pa	nel			
			Sizing Lock Opti	ions ting Windows After It Set As [Run ? Default]		
Perform Sizing	Perform Sizing Calculate Weight, Do Not Size Do Not Size Calculate Do Not Size Calculate Size Calculate Do Not Size Calculate Do Not Size Calculate Size Calculate Size Calculate Do Not Size Calculate Size Calculate Size Calculate Do Not Size Calculate Size							
Objective Pipe We Pipe and Flow Vo Pipe Inn Monetar Minimize	eight d Fluid Weight lume er Surface Area y Cost							
Description a	nd Help							
Sizing Objective	Sizing Assignments	Candidate Sets F	Design Requirements	Assign Cost Libraries	Sizing Method	Sizing Summary		

Figure 3: Sizing Window showing common sizing panel features

A. Sizing Objective

The Sizing Objective panel is used to set the Sizing Option, which is the type of calculation that will be performed, and to select an Objective which will be used in the sizing process.

For the Sizing Option, Perform Sizing should generally be selected, since this is the primary function of the ANS module. However, the other two options may be used for troubleshooting or informational purposes. For example, the Calculate Cost, Do Not Size option may be useful to calculate an initial cost for the system, or to verify your cost libraries. The Do Not Size option allows the model to be run normally in AFT Fathom without requiring any cost or sizing information. This is useful to preserve the information already entered in the Sizing window.

>Select Perform Sizing (if not already selected) to begin configuring the sizing settings.

Note: The Sizing Option can always be seen on the box on the left of the Sizing Navigation panel. Clicking this box will bring you to the Sizing Objective panel, where this status can be changed.

The easiest way to size the system is to set the objective to a non-monetary value such as pipe weight or flow volume rather than directly analyzing monetary cost. Here we will minimize flow volume. The flow volume is merely the sum of the internal volumes of all sized pipes. As the flow volume is minimized, the pipe material, and therefore cost, is minimized along with it. Typically it is recommended to use the pipe

weight option, as this will have the best correlation to cost. However, certain systems, such as ducts may be better sized using flow volume.

Although we will not do so here, the ANS module can also minimize the monetary cost of the system. This is more powerful than sizing for flow volume, but also requires more time investment in setting up cost libraries.

For the Objective, choose Flow Volume, and make sure Minimize is selected from the drop-down list. The Sizing Objective panel should now appear as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Sizing Objective set to minimize flow volume

B. Sizing Assignments

On the Sizing Navigation panel at the bottom of the window select the Sizing Assignments button. The Sizing Assignments panel allows the user to define what objects will be sized in the model, and what will be included in the cost calculation without being sized. Common Size Groups for pipes, or Maximum Cost Groups for pumps/control valves can be created on this panel as well when appropriate.

Let's consider the Sizing Assignments for the pipes, which should be displayed by default when we open this panel.

In the Sizing and Volume Options table there are several options under the categories to Automatically Size, or Do Not Size the pipe.

If an Automatically Size option is selected, the ANS module will treat the pipe diameter as a variable and vary it according to certain criteria that will be discussed shortly.

For a new system, typically all pipes will be desired to be sized and included in the cost, which is being calculated in terms of volume in this case. If you are instead analyzing the possible replacement of existing pipes, it may be better to size the pipes, but only include the cost if the size changes from that which exists.

If Do Not Size is selected, the pipe will retain the settings currently set in the Workspace. Why would one choose to not size a pipe? There could be a number of reasons, but one good reason is that the pipe represents a pipe in an existing system and the design does not allow the replacement of that pipe with a new one. Therefore its diameter is fixed, and sizing the pipe would serve no purpose.

Another reason may be if a certain size is necessary for the design due to certain requirements, in which case the pipe cost can be included without sizing the pipe by choosing Include in Cost.

This model is a new system, so all pipes will be sized and included in the cost.

>Select Always Include in Volume for all three pipes (Figure 5).

Since we want to size the pipes independently in this model, we do not need to make any changes to the Pipe Grouping section of the table, so this panel is complete.

Note: For models which have junctions that can be sized, a Junctions button at the top of this panel will be available to set the Junctions Sizing Assignments. In this case we have chosen to analyze flow volume. While this value can easily be calculated for the pipes, Fathom does not have enough information to calculate a flow volume for the branch or the reservoirs, which means that they cannot be sized using this method, and the Junctions tab is unavailable. This same limitation exists when using other non-monetary objectives as well, such as pipe weight. If the size of a junction will have a large impact on the system cost, such as a pump, Monetary Cost should be used as the Objective.

🖉 Worksp	pace 🧳 Sizing 📳 Mod	el Data 🛛 🔛 Output 🛛 🖄 G	Graph Results 💿 Visual Rep	ort					
r Undo	🖝 Undo 🔹 🦔 Redo 🝸 🖆 Lock Panel 🚔 Lock All Panels 🔮 Unlock All Panels 📗 Show Status Panel								
Pipes	Ppes								
Sizing A	ssignments								
Move to:	Always Include in Volume	Include in Volume if Size Changes	Include in Volume	Do Not Include in Volume	New	ame Delete Move To			
		Sizing and Vo	olume Options		Pipe Grouping				
^ Pipes	Automatic	cally Size	Do No	t Size	Notin				
	Always Include in Volume	Include in Volume if Size Changes	Include in Volume	Do Not Include in Volume	Group				
P1	۲	0	0	0	۲				
P2	۲	0	0	0	۲				
P3	۲	0	0	0	۲				
All Selected: 0	Al None Invest Workspace Special Selected: 0 of 3 V Percentions and Halp								
	ng Sizing Candida) (X) ate Design Assi	Sizing Siz	ing					

Figure 5: Sizing Assignments panel for Three Reservoir model

C. Candidate Sets

Click on the Candidate Sets button to open the Candidate Sets panel.

Since commercial piping is limited to certain sizes, the ANS module needs a list of possible sizes from which to choose. This list is called a *Candidate Set*.

So as not to limit the sizing unnecessarily, the candidate sets should include both smaller and larger pipes than your anticipated final size. If you make the candidate set too small, you may limit the ability of the ANS module to find the best sizing. It is better to make the candidate set too large than too small. Experience applying the ANS module to actual systems will help you choose appropriate candidate sets. If after obtaining a solution you find that one or more of the sized pipes is at the extreme of the candidate set a warning will appear, and it is recommended to expand the defined candidate set.

To create a Candidate Set, do the following:

- 1. Under Define Candidate Sets, click **New**.
- 2. Give the set the name *All STD* and click **OK**.
- 3. From the drop down list choose **Steel ANSI** if it is not already selected.
- 4. At the bottom of the Select Pipe Sizes window, make sure the Sort option selection is **Type**, **Schedule**, **Class**.
- 5. In the Available Material Sizes and Types list on the left, **select (not expand) STD** so that the schedule name is now highlighted.
- 6. Click **Add** to add all STD pipe sizes to the list on the right.
- 7. Click OK.

The All STD set will now appear.

We will apply the All STD set shortly. First, let's take a moment to understand what we have just done. We have created a candidate set that includes all pipe sizes in the library that are Steel - ANSI STD. At the low end this includes 1/8 inch pipe, and at the high end 48 inch pipe. This candidate set contains pipe sizes from a library of steel ANSI pipe, and not just specific pipes from the model. After we apply this candidate set to a specific pipe in the model and the sizing is run, the ANS module will select the best pipe size from this set of pipe sizes to achieve the objective.

We now need to define which pipes will use this Candidate Set during the sizing calculation. Each pipe that is being sized must have a Candidate Set assigned to it. Under Assign Candidate Sets to Pipes, **set each pipe in the model to use All STD** by selecting the radio button under this candidate set for each of the pipes. The Candidate Sets should now be fully defined and assigned to the appropriate pipes, as can be seen in Figure 6.

🧪 Workspace	🧳 Sizing	📑 Model Data	Output	🖄 Graph Results	💿 Visual Report
🖆 Lock Panel 🧯	Lock All Pa	nels Unlock A	All Panels	Show Status Panel	
Define Candia	date Sets				
New	Edit	Rename Del	K ete Save	Load	Note: The Candidate
Set Name	Pi	pe Material			^
All STD	Steel - ANS	SI			
Sizes in Se	et: 1/8 inch, S	TD (schedule 40)			
	1/4 inch, S	TD (schedule 40)			
	3/8 inch, S	TD (schedule 40)			
	1/2 inch, S	TD (schedule 40)			
	3/4 Inch, S	ID (schedule 40)			~
Assign Candid	late Sets to F	Pipes			
Assign To					
Pipes	Candi	date Sets			
Not in Group	No Set	AII STD			
P1	0	•			
P3					
10	0				
	All None	Invert Workspa	ce Special	Selected: 0 of 3	Note: The Candidate
Description and	d Help		Ŧ		
T Sizing Objective	Sizing Assignments	Candidate Sets Re	X Design equirements	Assign Cost Libraries	g Sizing Summary

Figure 6: Candidate Sets window fully defined for the Three Reservoir model

D. Design Requirements

Select the Design Requirements button. If we do not define any design requirements for the model, the ANS module will automatically choose the smallest pipe size in the Candidate Set, since it has the smallest flow volume. Along with the smallest pipes we may get unacceptably low flow rates, or unacceptably high velocities and pressure drops. To maintain acceptable system operating conditions, we need to set design requirements.

We are going to define two design requirements for this case. Before adding any requirements, let's look more closely at the results of the model we are starting with. All pipe diameters are nominal 8 inch, and the results show that the water flows from reservoir J1 to reservoirs J2 and J3. The flowrate out of J1 is 2,388.0 gal/min, and the flowrates to J2 and J3 are 754.2 and 1,633.8 gal/min, respectively. Let's assume that there is a requirement to draw a minimum of 2,500 gal/min from J1, and to deliver at least

750 gal/min each to J2 and J3. What is the combination of pipe sizes which achieve the desired objective while still meeting these demands? In our case, we are defining the objective as minimizing the internal volume of the pipes (i.e., length times internal cross-sectional area).

We need to create two Design Requirements that represent the flow requirements at the reservoirs in order to answer this question. We will do this by defining Design Requirements for the inlet/outlet flowrates of the pipes where they connect to each of the Reservoirs. To do this:

- 1. Make sure that the **Pipes** button is selected.
- 2. Click **New** under Define Design Requirements.
- 3. Enter a name when prompted: *Min Flow Supply*. Click **OK**.
- 4. A new row will appear in the Pipe Design Requirements table. In this row, select **Volumetric Flow Rate** as the Parameter.
- 5. Choose **Minimum** for Max/Min.
- 6. Enter 2500 gal/min.
- 7. Now repeat the above process to define *Min Flow Delivery* with a **Volumetric Flow Rate Minimum** of **750 gal/min**.

To be functional, we need to apply these Design Requirements to the correct pipes. There are no limits to the number of Design Requirements that can be defined and applied.

In the Assign Design Requirements to Pipes section, expand the pipe list. Select the check box for Min Flow Supply next to pipe P1, and Min Flow Delivery next to pipes P2 and P3. This will set the minimum flow rate coming out of Reservoir J1 and going into Reservoirs J2 and J3 as described above. The fully defined and assigned Design Requirements are shown in Figure 7.

2° Wo	orkspace 🧳	Sizing 🔡 Model [Data 🔲 🤇	Dutput	🖄 Graph Resi	ults 💽	Visual Report	
💣 Loc	🖆 Lock Panel 🛛 🤷 Lock All Panels 📲 Unlock All Panels 🔢 Show Status Panel							
	Pince - Gene	aral Junctions						
	efine Pipe Desig	gn Requirements						
) Ne	Duplica	ste Rename	X Delete	Delete Al	Note: The	Design Req	uirement definitions (
	Name	Parame	ter	Location	Max/Min	Value	Units	
1	Min Flow Supply	Volumetric Flow	Rate 🗸 N	A 🗸	Minimum 🗸	2500	gal/min 🗸	
2	Min Flow Delive	ry Volumetric Flow	Rate 🗸 N	A v	Minimum \vee	750	gal/min 🗸	
A 🔊	Assign Design Requirements to Pipes							
C	Common Size Groups	Min Flow Supply (> 2500 gal/min)	Min Flov (> 750	Delivery gal/min)				
	Notin Group		[
F	21	\checkmark	[_			
F	2		6					
F	-3		Ŀ					
	🗄 🗐 😂 Sho	owing: 3 of 3 Pipes (All)					Note: The Design	
	escription and Hel	n	Ŧ					
	a stription and hol	P						
Ť	Sizing S	izing Candidate	(X) Design		Assign	Sizing	Sizing	
	Objective Assig	anments Sets	Dequirem	ante Co		Method	Summany	

Figure 7: Design Requirements window with the minimum flow requirements defined

E. Assign Cost Libraries

When the Sizing Objective has been defined as Monetary Cost, it is necessary to create and assign cost libraries for the automated sizing, which can be done in the Assign Cost Libraries panel. Since we have defined the objective as Pipe Flow Volume, we will not need to assign any cost libraries, and this button is grayed out.

F. Sizing Method

Select the Sizing Method button to go to the Sizing Method panel.

The Sizing Method panel is used to set up the calculation methods for sizing the system. You can select whether discrete or continuous sizing will be used, and which method will be applied.

If Continuous Sizing is selected, the ANS module will ignore the defined Candidate Sets and report the ideal hydraulic diameter for the pipes being sized, which will likely not match any of the possible chosen commercial sizes. While this is not useful as a final solution, this may be helpful as a baseline to check the final solution using the provided discrete methods. Discrete Sizing will typically perform a continuous

sizing calculation as a basis, after which multiple discrete sizes above and below this solution will be evaluated to find the ideal sizing based on the provided Candidate Set.

≻For this model, use Discrete Sizing.

For the Search Method, the ideal method will often change based on the number of independent pipe sizes (shown in the Sizing Assignments panel on the bottom right), number of Design Requirements, and feasibility of the initial system design. The Help file provides more information on the strengths and weak-nesses of each method. It is generally recommended to run the sizing with more than one method, as it is often not obvious which method will be most effective for each system. The suggest Method button can be used as a guide for which method to start with.

For a simple model such as this one, the MMFD or SQP method should be appropriate since there are only a few Design Requirements, and only three pipes are being varied.

>Choose the default Modified Method of Feasible Directions (MMFD).

Step 5. Run the Model

Select Run from the Analysis menu. While the model is running, the Solution Progress window shows the Sizing Calls to Solver. This is how many times a complete hydraulic analysis was run.

The solver also displays the Current Cost and Best Feasible Cost, which will display the last calculated value for the cost, as well as the Best Feasible Cost which has been found so far (Figure 8). The solver will continue to iterate using the defined method until it finds the ideal sizing. For the selected method, the solver will first perform a continuous sizing to find a starting point, then test discrete solutions close to this continuous solution to find the final, discrete solution.

Note: At any time during the run, the user can pause the solution and use the Other Actions button to accept the currently displayed Best Feasible Cost as the final solution. For this example the solution is found and displayed quickly, but for larger systems with many pipes being sized, it may be more productive to pause the solution and accept the current solution in order to save time, especially if the displayed cost does not appear to be decreasing much further.

Maximum Iterations:	50000		Run Time: 5	.91
Relaxation: Sizing Method: Sizing Goal:	Automatic Modified Method of Feasible Directi Discrete - Objective Costs Include:	ions Flow Volume		
		Absolute Tolerance Max Out of Tol.	Relative Tolerance Max Out of Tol.	Total Iterations
Head: 1.0E-04 Relativ Not used (A	ve Change bsolute Change feet)	3.831E-05	3.900E-09	5215
Vol. Flow Rate: 1.0E- Not used (A	04 Relative Change bsolute Change gal/min)	5.238E-05	2.081E-08	695
Temperature:				
Sizing Calls To Solver	: (Objective Units - feet3)	Best Feasible Cost 1,844	Current Cost 1,844	242
Setting up input Determining connectiv Checking sizing setup Initializing model Running Solver Initial design is infeasil Performing continuous Continuous cost was Performing discrete siz Discrete sizing calcula	rity s sizing 1,794 (feet3) (Solver Calls = 116, Ti ing stions complete.	3) me = 2.91)		

Figure 8: Solution Progress Window showing the progress of the sizing calculation

Step 6. Review the Sized Results

Click the View Output button to see the results. The General section shows the Cost Report, which indicates the volumes for the final solution. As shown in Figure 9, the minimum total volume identified by the ANS module was 1,844 feet3. In the Pipes section of the output on the Sizing tab, the final pipe sizes of 10, 8, and 6 inches are shown (Figure 9).

Now switch to the Pipe Design Requirements tab in the Pipe section (Figure 10). We can confirm that the calculated design is feasible, since all of the Design Requirements were met. That is, the flow from J1 (as shown in pipe P1) exceeded 2,500 gal/min, and the flows to J2 and J3 exceeded 750 gal/min. Notice that some of the Design Requirements are highlighted, indicating that they were active. An active design requirement is defined as a requirement that had an impact on the solution. If an active design requirement were disabled, a different solution would be found. Yellow highlights indicate that the design requirement was active in the final solution, while blue highlights indicate that the requirement was active when the continuous sizing was performed, but became inactive when the solver switched to discrete sizing.

You can also display the adjusted pipe sizes and resulting flow rates in the Visual Report.
1	\$	General	Warnings	Desig	n Alerts	Cost	Report	Rese	rvoir S	ummary	
		1	Table Units: feet3		Туре	Nar	me Vo	low lume			
		Total of	All Shown	Costs				1,844			
		Items In	Sizing					1,844			
		Items N	ot In Sizing					0			
		Pipe Su	btotal					1,844			
	0	P1			Pipe	Pipe		548			
	0	P2			Pipe	Pipe		695			
	0	P3			Pipe	Pipe		602			
1	:	Pipes S	bizing Pipe	Design	Require	ments	5				
	Pip	Nam pe	e Sizeo Materi	ial I	Sized Nominal	- Size	Si Type/	ized - Schedu	le	Sized - H Diamet (inche	lyd. er s)
	1	l Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 1	0 inch		STD (sc	hedule	40)	10	.020
	2	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 8	inch		STD (sc	hedule	40)	7	981

Figure 9: Output Window with Cost Report and Pipe Sizes for Three Reservoir Model

6 inch

STD (schedule 40)

6.065

1	e Pip	bes Sizing Pipe Design Require	ments
	Pipe	Volumetric Flow Rate Minimum > 2500 gal/min [Min Flow Supply]	Volumetric Flow Rate Minimum > 750 gal/min [Min Flow Delivery]
[1	2,518	
	2		1,553.9
	3		963.9

Figure 10: Design Requirements results for Three Reservoir Model

Transferring Sized Results

3

Pipe

Steel - ANSI

When performing sizing, the Transfer Results to Initial Guesses feature on the Output window Edit menu takes on new meaning. When used in a non-sizing context, this feature takes the solved hydraulic results (i.e., pressures, flows rates, etc.) and assigns them to the initial guess values for the pipes and junctions.

When you select Transfer Results to Initial Guesses after automated sizing, you will see a dialog window appear like that shown in Figure 11. The ANS module allows you to transfer the hydraulic results, the

sized pipe diameters, or both. If you transfer the sized pipe diameters, each pipe's input diameter (back on the Workspace) will become the sized diameter.

This feature allows the sizing results to be saved to the model for use in further analysis as needed.

Transfer Results Options
Transfer which data?
 Both Calculated Pipe Sizes and Calculated Results Calculated Pipe Sizes Only Calculated Results only
✓ OK Cancel ② Help

Figure 11: After sizing, the Transfer Results to Initial Guesses feature transfers both the hydraulic results and sized pipe size results

Conclusion

You have now used performed a network sizing to minimize flow volume with the ANS module.

Control Valve - ANS

Summary

This example will show how to use the ANS module to size a system based on pipe weight. For many systems the necessary cost data is not available to directly minimize cost, so minimizing system parameters such as weight or flow volume is useful. By minimizing parameters such as these we minimize pipe diameter, which directly correlates to minimizing pipe costs.

We will create a system that feeds water from an elevated reservoir to a lower reservoir at a specified flow rate. A control valve will be used to control the flow rate and can be placed anywhere within the line. We will need to determine what size of piping to use in order to achieve a minimum pressure drop of 12.5 psid across the control valve.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Sizing using pipe weight
- Creating a Common Size Group
- Defining Control Valve Design Requirements

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Control Valve.fth
- US Control Valve ANS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the **US** - **Control Valve.fth** example file and save it as a new file. Create a child scenario from the Base Scenario named *Sized*. The workspace should look like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Control Valve System Layout

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Configure Sizing Settings

In this model we are going to perform sizing to minimize the pipe weight (therefore minimizing cost), while maintaining a minimum pressure drop of 12.5 psid across the control valve.

To do this, first go to the Sizing window by clicking on the Sizing tab, or from the Windows menu.

A. Sizing Objective

The Sizing Objective panel should be selected by default from the Sizing Navigation Panel along the bottom of the window. Input the following:

- 1. Sizing Option = Perform Sizing
- 2. Objective = Pipe Weight
- 3. Option = Minimize

B. Sizing Assignments

On the Sizing Navigation Panel at the bottom of the window select the Sizing Assignments button.

In this case we are sizing a new pipeline, so we want to size all pipes in the model.

>Under Automatically Size select Always Include in Weight next to both pipes.

For this system it is required that both pipes be the same size. We will need to add both pipes to a Common Size Group to specify this. Do the following:

- 1. Click **New** above Pipe Grouping
- 2. Enter the a name *Main Pipes* and click **OK**. A new section will now appear with the Main Pipes group listed under Common Size Groups.
- 3. Add both pipes to this group by clicking the corresponding radio buttons (Figure 2).

Note that as many Common Size Groups as necessary can be created. Selection tools are available at the bottom of the window to help assign multiple pipes to a Common Size Group for larger models. Additionally, pipes can only be assigned to a group once they are set to be included in sizing.

👔 Works	pace 🧳 Sizing 📳 Moo	iel Data 🛛 🕅 Output 🛛 🖄	Graph Results 💿 Visual Re	port									
🖛 Undo	🔹 🕋 Redo 📑 🤷 Lock Pa	nel 🛛 🛍 Lock All Panels 🥞	Unlock All Panels	Status Panel									
Pipes	5												
Sizing A	Sizing Assignments												
Move to:	Always Include in Weight	Include in Weight if Size Changes	Include in Weight	Do Not Include in Weight	New	AB T Delete	Move To						
		Sizing and	√eight Options		Pip	e Grouping							
^ Pipes	Automatically Size		Do N	Do Not Size		Common Size Groups							
	Always Include in Weight	Include in Weight if Size Changes	Include in Weight	Do Not Include in Weight	Group	Main Pipes							
P1	۲	0	0	0	0	۲							
P2	۲	0	0	0	0	۲							
All Selected: (All None Invert Workspace Special. Number of Independent Pipe Sizes: 1 Selected: 0 of 2 Description and Help												
Sizi Objec	ng Sizing Candid ctive Assignments Sets	ate Design As Requirements Cost L	sign Sizing Si Ibraries Method Sun	zing Imary									

Figure 2: Pipes P1 and P2 settings in the Sizing Assignments window

C. Candidate Sets

Click on the Candidate Sets button to open the Candidate Sets panel.

- 1. Under Define Candidate Sets, click New.
- 2. Give the set the name *STD Pipes* and click **OK**.
- 3. In the Select Pipe Sizes window, choose **Steel ANSI** from the drop-down menu if not already selected.
- 4. Make sure the Sort selection is for **Type**, **Schedule**, **Class** at the bottom of the window.
- 5. In the Available Material Sizes and Types on the left, **expand** the STD pipe sizes list.
- 6. Double-click each of the sizes from 1 inch to 12 inch to add them to the list on the right.
- 7. Now click OK.

The STD Pipes set will now appear as a Candidate Set at the top.

We now need to define which pipes will use this Candidate Set during the sizing calculation.

>Under Assign Candidate Sets to Pipes, set the Main Pipes Common Size Group to use the STD Pipes Candidate Set. The Candidate Sets are now fully defined and assigned to the appropriate pipes, as can be seen in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Candidate Sets panel fully defined for the Control Valve model

D. Design Requirements

Select the Design Requirements button.

For this model we only have one Design Requirement, which is for the minimum pressure drop across the Control Valve. To define this requirement:

- 1. Select the **Control Valves** button at the top of the window.
- 2. Click **New** under Define Control Valve Design Requirements.
- 3. When prompted, enter the name *Min Pressure Drop*.
- 4. Next to Min Pressure Drop in the table, select **Pressure Drop Static** as the Parameter.
- 5. Choose **Minimum** as the Max/Min option.
- 6. Enter 12.5 psid.

Now we need to apply the defined Design Requirement to the Junction.

>Check the box next to the Control Valve J2 in the Assign Design Requirements to Control Valves section.

Note: Control valves must always have a design requirement specified for the minimum pressure drop/head, or the maximum Cv/percent open at the valve to ensure that reasonable operating conditions exist at the control valve. If no Design Requirements are applied, the ANS module will allow the control valve to control to any pressure required to meet the control setpoint, even if this requires the control valve to add pressure to the system. To avoid this in the final solution, a Design Requirement should be applied.

E. Assign Cost Libraries

When the Sizing Objective has been defined as Monetary Cost, it is necessary to create and assign cost libraries for the automated sizing, which can be done in the Assign Cost Libraries panel. Since we have defined the objective as Pipe Weight, we will not need to assign any cost libraries, and this button is grayed out.

F. Sizing Method

Select the Sizing Method button to go to the corresponding panel.

Make sure **Discrete Sizing** is selected, since we are sizing based on commercial pipe sizes.

For the Search Method in a simple model such as this one, the MMFD or SQP method should be appropriate since there is only one Design Requirement, and only one pipe size is being varied. Choose the default **Modified Method of Feasible Directions (MMFD)**.

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Review the Sized Results

The output is shown below in Figure 4. We have shown all three sections of the output window with the General, Pipes, and Junctions sections. In the General Section, the Cost Report tab shows the minimized pipe weight for each of the pipes that were sized based on the design requirements.

In the pipe section, the Sizing tab is selected to show the final pipe sizes that were chosen. The ideal pipe size was found to be 6 inch pipe for this case. In the Junction section, the CV Design Requirements tab is shown. It can be seen that the Control Valve Design Requirement was met. The Design Requirement is colored blue, indicating that it was active in the final solution.

3	\$	General	Warnings	Desig	n Alerts	Cos	t Repor	t Valv	e Summ	ary	Res∈ ≤	×
			Table Units: Ibm		Туре	Na	me \	Pipe ∧/eight				
		Total of All Shown Costs						3,795				
		Items In Sizing						3,795				
		Items N	ot In Sizing					0				
		Pipe Su	btotal					3,795				
	0	P1			Pipe	Pipe		1,897				Ŀ
	0	P2			Pipe	Pipe		1,897]			Ŀ
1	\$	Pipes S	Sizing									
	Pip	Nam pe	e Sizeo Materi	ial	Sized Nominal	l - Size	Тур	Sized - e/Scheo	lule	Size Dia (in	d - Hyd. ameter iches)	
	1	l Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 6	6 inch		STD (schedul	e 40)		6.065	
	2	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 6	6 inch		STD (s	schedul	e 40)		6.065	Ŀ
3	•	All Juncti	ons CV De	sign Re	equireme	ents	Control	Valve	Reserv	oir		
	Jc	Press t	sure Drop St > 12.5 p [Min Pressu	atic Mir sid re Drop	nimum]							
	2		12.6	1]						

Figure 4: Output window for Control Valve Sizing

Step 7. Change the Control Valve Location

Now we would like to try something to further improve the system. For the first cut, we assumed that the control valve was in the middle of the pipe and that the pipes had to be the same size. If the pipes do not have to be the same length or size, we can further minimize the pipe weight and theoretically the cost of the piping.

To do this we will create another scenario.

- 1. In the Scenario Manager, **create a child** from the Sized scenario and name it *Unequal Pipes*. There should now be a check mark icon next to the scenario name to show that it is active.
- 2. On the Workspace open the Pipe Properties window for pipe P1 and change the length to **150 feet**.
- 3. Open the Pipe Properties window for pipe P2 and change the length to **50 feet**.
- 4. Go to the **Sizing** tab and click the **Sizing Assignments** button in the Sizing Navigation panel.
- 5. In the Pipe Grouping section of the table set **both** pipes to **Not in Group**. This will allow their sizes to be varied separately.

The scenario is now complete.

Step 8. Run New Scenario and Review Results

Now, we will run this scenario and see if we have minimized the pipe weight further. Select Run from the Analysis menu and allow the ANS module to size the system. When the analysis is complete, select Output to view the results.

The output window is shown below in Figure 5. We can see that pipe 2 was now chosen as 5 inch but pipe 1 was still chosen as 6 inch. Since pipe 1 was smaller the pressure drop across the pipe was greater, so the pressure drop across the valve was reduced from 12.61 to 12.52 psid. The pipe weight was reduced from 3,795 to 3,577 lbm.

3	2	General	Warnings	Desig	n Alerts	Cos	t Repo	rt Valv	e Summa	ary	Rese	(►
		-	Table Units: Ibm		Туре	Na	me	Pipe Weight				
		Total of All Shown Costs					3,577					
		Items In Sizing						3,577				
		Items N	ot In Sizing					0				
		Pipe Su	btotal				_	3,577				
	0	P1			Pipe	Pipe	•	2,846				
	0	P2			Pipe	Pipe	•	731				
3	\$	Pipes S	Sizing									
	Pip	Nam	e Sizeo Mater	ial I	Sized Nominal	- Size	Ту	Sized - pe/Sched	ule	õizeo Dia (in	d - Hyd. meter ches)	
	1	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 6	inch		STD (schedule	e 40)		6.065	5
	2	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 5	inch		STD (schedule	e 40)		5.047	7
3	:	All Juncti	ons CV De	sign Re	quireme	nts	Contro	l Valve	Reserve	oir		
	Jct	t Pro	essure Drop > 12. [Min Pres	Static M 5 psid sure Dro	(linimum op]							
	2		12	.52								

Figure 5: Output window for Unequal Pipes Scenario

Conclusion

This example has demonstrated how simple it is to perform an automated sizing to design a system for a set of requirements. Pipe weight may not be directly proportional to pipe cost but it can be implemented very quickly when cost data is not available.

Cooling System - Creating Libraries - ANS

Summary

This example focuses on creating Engineering and Cost Libraries for a system, then connecting the libraries to the model in order to obtain accurate results based on the cost data.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Using external libraries
- Building engineering and cost libraries
- Using Scale Tables for cost
- Connecting and using existing engineering and cost libraries

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

This example is an addendum to the <u>Cooling System - ANS</u> example, but can be worked separately from the example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Cooling System.fth
- US Cooling System Libraries ANS.fth
- Creating Libraries Cost Templates.xlsx template file for building cost libraries
- Creating Libraries.dat completed engineering library
- Creating Libraries Costs.cst completed cost library for Creating Libraries.dat
- Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.cst completed cost library for Steel ANSI pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the **US - Cooling System.fth** example file and save it as a new file. We will not need the existing child scenarios for this example: right click on the Base Scenario in the Scenario Manager and select Delete All Children.

For the analysis we will be creating the library files for a completed model file to focus solely on using libraries as part of the costing and/or sizing process.

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Creating an Engineering Library

If it is desired to size any of the junctions in the system, such as the pumps or elbows, the first step is to create an engineering library containing information for each of the junctions that will be sized. This engineering library can later be used to attach a cost library for the junctions. Engineering libraries can also be connected to future models to reuse any of the junctions in future systems.

Note: This step is not required if it is only desired to include pipe costs for the pipe material information included in Fathom, since the cost libraries for the pipes can be built off of the default Fathom Pipe Material Libraries.

To add a junction to an engineering library:

- 1. Define the junction in the workspace.
- 2. Select the junction, go to the Library menu, and choose Add Junction to Library.
- 3. Give the junction a meaningful name and add it to the desired library by selecting it from the list.

For the purpose of this example the model has already been fully defined, so we will just need to add the junctions to the library which we will be calculating the cost for. Follow the steps above to add Pump J4 and Bend J3 to the LOCAL USER LIBRARY. Give the pump the name *Sizing 3000 gal/min* and the bend

the name *STD Bend*. In this case only one of each junction needs to be added to the library, since each of the pumps and bends in the model are identical. If we had multiple pump models, bend types, etc. then we might need to add multiple pumps, bends, etc.

The local user library is the default location where user junctions are placed for the local machine. If the junctions are stored in the local user library, it is possible to run all of the calculations, and attach a cost library for the junctions. However, this restricts the use of the saved data, as the local user library cannot be shared with other users or be moved to different machines. This is why it is often preferred to place the junctions into an external library. Follow the steps below to move the junctions:

- 1. Go to the Library menu and open the Library Manager.
- 2. At the bottom, select **Create New Library**, and give it the filename *Creating Libraries*. It is important to use a descriptive filename to avoid confusion later if the library needs to be reconnected, or sent to someone else.
- 3. Enter a Library Description. This is the name that will be displayed within the Library Manager itself. The description may be different from the file name, but it is typically recommended to make these the same to avoid confusion later. Use the name *Creating Libraries* for the description.
- 4. In the LOCAL USER LIBRARY, expand the Junctions option. The window should appear similar to Figure 1.
- 5. For both junctions that we added earlier, right-click the name, then click **Move Content**. In the Select Library window, click Creating Libraries and then click **Select**. This moves the junction from the local user library to the new external library. The pump and bend should now be visible within their respective sections on the right side of the window.
- 6. Select **Close** to complete the process. If you open the folder where the library was created in Step 4, the library file should now be available.

We are now ready to enter the cost data for the junctions in the model.

Libidiy browsei	Library Browser
Edit Junctions	
Edit Fluids	Search: Selected Content Type Information
:dit Fluids :dit Pipe Materials :dit Insulations :dit Fittings & Losses	Search: Selected Content Type Information Image: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Image: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Image: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Image: AFT Internation Image: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Image: AFT Internation Image: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Image: AFT Internation Image: AFT Internation Staing 3000 gal/min Image: AFT Internation Staing 3000 gal/min Image: AFT Internation Staing 3000 gal/min Image: AFT Internation Stainless Trubing - AFT Internation Image: AFT Customary Image: AFT Customary Image: AFT Dialog - AFT Customary Image: AFT Customary Image: AFT Dialog - AFT Customary Image: AFT Customary Image: AFT Dialog - AFT Customary Image: AFT Customary Image: AFT Dialog - AFT Customary Image: AFT Customary

Figure 1: Edit Library tab in the Library Manager with a new external library created for the junctions to be added to

ibrary Browser	Library Browser	
Library Browser Edit Junctions Edit Fluids Edit Pipe Materials Edit Insulations Edit Fittings & Losses	Library Browser Search: AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Creating Libraries Creating Libraries Copper Pipe - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper	Selected Content Type Informatio
	Image: Steel - AFT Customary Image: Steel - NNS Image: Steel - DIN 2391-1 Image: Steel - DIN 2458 Image: Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-6 (s1)	
	El Other Actions Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Cost Library	rary User Default Set as Default

Figure 2: Library Manager showing the junctions moved to the new external library from the local user library

Step 5. Creating a Cost Library for the Equipment

Go to the **Library menu** and select **Cost Library** to open the Edit Cost Library window, which is used to create and view cost libraries. This window can also be accessed from the Sizing window on the Assign Cost Libraries panel. In this case we need to enter new cost data that we have obtained, so click **New**.

The list of Available Libraries should now be displayed as shown in Figure 3. Every cost library must be built off of an existing engineering or pipe material library. Browse to the newly created library, **Creating Libraries**. You may need to use the Browse button to find it if the library is not shown in the list. After you click the library to highlight it, click **Select**.

Copper Pipe - ASTM		✓ <u>S</u> elect
Creating Libraries		X Cancel
Ductile Iron - ANSI		
HDPE - AFT Customarv		Allelp
LOCAL USER LIBRARY		
Rectangular Duct - AFT Customary		💕 <u>B</u> rowse
Stainless Steel - ANSI		
Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary Staal AFT Customary		
Steel - ANSI		
Steel - DIN 2391-1		
Steel - DIN 2458		
Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1)	~	
Filename: C:\AFT Products\AFT Fathom 13\Examples\C The Cost library must be associated with an Engineering shoose a engineering library to which this new cost librar	Creating Libraries.dat library of components y should be associate	and materials. Ple d.

Figure 3: The Available Engineering Libraries list which can be used to build a cost library

From here we will be brought to the General tab. The description field is used as the name displayed within the Library Manager, similar to with the engineering library.

The Notes field can be used to provide information on references, or other details which may be useful for tracking purposes. Notes can be seen when reviewing library contents later using Browse Library Contents.

The other item of note is the Multipliers table. This can be useful to apply multipliers to account for inflation or uncertainty, without needing to calculate the costs directly. Note that multipliers can also be applied within the Assign Cost Libraries panel, so be cautious to avoid duplicate multipliers.

>In the Description field enter Creating Libraries Costs, as seen in Figure 4. Now let's move on to entering cost data. Click the Junctions tab to view the Junctions overview.

	nctions Ta <u>b</u> les	Summary					
Cost Library File	ename:	None					
Engineering Lit	orary Filename:	C:\AFT Products\AFT Fathom 13	3\Examples\Creating Librarie	s.dat			
Engineering Lit	orary Description:	Creating Libraries					
			Multipliers on Cost	t Items:			
	-		Cost Items	Material	Installation	Maintenance	
Cost Type:	Monetary) Non-Monetary	Pipe Materials	1	1	1	
Monetary Unit:	U.S. Dollars	\sim	Junctions	1	1	1	
Description:	Croating Libration (Conto	Fittings/Losses	1	1	1	
Description.	Creating Libraries C	LOSIS		Set All N	Aultipliers to Or	ne	
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							
Notes:							

Figure 4: The General tab within the Edit Cost Library window

Within the Junctions tab each individual library item can be viewed under each Junction type. First expand the Pump section by clicking the +, and select the **Sizing 3000 gal/min** junction that was added earlier.

Click New Cost to add an item to the table. By default, a cost item will be added that is configured for cost entry per item. Costs can be categorized as Material, Installation or Maintenance Cost Type. This categorization becomes useful if it is desired to exclude certain costs from the calculation or the sizing, but otherwise does not impact how the costs are calculated.

Separately open up the Excel spreadsheet titled *Creating Libraries - Cost Templates.xlsx* found in the Examples folder, and go to the **Junction Costs (English)** tab. The cost data for the pumps and bends can be seen here, categorized by cost type.

In this case we are sizing the pump, so rather than having a cost for a specific pump model, we have a range of costs specified based on the power requirement for the pump. We will need to enter this data into the Tables tab first before we can define the cost item on the Junctions tab. Back in AFT Fathom in the Edit Cost Library window, click on the Tables tab at the top of the window.

>Click New Table to begin defining the data table, and name it US - Pump Material. Multiple Table Types are offered as the dependent variables for the table, which can either be plotted against a set of multipliers which will be applied to a specific data point, or directly against cost, as can be seen in Figure 5.

The data we have available is the cost for pumps over a range of different power requirements, so choose **Power** and **Cost** as shown below, then click **OK**.

New Scale Table	
Scale Table Name:	US - Pump Material
Table Type	Table Format
O Diameter	O Multiplier
O Time	Ocost
Power	
⊖ Cv	
🖌 ок	🔀 Cancel 🦓 Help

Figure 5: Table type and formatting options when creating a cost library

The new table name will now appear in the Tables list, and an entry section for Power vs Cost will become available. **Copy** the data in the Excel spreadsheet for Pump Material, then click the **Edit Table** button and choose **Paste**. Make sure that the table Units have been set to **hp**. Repeat this process of creating a new table for the pump installation costs using the data from the spreadsheet.

Now that the data tables have been created, we must assign them to the pump junction in the Junctions tab. Click on the **Junctions** tab and make sure that the **Sizing 3000 gal/min** pump model has been selected, then enter the cost information as follows:

- 1. Description = Purchase
 - This row is optional, but can be useful to provide clarification on the source of the entered cost.
- 2. Cost Type = Material (NR)
 - Note that NR denotes a non-recurring cost type, while R denotes a recurring cost type.
- 3. Use Size Table = Table of Costs
- 4. Multiplier = 1
- 5. Size Scaling Table = US Pump Material

Click New Cost to create a second cost item for the pump and enter the cost information as follows

- 1. Description = Installation
- 2. Cost Type = Installation (NR)
- 3. Use Size Table = Table of Costs
- 4. Multiplier = 1
- 5. Size Scaling Table = US Pump Installation

We have specified the cost types for each of the pump data tables, and have assigned them to our Sizing 3000 gal/min model contained in the engineering library. However, we still need to input the data for the Bends.

On the Tables tab, follow the same process as outlined above to **create two more tables** containing the cost information for the bends contained in the spreadsheet. Both tables will use cost for the Table Format, with Diameter as the Table Type. Be careful when filling in the table data to be sure that the correct units are applied for each table. When you are finished there should be four tables total, as shown below in Figure 7.

To assign the tables, return to the **Junctions** tab. Select the **Bend** and **add two cost items**, one applying the material costs table, and one for the installation costs table. When you are done the Bend should have two costs, as shown in Figure 8.

General Junctio Junction Components: ⊕ Bend ⊡ Pump └── Sizing 3000 g	ns Tables Symmary		Show Engineering Data	Import from Excel Export to Excel
		a.	ment: Pump, Sizing 3000 gal/min New Cost Delete Cost	
	Cost #1	Cost #2		
Description	Purchase	Insta	llation	
Cost Type	Material (NR) V	Installation (P		
Use Size Table	Table of Costs	Table of Co	sts 🗸	
Cost (U.S. Dollars)				
Cost Per Units				
Multiplier	1		1	
Size Scaling Table	US - Pump Material	US - Pump Installat	ion 🖂	
Time Scaling Table		co , amp matanai		
T Internal Library (Rea	ad-Only) (NR) = Nonrecurring	g Costs, (R) = Recurring C	osts 💕 Open Available	Save 🦓 Help
temai ubrary (nead-U				

Figure 6: Pump Material and Installation costs assigned using cost tables

Tables:			Table	Units: inches	~ 🔯 E	dit Table 👻
Table	Туре	Format		Diameter (inches)	Cost (U.S. Dollars)	^
US - Pump Material	Power	Cost	1	1.049	7.05	100
US - Pump Installation	Power	Cost	2	1.38	7.05	
Bend Material	Diameter	Cost	3	1.61	7.05	
bend installation	Diameter	Cost	4	2.067	7.05	
			5	2.469	9.3	
			6	3.068	10.9	
			7	3.548	14.29	
			8	4.026	18.55	
			9	5.047	39.5	
New Table Delete Table Rename Treat Scale Table as Discrete (Continuous Defau Pump Power Control Valve Cv Control Valve Cv If the box is checked then all tables of that twoen If the box is checked then all tables of that twoen	Table	base will use the	Sel	ect Size From Lib	rary	
next higher cost in the table, if an exact match for non-recurring items while in the discrete sizin	s not found. This g phase of the a	s will only be done nalysis.				

Figure 7: Complete tables list with material and installation cost tables for each of the junctions being analyzed

General Junction Junction Components: Bend STD Bend Ben Pump	Tables Symmary		Show Engin	eering Data	Import Expor	from Excel t to Excel
			Current: Bend	I, STD Bend st Delete Cost]	
	Cost #1	Cost #2				
Description	Purchase	I	nstallation			
Cost Type	Material (NR) 🗸	Installatio	on (NR) 🗸			
Use Size Table	Table of Costs 🗸	Table o	f Costs 🗸			
Cost (U.S. Dollars)						
Cost Per						
Cost Per Units						
Multiplier	1		1			
Size Scaling Table	Bend Material 🗸	Bend Inst	allation 🗸			
Time Scaling Table						
T Internal Library (Re:	ad-Only) (NR) = Nonrecurring	g Costs, (R) = Recurrir	ng Costs 🛛 📔	🕈 Open Available 🔲	Save 3	Help
temal Library (Read O	(nhu)		0			

Figure 8: Completed cost items for the bend material and installation costs

Click **Save**, and give the cost library a name. We will use **Creating Libraries Costs.cst** in this case. It is often useful to give the cost library a similar name to the engineering library to make transferring and reconnecting the library faster. Once you have finished saving the library, click Close.

Step 6. Create Cost Library for Pipes

We now have costs for the equipment, but we still need costs for the pipes. In the Sizing tab in the model, go to the Candidate Sets panel by clicking the button. By expanding the existing Candidate set, it can be seen (as stated in the name) that we will need cost information for all STD Steel – ANSI pipe sizes from 1 inch to 36 inches.

- 1. Return to the **Edit Cost Library** window by going to the Library menu and selecting Cost Library, then click **New**.
- 2. From the Available Engineering Libraries list, click **Steel ANSI**, which is the default AFT Steel-ANSI pipe materials library.
- 3. Click **Select** to choose this library. You should now be on the General tab of the Edit Cost Library window.
- 4. In Description, give the new pipe cost library the name Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.
- 5. Go to the **Pipe Materials** tab. In the list section, we will be able to view all of the sizes and types for the Steel ANSI material. Under Sort choose **Material**, **Type or Schedule**, **Nominal Size** so that they will be sorted by type rather than size.
- 6. Expand the Steel ANSI list, then expand the STD list (Figure 9).

General Pipe Materials	Ta <u>b</u> les S <u>u</u> mmary			
Pipe Materials, Sizes and Types:		팀팀템		
		^	Sort O Material, Nominal Size, Type or Schedule Material, Type or Schedule, Nominal Size	Import from Excel Export to Excel
		~	Current: Steel - ANSI, all sizes, all types New Cost Delete Cost	
Description Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per				
Description Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units Cost Per Units				
Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units Cost Per Units #2 Time Scaling Table				
Description Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Units Cost Per Units #2 Time Scaling Table				
Description Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units Cost Per Units #2 Time Scaling Table				
Description Cost Type Cost (U.S. Dollars) Cost Per Cost Per Units Cost Per Units #2 Time Scaling Table	(NR) = Nonrecurring Co	vsts, (R) = Recumi	ng Costs 🔐 Open Available 🖬 Save	Piero Help

Figure 9: Pipe Materials tab in the Cost Library window showing the available STD sizes

If a size from the list is selected, the hydraulic diameter is displayed, along with a summary of the material, size, and type. The New Cost button will also become active (Figure 9). There are a few methods available when adding the pipe costs. We could individually add the Material and Installation costs for each pipe size by selecting each size from the pipe materials list, then using the New Cost button to add these costs to the table individually. Alternatively, the pipe costs can be entered into a template in Excel, then imported to the Cost Library all at once.

In this case, we have the Pipe costs available in a spreadsheet, so we will use the Excel import/export option. To do this we will first export a template for the desired pipe sizes, then we will enter the cost information in the template and import the updated file as detailed below.

- 1. Make sure that the STD pipe material type is highlighted in the list, then click **Export to Excel** on the right side of the window. The Excel Export window should be shown as in Figure 10, with all Steel-ANSI STD pipe sizes displayed.
- 2. Click **Export**, name the sheet, and save it to an easy to find location. The name does not matter, but we will need to be able to find this spreadsheet later to import back into the cost library.
- 3. When Fathom has finished the export a message will be displayed notifying the user of a successful transfer. Click **OK**, then browse to the exported worksheet and open it. The exported worksheet should contain a list of the selected pipe sizes, with empty columns where the cost per unit length can be entered for each cost type, as shown in Figure 11.
- 4. Open the *Creating Libraries Cost Template.xlsx* spreadsheet with the costs for this example. Navigate to the Pipe Costs tab, and copy the Material and Installation costs for the 1 inch to 36 inch pipe sizes into the worksheet that we just exported. Ensure that data is entered for material and installation for each of the sizes from 1 to 36 inch, and that the length units are listed as feet in the worksheet, since these were the length units used by the manufacturer for their pricing.
- 5. Save and close the worksheet.

Note: The length units used for the spreadsheet are taken from the default model units, which can be changed from User Options in the Tools menu.

Material Name	Size	Туре	Material	Installation	Maintenance		
Steel - ANSI	1/8 inch	STD				1	
Steel - ANSI	1/4 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	3/8 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	1/2 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	3/4 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	1 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	1-1/4 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	1-1/2 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	2 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	2-1/2 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	3 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	3-1/2 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	4 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	5 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	6 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	8 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	14 inch	STD					
Steel - ANSI	16 inch	STD					

Figure 10: Excel Export window showing pipe items that will be included in the Excel sheet

	А	В	С	D	E	F	
1							
2	Cost Units:	U.S. Dollars					
3	Length Units:	feet					
4				===== COS	T PER UNIT LE	NGTH ======	
5	Material Name	Size	Туре	Material	Installation	Maintenance	
6	Steel - ANSI	1/8 inch	STD				
7	Steel - ANSI	1/4 inch	STD				
8	Steel - ANSI	3/8 inch	STD				
9	Steel - ANSI	1/2 inch	STD				
10	Steel - ANSI	3/4 inch	STD				

Figure 11: Initial Excel sheet after exporting template for the STD Steel-ANSI pipe sizes

Back in Fathom in the Cost Library window, click the Import from Excel button, then browse to the worksheet we just updated and open it. When the Import has finished click **OK** on the notification from Fathom, then click the 1 inch pipe size under the Steel - ANSI STD pipe type. The Material and Installation costs should now be filled in, as shown in Figure 12. Click Save to save the cost library with a unique file name *Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs.cst*, select Yes to make the library connected, then close the window.

Note: When using the Export/Import features for the cost library, it is not required to enter information for every size that was exported in order to import the worksheet. It is important to not delete any headings or descriptive information for the pipe data that was included in the template. Worksheets can be exported /imported as many times as desired, but whatever data is in the spreadsheet will overwrite anything existing in the library, meaning that if the costs are left blank for a size, any cost information will be deleted for that pipe size in the library. Due to this fact it is recommended to export the current information in the library first before importing any change information so that an accidental overwrite does not occur.

In the Library Manager, the new cost library should now be shown for the Steel - ANSI pipes, as shown in Figure 13, indicating that the pipe cost library was automatically connected.

	ateriais ragies ournin					
Pipe Materials, Sizes a	ind Types:					
Steel - ANSI STD 1/8 ii 1/4 ii	nch	^	Sort O Mater Mater	ial, Nominal Size, Type or ial, Type or Schedule, No	Schedule minal Size	Import from Excel Export to Excel
	nch nch nch inch i inch	*	Diameter = Current: St New C	1.049 inches eel - ANSI, 1 inch, STD (s Cost Delete C	ochedule 40)	
	Cost #1	Cost #2	2			
Description						
Cost Type	Material (NR)	 Installat 	ion (NR) V			
Cost (U.S. Dollars)	L angth	.2	/.Z			
Cost Per Unite	feet	×	feet v			
Cost Per Units #2	leer	×	ieer 🗸			
Time Scaling Table						

Figure 12: The Pipe Materials tab in the Cost Library window, showing the data recently imported

idit Junctions idit Fhiads idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses idit Filings & Losses	ibrary Browser	Library Browser	
idit Fluids Search: Search: <th>dit Junctions</th> <th></th> <th></th>	dit Junctions		
idit Pipe Materials idit Insulations idit Fritings & Losses	dit Fluids	Search: 🔍 🔍	Selected Content Type Information
idit Insulations idit Fritings & Losses idit Fritings & Losses <th>dit Pipe Materials</th> <th></th> <th>Number of Cost Libraries = 1</th>	dit Pipe Materials		Number of Cost Libraries = 1
cidit Fritings & Losses Coeating Libraries Stang 3000 gal/min Stang 3000 gal/min STD Bend Copper Pipe - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Ductile ton - ANSI PVDF - AFT Customary PVDF - AFT Customary PVC - ASTM PVDF - AFT Customary PVC - ASTM Stainless Steel - ANSI Stainless Steel - ANSI Stainless Steel - ANSI Steel - ATT Customary Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Steel - DIN 2458 Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Steel -	dit Insulations		Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs
Sizing 3000 gal/min Sizing 3000 gal/min Sot Cost Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Ductile Iron - ANSI PDE - AFT Customary PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM PVC - ASTM Steel - AFT Customary Steel - AFT Customary Steel - AFT Customary PVC Stainless Steel - ANSI Steel - AFT Customary PVC Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Steel - DIN 2458 PVC Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) PVC Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) PVC Steel -	dit Fittings & Losses	Creating Libraries	
Cost Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM Ductile Iron - ANSI Fiberglass - Green Thread Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PDF - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PVDF - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PUPE - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PUPE - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PUPE - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM PUPE - AFT Customary Fiberglass - Green Thread FM Pupe Materials Fiberglass FM Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Fiberglass FM Steel - EN 1021F-1 (s1) Fiberglass FM Steel - EN 1021F-2 (s1) <td></td> <td>Sizing 3000 gal/min</td> <td></td>		Sizing 3000 gal/min	
Coper Tubing - ASTM Copper Tubing - ASTM POP - AFT Customary POP - AFT Customary POP - AFT Customary POP - AFT Customary POP Stainless Steel - ANSI Cost Steel - ANSI Pipe Materials Cost Cost Cost Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217		STD Bend	
Image: Copper Pipe - ASTM Image: Copper Tubing - AST Customary Image: Copper Tubing - AST Customary Image: Copper Tubing - AFT Customary Image: Copper Tubing - AFT Customary Image: Copper Stainless Study - AFT Customary Image: Copper Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary Image: Copper Stain Copper Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary </td <td></td> <td>Creating Libraries Costs</td> <td></td>		Creating Libraries Costs	
Image: Copper Tubing - ASTM Image: Copper Tubing - ASTM Image: Copper Tubing - AST Customary		Copper Pipe - ASTM	
Obcherglass - Green Thread HDPE - AFT Customary PVC - ASTM Stainless Steel - ANSI Stainless Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Pop Materials P Cost Pop Costs Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Pop Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Pop Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Pop Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Pop Steel - EN 1021		Copper Tubing - ASTM	
HDPE - AFT Customary PVC - ASTM PVDF - AFT Customary Rectangular Duct - AFT Customary Stainless Stel - ANSI Stainless Stel - ANSI Steel - AFT Customary Steel - ANSI Steel - NISI Pipe Costs Steel - INI 2391-1 Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Create New Libray Add Existing Libray Add Existing Cot Libray User Default St as Default			
Image: PVDF - AFT Customary Image: PVDF - AFT - AFT Customary Image: PVDF - Actions Note: checked library content can Image: PVDF - Actions Note: checked library content can Image: PVDF - Actions Note: checked library content can Image: PVDF - Actions Note: checked library content can Image: PVDF - Actions Note: checked library content		HDPE - AFT Customary	
Image: Stainless Steel - ANSI Image: Stainless Steel - ANSI Image: Stainless Steel - ANSI Image: Steel - AFT Customary Image: Steel - OIN 2391-11 Image: Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5			
Stainless Steel - ANSI Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary Steel - AFT Customary Steel - ANSI Pop Materials Cost Steel - DIN 2391-1 Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Steel - Steel - Steel -			
B Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary C Steel - AFT Customary C Steel - ANSI C Steel - ANSI C Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs C Steel - DIN 2391-1 C Steel - DIN 2391-1 C Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) C Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) C Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) C Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) C Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1)		Stainless Steel - ANSI	
Image: Steel - ANSI Image: Steel - ANSI Image: Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Image: Steel - DIN 2391-1 Image: Steel - DIN 2391-1 Image: Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) </td <td></td> <td>Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary</td> <td></td>		Stainless Tubing - AFT Customary	
Pipe Materials Cost Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs Steel - DIN 2391-1 Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Other Actions Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Library		Steel - AFT Customary	
Image: Cost		Pipe Materials	
Image: Steel - DIN 2458 Image: Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1) Image:		Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs	
Image: Steel - EN 10216-1 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10216-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-3 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1)			
Image: Steel - EN 102/15/2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 102/17-2 (s1) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
Image: Steel - EN 10217-2 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1)			
Image: Steel - EN 10217-4 (s1) Image: Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1)			
Image: Steel - EN 1021/-5 (s1)			
El Other Actions Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Cost Library User Default			
Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Cost Library User Default Set as Default		El Other Actions Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario	
		Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Cost Lib	orary User Default Set as Default

Figure 13: Library Manager after creating a engineering and cost libraries

Step 7. Define the Sizing window

To make use of the newly creating engineering and cost libraries, a few inputs are required in the **Sizing** window. Go to this window now.

A. Sizing Objective

By default, you should be on the **Sizing Objective** panel. For the Objective, select **Monetary Cost**. Then select **Calculate Cost**, **Do Not Size**.

B. Size/Cost Assignments

On the Size/Cost Assignments panel, make sure the **Pipes** button is selected at the top. Click **All** on the bottom left then click **Always Include in Cost** at the top to add all pipes to the Include in Cost list.

Click the **Pumps** button at the top to go to the pump size/cost assignments page. Select the radio button for both Pump 4 and 5 to **Include in Cost Report Only**.

Finally, go to the **General Junctions** button and add all four bends to the **Include in Cost Report Only** list.

C. Assign Cost Libraries

Go to the Assign Cost Libraries panel. **All** 22 pipes should assigned to the **Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs** library, as shown in Figure 14. Check the **Pumps** and **General Junctions** pages as well to confirm that those junctions are connected to the **Creating Libraries Costs**, as shown in Figure 15

🧪 Workspace 🛛 🧳	Sizing Model Data		🔲 Output 🛛 🖄 Graph	Results	💿 Visual Report]
🧉 Lock Panel 🛛 🛍 L	ock All Pa	nels 💣 Unlock	All Panels 🚦 Show Statu	s Panel		
Pipes 🔮 Pun	nps -=- (General Junctions				
Assign Cost Libra	ries to Ca	ndidate Sets				
Library Manager	Edit 0	Cost Libraries				
	T	Cost	Library			
Pipes	AII	Selected	Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs	-		
P1	۲	0		1		
P2	۲	0	\checkmark			
P3	۲	0	\checkmark			
P4	۲	0	\checkmark			
P5	۲	0	\checkmark			
P6	۲	0	\checkmark			
P7	۲	0	\checkmark			
P8	۲	0	\checkmark			
P9	۲	0	\checkmark			
P10	۲	0	\checkmark			
P11	۲	0	\checkmark			
P12	۲	0	\checkmark			
P13	۲	0	\checkmark			
P14	۲	0	\checkmark			
P15	۲	0	\checkmark			
P16	۲	0	\checkmark			
P17	۲	0	\checkmark			
P18	۲	0	\checkmark			
P19	۲	0	\checkmark			
P20	۲	0	\checkmark			
P21	۲	0	\checkmark			
P22	۲	0	\checkmark			
Description and He	elp		*			
Sizing Si Objective Ass	ize/Cost	Candidate Sets R	Design equirements	Sizing Metho	Sizing Summary	

Figure 14: The Assign Cost Libraries panel with the new pipe cost library applied

Workspace	e 🧳 S	izing	Model Da	ata 🔲 🖽 Our	tput 🛛 🖄 Graph R	esults	(See Visual Report	
Lock Panel	Loc	k All Pan	nels 💣 Unio	ock All Panels	Show Status P	anel		
	_	_		-1				
Pipes 👷 Pumps 🛄 🖶 General Junctions								
Assign Cost Libraries to Pumps								
Library Mana	ger	Edit	Cost Libraries					
_				Cost Library				
Pumps	s 🛛	All	Selec	ted Cre	ating Libraries Costs	;		
J4		۲	0	1				
J5		۲	0		\checkmark			
				Ŧ				
 Description 	and Help							
1	G		(:=)			₽₽		
		\$)		$\langle x \rangle$, \$			
Sizing	Size,	/Cost		Design	Assign		Sizing	
Sizing Objective	Size, Assigi	/Cost nments		Design Requiremen	Assign s Cost Libraries		Sizing d Summary	
Sizing Objective	Size, Assigi	/Cost nments	Candidate Sets	Design Requirement	Assign s Cost Libraries	Sizing Methor esults	d Sizing Summary	1
Sizing Objective	Size, Assign	/Cost nments	Candidate Sets	Design Requirement	Assign s Cost Libraries tput 🖉 Graph R	Sizing Metho esults	Sizing Summary Sizing Summary]
Sizing Objective	Size, Assign Size, Assign Size, Assign Size, Size, Assign Size,	/Cost nments iizing	Candidate Sets	Design Requirement ata III Our ock All Panels	Assign s Cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R	Sizing Metho esults Panel	Sizing Summary Summary]
Sizing Objective	Size, Assign S S Coc Pumps	/Cost nments iizing	Candidate Sets Model Da nels 🍄 Unlo General Junction	Design Requirement ata III Our ock All Panels	Assign s Cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R	Sizing Metho esults Panel	Sizing Summary Summary	1
Sizing Objective	Size, Assign Size, Si	/Cost nments iizing	Candidate Sets Model Da hels C Unio General Junction	Design Requirement ata III Our ock All Panels	Assign s Cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R	Sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective	Size, Assig Size, Siz	Cost nments Sizing [k All Pan G es to Jun	Candidate Sets Model Da nels Cunlo General Junction actions	Design Requirement sta III Our ock All Panels	Assign Cost Libraries	Sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Workspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cos Library	Size, Assig S S S Loc Pumps St Librarie Manager.	/Cost nments iizing [k All Pan G es to Jun 	Candidate Sets Model Da hels Punlo General Junction actions Edit Cost	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels	Assign Cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R	Sizing Methor esults Panel	sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Cock Panel Pipes	Size, Assign Size,	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan Ges to Jun	Candidate Sets Model Da nels Punlo General Junction Actions Edit Cost	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels toraries Cost	Assign cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R I Show Status P	Sizing Metho esults Danel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Workspace Cock Panel Pipes	Size, Assig Assig Coc St Librarie Manager, Juncti	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan 	Candidate Sets Model Da hels Color Concentrations Edit Cost All	Design Requirement ata III Our ock All Panels tobraries Cost	Assign Cost Libraries	Sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Workspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions	Size, Assig Correction St Librarie Manager.	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] G as to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da hels Contor Actions Edit Cost All ©	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels tibraries Cost Selected	Assign cost Libraries tput Assign Graph R Show Status P Library Creating Librarie	sizing Metho Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Workspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6	Size, Assign Manager. St Librarie Manager. Junction Bend Bend	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan G cost to Jun 	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo General Junction Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels topraries Cost Selected O	Assign cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R 1 Show Status P Library Creating Librarie V	sizing Metho Panel	sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cos Library Junctions J3 J6 J10	Size, Assign Coc So St Libraria Manager. Junctia Bend Bend Bend Bend	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] - G es to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo General Junction Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels toraries Cost Selected	Assign cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R I Show Status P Creating Libraries Creating Libraries	sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Vorkspace Pipes Assign Cos Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19	Size, Assign Composition St Librarie Manager. Junction Bend Bend Bend Bend	/Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] - G es to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo ideneral Junction Inctions Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our ack All Panels Ubraries Cost Selected O O O	Assign cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R I Show Status P Creating Librarie Creating Librarie	Sizing Metho esults Danel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Vorkspace Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19	Size, Assign Assign Correction St Librarie Manager. Junction Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend	izing	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo General Junction Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels tibraries Cost Selected O O O O	Assign Cost Libraries tput Assign tput Assig	sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Workspace Workspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19	Size, Assigi	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan G es to Jun 	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo deneral Junction Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our bock All Panels its Libraries Cost Selected O O O	Assign Cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R 1 Show Status P Creating Librarie Creating Librarie Creating Librarie	sizing Metho esults Panel	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Vorkspace Vorkspace Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19 Description	Size, Assign Coc So Pumps St Libraria Manager. Junction Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] - G es to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da nels Punlo General Junction Edit Cost All O O O	Design Requirement ota III Our ock All Panels III IIII Selected O O O	Assign cost Libraries tput 🖄 Graph R I Show Status P Creating Libraries V V V V	sizing Metho esults Panel s Costs	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Sizing Objective Vorkspace Lock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19 Description T Description	Size, Assign Correction Service Correction Service	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] - G es to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo ineneral Junction Edit Cost	Design Requirement ata III Our ack All Panels Is Ubraries Cost Selected O O O	Assign cost Libraries tput Region R Show Status P Creating Librarie Creating Librarie	s Costs	d Sizing Summary	
Sizing Objective Vorkspace Cock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19 Description T Objective	Size, Assign Contemporation St Librarie Manager. Junction Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend Bend	Cost nments iizing [k All Pan] - G es to Jun on Type	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unlo ideneral Junction Inctions Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Our ack All Panels Is Libraries Cost Selected O O O	Assign cost Libraries tput R Graph R Show Status P Creating Librarie Creating Librarie	s Costs	d Sizing Summary	
 Sizing Objective Workspace Lock Panel Pipes Assign Cost Library Junctions J3 J6 J10 J19 Description Sizing Sizing S	Size, Assign Size, Si	Cost nments izing k All Pan 	Candidate Sets Model Da hels I Unio General Junction Edit Cost All IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Design Requirement ata III Out tock All Panels III Ubraries Cost Selected O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	Assign cost Libraries tput Assign tput Assign s Show Status P Creating Librarie Creating Librarie Creating Librarie	s Costs	Sizing Summary Summary Summary	

Figure 15: Applying the newly built cost library for the pumps and bends on the Assign Cost Libraries panel

In order to link our libraries to specific junctions in the model, we will need to apply the Engineering Library to the junctions in the Workspace. Open each of the **pump** junctions and select the **Sizing 3000 gal/min** item from the Library Jct list. Repeat this process for the four **bend** junctions in the model. Note that in this case the only thing that should change in the properties windows will be the name of the item from the Library list, since we created the library junctions based off of the junctions already defined in this model. As a quick summary, we first connected the new libraries using the Library Manager. We then connected the junctions to the Engineering Library by using the Library Jct selection in each of the properties windows. In the Sizing tab we used the Assign Cost Libraries panel to select the corresponding Cost Library for each pipe and junction. The Assign Cost Libraries section is now complete.

Step 8. Run the Model and Check Output

Click Run from the toolbar or Analysis menu. Before the solver runs, the Model Diagnostics window will appear. Because there was no design requirements specified for the control valves, the control valves will add pressure if necessary. Typically, these messages should not be ignored. However, we will see from the output that the control valves will not add pressure. Therefore click Close on this message to dismiss it.

When the solver finishes, go to the Output window. On the Cost Report tab, the total cost should be \$35,608. In the Library Sources tab in the Junction section, each of the Bends and Pumps should list the Creating Libraries Costs as their library source as shown in Figure 16. The Library Sources in the Pipes section should similarly show the pipe cost library Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs for both Material and Installation.

*	Ge	eneral W	arnings	Design A	lerts	Cost Rep	oort	Pump Summar	y Valve Summ	nary H	leat Exchar	nger Summai	y Reservoir Summa	ry
			Table U U.S. Do	Units: ollars		Туре	Nar	me Material	Installation	Non-F	Recurring b Total	TOTAL		^
	1	TOTALO	FALLM	IODEL CO	STS							35,608		
	1	Total of A	II Show	n Costs				17,39	6 18,212		35,608	35,608		
	1	tems In S	Sizing						D 0		0	0		
	1	tems No	t In Sizin	g				17,39	6 18,212		35,608	35,608		
	F	Pipe Sub	total					11,19	8 16,228		27,426	27,426		
	F	P1				Pipe	Pipe	47	0 684		1,154	1,154		
	F	P2				Pipe	Pipe	4	1 57		98	98		
	1	22				n:	n:	r	n ne		100	101		~
^	Die	ciali	a Libr	any Source										
^	Fip	es Sizii		ary Source	S									
P	ine	Name		Pipe			P	ipe Ilation	Pipe					^
-		Hamo		Material			insta	illation	Maintenance	-				
	1	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	2	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs		-				
	3	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	4	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	5	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	6	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	7	Pipe	Steel - /	ANSI Pipe (Costs	Steel -	ANSI	Pipe Costs						
	0	In:	C1-1	Mei naar	·	C11	ANCI	D: C						
â	All	Junctions	Librar	v Sources	Bend	Branch		ntrol Valve	leat Exchanger	Pump	Reservo	ir		
Jo	ct	Nan	ne	ly	pe		Ma	aterial	Install	ation	Ma	intenance	Operation/Energy	^
3	3 E	Bend		Bend		Creat	ing Lit	oraries Costs	Creating Libra	ries Co	sts			ы÷.
4	ŧ F	Pump		Pump		Creat	ing Lit	oraries Costs	Creating Libra	ries Co	sts			
5	5 F	Pump		Pump		Creat	ing Lit	praries Costs	Creating Libra	ries Co	sts			
6	5 E	Bend		Bend		Creat	ing Lit	oraries Costs	Creating Libra	ries Co	sts			
7	7 E	Branch		Branch										
8	3 E	Branch		Branch										
9) E	Branch		Branch										
1	0 6	Bend		Bend		Creat	ina Lit	oraries Costs	Creating Libra	ries Co	sts			×

Figure 16: Output tab showing the current Library sources used in the model calculations

Cooling System - ANS

Summary

This example focuses on a closed loop cooling system that demonstrates some key features in using ANS to size a piping system. An existing model is used to investigate four potential sizing cases:

- 1. Size system for **initial cost** with a 10-year operating period
- 2. Size system for **life cycle** cost with a 10-year operating period
- 3. Size system for life cycle cost with an initial cost limit for a 10-year operating period
- 4. Size system for **life cycle** cost using a **manufacturer's pump curve** and with a 10-year operating period

The existing model was used to demonstrate AFT Fathom's capabilities for modeling closed-loop systems, pump curves, heat exchanger resistance curves, and fixed pressure drop control valves. This example will demonstrate how a system like the one built before can be seamlessly scaled up, meet design requirements, and minimize cost. For instance, the flow rate through the system will increase from 900 in the original model and system to 6,000 gal/min. The pipes must be sized and their costs minimized accordingly.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Connecting and using existing engineering and cost libraries
- Sizing for initial or life cycle cost
- Using an initial cost limit with life cycle cost sizing
- Sizing a pump and sizing piping for the chosen pump
- Interpreting Cost Reports

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Cooling System.fth
- US Cooling System ANS.fth
- Cooling System.dat engineering library
- Cooling System Costs.cst cost library for Cooling System.dat
- Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.cst cost library for Steel ANSI pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Cooling System.fth* example file and save it as a new file. We will not need the existing child scenarios for this example: right click on the Base Scenario in the Scenario Manager and select **Delete All Children**.

Although the model is fully defined, a few alterations are necessary for this example to scale up the system. First make sure that the Workspace looks like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Workspace for Cooling System model

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 5. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

As an initial guess to the scaled up system, we will change all pipe sizes to 36 inch. This should satisfy all Design Requirements and be a feasible solution, therefore it should be an acceptable initial guess for the system. Similar the junctions will be updated for the scaled up system.

Pipe Properties

Make the following changes to all pipes

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Size = 36 inch
 - b. Type = STD

Junction Properties

Make the following changes to these junctions.

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Liquid Surface Elevation = 30 feet
 - b. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - c. Pipe Elevation = 0 feet
- 2. J11 & J12 Control Valves

- a. Valve Type = Flow Control (FCV)
- b. Control Setpoint = Volumetric Flow Rate
- c. Flow Setpoint = 2000 gal/min
- d. Always Control (Never Fail) = Unchecked
- 3. J13 Control Valve
 - a. Valve Type = Constant Pressure Drop (PDCV)
 - b. Control Setpoint = Pressure Loss
 - c. Pressure Drop = 5 psid
- 4. J14-J16 Heat Exchangers
 - a. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Pressure
gal/min	psid
0	0
2000	50
4000	200

Step 6. Overview of Sizing Systems with Pumps

A centrifugal pump can be modeled with either the Pump Curve or Sizing Analysis Type. Generally if a specific pump has been identified the Pump Curve type would be chosen, whereas the Sizing option is useful during the selection stage in order to identify the pumping requirements for the system. In some cases even though the specific pump has not been chosen several candidate pumps are available. For this third case it would be best to model each candidate pump as a pump curve using separate scenarios for each pump.

Sizing a Pump

The pumps in our cooling water case are being sized, so the Sizing Analysis Type was used with assigned flows of 3000 gal/min. In order to allow the pumps to be defined as fixed flows the flow control valve at J17 has been defined at a fixed pressure drop of 5 psid to ensure that the minimum pressure drop requirement for this valve is met during the sizing stage. This model thus represents a first cut model where, based on the results, the two pumps will become actual pumps with pump curves, and control valve J17 will become a flow control valve controlling to 3000 gal/min, similar to control valves J9 and J13.

As already stated, when a pump is modeled as an assigned flow, it is not a specific pump from a specific manufacturer. Thus, the costs for the pump can only be approximated. To a first approximation, it should be possible to estimate the non-recurring cost (i.e., material and installation cost) for the pump as a function of power requirements. For instance, a typical one horsepower pump may cost \$2000, and a ten horsepower may cost \$4000. Other typical costs for different power requirements can be approximated. The actual cost for the pump will, of course, highly depend on the application. Pumps for special

applications such as corrosive fluids or high temperatures may have different cost structures, but a reasonable approximation of cost for various power usage levels should be possible. These costs are entered into a cost library, and are accessed by the solver. As ANS evaluates different combinations of pipe sizes, each combination will require a certain power from the pump. With a cost assigned to this power, ANS can obtain a cost to enter into the objective function that it minimizes. Later in this example, we will look at the costs for the pumps.

In addition to non-recurring costs, recurring costs can also be estimated. Specifically, the cost of the power used by the pump over a period of time can be determined. All ANS needs is an overall pump efficiency to determine an actual power from the ideal power. Again, since we do not have a specific pump selected yet, the efficiency can only be approximated. ANS calls this the Nominal Efficiency. In addition, users can provide a Nominal NPSHR.

One may ask how important it is to choose appropriate values at this level. It depends. If the model only sizes for non-recurring costs, then the nominal efficiency will affect the actual power requirement of the pump, and hence the cost obtained from the cost library. If the cost of the pump is large compared to the cost of the piping, the specified nominal efficiency will likely play a significant role in the system selection.

In addition, for models that include energy costs in the objective, the energy cost may be a minor or major portion of the overall system cost. If it is a major portion, the results of the sizing will likely be very sensitive to the specified nominal efficiency.

Therefore, it is recognized that at this first cut phase the values for nominal efficiency and nominal NPSHR are imprecise and users may need to go through a few iterations to arrive at satisfactory results.

Modeling Pumps with a Pump Curve

When one is modeling a pump curve, accurate NPSHR and efficiency (or power) requirements can be specified for the pump. The cost data for that pump can also be accurately specified. During the automated sizing run the impact of the pump on the system sizing will be in the area of energy costs and in the requirement to satisfy the pump's design requirements.

First, let's discuss the issue of recurring cost. The non-recurring costs for the pump will be fixed, and will therefore not impact the sizing process. However, energy costs will vary with the power required for the pump. Thus including energy cost in the sizing will influence the pipe size selection.

Second, the specific pump has certain design requirements. For example, the sized network will be of no value if the NPSHR is violated. Thus, the pipes have to be selected by ANS in such a way as to satisfy all pump design requirements.

Since a specific pump is not input for our cooling water model (yet), no specific pump selection can happen at this point. It may frequently be the case that, based on the results of modeling the pump as an assigned flow pump, several candidate pumps may exist. The best approach is to create a scenario for each of these pumps, and rerun the sizing for each candidate pump. This will yield an ideal candidate pipe system for each candidate pump, from which an educated choice can be made for the system design. All else being equal, the selection would be the candidate pipe system that offers the lowest cost. When approached in this manner, one is selecting the pump and the piping system as an entire system, which offers improved matching of the pump to the system, and also offers significant opportunity for cost reduction.

Summarizing the Pump Selection Process

Based on the preceding discussion, we can outline a process for selecting a pump that offers a matched pump and piping system at the lowest possible cost. This discussion is an extension of the discussion in the Fathom Help file regarding sizing pumps and pipes concurrently. Here, we will augment that discussion with the considerations that are relevant to sizing.

- 1. Phase 1: Size the pump
 - a. Model the pump (or pumps) as assigned flow pumps using the Sizing Analysis Type. If flow control valves exist, select the one that offers the lowest pressure drop margin (as discussed in the AFT Fathom Help file), and set that one to a pressure drop control valve at the minimum required pressure drop.
 - b. The largest uncertainty at this point is the cost of the pumps. Based on actual pump cost data, specify the approximate cost of pumps of different power levels for different flow rates. This is entered into a cost library.
 - c. Along with the design flow rate, specify a nominal efficiency that is consistent with the application and your experience. If you are unsure, take a guess and, after completing Phase 1, return to this step and improve your guess.
 - If you have a reasonable idea of what the NPSHR will be, specify that in the nominal NPSHR. If you are unsure, ignore nominal NPSHR and proceed. After completing Phase 1, check the NPSHA and make sure that pumps are available at the head requirements obtained from the ANS results that have sufficient NPSHR margin.
 - e. Determine whether the design goal is to minimize initial cost or life cycle cost, and select the appropriate objective in the Sizing Objective panel.
 - f. Run the model and review the results. Take note of the relative cost difference between the piping and the pump(s). If the pump costs are a significant percentage, then continued iteration on Phase 1 will likely be worthwhile. Continued iteration would involve obtaining more precise cost information for pump(s) at the flow, head and power usage levels obtained from the Phase 1 results. It would also involve obtaining more precise information on nom-inal efficiency and nominal NPSHR.
- 2. Phase 2: Select a pump
 - a. Phase 1 worked with approximate cost and engineering data for your pump. With that information ANS sized the network for an optimal pipe and pump system combination. At this point, that optimal system should be viewed as preliminary. Based on the pump operating point from Phase 1, identify some candidate pumps that match the requirements.
 - b. Change any flow control valves set to pressure drop control valves (as specified in Phase 1a) back to flow control valves.
 - c. Identify the operational requirements for the flow control valves, such as minimum pressure drop, and enter those as Control Valve Design Requirements.
 - d. For each candidate pump, create a child scenario. Each child scenario should be created below the scenario that has the flow control valves as discussed in Phase 2a and 2b.
 - e. Enter the pump head, NPSHR and efficiency (or power) curve. Enter the actual pump cost as well into a cost library.
 - f. Run each scenario. All else being equal, the scenario with lowest cost will be the preferred design. The pipe sizes obtained from this final solution may differ slightly from those obtained Phase 1. If there are significant pipe size differences between Phase 1 and Phase 2, it may indicate that the actual pump was not matched very well to the Phase 1 requirements. It could also mean that there was an error somewhere in the process.

g. In Phase 2f, it may not be true that all else is equal. For example, even if one design offers lower cost, you may prefer a higher cost system because your experience suggests the pump is more reliable. On another note, if it is possible to quantify the cost reliability, this can be included in the cost of the junction and the automated sizing process.

For this example, we will be completing the pump selection process above considering the objective of minimizing initial cost, then minimizing life cycle cost.

Step 7. Configure Sizing Settings

Load the Base Scenario. The hydraulic model is already defined for a regular Fathom run, but we need to complete the sizing settings before running the analysis. Navigate to the Sizing window by clicking the Sizing tab at the top.

A. Sizing Objective

The Sizing Objective window should be selected by default from the Sizing Navigation panel along the bottom. For this analysis, we are interested in sizing the system considering the monetary cost for the initial costs only.

- 1. Sizing Option = Perform Sizing
- 2. Objective = Monetary Cost
- 3. Option = Minimize
- 4. Options to Minimize Monetary Cost = Size for Initial Cost, Show Energy Costs
 - This will update the cost table to include both initial costs in the sizing calculation, and moves the Energy costs to be included in the Cost Report so that we can later compare the costs in this scenario to one where the Energy costs are included for the sizing. We do not have any information on Maintenance cost, so we will leave this cost in Ignore Cost.
- 5. System Life = 10 years
- 6. Energy Cost = 0.11 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr
 - Note this assumes the pump will run all day, every day, for the entire 10 years. Alternatively, we could have created an Energy Cost Library, which would be connected in the Assign Cost Libraries section. An Energy Cost Library allows variable energy costs to be used to account for varying prices during different times of day, different seasons, etc. For now, we are simplifying the input by using a fixed cost.

The Sizing Objective window should now appear as shown in Figure 2.
Vorkspace Si Lock Panel Cock Perform Calcul Sizing Calcul Objective Pipe Weight Pipe and Fluid W Pipe Inner Surfac Monetary Cost Minimize	izing indicating indic	Model Da	ta IIII ck All Pan Lu Lu Multipi	Output
Options to Minimize Mo Size for Initial Cost Size for Initial and F User Specified Cost Type Initial Costs	Show Energ Recurring Co Include in Sizing Objective	Cost Report Only	Ignore Cost	System Life (For Recurring Costs) System Life: 10 years Interest Rate: 0 % Inflation Rate: 0 % Energy Cost O Use Energy Cost Libraries
Material	۲	0	0	Use This Energy Cost Information Cost: 0.11 U.S. Dollars
Installation	۲	0	0	Per: kW-hr ✓
Recurring Costs				Only this fixed energy cost set here will be used. All Energy Cost settings in the Library Manager will be
Energy	0	۲	0	Initial Cost Limit
Maintenance	0	0	۲	Max Initial Cost: U.S. Dollars V
Wam When Fittin Description and Help T	ngs & Losses (Costs are N	Aissing	
Sizing Size/ Objective Assign	Sost Ca ments	indidate Sets	Desig Requiren	n Assign Sizing Sizing ments Cost Libraries Method Summary

Figure 2: Sizing Objective panel setup for the initial cost analysis

B. Size/Cost Assignments

On the Sizing Navigation panel select the Size/Cost Assignments button. For this example we are sizing both the pipes and pumps for a new system, so we will need to calculate and minimize cost for all related objects in the model.

Click All under the table to select all of the pipes, then click the Always Include in Cost button next to Move to. This will move all of the pipe selections to the corresponding column to be sized.

To decrease the run time and reduce complexity, as well as to enforce some design uniformity, it is useful to create Common Size Groups to link the pipes in different sections of the model.

For example, if all the 22 pipes are selected to be Not In Group, then 22 unique pipe sizes will be selected by the automatic sizing engine. That could potentially mean, for example, different suction pipe diameters in pipes 1 and 2. A similar thing would happen for discharge pipe diameters. If one wanted the suction pipes 1 and 2 to be sized to the same diameter, one would group them into a Common Size Group. To see how this works, in this model all suction and discharge piping for both pumps will be put into a Common Size Group. What this means is that there will be one unique diameter chosen for this group of pipes, rather than potentially six different diameters.

For this system we will define five groups to be sized in this model. To set the groups, it is standard to select pipes which must have the same size due to their placement relative to other pipes and junctions, such as pipes at the entrance and exit of valves. In Figure 3 we have identified the five sections of the model to group the pipes.



Figure 3: Workspace with separate sections identified to create Common Size Groups

First let's create a *Main* size group for pipes 1 and 22, which are red in Section A. We would expect these lines to be sized the same, as the inlet and outlet for the cooling reservoir.

Note: If desired, the coloring and annotations in Figure 3 and in the completed model file can be recreated using Workspace Layers.

Click New above the Pipe Grouping section to create the group, and name it *Main*. Select the radio buttons under *Main* next to 1 and 22 to add them to the group. Alternatively, both pipes could be selected

in the Workspace, then be added to a new group by right-clicking the Workspace and choosing Add Pipe (s) to Common Size Group.

Now let's repeat this process for the piping in Section B around the pumps and control valves. Since this section contains identical pumps operating in parallel, we would expect the pipes in this section to have a common size. Similar to above, create a new group called *Pump Station*, and add pipes 2-7 as shown in orange in Figure 3 in section B to the new group by selecting them in the Workspace, or using the radio buttons.

Next, let's consider Section C-E, the piping near the coolers. In this case we have three coolers in parallel, with several segments of pipe connecting the cooler piping segments. We would expect the pipes directly connected to the coolers to have a common size, but the header piping (9, 10, 20, 21) would likely need to be larger, so we will group them separately. Create three Common Size Groups as follows:

- 1. Header 1 with 9 and 21 (Section C, lime green)
- 2. Header 2 with 10 and 20 (Section D, magenta)
- 3. Cooler Piping with 11-19 (Section E, blue)

The completed Size/Cost Assignments can be seen in Figure 4. Note that pipe 8 should be the only pipe not included in a group. This leaves six different pipe sizes that the ANS module will independently solve for during the automated sizing, one for each of the groups, and one for pipe 8. This is indicated in the bottom right of the Size/Cost Assignments panel, which shows that six independent pipe sizes exist for this configuration.

Note: Pipes in the Size/Cost Assignments table can be sorted by Common Size Group instead of sorting by number by clicking on the Pipe Grouping header. Clicking on the header for a particular group will sort the pipes in that specific group to the top of the window.

Include in Cost	Include in Cost if Size Changes	Include in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	New Rec	S . X .	a -			
	Sizing and C	Cost Options	11			Pip	e Grouping		
Automa	tically Size	Dot	lot Size	Martin			Common Size Groups		
Always Include in Cost	Include in Cost if Size Changes	Include in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	Group	Main	Pump Station	Header 1	Header 2	Cooler Piping
۲	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0	0
۲	ŏ	ŏ		Ó		۲			
۲	Ō	Ō	Ō	0	Ō	۲	Ō	Ō	õ
۲	Ő	Ő	Õ	Ő	Ő	۲	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	۲	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
۲	õ	õ	ō	õ	ō	۲	õ	ō	õ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě	ŏ	ŏ
ě	õ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ		ŏ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ő	
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	Ö
۲	õ	õ	õ	õ	ō	õ	õ	ō	۲
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	õ
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě
ě	õ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	۲
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě
ě	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě	ŏ
ě	õ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ		ŏ	ŏ
~	č	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ě	õ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ
	Automa Automa Include in Cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Salong and C Adorestically Size Adorestically Size Calling Adorestically Size Calling One One One One One One One One One One	Saing and Cast Options Automatically Size Dot Amma Indian Cast Indian Cast <t< th=""><th>Sizing and Cest Crystons Automaticity Size Do Net Size Anong Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest <td< th=""><th>Sking and Cack Options Media (Cack Do Not Size Media (Cack Media (Cack</th><th>Skring and Cast Options Net In Automatically Size Do lide Size Net In Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Indiate In Cast Indin Cast Indiate In Cast</th><th>Sking and Cost Options Page Automatically Sale Do Not Sale Mark Income Main Pump Station •••••••••••••••••••••••••</th><th>Saing and Cast Options Pipe Strapping Aurontically Size Do Net Size Main Program Commo Size Ginage address Cast // State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Main Program State Ginage Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Image: State Strapping Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping Image: State Strapping<!--</th--><th>Stating and Card Options Data to State Here in Card Producting Auronatically Size Data to State Here in Card Main Pump State Main Pump</th></th></td<></th></t<>	Sizing and Cest Crystons Automaticity Size Do Net Size Anong Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest Indust in Cest <td< th=""><th>Sking and Cack Options Media (Cack Do Not Size Media (Cack Media (Cack</th><th>Skring and Cast Options Net In Automatically Size Do lide Size Net In Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Indiate In Cast Indin Cast Indiate In Cast</th><th>Sking and Cost Options Page Automatically Sale Do Not Sale Mark Income Main Pump Station •••••••••••••••••••••••••</th><th>Saing and Cast Options Pipe Strapping Aurontically Size Do Net Size Main Program Commo Size Ginage address Cast // State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Main Program State Ginage Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Image: State Strapping Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping Image: State Strapping<!--</th--><th>Stating and Card Options Data to State Here in Card Producting Auronatically Size Data to State Here in Card Main Pump State Main Pump</th></th></td<>	Sking and Cack Options Media (Cack Do Not Size Media (Cack Media (Cack	Skring and Cast Options Net In Automatically Size Do lide Size Net In Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Maring Cast Options Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Indiate In Cast Marin Indiate In Cast Indin Cast Indiate In Cast	Sking and Cost Options Page Automatically Sale Do Not Sale Mark Income Main Pump Station •••••••••••••••••••••••••	Saing and Cast Options Pipe Strapping Aurontically Size Do Net Size Main Program Commo Size Ginage address Cast // State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Main Program State Ginage Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping in Cast boldse Cast Image: State Strapping Main Program State Ginage Image: State Strapping Image: State Strapping </th <th>Stating and Card Options Data to State Here in Card Producting Auronatically Size Data to State Here in Card Main Pump State Main Pump</th>	Stating and Card Options Data to State Here in Card Producting Auronatically Size Data to State Here in Card Main Pump State Main Pump

Figure 4: Size/Cost Assignments panel with Common Size Groups defined as outlined above

Click the Pumps button to switch to view the Pump Size and Cost Assignments. Select the option to Include in Cost Report and Sizing for both pumps so that the ANS module will size the pumps along with the pipes as shown in Figure 5.

Similar to the Common Size Groups for pipes, Pumps can be placed into Maximum Cost Groups based on monetary cost. If pump costs are added to a Maximum Cost Group, the ANS module will determine the pump in the group with the maximum costs, and set all pumps in the group to use the largest cost. In this case we will allow the pumps to be sized independently, so no groups need to be created.

We also want to include the Bends in the sizing for this model.

Click the General Junctions button and change each of the Bends (3, 6, 10, and 19) to Include in Cost Report and Sizing (Figure 6)

🧪 Workspa	ace 🧳 Sizing [Model Data	Dutput 🛛 🖄 Gra	ph Results 🛛 💿 Visual Re	port								
r Undo	🕋 Redo 💉 💣 Lo	ock Panel 🛛 🛍 Lock A	All Panels 🛭 🍟 Un	lock All Panels	Status Panel								
Pipes	Pipes Pumps A Control Valves General Junctions												
Size/Cos	Size/Cost Assignments												
Move to: Include in Cost Report and Sizing Include in Cost Report Only Do Not Include Cost Map Xs X Delete													
	Cost Options Maximum Cost Groups												
^ Pumps	Include in Cost	Include in	Do Not	Material	Installation	Maintenance							
	Report and Sizing	Cost Report Only	Include Cost	Not in Group	Not in Group	Not in Group							
J4	۲	0	0	•	۲	۲							
J4 J5	•	0	0	•	•) ()							
J4 J5	•	0	0	•	•) ()							
J4 J5 All N	One Invert Worksp	O O Nace Special	0	•		O O O O O O O O O O							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0	Invert Worksp	O O Nace Special	0	•	Num	O							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0	Invert Worksp	O O Nace Special	0	•	© Num	O Ber of Pump Max Cost Groups: 0							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0	Invert Worksp of 2	O O Nace Special	0	© •	© © Num	er of Pump Max Cost Groups: 0							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0	one Invert Worksp of 2	O O ace Special	0		Num	er of Pump Max Cost Groups: 0							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0	Ione Invert Worksp of 2 ion and Help	o o ace Special		• • •	Num	er of Pump Max Cost Groups: 0							
J4 J5 All N Selected: 0 ♥ Descript ♥ Descript ♥ Sizin	ione Invert Worksp of 2 ion and Help Size/Cost	Candidate	O O Assign	Carlos a construction of the second s	Num	er of Pump Max Cost Groups: 0							

Figure 5: Size/Cost Assignments panel defined for the pumps

🖉 Workspace	e 🧳 Sizing	🔚 Model Data 🛛	Output	🖄 Graph	Results	👁 Vis	ual Report					
🕋 Undo 🛛	🕋 Redo 🔹 🧉	Lock Panel 🛛 🛍 Lo	ck All Panels	衛 Unloc	k All Panel	s 🔋	Show Status P	anel				
Pipes	😂 Pipes 夕 Pumps 🏟 Control Valves 🕞 🖚 General Junctions											
Size/Cost	Size/Cost Assignments											
	Move to:	Include in Cost Report and Sizing	Inclu Cost Re	ıde in port Only	Do No Include (ot Cost						
			Cost Op	tions								
General Junctions	Junction Type	Include in Cost Report and Sizing	Inclu Cost Re	ude in port Only	Do N Include	ot Cost						
J1	Reservoir	0	(C	۲							
J2	Branch	0	(C	۲							
J3	Bend	۲	(D	0							
J6	Bend	۲	(D	0							
J7	Branch	0	(2	۲							
J8	Branch	0	(2	•							
J9	Branch	0		5								
J10	Bend				0							
J 14	Heat Exchanger	0										
J 15 116	Heat Exchanger											
117	Branch	Ö		5	ĕ							
.118	Branch	Ö		5								
J19	Bend	ŏ	Č	5	ŏ							
				-			1					
All Nor Selected: 0 of	All None Invert Workspace Special Selected: 0 of 14											
 Descriptio 	n and Help		Ŧ									
Sizing Objective	Size/Cost Assignments	Candidate De Sets Requi	x) isign rements C	Assign fost Libraries	Sizing		Sizing Summary					

Figure 6: Size/Cost Assignments panel defined for the General Junctions

C. Candidate Sets

Click on the Candidate Sets button to open the Candidate Sets panel.

Click New under Define Candidate Sets and name it *STD Steel 1"-36"*. In the Select Pipe Sizes window, select Steel - ANSI from the dropdown menu, expand the STD group (make sure the Sort selection on the bottom is Type, Schedule, Class), then add all pipes from 1 inch to 36 inch to the Candidate Set list on the right. Click OK to close the Select Pipe Sizes window.

In the bottom section of the window, assign each of the Common Size Groups and pipe P8 to the STD Steel 1"-36" Candidate Set. The window should appear as shown in the figure below.

같 Workspace	🧳 Sizin	g 🔡 Mo	del Data	🛄 Outp	out 🔰	🗟 Graph Results	👁 Visual Report
💣 Lock Panel 🧯	" E Lock Al	ll Panels -	Unlock A	II Panels	Shc	ow Status Panel	
Define Cand	idate Sets						
New	Edit	Rename	. Dele	te	Save	Load	Note: The Candidate
Set Nam	e	Pipe	Material				^
STD Steel 1"	-36" S	Steel - ANSI					
Size	es in Set: 1	l inch, STD (s	chedule 40)				
	1	l-1/4 inch, STI) (schedule	40)			
	1	l-1/2 inch, STI	O (schedule	40)			
	2	2 inch, STD (s	chedule 40)				
	2	2-1/2 inch, STI	O (schedule	40)			×
🔺 Assign Candi	date Sets	to Pipes					
Assign To							
Pipe	5	C	andidate S	ets			
🗆 Common Size	Groups	No Set	STD Stee	el 1"-36"			
Main		0	C				
Pump Station		0	0	0			
Headers 1		0		9			
Headers 2		0	0	2			
Cooler Piping Not in Group		No Set	STD Star	y -1 1" 26"			
P8			SIDStee	eii-36))			
		0		/			
	All No	ne Invert	Workspace	e Specia	al S	elected: 0 of 6	Note: The Candidate
				T			
 Description ar 	nd Help						
T Sizing Objective	Size/Cos Assignme	t Candi	S date s Rec	(X) Design quirements	A Cost	Assign Sizing Libraries Metho	Sizing d Summary

Figure 7: Candidate Sets panel fully defined for the model

D. Design Requirements

Select the Design Requirements button from the Sizing Navigation Panel.

For this model we have multiple requirements for the system:

- 1. Max Velocity: All pipes have a maximum velocity of 12 feet/sec
- 2. Min Pressure: All pipes have a minimum static pressure requirement of 15 psia

- 3. *NPSH Margin*: All pumps must have a minimum NPSH Margin of 10 feet (for this system the nominal NPSHR is 50 feet)
- 4. Design DP: All control valves must have a minimum static pressure drop of 5 psid
- 5. All heat exchangers must receive a minimum flow of 1900 gal/min

Define and assign the first two requirements listed above as Pipe Design Requirements as shown in Figure 8, and item 3 as a Pump Design Requirement as shown in Figure 9. Notice that we have accounted for the minimum flow requirement in this system by using flow control valves at each of the heat exchangers. By using assigned flow pumps and flow control valves at the heat exchangers (we will do this later) we will incorporate the necessary flow rate as a boundary condition, so we do not need to apply a Design Requirement to account for this item.

For Control Valves 11 and 12 define and apply the minimum pressure drop requirement in the Control Valves section as shown in Figure 10. Note that for pump sizing purposes as discussed earlier Control Valve 13 has been defined as a Constant Pressure Drop valve, so the pressure drop Design Requirement does not need to be applied to this valve.

	<u>~</u> v	Vorkspace	e 🧳 S	izing 📳	Model Da	ata	🛄 Outp	out	🖄 Graph	Result	ts 🧕	Visual R	eport
4	Lo	ck Panel	🔑 Loc	k All Panels	💣 Unio	ock All P	anels	8 - S	Show Statu	s Pane	I		
		Pipes	🖸 Pumps	Contro	Valves	-🗗 Ge	neral Ju	nctions	s				
	<u> </u>	Define Pi	pe Design	Requireme	nts								
	_ _	**-			-	~		0					
	N	lew	Duplicate	e Renar	ne	Delete	D	elete /	All Note:	The De	esign Req	uirement d	efinitions
		N	lame	Pa	rameter		Loca	tion	Max/M	in l	Value	Units	
	1	Max Ve	locity	Velocity		\sim	N/A	\sim	Maximum	\sim	12	feet/sec	~
	2	Min Pre	ssure	Pressure St	atic	\sim	Inlet	\sim	Minimum	\sim	15	psia	~
	_												
	<u>~</u> /	Assign De	esign Requ	irements to	o Pipes								
	Cor	nmon Siz	e Groups	Max Velo (< 12 fee	ocity t/sec)	Min P (> 1	ressure 5 psia)						
	÷	Main				l	2						
	ŧ	Pump St	ation										
	±	Header											
	÷	Cooler	2 Yipina										
	÷	Not in G	roup			I							
	_							_					
		⊟ ∎1	Show	ving: 0 of 22 P	ipes							Note: T	ne Design
							Ŧ						
6		Description	n and Help										
1		Sizing	Size	S Cost Ca	Indidate	Ç.	x>		Assign				
		Objective	Assign	nments	Sets	Requi	rements	C	ost Librarie	s M	ethod	Su	mmary

Figure 8: Design Requirements panel for pipes

2	Workspace	sizing	📑 Model Data	🛄 Outp	ut 🗵	Graph Resu	ılts 💿 \	/isual Report			
🖆 L	.ock Panel	👜 Lock All Pa	nels 🧯 Unlock A	ll Panels	Sho	w Status Pan	el				
E	😑 Pipes 🛛 😴 Pumps 🙀 Control Valves 🖵 General Junctions										
	Define Pump Design Requirements										
	New	Duplicate	Rename	K ete D	@ elete All	Note: The D	Design Requir	ement definitions (
		Name	Parameter	r L	ocation	Max/Min	Value	Units			
	1 NPSH N	Margin	NPSH Margin	✓ N/A	\sim	Minimum 🗅	~ 1	0 feet 🗸			
Pu J4 J5	Assign De mps NF (;	sign Requireme 2SH Margin > 10 feet) ☑ ☑	nts to Pumps								
		Showing: 2 c	of 2 Pumps (All)					Note: The Design			
	Description	and Help		Ŧ							
T	Sizing	Size/Cost	Candidate	⟨x⟩ Design	O A	ssign (Sizing	Sizing			

Figure 9: Design Requirements panel defined for the pumps



Figure 10: Design Requirements panel defined for the control valves

E. Assign Cost Libraries

Select the Assign Cost Libraries button. For this model the engineering and cost libraries have already been created, but we will need to connect and apply them.

Note: The <u>Cooling System</u>, <u>Creating Libraries - ANS</u> example provides instructions on how to build the libraries for the first part of this example, and may be completed later for practice with creating libraries. The provided pre-built libraries will be needed to obtain the pump curve data for Step 16 of this example.

>Open the Library Manager by opening the Library menu and selecting Library Manager. The AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY, LOCAL USER LIBRARY, and the pipe material libraries should be available and connected by default. Available libraries will be shown based on libraries that Fathom has identified on your machine. The default connected libraries will be visible here, and additional libraries may be visible from other example files or from libraries previously built and used on your machine.

This example uses one user-defined engineering library *Cooling System.dat*, which contains the data for the pumps and bends. There are also two cost libraries, *Cooling System Costs.cst* and *Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs.cst*, which contain the cost data for the junctions and the pipe materials, respectively. *Cooling System Costs.cst* was built off of the engineering library *Cooling System.dat*, and *Steel -*

ANSI Pipe Costs.cst was built off of the Steel - ANSI Pipe Material Library. To connect these libraries, do the following:

- 1. Click Add Existing Library.
- 2. Browse to the Fathom 13 Examples folder (located by default in C:\AFT Products\AFT Fathom 13\Examples\), and open the file titled *Cooling System.dat*.
- 3. Repeat the above steps, but choose Add Existing Cost Library to browse for **Cooling System Costs.cst**, then **Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.cst**.

Note that it may be possible that the model file already has the cooling system libraries connected, in which case you will be notified that the library you are trying to add is already available. If the libraries are available, you will simply need to make sure they are connected by ensuring a checkmark is next to the name. There should be a library titled **Cooling System** with two sub libraries: **Junctions** and **Cost** (Cost should have a cost file titled **Cooling System Costs** beneath it. Additionally a Cost sub library should appear subordinate to the Steel - ANSI, the library **Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs** should appear beneath it.

Note: When a library is selected in the Library Manager, the filename and location can be viewed in the Selected Content Information section.

Once you have confirmed that the necessary libraries are connected, click Close to exit the Library Manager.

Library Manager		
Library Browser	Library Browser	
Edit Junctions Edit Fluids	Search:	Selected Library Information
Edit Pipe Materials Edit Insulations Edit Fittings & Losses	AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Art insulations Art insulations Art and the second	Cooling System Location: C:\AFT Products\AFT Fathom 13\Examples\Cool Number of Futings = 0 Number of Futings = 0 Number of Pipe Materials = 0 Number of Others = 0 Number of Cost Libraries = 1
	Create new Lorary And Existing Lorary Add Existing Cost Lib	nary User Derault Set aš Defauļt
	AFT Internal Library Read Only Library	Pelp Close

Figure 11: Library Manager with Cooling System junction libraries connected

Since we are connecting a pre-built engineering library, we will need to take an additional step to confirm that the junctions in the Workspace are linked to the Cooling System engineering library that we added.

- 1. Go to the Workspace, and open Pump J4
- 2. From the Library Jct list, select **Pump 3000 gal/min**. The pump input should change, and Fathom will recognize that this junction is connected to the engineering and cost library for this pump. Click OK.
- 3. Repeat step 2 for Pump J5.
- 4. Open each of the Bends (junctions 3, 6, 10, and 19), and select **STD Elbow** for each from the Library Jct list, and click **OK**.

We have now re-connected the junctions that will be considered for the Cost Report and Sizing Calculations to the engineering library. This is important, since a junction must be connected to an engineering library before a cost can be assigned for it. Let's now return to the Sizing tab.

Back in the Assign Cost Libraries panel for the Pipes, All should be selected for the STD Steel 1"-36" inch Candidate Set with only the Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs library shown. The user can create and connect as many cost libraries as desired, which can be useful to easily update the cost of individual objects, rather than having to keep all of the costs in one large library. If multiple cost libraries are assigned to a Candidate Set, then the costs will be stacked to find a cumulative cost.

>Click on the Pumps button to view the cost library assignments for the Pumps. The only visible library should be the Cooling System Costs library, as this was the only cost library connected for the associated engineering library. Make sure that the checkboxes are selected under the library name so that the cost data will be applied for each of the pumps. To review the cost data for the Bends click the General Junctions button to verify that the Cooling System Costs are being applied to each of the bends.

F. Sizing Method

Select the Sizing Method button to go to the Sizing Method panel.

>Choose Discrete Sizing, if not already selected, since it is desired to select discrete sizes for each of the pipes in the model.

For this model we have six independent pipe sizes as mentioned earlier (five Common Size Groups and pipe 8), and 48 design requirements (2 pipe design requirements applied to all of the pipes, the pump NPSH requirement, and the minimum pressure drop for control valves). Due to the number of independently sized pipes, it would be recommended to try the MMFD or SQP search method.

Select Sequential Quadratic Programming (SQP) for the sizing method.

Note: <u>Search Methods</u> can give different results in certain cases. It may be prudent to try several methods and to proceed with the one that yields optimal results.

G. Sizing Summary

From the Sizing Navigation Panel select the Sizing Summary button.

The Sizing Summary panel allows the user to view all of the sizing input for the model in a tree view layout, which is shown in Figure 12. Items can be organized by sizing parameters (Design Requirements, Candidate Sets, etc.), or information can be viewed based off an individual pipe. For clarity these categories can be shown/hidden using the check boxes at the top of the panel.

Each tree node can be expanded/collapsed individually by using the '+' and '-' buttons on the node. Alternatively, the buttons on the bottom of the panel can be used to collapse/expand all items. Right-clicking on the nodes provides additional options to collapse/expand items, view related nodes, or to copy information to the clipboard. The Sizing Summary panel can be printed from the printer button at the bottom of the panel.

🖉 Workspace 🧳 Sizing 🔡 Model Data	Output	🖄 Graph Results 💿 Visual Report	
👕 Lock Panel 🛛 🥮 Lock All Panels 🛭 💣 Unlock A	All Panels	Show Status Panel	
Show Categories: 🕑 Sizing/Cost Assignments 💟	Candidate Sets	🖌 Design Requirements 💟 Assigned Cost Libraries	Pipes (Reverse View)
General Information	*		
Sizing Type : Discrete Sizing Sizing Method : Sequential Quadratic Program Objective : Minimize Monetary Cost • Material • Installation	nming		
System Life : 10 years Fixed Energy Cost : 0.11 U.S. Dollars per kW-hr			
℁ Size/Cost Assignments		🗞 Sizing and Cost Options (4)	+
		Common Size Groups (5)	+
		\$ Maximum Cost Groups/Pumps (3)	+
		\$ Maximum Cost Groups/Control Valves (3)) +
a Candidate Sets	+		
(x) Design Requirements	+		
R Assigned Cost Libraries	+		
🖬 🖫 🛪 🛃 🎽 Tree layout complete.		🔄 🔍 100% 😑	
Description and Help		*	
Sizing Size/Cost Candidate Objective Assignments Sets Re	Design quirements	Assign Sizing Sizing Cost Libraries Method Summary	

Figure 12: Sizing Summary panel layout with the Size/Cost Assignments expanded. The number of children nodes for each item can be seen in parentheses.

Step 8. Set up the Scenario Manager

To compare the four potential sizing cases, child scenarios will be set up in the Scenario Manager. Go to the Scenario Manager now and create the following child scenarios based on Figure 13 below. These will include the Not Sized scenario and the four potential sizing cases: Initial Cost, Life Cycle Cost, Initial Cost Limit, and Actual Pump Curve.

Scenario Manager	ц									
🛃 📫 🖪 🖬 🛧 🕂										
Base Scenario Not Sized Initial Cost Initial Cost Initial Cost Actual Pump Curve										
Notes										
Scenario E Properties	Uworkspace Layers									
🔄 Overview Map	🔲 Add-on Modules 🛛 🍚									

Figure 13: Scenario Manager showing the child cases for the Cooling System ANS example

Step 9. Set up the Not Sized scenario

Load the Not Sized scenario by double-clicking on it in the Scenario Manager.

Navigate to the **Sizing** window and go to the **Sizing Objective** panel. Select **Calculate Cost, Do Not Size**. In the Options to Minimize Monetary Cost, the selection should be User Specified. Make sure that the radio buttons for **Material**, **Installation**, and **Energy** are selected for **Cost Report Only**, while **Maintenance** should have **Ignore Cost** selected.

This will calculate the life cycle cost of the system before any sizing is performed. This cost will be used as a comparison to the sized scenarios.

Step 10. Run the Model

Select Run Model in the Analysis menu or click Run Model in the Common Toolbar. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the Fathom Solver and ANS module converge on a solution.

After the run has been completed, the results can be reviewed clicking the Output button at the bottom of the solution progress window.

Step 11. Review the Not Sized results

The Cost Report is shown in the General Section of the Output window (see Figure 14). No sizing was performed, so all cost values will appear in the Items Not In Sizing row. The total cost for this system is \$2,414,737. This includes all costs over 10 years. The initial cost is the total of the material and installation cost: \$437,988. The energy cost for the system is \$1,976,749.

	General Warnings Design Alerts	Cost R	eport	Pump Summary	Valve Sum	mary Heat Exch	anger Summary	Reservoir Summary		
	Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Nam	ne Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTAL OF ALL MODEL COSTS									2,414,73
	Total of All Shown Costs			335,997	101,991	437,988	0	1,976,749	1,976,749	2,414,7
	Items In Sizing			0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Items Not In Sizing			335,997	101,991	437,988	0	1,976,749	1,976,749	2,414,73
	Pipe Subtotal			284,056	80,818	364,874	0	0	0	364,8
0	P1	Pipe	Pipe	10,967	3,120	14,088	0	0	0	14,0
0	P2	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P3	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P4	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P5	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P6	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P7	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P8	Pipe	Pipe	109,674	31,204	140,878	0	0	0	140,8
0	P9	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P10	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P11	Pipe	Pipe	5,484	1,560	7.044	0	0	0	7,0
0	P12	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P13	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P14	Pipe	Pipe	5,484	1,560	7,044	0	0	0	7,0
0	P15	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P16	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P17	Pipe	Pipe	5,484	1,560	7,044	0	0	0	7,0
0	P18	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P19	Pipe	Pipe	2,742	780	3,522	0	0	0	3,5
0	P20	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P21	Pipe	Pipe	1,645	468	2,113	0	0	0	2,1
0	P22	Pipe	Pipe	109,674	31,204	140,878	0	0	0	140,8
	Bend Subtotal			9,884	7,589	17,473	0	0	0	17,4
0	J3	Bend	Bend	2,471	1,897	4,368	0	0	0	4,3
0	J6	Bend	Bend	2,471	1,897	4,368	0	0	0	4,3
0	J10	Bend	Bend	2,471	1,897	4,368	0	0	0	4,3
0	J19	Bend	Bend	2,471	1,897	4,368	0	0	0	4,3
	Pump Subtotal			42,058	13,584	55,641	0	1,976,749	1,976,749	2,032,3
0	J4	Pump	Pump	21,027	6,791	27,819	0	988,330	988,330	1,016,14
0	J5	Pump	Pump	21,030	6,792	27,823	0	988,419	988,419	1,016,2

Figure 14: The Cost Report in the Output window shows the total and individual costs (in U.S. Dollars) for the sized system

With this basis, we will move on to the Initial Cost scenario.

Step 12. Run the Initial Cost scenario and review the results

Load the Initial Cost scenario using the Scenario Manager. This scenario should have all the inputs already specified, so no action is required besides running the model.

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. When finished, view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Go to the Cost Report, as shown in Figure 15. ANS shows all costs in the Cost Report, including those that were not used in the automated sizing. The total cost for this system is \$2,287,193. This includes all

costs over 10 years. The initial cost, which was the basis for the automated sizing, was the total of the material and installation (\$159,649). This total is listed as the total for the Items in Sizing row, since it was specified to only include the Initial Cost for material and installation on the Sizing Objective section. Individual items that were included in the automated sizing have their costs highlighted in green.

Other costs that are displayed in the Cost Report are Items Not in Sizing. These are items that have costs associated with them, but were not included in the automated sizing.

Note that the Items Not in Sizing total to \$2,127,544. Looking across at the subtotal one can see that all of this cost is in Operation/Energy (i.e., pump power costs). The TOTAL cost is the sum of the Non-Recurring Sub Total and the Recurring Sub Total. For the next scenario this operation/energy cost will be included in the automated sizing.

*	General W	arnings Design Alerts	Cost Re	eport	Pump Summary	Valve Sum	mary Heat Excha	anger Summary	Reservoir Summary		
		Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	e Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTALOF	ALL MODEL COSTS									2,287,193
	Total of All	Shown Costs			105,846	53,803	159,649	0	2,127,544	2,127,544	2,287,193
	Items In Siz	zing			105,846	53,803	159,649	0	0	0	159,649
	Items Not I	n Sizing			0	0	0	0	2,127,544	2,127,544	2,127,544
	Pipe Subto	tal			58,013	36,820	94,833	0	0	0	94,833
0	P1		Pipe	Pipe	2,476	1,518	3,994	0	0	0	3,994
0	P2		Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	405
0	P3		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P4		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P5		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P6		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P7		Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	405
0	P8		Pipe	Pipe	24,762	15,176	39,938	0	0	0	39,938
0	P9		Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	405
0	P10		Pipe	Pipe	164	139	302	0	0	0	302
0	P11		Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,007
0	P12		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P13		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P14		Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,007
0	P15		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P16		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P17		Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,007
0	P18		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P19		Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	504
0	P20		Pipe	Pipe	164	139	302	0	0	0	302
0	P21		Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	405
0	P22		Pipe	Pipe	24,762	15,176	39,938	0	0	0	39,938
	Bend Subto	otal			736	1,562	2,298	0	0	0	2,298
0	J3		Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	643
0	J6		Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	643
0	J10		Bend	Bend	151	355	506	0	0	0	506
0	J19		Bend	Bend	151	355	506	0	0	0	506
	Pump Subt	otal			47,097	15,421	62,518	0	2,127,544	2,127,544	2,190,062
0	J4		Pump	Pump	23,422	7,664	31,086	0	1,059,984	1,059,984	1,091,070
0	J5		Pump	Pump	23,675	7,757	31,432	0	1,067,560	1,067,560	1,098,991

Figure 15: The Cost Report in the Output window shows the total and individual costs (in U.S. Dollars) for the sized system

In the Pipes section of the Output window the final pipe sizes from the automated sizing can be seen, along with the Design Requirements status. For this model, the final system used pipe sizes varying from 10 to 16 inches, as seen in Figure 16. The information for the pumps can be seen in the Pump Summary tab in the General Section, which is also shown in Figure 16.

When a monetary cost objective is selected, additional tabs are available that display the Library Sources used for the Cost Report for each of the pipes/junctions. In this case both the Pipe Material and Pipe Installation costs for all of the pipes came from the Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs library which was connected earlier. Information for the Pumps and Bends came from the Cooling System Costs library. If multiple

cost libraries are used for a category they will all be listed separated by commas. The Library Sources for the Pipes can be seen in Figure 17.

<u>/</u> Wo	orkspace	🧳 Sizing	g 🔡 Model	Data		utput	🖄 Graph I	Results	💿 Visua	Report			
1	ja ĝ↓	1 🦅	h h										
☆ G	eneral V	Varnings De	esign Alerts Co	st Rep	ort Pur	np Sumn	nary Valve S	Summary	Heat Exch	anger Summ	nary Rese	rvoir Summ	ary
Jct	Results Diagran	Name	Vol. Ma Flow Flo (gal/min) (Ibm	iss ow (sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
4	Show	··· Pump	3,000	416.7	59.05	136.4	70.00	N/A	147.6	N/A	N/A	60.66	50.00
5	Show	Pump	3,000	416.7	59.47	137.4	70.00	N/A	148.6	N/A	N/A	60.17	50.00
A D	Ciri	ing Dias Da	-i Pi	a 13	Lange Car								
× PI	pes JIZI	ing Pipe De	sign Requiremen		brary Sol	Jrces							
Pipe	Name	Sized - Material	Sized - Nominal Size	Т	Sized - /pe/Sche	dule	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches)						
1	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	16 inch	STD	(schedu	le 30)	15.25						
2	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
3	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
4	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
5	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
6	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
7	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
8	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	16 inch	STD	(schedu	le 30)	15.25						
9	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
10	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
11	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
12	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
13	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
14	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
15	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
16	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
17	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
18	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
19	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
20	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	10 inch	STD	(schedu	le 40)	10.02						
21	Pipe	Steel - ANSI	12 inch	STD			12.00						
	Lev:	Steel ANCI	16 inch	STD	(schedu	le 30)	15 25						

Figure 16: Pump and Pipe Sizes after automated sizing is performed

^	Pip	es Sizir	ng	Pipe Design Requireme	ents	Library Sources	
Pi	ipe	Name		Pipe Material		Pipe Installation	Pipe Maintenance
	1	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	2	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	3	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
4	4	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	5	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
(6	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	7	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	8	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
	9	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	0	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	1	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	2	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	3	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	4	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	15	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	6	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	17	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	8	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
1	9	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
2	20	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
2	21	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	
2	2	Pipe	Ste	eel - ANSI Pipe Costs	Ste	el - ANSI Pipe Costs	

Figure 17: Library Sources for the Pipes in the Cost Report

Within the General tab of the Output window at the bottom of the report, the initial cost of the items included in the sizing can be seen, which was \$437,988 for this design, showing that the initial costs changed to \$159,649, a 63% reduction! We can also see that the initial design was feasible, meaning all of the design requirements were met (Figure 18). The ANS module both kept all design requirements satisfied, as well as minimized the initial cost, all in under 3 seconds.

Although there was a 63% reduction in initial costs, the total cost decreased by 5%. Next, we will see how much more the total cost can be reduced by doing a life cycle system sizing.



Figure 18: General section of Output window showing initial status of Items in Sizing

Step 13. Size System for Life Cycle Cost over 10 Years

Load the Life Cycle Cost scenario from the Scenario Manager. Go to the Sizing window, and make sure that the Sizing Objective panel is opened. Under Options to Minimize Monetary Cost, choose **Size for Ini-tial and Recurring Costs**. This will move the Energy costs selection to Include in Sizing Objective. The scenario is now complete.

Click Run from the Analysis menu to run the automated sizing. When the calculations have finished, click Output to view the results.

Step 14. Compare the Sizing Results

After viewing the Cost Report, it can be seen that the total cost is now \$2,216,402. The Items Not in Sizing row now has zero values, and the Energy columns are highlighted green, reflecting the changes made to include these costs in the objective to minimize monetary cost. The Cost Report is shown in Figure 19.

Taken on its own, this new cost represents a savings of \$198,335 (8%) compared to the Not Sized scenario. Compared to the Initial Cost scenario, which was sized to minimize initial cost only, this new scenario represents a savings of \$70,791. This represents a total 3% cost reduction. In the Initial Cost scenario, the non-recurring cost was \$159,649, while the overall cost was \$2,287,193. Now the nonrecurring cost is \$196,186 while the overall cost is \$2,216,402. The initial cost thus increased by \$36,537 in order to reduce the operating cost from \$2,127,544 to \$2,020,216 (a reduction of \$107,328). The source of the operating cost is the cost of power for the pumps. To reduce pump power usage, it makes sense to increase the pipe size and thus reduce frictional losses. The larger pipe sizes can be reviewed by looking at the Sizing tab in the Pipe Output section. From the Pump Summary tab it can be seen that the pump power usage decreased by 7.5 hp at each of the pumps, which is approximately a 5% power requirement decrease at each pump. The Pump Summary and final pipe sizes can be seen in Figure 20.

Considering this cost breakdown between the scenarios highlights the importance of choosing to include the energy costs in the initial cost scenario. If they were not in the Cost Report of the initial cost scenario, the total cost would be \$159,649. Since the life cycle cost scenario total cost is nearly ten times larger, it would appear (at first glance) to be a significant cost increase. However, this would be misleading, since the energy costs still exist in both scenarios, though they are only being minimized in one case. To get a clear comparison between designing for initial cost and life cycle cost one needs to make an apples-to-apples comparison, including all relevant costs in each case, as is done for this example.

By performing both analyses the designer has quantitative data on the impact of initial cost design on operational costs of the system, and can make an informed design choice.

*	General	Warnings	Desig	n Alerts	Cost Report	Pump Sur	mmary Valve S	ummary Heat	Exchanger Summary	Reservoir	Summary
	Table U.S. D	Units: Oollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTALO	F ALL MO	DEL CO	OSTS	1						2,216,402
	Total of A	All Shown C	Costs		133,229	62,957	196,186	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,216,402
	Items In S	Sizing			133,229	62,957	196,186	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,216,402
	Items No	t In Sizing			0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Pipe Sub	total			87,926	45,862	133,788	0	0	0	133,788
0	P1		Pipe	Pipe	3,695	1,861	5,556	0	0	0	5,556
0	P2		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P3		Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,187
0	P4		Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,187
0	P5		Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,187
0	P6		Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,187
0	P7		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P8		Pipe	Pipe	36,948	18,612	55,560	0	0	0	55,560
0	P9		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P10		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P11		Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,349
0	P12		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P13		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P14		Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,349
0	P15		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P16		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P17		Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,349
0	P18		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P19		Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	675
0	P20		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P21		Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	712
0	P22		Pipe	Pipe	36,948	18,612	55,560	0	0	0	55,560
	Bend Sub	ototal			1,792	2,982	4,774	0	0	0	4,774
0	J3		Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,377
0	J6		Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,377
0	J10		Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,377
0	J19		Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	643
	Pump Su	btotal			43,510	14,113	57,623	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,077,839
0	J4		Pump	Pump	21,728	7,047	28,774	0	1,009,286	1,009,286	1,038,061
0	J5		Pump	Pump	21,783	7,067	28,849	0	1,010,930	1,010,930	1,039,779

Figure 19: Cost Report for the network after sizing for life cycle cost

: 0	ieneral	Warnings	Design	Alerts Co	st Report	Pump	Summary	Valve Su	mmary	Heat Exchan	ger Summai	ny Reser	voir Sur 🛛
Jct	Results Diagram	Name	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overal Power) (hp)	l BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
4	Show	Pump	3,000	416.7	56.22	129.9	70.00	N//	A 140.	5 N/A	N/A	60.98	50.00
5	Show	Pump	3,000	416.7	56.31	130.1	70.00	N//	A 140.	B N/A	N/A	60.87	50.00
۲ F	ipes Si	zing Pip	e Design f	Requiremen	ts Libra	ary Sourc	es						
Pipe	Name	Sized Materi	al Non	òized - ninal Size	Siz Type/S	ed - Schedule	Sized - Diam (inch	Hyd. eter es)					
1	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 20 in	ich :	STD (sch	edule 20))	19.25					
2	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
3	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
4	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
5	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
6	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
7	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
8	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 20 in	ch :	STD (sch	edule 20))	19.25					
9	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ich !	STD			17.25					
10	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ich !	STD			17.25					
11	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
12	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ch !	STD			12.00					
13	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
14	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
15	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
16	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
17	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
18	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ich !	STD			12.00					
19	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 in	ch :	STD			12.00					
20	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ch :	STD			17.25					
21	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 18 in	ich :	STD			17.25					
22	Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 20 in	ch !	STD (sch	edule 20))	19.25					

Figure 20: Pump and Pipe Sizes after automated sizing is performed for life cycle cost

Step 15. Size System for Life Cycle Cost with Initial Cost Limit

While the energy cost savings from life cycle cost sizing are desirable, the budget for the project may not support the higher initial cost that is required. In that case, we can apply an initial cost limit to the life cycle cost sizing.

Load the Initial Cost Limit scenario from the Scenario Manager.

Return to the Sizing Objective panel and select the option for Size for Initial and Recurring Costs and check the box next to Initial Cost Limit. We will set the limit as \$175,000, which is slightly more than the initial cost of the scenario that minimized initial cost at the expense of an increased life cycle cost. Run the model and go to the Output tab.

A summary of the results with the initial cost limit compared to each of the initial and life cycle cost sizing scenarios for a 10 year life cycle can be seen in Table 1. Notice that while the material and installation costs were limited to \$175,000, the total costs over a 10 year lifetime are decreased by about \$53,280 compared to the Initial Cost scenario. The initial cost increased from \$159,649 to \$175,233: a \$15,584 increase. Therefore, a \$15,584 initial cost increase leads to a life cycle decrease of \$53,280. This savings comes from the reduction pump energy costs. These reduced energy costs were achieved by

increasing the Main pipes (P1 & P22), pipe P8, and the Header pipes while decreasing the pipes in Cooler Piping.

Figure 21 shows a comparison of the pipe sizes throughout the system for the Initial Cost scenario, the Life Cycle Cost scenario, and the Life Cycle Cost with Initial Cost Limit scenario. Note that this diagram was generated outside of AFT Fathom, but sized results can be shown for each scenario individually using Workspace Layers.

Scenario	Material	Installation	Non-Recur- ring Sub Total	Operation/Energy	TOTAL	Reduction
Not Sized	335,997	101,991	437,988	1,976,749	2,414,737	-
Initial Cost	105,846	53,803	159,649	2,127,544	2,287,193	127,545
Life Cycle Cost	133,229	62,957	196,186	2,020,216	2,216,402	198,336
Initial Cost Limit	117,520	57,713	175,233	2,058,681	2,233,913	180,825

 Table 1: Cost Summary of Sizing Runs for Cooling System



Figure 21: Pipe sizes selected by the ANS module for the life cycle cost and life cycle cost with an initial cost limit compared to sizing for initial cost only

Step 16. Automated Sizing with Pump Curve Data

As discussed in the section *Summarizing the pump selection process*, once the pump is sized then actual pumps can be modeled. The actual pump should closely match the sizing results in the following areas: generated head at the design flow, efficiency at the design flow, and cost. We will apply a pump curve for the case that was sized for life cycle cost to complete the pump selection process.

Reviewing the results for the life cycle cost scenario one can see that the sized system calls for a pump of about 141 hp that generates about 130 feet of head at 3,000 gal/min. The nominal efficiency used in the sizing part of the analysis was 70%. The material cost for such a pump was about \$21,800, and the installation cost was about \$7,000. Note that if no actual pump can be found that reflects these requirements, then the phase 1 of the pump selection process described above should be repeated with better performance and/or cost data for the pump.

Based on the sizing analysis, we will choose a pump from the (fictitious) Rocky Mountain Pump Company. Its model 100XLC is a close match for the requirements of a 10-year life cycle design. The model 100XLC has the following characteristics: at 3,000 gal/min its head is 135 feet and efficiency is 70%. Its material cost is \$50,000 and installation cost is \$22,500. To set up a new scenario for the system with the candidate pump data:

- 1. Load the Actual Pump Curve scenario and go to the Output window. Currently it should be identical to the parent scenario Life Cycle Cost. Run the scenario.
- 2. Open the Edit menu and select **Transfer Results to Initial Guesses**. When the Transfer Results Options window appears, select **Calculated Pipe Sizes Only** and hit **OK**.

Note: The pipe sizes in Model Data are now equal to the pipe sizes selected by ANS for the Life Cycle Cost scenario. Starting from a more optimal solution can aid convergence and in this case will improve solver execution time.

- 3. Go back to the Workspace. In the properties window for each of the **pumps** select **Rocky Mtn Pump 100XLC** from the Library Jct list to import the pump data from the library as shown in Figure 22, then click OK.
- 4. In the Control Valve properties window for **J13**, change the Valve Type to **Flow Control (FCV)**, and enter a Flow Setpoint of **2000 gal/min**. Uncheck Always Control (Never Fail), Now that we have changed the control valve model, we will need to add a new Design Requirement in order to account for the minimum pressure drop.
- 5. Go to the **Sizing** window, navigate to the **Design Requirements** panel, select the **Control Valves** button at the top of the window, and **apply** the Design DP design requirement to J13.



Figure 22: Pump Properties window with the Rocky Mtn Pump 100XLC selected

The necessary changes are now complete to size the system with the updated pump and flow control valve data.

>Select Run from the Analysis menu to perform the automated sizing - this may take some time.

When the solver has finished, click Output to review the results. The overall cost for the system is about \$2,558,744. Clicking the Pump Summary tab shows that the operating point with the actual pump curve is similar to the sizing scenario.

Now we have sized the system for use with an actual pump.

\$	General	Warnings	Design Alerts	Cost R	eport Pu	imp Summary	Valve Sum	mary Heat Excha	anger Summary	Reservoir Summary		
		Table Un U.S. Doll	its: ars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTAL	OF ALL MO	DEL COSTS									2,558,74
	Total of	All Shown (Costs			158,749	83,382	242,131	0	2,316,613	2,316,613	2,558,74
	Items In	Sizing				158,749	83,382	242,131	0	2,316,613	2,316,613	2,558,74
	Items N	ot In Sizing				0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Pipe Su	btotal				58,013	36,820	94,833	0	0	0	94,83
0	P1			Pipe	Pipe	2,476	1,518	3,994	0	0	0	3,99
0	P2			Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	40
0	P3			Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P4			Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P5			Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P6			Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P7			Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	40
0	P8			Pipe	Pipe	24,762	15,176	39,938	0	0	0	39,93
0	P9			Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	40
0	P10			Pipe	Pipe	164	139	302	0	0	0	30
0	P11			Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,00
0	P12			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P13			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P14			Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,00
0	P15			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P16			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P17			Pipe	Pipe	545	462	1,007	0	0	0	1,00
0	P18			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P19			Pipe	Pipe	273	231	504	0	0	0	50
0	P20			Pipe	Pipe	164	139	302	0	0	0	30
0	P21			Pipe	Pipe	227	178	405	0	0	0	40
0	P22			Pipe	Pipe	24,762	15,176	39,938	0	0	0	39,93
	Bend Su	ubtotal				736	1,562	2,298	0	0	0	2,29
0	J3			Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	64
0	J6			Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	64
0	J10			Bend	Bend	151	355	506	0	0	0	50
0	J19			Bend	Bend	151	355	506	0	0	0	50
	Pump S	ubtotal				100,000	45,000	145,000	0	2,316,613	2,316,613	2,461,61
0	J4			Pump	Pump	50,000	22,500	72,500	0	1,160,829	1,160,829	1,233,32
0	J5			Pump	Pump	50.000	22,500	72 500	0	1 155 784	1 155 784	1 228 28

Figure 23: Cost Report for system with actual Pump and FCV data sized for 10 year life cycle cost

Cooling System, Multiple Design Cases - ANS

Summary

Some pipe system designs have multiple operating conditions to satisfy. For instance, the cooling water example discussed in the previous example may have a requirement that it operate with one of the pumps turned off. This can be modeled in the ANS module by taking advantage of its ability to model multiple systems concurrently.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Defining dependent Design Cases
- Using Duplicate Special to create Dependent Designs
- Specifying fractional pump costs with Dependent Design Cases
- Using multiple Dependent Design Cases

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Since this example is a continuation of the <u>Cooling System - ANS</u> example, it is recommended to complete that example first before beginning this example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Cooling System ANS.fth
- US Cooling System Multiple Design Cases ANS.fth
- Cooling System.dat engineering library
- Cooling System Costs.cst cost library for Cooling System.dat
- Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.cst cost library for Steel ANSI pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the **US** - **Cooling System** - **ANS.fth** example file and save it as a new file. Delete the annotations and hide the layers for Section A through E. The Workspace should look like Figure 1 below.

Browse to the Life Cycle Cost scenario in Scenario Manager. Create a child scenario from this called *Dependent Design Cases* to work in for this example.



Figure 1: Workspace for Cooling System model

Step 3. Enable Dependent Design

When modeling multiple design cases, the different cases need to be broken up into a primary design case, of which there is one, and dependent design cases, of which there can be any number.

The primary design case can be any of the design cases that are being addressed in your model. Typically, it will represent the primary operating condition of the pipe system. The dependent design cases represent the same physical operating system, but are used to represent differing operating conditions. If it is not clear which case should be the primary case, just pick any of the cases and call that the primary one. Design cases other than the primary case are referred to as dependent design cases. The reason why we choose a primary case and refer to the other cases as dependent cases will become clearer as we progress through this topic.

For this example the primary design case is the system running with all pumps turned on. We want to also consider the case where only one pump is running. The one pump running case will be created as a dependent design case.

Dependent design case modeling is enabled in the Sizing Objective panel.

>In the Dependent Design Case scenario go to the Sizing window and to the Sizing Objective panel. Check the box next to Enable Dependent Design Cases. A new button will now be available for the Dependent Design Cases panel in the Sizing Navigation Panel as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: The Dependent Design Cases panel is enabled from the Sizing Objective panel

Step 4. Setting up the Dependent Design Case

A. Using Duplicate Special

The easiest way to set up a dependent design case once it has been enabled is to use Duplicate Special, which will allow us to make an exact duplicate of the model in order to setup the additional operating cases. Note that you should fully define the model and all the sizing settings for the primary case before creating the dependent cases, as has been done in this model.

To create the dependent cases:

- 1. Make sure that the scenario where the dependent cases will be created is loaded. In this case, you should have the Dependent Design Cases scenario loaded.
- 2. Go to the **Workspace**.
- 3. Go to the Edit menu and choose Select All.
- 4. Go to the Edit menu again and choose Duplicate Special (see Figure 3).
- 5. Choose an increment for the pipe and junction numbers. The number should be large enough to avoid conflicts with numbers used for other pipes and junctions in this and all other scenarios. In this case use **100**.
- 6. Select the Make Dependent Design Case check box.
- 7. Click **OK** and move the duplicated version of the primary design case to an open area in the Workspace. The model should now appear similar to Figure 4.

Note that Duplicate Special also allows you to do the following:

- Create a group for the dependent design case. This can simplify managing the pipe and junction objects in the design case.
- Hide the pipe and junction in the output. You may want to do this for reasons to be discussed later in this topic.
- Copy Layer Style Settings From Original Objects. If the visibility of the Section A through E layers is toggled back on, they will apply the same colors to both the duplicate and original model if this option was checked while creating the duplicate.
- Keep Common Size Groups. This feature is useful when using Duplicate Special for reasons other than dependent case creation, and can't be used when making a dependent design case.
- Clear the Design Requirements. For reasons to be discussed, frequently dependent design cases will employ different design requirements than the primary design case. This option allows you to clear all the current requirements, so new ones can be assigned.



Figure 3: Duplicate Special simplifies creation of dependent design cases



Figure 4: Workspace with the Dependent Design Case created for the Cooling System model

B. Apply the Dependent Design Operating Conditions

The dependent design case capability takes advantage of the ANS module's ability to run multiple models in the same Workspace. The pipes and junctions in Figure 4 that are numbered greater than 100 (i.e., the dependent design case) represent the same pipes and junctions as those numbered less than 100 (i.e., the primary design case). It is therefore critically important that only certain data in the dependent case is changed.

Frequently the Design Requirements or Special Conditions on the pipes or junctions will be changed. However, data such as a pipe's length or pump's performance should never change. The reason is that once this kind of data is changed, the pipe or junction is no longer the same pipe or junction, and thus the purpose of the dependent link is invalidated. The ANS module does not prevent changing data that should not be changed, but when the model is run it will check to make sure all data that should be the same actually is the same. In this example we are analyzing the case where one pump in the system is shut off, so we will use Special Conditions on the pump. With one pump shutoff we will not have enough flow to supply all three heat exchangers, so we will also close one of the heat exchangers as well as a control valve.

Change the Special Conditions of J105 to Pump Off No Flow.

>Change the Special Conditions of J111 to Closed.

Selecting these junctions on the Workspace and using the F4 keyboard shortcut is an option for applying these special conditions quickly. The dependent case should now appear as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Flow off for Pump 105 and Control Valve 111 in the Dependent Design Case

We will now need to adjust the Design Requirements for the model. Go to the Design Requirements panel on the Sizing window.

Currently it can be seen that Duplicate Special maintained all of the same design requirement applications from the primary case in the dependent case. While most of the design requirements used in the primary case still apply, we will need to remove the Design Requirements from the closed sections of the model. If the model were run without making any changes, the ANS module would not be able to find a feasible system, since it is impossible to achieve a minimum flow of 2000 gal/min in Heat Exchanger 114 now that it has been forced closed. A similar problem exists with the minimum NPSH margin being applied to Pump 105, which is also closed.

The flow requirements for Heat Exchanger 115 and 116 will also need to be reconsidered. Since there is only one pump running a lower supply flow rate is expected, so the minimum flow rate required by the coolers should be lowered to 1500 gal/min.

The pressure drop across the control valves still needs to be a minimum of 5 psid. For J112, this is accomplished by using a Design Requirement whereas J113 is defined as a constant pressure drop control valve (PDCV) with the required pressure drop.

Apply the changes as follows:

- 1. Click the Pumps button to go to the pump Design Requirements
- 2. Uncheck the box next to J105 to remove the NPSH requirement from Pump 105 in the dependent case (Figure 6).

- 3. Click the Control Valves button to go to the control valve Design Requirements.
- 4. Uncheck the box next to J111 to remove the pressure drop requirement from the closed control valve (Figure 7).
- 5. Return to the Workspace and open the Control Valve Properties window for J112.
- 6. Change the Flow Setpoint to 1500 gal/min(Figure 8).

No other changes are needed, so the Dependent Design Case scenario is now complete.

Select Run from the Analysis menu to perform the automated sizing, and go to the Output window once the run is complete to view the results.

2	* Workspace	🧳 Sizin	g 🛛 🔚 Model 🛙	Data 🔲	Output	😤 Graph Re	esults	Visual Report	
-	Lock Panel	Lock Al	I Panels 🍙 Un	lock All Pan	els 📘 Sh	ow Status Pa	anel		
	📑 Pipes 🛛 😴	Pumps #	Control Valves	Gener	al Junctions				
	Define Pum	p Design R	equirements						
Г	**-			~		7			
	New	Duplicate	Rename	Delete	Delete All	Note: Th	e Design R	equirement definitions	on this panel are co
	Nan	ne	Parameter	Location	Max/Min	Value	Units		
	1 NPSH Mar	rgin NF	PSH Margin 🗸 N	V/A ~	Minimum	- 10	0 feet 🕓	/	
	Assian Desia	n Require	ments to Pumps						
	, rasign besig	,			_	_	_		
	Pumps	•	(> 10 feet)						
J	4		\checkmark	3					
J	5		\checkmark						
	*Dependent Des	sign Case							
<u>J</u>	104			-					
J	105								
E	38 4	Showing:	: 4 of 4 Pumps (All)					Note: The Desigr	Requirement assig
					•				
	Description a	nd Help							
Ŧ							91		
		\$		$\langle x \rangle$!			
	Sizing	Size/Cos	t Candidate	Desig	n	Assign	Sizing	Dependent	Sizing
	Objective	Assignme	nts Sets	Requiren	nents Cos	t Libraries	Method	DesignCases	Summary

Figure 6: Pump Design Requirements for the dependent design case

🧪 Workspace 🛛 🧳 Siz	ing 🔡 Model	Data 🔲 Outpu	t 🛛 🖄 Graph Re	esults 🔇	Visual Report	
🖆 Lock Panel 🛛 🏙 Lock	All Panels U	nlock All Panels	Show Status P	anel		
Pipes 🔮 Pumps	🖗 Control Valve	s General Junc	tions			
Define Control Valve	Design Require	ments				
New Duplicate.	Rename	Delete Dele	Note: Th	ie Design Re	quirement definitions	on this panel are co
Name	Parameter	Location	Max/Min Val	lue Uni	its	
1 Design DP Pre	ssure Drop Static	✓ N/A ✓ M	inimum 🗸	5 psid	~	
Assign Design Requi	rements to Contr	ol Valves				
	Design DP		_	-	_	
Control Valves	(>5psid)					
J11						
J12						
J13						
*Dependent Design Case						
J111						
J112 1112						
3113						
🗧 🗖 🙀 Showir	ng: 6 of 6 Control Vi	alves (All)			Note: The Desigr	n Requirement assig
Description and Help			*			
1				<u>₹</u> ₽		
		$\langle x \rangle$				
Sizing Size/C	ost Candidate	e Design	Assign	Sizing	Dependent	Sizing
Objective Assignment	nents Sets	Requirements	Cost Libraries	Method	Design Cases	Summary

Figure 7: Control Valve Design Requirements for the dependent design case

Number: Name:	112 Control Valve			Upstream Pipe: 114 Downstream Pipe: 115			114 115		 ✓ 	OK Cancel
Library Jct: Copy Data From Jct				Inlet: 2 feet			~	~		Jump
Control Valve Model	Optional	Design Alerts	Notes	Outlet		Same	e as Inlet		9	Help
Valve Type Pressure Redu Pressure Susta Constant Press Action If Setpoint N Always Control U use Default Ac Action If Insuffici	cing (PRV) ining (PSV) CV) aure Drop (PD(ot Achievable (Never Fail) [ctions ent Pressure	CV) Set As Default	?	Control Setpoir Volumetri Mass Ro Row Setpoir 1500 Loss When Fu None Cv Kv	nt c Flow Rate w Rate nt: gal/min	v				
Open Fully Action if Downstr Open Fully	Close ream Pressure Close	Excessive		U K Factor						

Figure 8: Flow Setpoint adjusted in the dependent design case for FCV J112

Summary

The cost report for the Dependent Design Case scenario can be seen in Figure 9 below.

Note that the pipes and junctions in the dependent case are separate entities for modeling purposes, but represent the same pipes and junctions as the primary case. Thus when performing automated sizing, we only count the cost of the pipes and junctions once. This occurs in the primary design case, which in our model is the two pumps running case. This is why only the primary design case pipes are shown in the cost report.

With one exception, it is not possible for a model that includes a dependent design case to yield a better design than the primary case alone. At best, it can yield the same design, such as in this scenario. This is due to the fact that the dependent design case imposes additional restrictions on the solution by adding additional design requirements. If the design for the primary design case is not sufficient for the dependent design must be changed, which will increase cost in some manner.

Turning off Pump 105 in this scenario required no adjustments in the pipe sizes, so the initial sizing results remained unchanged.

•	deneral Mannings Design Alerts	000000		ump ourninur)	Valve Sall	mary moat Exem	anger oanninary	ricaci von Saminary		
	Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTAL OF ALL MODEL COSTS									2,216,402
	Total of All Shown Costs			133,229	62,957	196,186	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,216,402
	Items In Sizing			133,229	62,957	196,186	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,216,402
	Items Not In Sizing			0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Pipe Subtotal			87,926	45,862	133,788	0	0	0	133,78
0	P1	Pipe	Pipe	3,695	1,861	5,556	0	0	0	5,55
0	P2	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P3	Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,18
0	P4	Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,18
0	P5	Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,18
0	P6	Pipe	Pipe	764	423	1,187	0	0	0	1,18
0	P7	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P8	Pipe	Pipe	36,948	18,612	55,560	0	0	0	55,56
0	P9	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P10	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P11	Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,34
0	P12	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P13	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P14	Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,34
0	P15	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P16	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P17	Pipe	Pipe	755	594	1,349	0	0	0	1,34
0	P18	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P19	Pipe	Pipe	378	297	675	0	0	0	67
0	P20	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P21	Pipe	Pipe	458	254	712	0	0	0	71
0	P22	Pipe	Pipe	36,948	18,612	55,560	0	0	0	55,56
	Bend Subtotal			1,792	2,982	4,774	0	0	0	4,77
0	J3	Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,37
0	J6	Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,37
0	J10	Bend	Bend	525	852	1,377	0	0	0	1,37
0	J19	Bend	Bend	217	426	643	0	0	0	64
	Pump Subtotal			43,510	14,113	57,623	0	2,020,216	2,020,216	2,077,83
0	J4	Pump	Pump	21,728	7,047	28,774	0	1,009,286	1,009,286	1,038,06
0	J5	Pump	Pump	21,783	7,067	28,849	0	1,010,930	1,010,930	1,039,77

✿ General Warnings Design Alerts Cost Report Pump Summary Valve Summary Heat Exchanger Summary Reservoir Summary

Figure 9: Cost Report for the Dependent Design Case scenario

Hot Water System - ANS

Summary

This example will take an existing hot water system design, scale it up, and size the pipes to meet a set of system requirements at a minimal cost. The system cost is included to demonstrate the need for sizing. The system must meet the following requirements:

- Minimum 10 psid drop across flow control valves in all cases
- Maximum 8 feet/sec velocity in all pipes in all cases
- No NPSH violations
- All pumps must operate between 80% to 100% of the BEP (Best Efficiency Point)
- System must also function with Pump A turned off with no BEP restrictions
- The flow rate through the heat exchangers is controlled by FCVs set to 3,000 gal/min.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Defining pump Design Requirements
- Sizing the system to minimize initial costs
- Using Dependent Design Cases

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Hot Water System.fth
- US Hot Water System ANS.fth

- Hot Water System.dat engineering library
- Hot Water System Costs.cst cost library for Hot Water System.dat
- Steel ANSI Pipe Costs.cst cost library for Steel ANSI pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Hot Water System.fth* example file and save it as a new file. We will not need the existing child scenarios for this example: right click on the Base Scenario in the Scenario Manager and select **Delete All Children**.

Although the model is fully defined, a few alterations are necessary for this example to scale up the system. Open the Workspace Layers tab in the Quick Access Panel and load the Layer Preset **ANS Sizing Group View** to display the sizing group colors. The Workspace should now appear as shown in Figure 1 below. Colors for each sizing group can be toggled individually by toggling their respective layer.




Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

For this example, the existing system is being scaled up. As an initial design, set all pipe diameters to 20 inches and increase the flow setpoints of the control valves to 3000 gal/min.

Make the following changes to these pipes junctions

- 1. All Pipes
 - a. Size = 20 inch
 - b. Type = STD (schedule 20)
- 2. J14 & J17 Control Valves
 - a. Flow Setpoint = 3000 gal/min

Step 5. Configure Sizing Settings

We will need to define the sizing settings to account for the three given Design Requirements while minimizing the initial costs for the system. To do this, we will follow the Sizing steps as outlined below.

A. Sizing Objective

The Sizing Objective panel should be selected by default in the Sizing Navigation panel.

Select Perform Sizing.

For the Objective, make sure that **Monetary Cost** is selected, and **Minimize** is chosen from the dropdown.

We will also need to specify which types of monetary cost we want to size for. Choose **Size for Initial and Recurring Costs**, if not selected already, to move the Material and Installation costs to the column to be sized.

Set the System Life to 10 years.

Under Energy Cost, select Use This Energy Cost Information and enter 0.12 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr.

B. Size/Cost Assignments

On the toolbar at the bottom of the window select the Size/Cost Assignments button. The Size/Cost Assignments window allows the user to define what will be sized in the model.

To increase the analysis speed and reduce complexity, it is useful to create Common Size Groups to group the pipes in different sections of the model. For this system we have defined 5 groups to be sized, as can be seen in Figure 2. We do not want to size pipe P1, but we will include it in the cost calculation for the sake of comparison later.

Create the Common Size Groups shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2 in the model by either using the radio buttons in the table, or by selecting the pipes in the Workspace and adding them to groups from the right click menu.

Undo ···	🕋 Redo 🔹 💣 Lock P	anel 🛛 👛 Lock All Panels 📢	Unlock All Panels	Show Status Panel						
Size/Cost	Assignments									
Move to:	Always Include in Cost	Include in Cost If Size Changes	Include in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	New Re	Name Delete	Ø . Move To			
		Sizing and C	Cost Options				Pi	pe Grouping		
^ Pipes	Automat	tically Size	Do f	lot Size	Not in			Common Size Groups		
	Always Include in Cost	Include in Cost if Size Changes	Include in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	Group	Main Lines	Pump Station	Pump Station Headers	Heat Exchanger A	Heat Exchanger B
P1	0	0	۲	0	۲					
P2	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0	0
P3	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0	0
P4	۲	0	0	0			0	0	0	0
P5	۲	0	0	0	8		۲	0	0	0
P6	۲	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
P7	۲	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
P8	۲	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
P9	۲	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
P10	۲	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
P11	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0	
P12	۲	0	0		0	0	۲			
P13	۲	0	0		0	0	۲	0	0	0
P14	۲	0	0	0	0	0		۲		
P15	۲	0	0		0	•	0			
P16	۲	0	0		0	۲	0	0	0	
P17	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0
P18	۲	0	0		0	0	0	0	۲	0
P19	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲	0
P20	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲
P21	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲
P22	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲
P23	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲
P24	۲	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	۲
1	1 1									
Al N Selected: 0 d	one Invert Workspace if 24	Special							Numbe	of Independent Pipe Sizes:
					*					
Uescript	on and Help									
* @) 🔥 (3		1							

Figure 2: Size/Cost Assignments using Common Size Groups to simplify calculations

Besides the pipes, it is also desired to include the pumps in the sizing.

Select the Pumps button then set each of the pumps to be included in the Cost Report and Sizing.

C. Candidate Sets

Click on the Candidate Sets button to open the Candidate Sets panel.

Click New under Define Candidate Sets and name it *STD Steel 1"-36"*. In the Select Pipe Sizes window, select Steel - ANSI from the dropdown menu, expand the STD group (make sure the Sort selection on the bottom is Type, Schedule, Class), then add all pipes from 1 inch to 36 inch to the Candidate Set list on the right. Click OK to close the Select Pipe Sizes window.

In the bottom section of the window, check that each of the Common Size Groups have been assigned to use the existing Candidate Set.

D. Design Requirements

Select the Design Requirements button.

For this model we only have three given Design Requirements which will need to be applied for the pipes, control valves, and pumps. We will start with the pipes:

- 1. Ensure the Pipes button at the top of the window is selected.
- 2. Click the New button under Define Pipe Design Requirements.
- 3. Enter a name when prompted: Max Pipe Velocity.
- 4. In the table, select Velocity as the Parameter.
- 5. Choose Maximum for Max/Min, and enter 8 feet/sec.

Now that the requirement is defined, make sure that it has been applied to all pipes in the model by checking the box next to each of the Common Size Groups in the bottom section of the window, as shown in Figure 3.

Repeat the same process as above by clicking the Pumps, then Control Valves button to apply the Design Requirements for the Pumps and Control Valves as follows, and as is shown in Figure 5 and Figure 4 respectively.

- All of the Pumps must have a minimum % Flow of BEP of 80% and a maximum % Flow of BEP of 100%
- Both Control Valves must have a minimum stagnation pressure drop of 10 psid

Note: The Design Requirements are not enforced when the model is not being sized. Instead, the design requirements are treated as Design Alerts, which is useful to assess the feasibility of the initial design.

🖉 Workspace 🛛 🧳 Sizing	Model Data	🔳 Output 🛛 🖄 Grapł	h Results 💿 Visual Report
🖆 Lock Panel 🛛 🛍 Lock All P	anels 🛭 💣 Unlock All P	anels 🚦 Show Statu	is Panel
Pipes 🔮 Pumps 🙀	Control Valves	neral Junctions	
🔁 Define Pipe Design Requ	irements		
New Duplicate	Rename	Delete All Note	: The Design Requirement definitions on
Name	Parameter Locati	on Max/Min Va	alue Units
1 Max Pipe Velocity V	/elocity V/A	✓ Maximum ✓	8 feet/sec 🗸
Assign Design Requireme	ents to Pipes		
Common Size Groups	Max Pipe Velocity (< 8 feet/sec)		
Main Lines			
Pump Station			
Pump Station Headers			
HEX A			
HEX B			
		ļ	
Showing: 0	of 24 Pipes		Note: The Design Re
 Description and Help 		Ŧ	
Sizing Size/Cost Objective Assignments	Candidate De Sets Requi	x> sign Assign rements Cost Librarie	Sizing sizing Sizing s Method Summary

Figure 3: Pipe Design Requirements

2° W	/orkspace	1	Sizing	R Mode	l Data	🛄 Out	put		Graph I	Resul	ts 🔇	🗩 Vi	sual Report	
🖆 Loo	ck Panel	🔑 Lo	ck All Pa	nels - l	Jnlock All	l Panels	S S	how	Status	Pane	el			
8	Pipes 😽	Pump	s 🕅 🤇	Control Valve	es 🗗 🗗 (General J	unctions	3						
)efine Pu	mp Desi	ign Requ	irements				_						
N	ew	Duplicat	e te	Rename	Delet	te I	Ø Delete A	All	Note: T	The De	esign Re	quire	ment definiti	ons o
	Na	me	Para	ameter	Locati	ion I	/lax/Mi	n	Value	е	Units			
1	Min % B	EP	% Flow	of BEP 🗸	N/A	∼ Mir	imum	\sim		80 P	ercent	\sim		
2	Max % E	BEP	% Flow	of BEP 🗸 🗸	N/A	∼ Ma	kimum	\sim	1	00 P	ercent	\sim		
A 🗠	ssign Des	ign Req	quiremer	nts to Pum	ps									
F	umps	Mi (> 8	n % BEP 0 Percen	t) (<	Max % BE 100 Perc	:P xent)								
J4 (F	^o ump C)		\checkmark		$\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{$									
J7 (F	^o ump B)		\checkmark		\checkmark									
J10 ((Pump A)		\checkmark		\checkmark									
		😴 Sho	wing: 3 o	f 3 Pumps (/	All)							N	lote: The De	sign F
💌 D	escription	and Help	Þ			•								
Ŧ		6	<u>.</u>					6		4	€-			

Figure 4: Pump Design Requirements

20	Workspace	🧳 Sizina	Model Data	Output	🖄 Grai	oh Results	Visual Report
ے۔ ا	ock Panel	Lock All F	Panels 崎 Unlock A	II Panels	Show Stat	tus Panel	
					1		
	9 Pipes 🚽	Pumps 🛛	Control Valves	General Junctior	ns		
	Define Cont	trol Valve De	sign Requirements				
	New	∎ <u>∦</u> Duplicate	Rename	ke Delete	All Not	e: The Design	Requirement definitions
	N	ame	Parameter	Loc	ation	Max/Min	Value Units
1	Min Press	ure Drop	Pressure Drop Stagna	ation V N/A	~ M	inimum \vee	10 psid 🗸
	Assign Desig	gn Requirem	ents to Control Valv	es			
Co	ontrol Valves	Min Press (> 10	sure Drop psid)				
Сс J14	ontrol Valves	Min Press (> 10	sure Drop psid)				
Cc J14 J17	ontrol Valves 4 (FCV A) 7 (FCV B)	Min Press (> 10	sure Drop psid)]				
J14 J17	A (FCV A) 7 (FCV B)	Min Press (> 10	eure Drop psid) 2 2 2 of 2 Control Valves (A	1)			Note: The Desigr
Cc J14 J17	4 (FCV A) 7 (FCV B)	Min Press (> 10	sure Drop psid)	II) •			Note: The Desigr
Cc J14 J17 	4 (FCV A) 7 (FCV B) Description a	Min Press (> 10	e of 2 Control Valves (A			R.	Note: The Design
Cα J14 J17 []	A (FCV A) 7 (FCV B) Description a	Min Press (> 10 Showing: 2 nd Help	e of 2 Control Valves (A	ıı) 			Note: The Design

Figure 5: Control Valve Design Requirements

E. Assign Cost Libraries

Select the Assign Cost Libraries button. For this model the engineering and cost libraries have already been created, but we will need to check that they have been connected and applied properly.

>Open the Library Manager by clicking the Library Manager button to see which libraries are connected. The AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY and LOCAL USER LIBRARY should be available and connected. The AFT internal library also has a cost library associated with it. This example uses the engineering library *Hot Water System.dat* and two cost libraries, *Hot Water System Costs.cst* and *Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs.cst* which are linked with the Hot Water System engineering library and the pipe material library for Steel - ANSI, respectively. If the libraries are connected, there will be a check in the box next to their name, as shown in Figure 6.

If they are not in the available library list, add them from the Examples folder in the AFT Fathom 13 folder. Click Add Existing Library to navigate to and select the library **Hot Water System.dat**. Next, click Add Existing Cost Library and add **Hot Water System Costs.cst** and **Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs.cst**.

The US - ANS Hot Water Heat Exchanger junction will only be used for the heat exchanger resistance curve. The US - ANS Hot Water Pump junction will be used for the three pumps. These are the only junctions in this library that will be used in this example.

Once they have been added to the list, check to see that they are also connected. If they are not automatically connected, click the check box next to their name to connect them as seen in Figure 6. Click Close.



Figure 6: Library Manager with Hot Water Pumps connected

Back in the Assign Cost Libraries window for the Pipes, the **STD Steel Pipe 1"-36"** Candidate Set should now show the **Steel - ANSI Pipe Costs** library applied to it.

Navigate to the Workspace and connect all three pump junctions to the **US** - **ANS** Hot Water Pump library junction by opening the pump properties window and selecting **US** - **ANS** Hot Water Pump from the Library Jct list. Do the same for both Heat Exchanger junctions, selecting **US** - **ANS** Hot Water Heat Exchanger.

Back in the Sizing window on the Assign Cost Libraries panel, click on the Pumps button to view the cost library assignments for the Pumps. Similar to the Pipes, the **Hot Water System Costs** library should be selected for Pumps 4, 7, and 10, showing that it is being applied.

F. Sizing Method

Select the Sizing Method button from the Sizing Navigation panel.

Make sure that Discrete Sizing is selected for the Sizing Type.

For this model both the **Modified Method of Feasible Directions (MMFD)** and the Sequential Quadratic Programming (SQP) methods will produce the same results, but MMFD is much faster. Select MMFD for the Search Method.

🧪 Workspace	🧳 Sizing	📑 Model Data	a 🔲 Output	🖄 Graph R	esults 💿	Visual Report
💣 Lock Panel	띁 Lock All Pa	nels 🧯 Unloci	k All Panels	Show Status P	anel	
Sizing Type Continuous Discrete Si	Sizing		Sizing	g Control Parame	ters	^
Search Method: Genetic Algor Modified Method: Sequential Qu Sequential Ur Suggest Best	ithm (GA) tod of Feasible I uadratic Program constrained (SU Method	Directions (MMFD Iming (SQP) I)				~
<						>
Description a	nd Help		*			
Sizing Objective	Size/Cost Assignments	Candidate Sets	Design Requirements	Assign Cost Libraries	Sizing Method	Sizing Summary

Figure 7: Sizing Method Settings to discretely size the system

Step 6. Create Scenarios

For this system we would like to get a baseline cost for the current design to compare against the sizing results.

In the Scenario Manager in the Quick Access Panel create two scenarios and name them *Before Sizing* and *After Sizing*.

Load the Before Sizing scenario if it is not already active by double-clicking the scenario name in the Scenario Manager. We need to set this scenario to calculate costs without sizing the system.

In the Sizing window go to the Sizing Objective panel, then select **Calculate Cost**, **Do Not Size**.

Step 7. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 8. Review the Results

The Cost Report for the initial design can be seen in Figure 8. The total cost comes out to \$2,162,905. In the pipe output section there is a Pipe Design Requirements tab and in the junction output section there is a Pump Design Requirements and Control Valve Design Requirements tab. These tabs will show if the current model fulfills the Design Requirements. We can investigate the design requirement tabs and see that the initial system meets all of the Design Requirements, **meaning that it is a feasible solution**; however, a lower cost system can likely be found by sizing the system.

^	General Warnings Design Alerts	Cost R	eport Pum	np Summary	Valve Summ	ary Heat Exchan	ger Summary	Reservoir Summary		
	Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTAL OF ALL MODEL COSTS									2,162,905
	Total of All Shown Costs			391,204	191,099	582,302	0	1,580,602	1,580,602	2,162,905
	Items In Sizing			0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Items Not In Sizing			391,204	191,099	582,302	0	1,580,602	1,580,602	2,162,905
	Pipe Subtotal			363,938	183,328	547,266	0	0	0	547,266
	P1	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P2	Pipe	Pipe	55,422	27,918	83,340	0	0	0	83,340
0	P3	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P4	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P5	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P6	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P7	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P8	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P9	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P10	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P11	Pipe	Pipe	5,542	2,792	8,334	0	0	0	8,334
0	P12	Pipe	Pipe	5,542	2,792	8,334	0	0	0	8,334
0	P13	Pipe	Pipe	5,542	2,792	8,334	0	0	0	8,334
0	P14	Pipe	Pipe	5,542	2,792	8,334	0	0	0	8,334
0	P15	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P16	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P17	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P18	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P19	Pipe	Pipe	27,711	13,959	41,670	0	0	0	41,670
0	P20	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P21	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P22	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P23	Pipe	Pipe	27,711	13,959	41,670	0	0	0	41,670
0	P24	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
	Pump Subtotal			27,266	7,771	35,036	0	1,580,602	1,580,602	1,615,639
0	J4	Pump	Pump A	9,094	2,592	11,686	0	527,348	527,348	539,034
0	J7	Pump	Pump B	9,078	2,587	11,665	0	525,907	525,907	537,571
0	J10	Pump	Pump C	9,094	2,592	11,686	0	527,348	527,348	539,034

Figure 8: Cost Report for the initial system design before sizing

Step 9. Run the Model and View Results

Switch to the After Sizing scenario in the Scenario Manager. This scenario should already be fully defined for sizing.

Select Run from the Analysis menu to perform the automated sizing calculations. Using the MMFD method, the automated sizing takes about 2 minutes, depending on your machine. When the run has completed click Output to view the results, as shown in Figure 9.

The automated sizing has given us savings of about \$156,500 overall on material, installation, and operation costs over the lifespan of the system. This is a 7% reduction.

\$	General Warnings Design Ale	erts Cost F	leport Pun	np Summary	Valve Summa	ary Heat Exchan	ger Summary	Reservoir Summary		
	Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Туре	Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
	TOTAL OF ALL MODEL COST	TS								2,006,366
	Total of All Shown Costs			271,013	154,709	425,722	(1,580,644	1,580,644	2,006,365
	Items In Sizing			252,539	145,403	397,942	(1,580,644	1,580,644	1,978,586
	Items Not In Sizing			18,474	9,306	27,780) 0	0	27,780
	Pipe Subtotal			243,747	146,938	390,684	() 0	0	390,684
	P1	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P2	Pipe	Pipe	55,422	27,918	83,340	0	0	0	83,340
0	P3	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P4	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P5	Pipe	Pipe	7,550	5,940	13,490	(0	0	13,490
0	P6	Pipe	Pipe	3,775	2,970	6,745	0	0	0	6,745
0	P7	Pipe	Pipe	7,550	5,940	13,490	0	0	0	13,490
0	P8	Pipe	Pipe	3,775	2,970	6,745	C	0	0	6,745
0	P9	Pipe	Pipe	7,550	5,940	13,490	0	0	0	13,490
0	P10	Pipe	Pipe	3,775	2,970	6,745	C	0	0	6,745
0	P11	Pipe	Pipe	3,714	2,276	5,991	0	0	0	5,991
0	P12	Pipe	Pipe	2,265	1,782	4,047	C	0	0	4,047
0	P13	Pipe	Pipe	2,265	1,782	4,047	0	0	0	4,047
0	P14	Pipe	Pipe	3,714	2,276	5,991	C	0	0	5,991
0	P15	Pipe	Pipe	9,237	4,653	13,890	0	0	0	13,890
0	P16	Pipe	Pipe	18,474	9,306	27,780	0	0	0	27,780
0	P17	Pipe	Pipe	9,785	6,707	16,492	C	0	0	16,492
0	P18	Pipe	Pipe	4,893	3,354	8,246	0	0	0	8,246
0	P19	Pipe	Pipe	14,678	10,061	24,738	C	0	0	24,738
0	P20	Pipe	Pipe	4,893	3,354	8,246	(0	0	8,246
0	P21	Pipe	Pipe	9,785	6,707	16,492	0	0	0	16,492
0	P22	Pipe	Pipe	4,893	3,354	8,246	C	0	0	8,246
0	P23	Pipe	Pipe	14,678	10,061	24,738	(0	0	24,738
0	P24	Pipe	Pipe	4,893	3,354	8,246	C	0	0	8,246
_	Pump Subtotal			27,266	7,771	35,037	(1,580,644	1,580,644	1,615,681
0	J4	Pump	Pump A	9,061	2,582	11,643	0	524,468	524,468	536,111
0	J7	Pump	Pump B	9,144	2,607	11,751	0	531,709	531,709	543,460
0	J10	Pump	Pump C	9,061	2,582	11,643	C	524,468	524,468	536,111

Figure 9: Sizing output based on the initial cost of the system with all pumps operating

Step 10. Create Dependent Design Case

We also want the system to function with one pump turned off. To size a system with two different operating cases, we can create a Dependent Design Case that has the exact same pipes and junctions as the primary design but has a different set of requirements.

Create a new child of the After Sizing scenario in the Scenario Manager, and name it *Sizing with Pump A* off.

Here are the steps to create this Dependent Design Case:

- 1. Go to the **Sizing Objective** panel and check the box next to **Enable Dependent Design Cases** option.
- 2. Go to the Dependent Design Cases panel. You should now see instructions displayed to create the Dependent Design Case, along with a summary table of dependent design settings. Now go to the **Workspace** and choose **Select All** from the **Edit menu**.
- 3. Open Duplicate Special from Edit menu, enter an increment of 100 and select Make Dependent Design Case.
- 4. Click **OK**, then **paste** the duplicated model so that it does not overlap the original.
- 5. When the Workspace has been duplicated, select the **Pump A** from the Dependent Design Case

(J104). In the Pump Properties window select the **Optional tab** and check the **Pump Off No Flow** radio button under Special Conditions. This will turn Pump A off.

We have now made all of the changes required in the Workspace. We will also need to make some adjustments to the Design Requirements for our Dependent Design Case. With Pump A turned off we no longer require any of the pumps to operate between 80% and 100% of BEP. We will therefore need to remove the Pump Design Requirements.

Go to the Design Requirements panel and select the **Pumps** button. In the Assign Design Requirements to Pumps section, **remove** the Design Requirements for all of the dependent design pumps by unchecking the boxes as is shown in Figure 10.

Sizing Model Data 🖽 Output 🛛 🖄 Graph Results Visual Report Workspace 띁 Lock All Panels 🛛 💣 Unlock All Panels 🛛 🔢 Show Status Panel Lock Panel E Pipes 🛛 🔁 Pumps 🖗 Control Valves 🗖 General Junctions Define Pump Design Requirements 맘 ₹.¦B X Delete All New.. Note: The Design Requirement definitions on this panel are c Name Parameter Max/Min Value Units Location Min % BEP % Flow of BEP 1 ~ N/A Minimum 80 Percent 2 Max % BEP % Flow of BEP 100 Percent ✓ N/A Maximum Assign Design Requirements to Pumps Min % BEP (> 80 Percent) Max % BEP (< 100 Percent) Pumps \checkmark J4 (Pump A) \checkmark \checkmark J7 (Pump B) \checkmark \checkmark J10 (Pump C) *Dependent Design Case J104 (Pump A) J107 (Pump B) J110 (Pump C) √ Showing: 6 of 6 Pumps (All) Note: The Design Requirement assig Description and Help Ŧ

Once this is done run the model again and go to the Output window.

Figure 10: Pump Design Requirements defined for the Dependent Design Case pumps

Summary

Table 1 compares the results for each of the scenarios. The final design is the lowest cost that meets all the requirements. It can be seen that in order to meet the system requirements for the case where Pump A is turned off, slightly larger pipe sizes are used, resulting in a higher system cost.

The Final Design provides a \$136,517 (6%) cost reduction from the Initial Design while still meeting all design requirements.

Design Stage	Initial Design	Design	Final Design
Scenario	Before Siz- ing	After Sizing	Sizing with Pump A off
Meets all Require- ments	Yes	Yes	Yes
Material	391,204	271,013	286,068
Installation	191,099	154,709	159,651
Non-Recurring Sub Total	582,302	425,722	445,719
Operation/Energy	1,580,602	1,580,644	1,580,669
TOTAL	2,162,905	2,006,366	2,026,388

Table 1: Summary of costs for Hot Water System scenarios

Variable Drive - ANS

Summary

As seen in other examples, the ANS module can be used to size a system for life cycle cost. The ANS module will size the complete system, pumps and pipes to minimize the total cost of operating the system for the life of the system. Often sizing the pumps and pipes is not enough because the control system is often a large portion of the initial cost and the method of control, flow control valves (FCV) or variable frequency drives (VFD), can have a large impact on the system energy usage. This example will demonstrate how to size pumps and control valves in parallel and then will investigate the savings of using a VFD to control flow instead of a FCV.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Using Scenarios to size a system for two different sets of system requirements
- Using Common Size Groups and observing their effect on how well the ANS module can size a system

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Since this example employs many concepts from the <u>Cooling System - ANS</u> example, it is recommended to complete that example first before beginning this example.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Variable Drive ANS.fth
- Variable Drive.dat engineering library
- Variable Drive Pump Costs.cst cost library for Variable Drive.dat

- Variable Drive VFD Costs.cst cost library for Variable Drive.dat
- Variable Drive Pipe Costs.cst cost library for Steel ANSI pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Set up Library Manager

This example uses engineering and cost libraries. It is important that these libraries are added and connected to Fathom for defining the pipes and junction.

Go to the Library menu and open Library Manager. Click Add Existing Library and navigate to the AFT Fathom 13 Examples folder. Select the library *Variable Drive.dat* and click Open. Make sure that the Variable Drive engineering library in Library Manager has a check mark next to it. The cost libraries will be added later during the Sizing steps.

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = User Specified Fluid
 - b. Name = Lube Oil
 - c. Density = 0.7 S.G. water
 - d. Dynamic Viscosity = 0.29 kg/sec-m

Step 5. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions

fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Layout of Generator Lube Oil System

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 6 inch
 - d. Type = schedule 40
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	20
2-4	10
5-6	6
7	4
8	15
9-14	10
15-22	20
23	50

Junction Properties

- 1. J1 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Lube Oil Supply Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 20 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 1 atm
 - d. Pipe Depth = 10 feet
- 2. J2 Valve
 - a. Name = Isolation Valve
 - b. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - c. Valve Data Source = User Specified
 - d. Loss Model = K Factor
 - e. K = 0.15
- 3. All Branches
 - a. Elevation = 0 feet
- 4. J4 & J5 Pumps
 - a. J4 Name = Primary Pump
 - b. J5 Name = Auxiliary Pump
 - c. Library Jct = Pump 2000 gal/min Sizing
 - d. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - e. J5 Special Condition = Pump Off No Flow
- 5. J7 Control Valve
 - a. Name = 2000 gal/min Control
 - b. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - c. Valve Type = Constant Pressure Drop (PDCV)
 - d. Control Setpoint = Pressure Loss
 - e. Pressure Drop = 10 psid
- 6. J11 & J19 Bend
 - 1. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - 2. Type = Standard Elbow (knee, threaded)
 - 3. Angle = 90 Degrees
- 7. J12-J15 General Components
 - a. J12 Name = Generator #1
 - b. J13 Name = Generator #2
 - c. J14 Name = Generator #3
 - d. J15 Name = Generator #4
 - e. Library Jct = US Generator
 - f. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
- 8. J20 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Return Tank
 - b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 15 feet
 - c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 1 atm
 - d. Pipe Depth = 15 feet

The system supplies lube oil to a bank of four generators. Each generator requires a flow rate of 500 gal/min. The auxiliary pump will not be turned on but the material and installation pump costs will be included in the cost report and automated sizing.

The system uses the following specifications:

- 1. Minimum 10 psid drop across the flow control valve
- 2. Flow rate at each generator must be between 450 and 550 gal/min
- 3. The cost of the auxiliary pump and piping must be included in the sizing.
- 4. The pump is expected to be about 80% efficient.
- 5. The system uses lube oil with a specific gravity of 0.7 and viscosity of 0.29 kg/s-m.

Step 6. Configure Sizing Settings

We want to first size our system to determine the required pump parameters, which will then be used to choose a pump model and perform a final sizing calculation.

To start, set up the model to size the pump system for life cycle cost. Select the Sizing tab.

A. Sizing Objective

The Sizing Objective panel should be selected by default from the navigation panel. Choose the settings as follows:

For the Sizing Option choose **Perform Sizing**.

For the Objective, choose Monetary Cost, and select the Minimize option from the drop-down list.

Under Options to Minimize Monetary Cost, choose **Size for Initial and Recurring Costs**. This should automatically configure the Cost Objective table to include the material, installation, and energy costs in the sizing.

Define a **10 year** System Life.

For the Energy Cost area choose **Use This Energy Cost Information**, with a cost of **0.12 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr**.

B. Size/Cost Assignments

On the Sizing Navigation panel go to the Size/Cost Assignments panel.

We are designing a new system, so we want to include all of the pipes in the model for sizing.

Select the All button at the bottom of the panel to select all pipes, then click Always Include in Cost at the top of the table to move all pipes to be included in the sizing calculation.

To decrease the analysis speed and reduce complexity, it is useful to **create Common Size Groups** to group the pipes in different sections of the model. For this system we want to create six groups to be sized, as can be seen in Figure 2 based on the pipe coloring, and Figure 3 based on the table. The groups were chosen by considering sections of pipe which would logically have similar demands due to the flow capacity and connected junctions.

Create each of the groups by selecting the appropriate pipes in the Workspace, then right-clicking on the Workspace and choosing Add Pipes to Common Size Group -> New Group and giving the group a name. Alternatively the groups can be created on the Sizing window by clicking New to create and name the group, then adding pipes to the group using the radio buttons. The Size/Cost Assignments panel should appear as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 2: Workspace showing pipe groups by color



Figure 3: Size/Cost Assignments using Common Size Groups to simplify calculations

Click the Pumps button at the top of the panel to switch to the Pump Size and Cost Assignments. As stated earlier, we want to size both pumps, even though the Auxiliary Pump is not in use, so select Include in Cost Report and Sizing for each of the Pump junctions. Since the pumps are in parallel in this model, it is desired for the pumps to be the same size. This means that they will have the same material and installation costs, though the maintenance cost will be different since the Auxiliary Pump is not regularly used, unlike the Primary Pump. To account for this we will need to create a Maximum Cost Group, which will set both pumps to use the cost information for the most expensive pump in the group. If a Maximum Cost Group is not used, then the Auxiliary Pump will have its material and installation costs set to

the lowest possible cost. (The cost at the pump is estimated using power, and the power at the Auxiliary Pump is set at zero since it is not in use during normal operation.)

Create a New Maximum Cost Group named *Pumps*, and add the Material and Installation costs to it for each of the pumps, but under Maintenance, make sure to leave both pumps in the Not in Group column. The Pumps Size/Cost Assignments should appear as shown in Figure 4.

Workspace	Sizing Model	Data 🛄 Output	🖄 Graph Resu	lts 💿 Visual Report					
🖛 Undo 🔹 🖘 R	edo 👘 🧉 Lock Pane	el 🦉 Lock All Panel	s 🤷 Unlock All	Panels 🚦 Show Status P	anel				
😂 Pipes 👳 Pi	umps 🛛 🖗 Control Valve	s 🔄 🖷 General Junctio	ns						
Size/Cost Assign	nments								
Move to:	Include in Cost Report and Sizing	Include in Cost Report Only	Do Not Include Cost	New Rename	• X • Delete				
		Cost Options				Maximum C	ost Groups		
^ Pumps	Include in Cost	Include in	Do Not	Mar	terial	Instal	lation	Mainter	lance
	Report and Sizing	Cost Report Only	Include Cost	Not in Group	Pumps	Not in Group	Pumps	Not in Group	Pumps
14 (Primary Pump)	۲	0	0		0	0	0		0
or (i milary Pump)	U	0	0	0	•	0	۲	U	0
J5 (Auxiliary Pump)		0	õ	0	•	0	•	•	0
Al None I Selected: 0 of 2	wert Workspace S	ipecial	0	0	•	0	•	Number	r of Pump Max Cost Groups: 3

Figure 4: Pump Size/Cost Assignments with Maximum Cost Groups assigned

C. Candidate Sets

Go to the Candidate Sets panel.

For this system we will consider a range of Steel-ANSI schedule 40 pipes as candidates. To define this in Fathom, create a new Candidate set as follows:

- 1. Create a new set by clicking **New**, and name the set *Galvanized Steel Pipe 1-18 in*.
- 2. Select Steel ANSI as the material from the drop-down list
- 3. In the Available Material Sizes and Types, expand the sizes for **schedule 40**, then add each of the sizes from **1 inch to 18 inch** by double clicking the names or selecting them and clicking Add>>.
- 4. Click **OK** to finish editing the set.

In the bottom section of the panel, assign each of the Common Size Groups to the Galvanized Steel Pipe 1-18 in Candidate Set. The panel should appear as shown in Figure 5.

🖉 Workspace 🛷 Sizing	ВМ	odel Data	Output	🖄 Graph Re	sults	👁 Visual Report]
🧉 Lock Panel 🛛 🛍 Lock All P	anels 🍕	🖣 Unlock A	All Panels	Show Status P	anel		
							_
Define Candidate Sets							
New Edit	Rename	Del	ete Sav	e Load.		Note: The Candidat	te S
Set Name		Pipe M	laterial				^
 Galvanized Steel Pipe 1-1 	8 in 👘	Steel - ANSI					
Sizes	in Set:	1 inch, sche	dule 40				
		1-1/4 inch, s	chedule 40				
		1-1/2 inch, s	chedule 40				
		2 inch, sche	dule 40				
		2-1/2 inch, s	chedule 40				v
Assign Candidate Sets to	Pipes						
Assign To							
Pipes		Cand	idate Sets				
Common Size Groups	No Set	Galvani	zed Steel Pipe 1	-18 in			
Main Lines	0		۲				
Headers	0		۲				
Gen 1	0		۲				
Gen 2	0			_			
Gen 3	0			_			
Gen 4	0		•				
All None	Invert	Workspa	ce Special	Selected: 0 o	f6	Note: The Candidat	te S
 Description and Help 			Ŧ				
			\frown		6		

Figure 5: Candidate Sets panel fully defined for the model

D. Design Requirements

Go to the **Design Requirements** panel.

As can be seen above, this model has three given Design Requirements which need to be applied for the generators and control valve. Since we are not able to directly apply a flow rate design requirement on the generators, we will instead apply the flow rate requirements for the generators to the pipes adjacent to the generators. To do this:

- 1. Make sure the Pipes button at the top of the window is selected.
- 2. Click **New** under Define Pipe Design Requirements.

- 3. Enter the name *Maximum Generator Flow*.
- 4. In the table for Parameter, select **Volumetric Flow Rate**.
- 5. For Max/Min, choose Maximum, and enter 550 gal/min.
- 6. Repeat the process from steps 1-5 to define a Design Requirement for a **Minimum** generator flow rate of **450 gal/min**.

Now that the generator flow rate requirements are defined, apply them to the common size groups for the generator piping (Gen 1, Gen 2, Gen 3 and Gen 4) by checking the appropriate boxes in the Assign Design Requirements to Pipes section.

Click on the **Control Valves** button and create a **New** requirement named *Minimum Pressure Drop* to set the **Pressure Drop Stagnation** parameter to a **Minimum** of **10 psid**. Apply the Design Requirement to Control Valve J7.

E. Assign Cost Libraries

Go to the Assign Cost Libraries panel. For this model, the engineering and cost libraries have already been created, but we will need to check that they have been connected and applied properly.

>Open the Library Manager, and check that the engineering library Variable Drive is connected, indicated by a check mark next to its name. If it is not connected, then check the box next to its name.

Next, connect to the three cost libraries. Click Add Existing Cost Library and navigate to the AFT Fathom 13 Examples folder and add the cost libraries *Variable Drive - Pump Costs.cst*, *Variable Drive - VFD Costs.cst*, and *Variable Drive - Pipe Costs.cst*. The two cost libraries, Variable Drive - Pump Costs and Variable Drive - VFD Costs should be shown indented below the engineering library Variable Drive, and the Variable Drive - Pipe Costs library should be indented below Steel - ANSI. Once all of the necessary libraries have been connected, click **OK**.

In the Assign Cost Libraries panel for the Pipes, All should be selected for the Galvanized Steel Pipe 1-18 in Candidate Set, with the Variable Drive - Pipe Costs library being applied.

Click on the Pumps button to view the cost library assignments for the Pumps. We will only be using Variable Drive - Pump Costs for this scenario, so check the box for this cost library for both J4 and J5 to make sure that we are not applying any extra costs.

F. Sizing Method

Select the Sizing Method button to go to the corresponding panel.

>Choose Discrete Sizing, since it is desired to select discrete sizes for each of the pipes in the model.

This model contains six design variables and 18 design requirements, so the best methods to choose from will be the MMFD or SQP method.

Select the default method, Modified Method of Feasible Directions (MMFD).

Step 7. Create Scenarios

Before running the model, create two child scenarios, one named *Calculate Costs, Do Not Size* and the other named *Flow Control Valve Initial Cost Sizing*. This will provide a comparison of the initial cost of the model without sizing, to the cost of the sized system.

Load the Calculate Costs, Do Not Size scenario and go to the Sizing window, then to the Sizing Objective panel. Select Calculate Costs, Do Not Size. We will run this scenario first.

Step 8. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 9. Review the Not Sized and Initial Cost Sizing results

With all the pipes set to 6 inches the design requirements are met and the system is in a reasonable state. Navigate to the Cost Report tab and note that the total cost is \$816,094.

Now load the **Flow Control Valve Initial Cost Sizing** scenario and go to the Sizing window to the **Sizing Objective** panel. Under Options to Minimize Monetary Cost, choose **Size for Initial Cost, Show Energy Costs**. The scenario is now ready to be run.

Run the model, then click the Output button once the automated sizing is completed.

After sizing the model for Initial Cost, the total cost over 10 years is now calculated as \$752,292. The new pipe sizes and cost totals can be seen in Figure 6 below.

Although this sized system uses larger pipe sizes, and therefore increased material and installation cost, than the initial design (4-8 inch versus only 6 inch), the savings comes from a the sized pump requiring much less power to operate. In one short simulation, the system was sized to meet all design requirements and reduce the cost by close to \$60,000.

		Table Units U.S. Dollars		Туре	Name	Mate	erial Insta	allation	on-Recurring Sub Total	Mainte	enance (Operation/E	Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
T	OTALO	F ALL MOD	EL COSTS												752,292
T	otal of Al	II Shown Cos	sts			33	.819	12,932	46,75	i1	0	7	05,541	705,541	752,292
lt	ems In S	izing				33	.819	12,932	46,75	51	0		0	0	46,751
lt	ems Not	In Sizing					0	0		0	0	7	05,541	705,541	705,541
P	ipe Subt	otal				11	.587	6,485	18,07	2	0		0	0	18,072
0 P	1			Pipe F	Pipe		1,020	500	1,52	0	0		0	0	1,520
o Pi	2			Pipe F	Pipe		510	250	76	0	0		0	0	760
o P:	3			Pipe F	Pipe		510	250	76	0	0		0	0	760
o P4	4			Pipe F	Pipe		510	250	76	0	0		0	0	760
o P	5			Pipe F	Pipe		306	150	45	6	0		0	0	456
o Pl	6			Pipe F	Pipe		306	150	45	6	0		0	0	456
o Pi	7 pes Sizi	ing Pipe De	esign Requir	Pipe F ements Li	^D ipe brary Sourc	ces	204	100	30	4	0		0	0	304
Pipe	7 pes Sizi	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min)	esign Requir Velocity (feet/sec)	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia)	Pipe brary Sourc P Static Min (psia)	Elevation Inlet (feet)	204 Elevation Outlet (feet)	dP Stag. Total (psid)	dP Static Total (psid)	dP Gravity (psid)	0 dH (feet)	P Static In (psia)	P Static Out (psia)	0 P Stag. In (psia)	304 P Stag. Out (psia)
o Pi Pipe	7 pes Sizi Name Pipe	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0	esign Require Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) 19.20	Pipe brary Source P Static Min (psia) 16.95	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515	dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515	dP Gravity (psid) -3.032	0 dH (feet) 2.5743	P Static In (psia) 16.95	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73	P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98
o Pi Pipe	7 Name Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0	velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83	Pipe P ements Li P Static Max (psia) 19.20 19.09	Pipe brary Source Min (psia) 16.95 18.70	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903	dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903	4 dP Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) 19.20 19.09 19.47	Pipe brary Source P Static Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000	30 dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) 19.20 19.09 19.47 80.76	Pipe brary Source P Static Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000	30 dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000	4 dP Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47 80.76	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76
o Pipe	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe De Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0 2,000.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static (psia) 19.20 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70	Pipe brary Source P Static Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342	30 dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000 0.7723	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76 19.24
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe De Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0 2,000.0 2,000.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) 19.20 19.20 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 20.21	² ipe brary Source P Static Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342	30 dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000 0.7723 0.7723	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47 81.00	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76 19.24 80.76
o P Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Do Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2,000.0 2,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83 12.83 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) Max (psia) 19:20 19:20 19:09 19:47 80:76 18:70 80:22 79:99	Pipe brary Source Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.2342	30 dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000 0.7723 0.7723 0.5149	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 79.99	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47 81.00 80.76	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76 19.24 80.76 80.61
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Da Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2.000.0 0.0 0.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0	esign Require Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) Max (psia) 19.20 19.20 19.20 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 79.99 69.83 69.83	Pipe brary Source Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83 69.25	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561 0.5854	dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561 0.5854	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000 0.7723 0.7723 0.7723 0.5149 1.9308	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 79.99 69.83	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83 69.25	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47 80.76 19.47 80.76	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 80.61 19.24 80.76 80.61 70.02
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	Image Pipe Dr Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2.000.0 2.000.0 0.0 2.000.0 0.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 1.484.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) Max (psia) 19.20 19.20 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 79.99 69.83 68.74	Pipe brary Source Min (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83 69.25 67.88	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561 0.5854 0.8683	dP Static Total (psid) -22515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561 0.5854 0.8683	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.0000 0.7723 0.7723 0.7723 0.5149 1.9308 2.8638	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.92 79.99 69.83 68.74	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 19.20 19.20 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83 69.25 67.88	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 19.47 80.76 19.47 10.02 10.57	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76 80.61 70.02 69.15
o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Dr Vol. Flow Rate (gal/min) 2.000.0 2.000.0 0.0 2.000.0 0.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0 2.000.0	Velocity (feet/sec) 12.83 12.83 0.00 0.00 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83 12.83	Pipe F ements Li P Static Max (psia) Max (psia) 19.20 19.20 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.76 88.74 68.83 68.74	Pipe brary Source P Static (psia) 16.95 18.70 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.99 79.83 69.25 67.88 68.03	Elevation Inlet (feet) 10.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.	204 Elevation Outlet (feet) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 dP Stag. Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.2342 0.1561 0.5854 0.8683 0.5722	dP Static Total (psid) -2.2515 0.3903 0.0000 0.2342 0.2342 0.2342 0.5854 0.5854 0.5853 0.5722	4 Gravity (psid) -3.032 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	0 dH (feet) 2.5743 1.2872 0.0000 0.7723 0.5749 1.9308 2.8638 1.8870	P Static In (psia) 16.95 19.09 19.47 80.76 18.70 80.22 79.99 69.87 68.74 68.60	0 P Static Out (psia) 19.20 19.47 80.76 19.47 80.76 18.46 79.93 69.25 67.88 68.03	0 P Stag. In (psia) 17.73 19.86 19.47 80.76 19.47 81.00 80.76 70.61 70.02 69.15	304 P Stag. Out (psia) 19.98 19.47 19.47 80.76 80.76 80.61 70.02 69.15 68.58

Figure 6: Pipe Sizes based on automated sizing for Initial Costs

Step 10. Size the system based on lifetime cost

In the Scenario Manager on the Quick Access Panel, make a child scenario from the Base Scenario named *Flow Control Valve Life Cycle Sizing*. Load then run this scenario.

On the Output tab in the Cost Report, it can be seen that the total cost for this case is \$632,734 using pipe sizes ranging from 8 inches to 12 inches, as can be seen in Figure 7. Though not shown, the Pump section of the Cost Report shows that the two pumps have been set to the same Material and Installation costs due to the Maximum Cost Group that was defined on the Size/Cost Assignments panel. Since the Initial Cost sizing results in a lifetime cost *increase* of about \$50,000, the Life Cycle sizing results will be used for the pump configuration information to choose a pump from a manufacturer.

*	General	Warnings	Design Alerts	Cost Repo	Pump Sur	nmary Valv	e Summary	Reservoir Sun	nmary	
		Table Ur U.S. Dol	nits: Iars	Material	Installation	Non-Recur Sub Tota	ring Op	eration/Energy	TOTAL	^
	TOTAL	OF ALL MO	DDEL COSTS						346,540	
	Total o	f All Shown	Costs	43,910	16,100	60	.011	286,529	346,540	
	Items I	n Sizing		43,910	16,100	60	.011	286,529	346,540	
	Items N	lot In Sizing		0	0)	0	0	0	
	Pipe Su	ubtotal		24,685	10,593	35	.278	0	35,278	
0	P1			1,900	750	2	2,650	0	2,650	
0	P2			950	375		,325	0	1,325	
0	P3			570	225		795	0	795	
0	P4			570	225		795	0	795	
0	P5			950	375	1	1,325	0	1,325	
0	P6			950	375	1	1,325	0	1,325	
0	P7			380	150		530	0	530	
0	P8			1,425	563	1	,988	0	1,988	
0	P9			4,750	1,875	(6,625	0	6,625	
0	P10			765	295	1	1,060	0	1,060	
0	P11			765	295	1	1,060	0	1,060	
0	P12			765	295	1	1,060	0	1,060	
0	P13			765	295	1	1,060	0	1,060	~
]				1				
^	Pipes	Sizing Pipe	e Design Requir	ements Lib	rary Sources					
Pi	Nan pe	ne Sizer Mater	d - Sizeo rial Nominal	l- Size Type	Sized - e/Schedule	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches)				^
1	1 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
2	2 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
3	B Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
4	4 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
Ę	5 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
(6 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
7	7 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
8	B Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
9) Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 12 inch	sched	dule 40	11.938				
1	0 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 10 inch	sched	dule 40	10.020				
1	1 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 10 inch	sched	dule 40	10.020				
1	2 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 10 inch	sched	dule 40	10.020				
1	3 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 10 inch	sched	dule 40	10.020				
1	4 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 8 inch	sched	dule 40	7.981				
1	5 Pipe	Steel - A	NSI 8 inch	sched	dule 40	7.981				
1	C Dino	Steel A	NCI Qinch	achor	tulo 40	7 001				×

Figure 7: Pipe Sizes based on automated sizing for Life Cycle Costs

Step 11. Choose an Actual Pump for the System

Create a child scenario from the Flow Control Valve Life Cycle Sizing scenario, and name the new scenario Flow Control Valve *Real Pump*. We will now need to update the Pumps and Control Valve with the settings for the proposed system. Load the new Flow Control Valve Real Pump scenario using the Scenario Manager, then make the following changes:

- 1. For each of the pumps open the Pump Properties window and select **Pump 2000 gal/min Real** from the Library Jct list. This will copy the Pump Curve data into the pump. Click **OK**. Make sure to do the same for the second pump.
- 2. Open the Control Valve and change the Valve Type to **Flow Control (FCV)** with a Volumetric Flow Rate of 2000 gal/min. Click **OK**

The model should now be ready for analysis. Run the model once more and go to the Output window to review the results, as can be seen in Figure 8 and Figure 9. Note that this scenario does take a bit longer to run than the sizing scenario. With data for the actual pump, the automated sizing finds a slightly more efficient design for the Life Cycle cost analysis by using 6 inch lines at some of the generators rather than 8 inch lines, which provides approximately \$20,000 reduction in cost from the sizing scenario. Note that the Overall Efficiency is 83% for the real pump compared to the assumed 80% of the original sizing pump.

\$ G	eneral	War	nings l	Design Ale	rts Cost	Report P	ump Summ	nary \	alve Summar	y Reservo	ir Summar	У			
Jct	Resu Diagr	lts am	Na	ame	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
4	Show		Primary	/ Pump	2,000	194.6	50.64	167.0	83.19	100.0	71.00	1,973	101.4	N/A	5.667
X5	Show		Auxiliar	y Pump	0	0.0) N/A	N//	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Figure 8: Pump Summary for operation of actual pump

u	_										
		Table Units: U.S. Dollars	Тур	e Name	Material	Installation	Non-Recurring Sub Total	Maintenance	Operation/Energy	Recurring Sub Total	TOTAL
T	OTALO	F ALL MODEL	COSTS								614,579
T	otal of A	II Shown Costs	3		42,474	15,798	58,272	0	556,307	556,307	614,579
lt	ems In S	izing			42,474	15,798	58,272	0	556,307	556,307	614,579
lt	ems Not	In Sizing			0	0) 0	0	0	0	0
P	ipe Subt	otal			23,270	10,298	33,568	0	0	0	33,568
• P	1		Pipe	Pipe	1,900	750	2,650	0	0	0	2,650
o Pi	2		Pipe	Pipe	950	375	1,325	0	0	0	1,325
o Pi	3		Pipe	Pipe	950	375	1,325	0	0	0	1,325
o P4	4		Pipe	Pipe	950	375	1,325	0	0	0	1,325
o P	5		Pipe	Pipe	570	225	795	0	0	0	795
- 0			Pine	Pine	570	225	705	0	0	0	795
0 PI	6		r ipe	ripe	5/0	220	133				
o Pi	pes Siz	ing Pipe Des	Pipe	Pipe s Library Source	380 :s	150	530	0	0	0	530
o Pi Pipe	pes Siz	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material	ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size	Pipe Pipe s Library Source Sized - Type/Schedule	380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches)	150	530	0	0	0	530
o Pi Pipe	o 7 pes Siz Name Pipe	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI	ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size	Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938	150	530	0	0	0	530
o Pi Pipe	o 7 Name Pipe Pipe	Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938	150	530	0	0	0	530
0 Pi 0 Pi Pipe 1 2 3	7 7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	I tpc Pipe ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Pipe s Library Source Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938	150	530	0	0	0	530
o Pi o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4	o 7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Pipe s Library Source Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150	530	0	0	0	530
o Pi o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5	o 7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch	Type Pipe s Library Source Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	380 380 Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150		0	0	0	530
0 Pi 0 Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6	7 7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	380 380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150	, 133	0	0	0	530
o Pi o Pi Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch 12 inch	Fipe Fipe Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	380 380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150) 133 530	0	0	0	530
0 Pipe Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Pipe Siz Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe	Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe ign Requirement Nominal Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	576 380 Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150	, 133 530	0	0	0	530
0 Pipe Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch	Pipe Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938	150) 530 530		0	0	530
0 Pipe Pipe 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	7 7 Name Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pipe Pip	ing Pipe Des Sized - Material Steel - ANSI Steel - ANSI	Pipe Pipe ign Requirement Sized - Nominal Size 12 inch 12 inch 10 inch 10 inch	Pipe Pipe Sized - Type/Schedule schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40 schedule 40	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches) 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 11.938 10.020 10.020	150) 133 530	0	0	0	530

Figure 9: Output for automated sizing with actual pump curve entered

Step 12. Compare Cost Using a VFD Pump

As a final step we will compare an alternate VFD model for the pump to analyze the cost savings which can be achieved by using a VFD instead of using a flow control valve. To start, make an additional child scenario from the FCV Life Cycle Sizing scenario, and name it *VFD Pump*. Complete the following steps to update the model:

- 1. Go to the Workspace. For each of the pumps, open the Pump Properties window and choose the **Pump 2000 gal/min VFD Real** pump from the Library Jct list. Click **OK**
- 2. Open the Control Valve Properties window. On the Optional tab set the Special Condition to **Fully Open No Control**. Click **OK**.
- 3. Go to the Sizing window, and go to the **Design Requirements** panel. For the Control Valve **uncheck** the box for the minimum pressure drop requirement, since the control valve is not active.
- 4. Navigate to the **Assign Cost Libraries** panel. We will need to represent the additional Material/Installation costs for the VFD, so change the Libraries to **All** so that all libraries will be applied for each of the pumps.

The changes for this scenario should now be complete. Run the model once more and go to the Output window to review the results. With the VFD Pump being used, the sizing for the pipes is actually the same as the FCV Life Cycle Sizing scenario. However, the cost is significantly decreased to \$503,649. This is primarily due to the decreased speed of the pump, as can be seen in Figure 10.

*	G	eneral War	nings Design A	erts Cost	Report Pu	mp Summ	nary Va	alve Summar	Reservo	ir Summar	у			
,	Jct	Results Diagram	Name	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	Mass Flow (Ibm/sec)	dP (psid)	dH (feet)	Overall Efficiency (Percent)	Speed (Percent)	Overall Power (hp)	BEP (gal/min)	% of BEP (Percent)	NPSHA (feet)	NPSHR (feet)
	4	Show	Primary Pump	2,000	194.6	40.16	132.5	82.72	91.53	56.64	1,806	110.8	N/A	4.975
	X5	Show	Auxiliary Pump	0	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.00	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Figure 10: Pump summary for operation of VFD pump

Summary

A summary of the total costs for each of the scenarios can be seen in Table 1. It can be seen from the table that this particular system over its 10 year life span is heavily weighted towards operational costs; as the operational costs are further decreased the overall cost for the system decreases, even though the initial costs may be increased.

Life Cycle Cost (U.S. Dollars)	Feasible?	Material	Installation	Total Non- Recurring	Operation/Energy	Total Life Cycle
Calculate Costs, Do Not Size	Yes	35,369	14,425	49,793	766,300	816,094
Flow Con- trol Valve Ini- tial Cost Sizing	Yes	33,819	12,932	46,751	705,541	752,292
Flow Con- trol Valve Life Cycle Sizing	Yes	45,475	16,653	62,128	570,606	632,734
Flow Con- trol Valve Real Pump	Yes	42,474	15,798	58,272	556,307	614,579
Variable Fre- quency Drive Pump	Yes	45,509	16,663	62,172	441,478	503,649

Table 1: Summary of Automated Sizing Results for Lube Oil System in thousands of dollars

Housing Project - ANS

Summary

This example will size the pipes for a water supply system to a housing development. This example has three operating states. These states are the following:

- 1. No fire hydrants open, supply to each house is 10 gal/min with a minimum pressure of 60 psig.
- 2. North Hydrant open with 100 gal/min at 90 psig, supply to each house is 2 gal/min, no minimum pressure.
- 3. South Hydrant open with 100 gal/min at 90 psig, supply to each house is 2 gal/min, no minimum pressure.

For this example, we will evaluate all three conditions. First, we will use the ANS module to size the system assuming a requirement to use only one pipe size throughout. After this we will size the pipes assuming the pipes can be three different sizes.

Note: This example can only be run if you have a license for the ANS module.

Topics Covered

- Using Dependent Design Cases to satisfy multiple operating modes for a system
- Using the Scenario Manager to size a system for multiple sets of system requirements
- Understanding the effects of Common Size groups on sizing

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the Walk-Through Examples section, and has a level of knowledge consistent with the topics covered there. If this is not the case, please review the Walk-Through Examples, beginning with the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Model example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Three-Reservoir - ANS</u> example, and is familiar with the basics of ANS analysis.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

- US Housing Project.fth
- US Housing Project ANS.fth

• Housing Project Costs.cst - cost library for PVC - ASTM pipes

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Open the model

Open the *US - Housing Project.fth* example file and save it as a new file. We will not need the existing child scenarios for this example: right click on the Base Scenario in the Scenario Manager and select **Delete All Children**. Make sure that the Workspace looks like Figure 1 below:



Figure 1: Model layout for normal system operation

This example consists of a reservoir that supplies water to 10 houses and two fire hydrants. All the pipes in the system are Schedule 40 PVC pipe. The supply line to each house is set to 1 inch PVC. The automated sizing of this system will only be used to size the supply line from the reservoir, the neighborhood mains and hydrants.

As mentioned in the introduction, the supply to each house with no fire hydrants open (i.e., the Normal Flow case) is 10 gal/min with a minimum pressure of 60 psig. The model can be set up in two ways;

- 1. Each house could be represented as an assigned flow with a minimum pressure constraint placed on the supply pipe to each house (as done here), or,
- 2. Each house can be represented as an assigned pressure with a minimum flow constraint placed on the pipe.

The first option was chosen because with either fire hydrant open, there is still an assigned flow on each house but there is no minimum pressure.

Step 3. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate ANS and select Network to enable the ANS module for use. A new group will appear in Analysis Setup titled Automatic Sizing. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. A new Primary Window tab will appear between Workspace and Model Data titled Sizing. Open the Analysis menu to see the new option called Automatic Sizing. From here you can quickly toggle between Not Used mode (normal AFT Fathom) and Network (ANS mode).

Step 4. Configure Sizing Settings

For this system we will be sizing the neighborhood mains for three different operating cases, one for normal operation, and two different cases with hydrants in use. When modeling multiple design cases, the different cases need to be broken up into a primary design case, of which there is one, and dependent design cases, of which there can be any number.

The primary design case can be any of the design cases that are being addressed in your model. Typically, it will represent the primary operating condition of the pipe system. If it is not clear which case should be the primary case, just pick any of the cases and call that the primary one. Design cases other than the primary case are referred to as dependent design cases. This naming convention is used since the dependent design cases are built and defined by duplicating the primary design case, as will be discussed later. The normal flow case will be used as the primary design case, so we will start setting up the sizing settings based on the requirements for normal operation.

A. Sizing Objective

Go to the Sizing window and the Sizing Objective panel should open by default. For this analysis, we are interested in sizing the system considering the monetary cost for the initial costs only.

- 1. Set the Sizing Option to **Perform Sizing**, if not already.
- 2. For the Objective, choose **Monetary Cost**, and make sure **Minimize** is selected from the dropdown list.
- 3. Under Options to Minimize Monetary Cost, choose **Size for Initial Cost**. This will update the cost table to include both initial costs in the sizing calculation while ignoring the recurring costs.

The Sizing Objective window should now appear as shown in Figure 2.

Reform Colo	ck All Panels	Unio	Ck All Pane Sizing L Loc Multiple	els B Show ock Options ck All Sizing Wine ad Default	Status Pa dows After Set As I	nel Run ? Default			
Sizing Cos Not	t, Do Size	IOT SIZE	En En	able Dependent	Design Ca	ses ?			
Objective									
Pipe Weight Pipe and Fluid Flow Volume Pipe Inner Suffa Monetary Cost Minimize	Neight ace Area								
Options to Minimize I	Monetary Cost st st. Show Energy	ny Costs		– System Life (F	or Recurr	ing Costs)			
Size for Initial and User Specified	Recurring Co	osts		Interest Rate	- O		years	~	
Cost Type	Include in Sizing Objective	Cost Report Only	lgnore Cost	Inflation Rate	e: 0		Per years		\sim
Initial Costs				Use Ene	ergy Cost I	ibraries			
Material	۲	0	0	Use This Cost:	s Energy (tion		
Installation	۲	0	0	Per: k	:W-hr	U.S. Dolla		~	
Recurring Costs				Only this fixe	d energy o	ost set here	e will be used. Managor will	All	
Energy	0	0	۲	ignored.	setungs in	une ubrary	manager will	DC	
Maintenance	0	0	۲	Max Initial Cos	t Limit		U.S. Dolla	ars	\sim
	tings & Losses	Costs are N	lissing	Ŧ					
Warn When Fit									
Wam When Fit Description and Help	,	\sim				\sim			

Figure 2: Sizing Objective window setup for an Initial Cost analysis

B. Size/Cost Assignment

On the toolbar at the bottom of the window select the **Size/Cost Assignments**. For this scenario we will size the neighborhood mains, system supply line and hydrant supply lines assuming that they are all the same size. The supply lines to the houses must be 1" PVC so they will not be sized, but we will still calculate the costs, since we will need to purchase that piping as well.

- 1. Go to the Workspace, and select the lines that will be sized as shown in Figure 3.
- 2. Right click the Workspace and choose **Add Pipe(s) to Common Size Group**, and select **New Group**. Give the group the name *Neighborhood Mains*. Click OK on the Information window that appears.
- 3. Return to the Sizing window. The neighborhood mains, supply line, and the hydrant supply lines should now all be included in the new pipe group, and should be moved to Always Include in Cost as shown in Figure 4.
- 4. Move each of the house supply lines to **Do Not Size Include in Cost**. All of the pipes can be moved at once by using the shift key to highlight all of the rows, then clicking the Include in Cost button.

We are not considering any of the junctions as part of the sizing, so the Size/Cost Assignments are complete for now.

Note: Though the hydrant supply lines are closed in the primary design case, we need to include them in the Common Size Group so that they will be sized when we create the dependent design cases for the open hydrant cases.



Figure 3: Workspace with pipes selected to add to the Common Size Group

	Include in Cost	if Size Changes	in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	New R	ename Delete Mo	0 we
		Sizing and	Cost Options		Pi	pe Grouping	
^ Pipes	Automati	cally Size	Do No	ot Size	Notin	Common Size Groups	
	Always Include in Cost	Include in Cost if Size Changes	Include in Cost	Do Not Include in Cost	Group	Neighborhood Mains	
P1	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P10	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P20	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P101	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P102	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P103	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P104	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P105	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P106	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P107	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P108	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P109	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P110	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P199	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P201	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P202	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P203	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P204	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P205	۲	0	0	0	0	۲	
P206	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P207	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P208	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P209	0	0	۲	0	۲		
P210	0	0	۲	0	۲		
		0	0	0	0	•	

Figure 4: Size/Cost Assignments window with Common Size Groups defined as outlined above

C. Candidate Sets

Click on **Candidate Sets** to open the Candidate Sets panel. In this case we will be considering schedule 40 PVC pipe within the range of 1" to 10".

- 1. Select **New**, and name the candidate set *PVC sch 40*.
- 2. Choose **PVC ASTM** from the material list.
- 3. At the bottom of the window select to sort by **Type**, **Schedule**, **Class** (if not already selected).
- 4. Expand the schedule 40 type, then double click each of the sizes **from 1 inch to 10 inch** to add them to the Candidate Set.
- 5. Click **OK** to accept the defined set.

In the bottom section of the window make sure that the Common Size Group is assigned to use the new PVC sch 40 Candidate Set. The window should appear as shown in Figure 5.

🖉 Workspace 🛛 🚳	Sizing Model Data	🖽 Output 🛛 🖄 Graph Resu	ılts 💿 Visual Report
🥤 Lock Panel 🛛	ock All Panels 🛭 崏 Unlock All	Panels Show Status Pan	el
Define Candida	e Sets		
New Ec	t Rename X	e Save Load	Note: The Candidate \$
Set Name	Pipe Material		^
PVC sch 40	PVC - ASTM		
Sizes in Set:	1 inch, schedule 40		
	1-1/4 inch, schedule 40		
	1-1/2 inch, schedule 40		
	2 inch, schedule 40		
	2-1/2 inch, schedule 40		×
Assign Candidat	e Sets to Pipes		
Assign To			
Pipes	Candidate Sets		
Common Size Gr Neighborhood Main	NoSet PVC sch 4	0	
	None Invert Workspace	Special Selected: 0 of 1	Note: The Candidate S
Description and H	alp	*	
Sizing Sizing Sizing Sizing	ize/Cost Candidate D Gandidate Requ	esign Assign irrements Cost Libraries	Sizing Sizing Method Summary

Figure 5: Candidate Sets window fully defined for the model

D. Define Design Requirements

Select Design Requirements.

For the standard operation scenario the only design requirement is for the minimum supply pressure of 60 psig to each of the houses. With the **Pipes** button selected click **New** to add a *House Supply* Design Requirement specifying the **Pressure Static** at the **Outlet** of the pipe to a **Minimum** value of **60 psig**.

Click **New** again to create a second Design Requirement named *Fire Supply* specifying the **Pressure Static** at the **Outlet** of the pipe to a **Minimum** value of **90 psig**. We will apply this requirement later when the dependent design cases are created.

In the bottom section of the window, make sure that the House Supply Design Requirement is applied to only the supply lines to the houses and not the Neighborhood Mains, as shown in Figure 6.

2	Workspace 🧳	Sizing Model	Data 🔲 O	utput 🖄	Graph Resul	ts 💿	Visual Report	
ピ Lo	ock Panel 🛛 🛍 Lo	ck All Panels 🍟 Ur	lock All Panel	s 🚦 Show	Status Pane	9		
E	Pipes General Junctions							
	Define Pipe Desig	n Requirements						
	New	fte Rename	X Delete	Delete All	Note: The De	esign Requi	rement definitions	on this panel are (
	Name	Parameter	Location	Max/Min	Value	Units		
1	House Supply	Pressure Static 🗸	Outlet ~	Minimum 🖂	60	psig 🖂		
2	Fire Supply	Pressure Static V	Outlet ~	Minimum 🖂	90	psig 🖂		
	Assign Design Rec	quirements to Pipes	Sametra E	en Comela				
	Common Size G	roups (> 60)	xig) (>	90 psig)				
	Neighborhood Ma	ains						
3	Notin Group							
	Sho	owing: 0 of 75 Pipes					Note: The Design	n Requirement assi
	Description and Hel	p		Ť				
Ŧ	@ (a a	$\langle x \rangle$			<u>а</u> да		
	Sizing Size Objective Assig	e/Cost Candidate gnments Sets	Design Requireme	Ass ents Cost Li	ign S braries M	iizing ethod	Dependent Design Cases	Sizing Summary

Figure 6: Design Requirements defined for the primary design case

E. Assign Cost Libraries

Select **Assign Cost Libraries**. For this model the pipe cost library has already been created, but we will need to connect and apply it.

>Open the Library Manager by clicking the Library Manager button to see which libraries are connected.

This example uses a pre-built cost library for the pipes containing the PVC material costs. To connect the library do the following:

- 1. Click Add Existing Cost Library.
- 2. Browse to the Fathom 13 Examples folder (located by default in C:\AFT Products\AFT Fathom 13\Examples\), and open the file titled *Housing Project Costs.cst*.

The new library should now be visible in the list and be connected to the model, indicated with a box checked next to the name, as shown in Figure 7. The cost library for the pipes should appear with the name *Housing Project Costs.cst* and be indented under the PVC - ASTM library within the standard pipe material library list.

Once you have confirmed that the library is connected, click Close to exit the Library Manager.

Library Manager	
Library Browser	Library Browser
Edit Junctions	
Edit Fluids	Search: Selected Content Type Information
Edit Pipe Materials	AFT INTERNAL LIBRARY Number of Cost Libraries = 1
Edit Insulations	Housing Project Costs
Edit Fittings & Losses	 Support Tubing - ASTM Ductile Iron - ANSI Fiberglass - Green Thread HDPE - AFT Customary Proc Astronary Proc Naterials Cost Cost Cost Stairless Stel - ANSI Steel - EN 10217-5 (s1)
	E 钉 Other Actions → Note: checked library content can be used in the current scenario
	Create New Library Add Existing Library Add Existing Cost Library User Default Set as Default
	AFT Internal Library Read Only Library Quese

Figure 7: Library Manager with Housing Project Costs library connected

Back in the Assign Cost Libraries panel for the Pipes, the Housing Project Costs library should be the only available cost library, and should be selected to show that it is being applied to the candidate set and to each of the house supply lines.

F. Sizing Method

Select Sizing Method to go to the Sizing Method panel.

Ensure that **Discrete Sizing** is chosen with the **Modified Method of Feasible Directions (MMFD)** for the Search Method.

G. Dependent Design Cases

We have now set up the system to be sized for the primary design case, but we will also need to account for the cases where either the north or south hydrant are in use. There are a few changes that occur for each of these cases where a hydrant is in use:

- 1. The flow rate at each of the houses decreases to 2 gal/min
- 2. The minimum inlet pressure for each of the hydrants must be 90 psig
- 3. The minimum pressure for each of the houses is removed
We will create two dependent design cases to account for the scenarios where the North Hydrant or the South Hydrant is open. To make the dependent design cases complete the following:

- 1. Go to the **Sizing Objective** panel and click the box next to **Enable Dependent Design Case**. A new button will now be available for the Dependent Design Cases panel in the Sizing Navigation panel.
- 2. Navigate to the Dependent Design Case panel. You should now see instructions displayed to create Dependent Design Cases, along with a summary table of dependent design settings. We will now need to use the Duplicate Special feature to create the dependent design cases.
- 3. Go to the **Workspace** and go to the Edit menu and choose **Select All**.
- 4. Go to the Edit menu again and select **Duplicate Special**, enter an increment of **400** and click the boxes next to **Make Dependent Design Case** and **Clear Design Requirements** (Figure 8). Click **OK**.
- 5. Move the duplicated pipes and junctions below the original ones on the Workspace to distinguish them from the Primary Design Case. Click **Paste**.
- 6. Select only the primary design case model and repeat steps 4 and 5 to create a second dependent design case (increment the pipe numbers by **1000** to avoid conflicting pipe numbers). There should now be two copies of the original model in the Workspace which will be used to represent the alternate operating cases.
- 7. Open the **J599** and **J1299** hydrants by selecting them and toggling the **Special Condition to None** so that the North Hydrant is open in the second case and the South Hydrant is open in the third case.
- 8. Use **Global Junction Edit** to change all 20 of the Assigned Flow junctions at the Dependent Design Case <u>homes</u> (junctions 500's, 600's, 1100's, and 1200's) to an Outflow of **2 gal/min** (see Figure 9). Make sure to not change the Assigned Flow junctions that represent the hydrants.
- 9. In the Sizing window navigate to the **Design Requirements** panel. Assign the **Fire Supply** Design Requirement created earlier to pipe **P599** and **P1299** by checking the adjacent boxes.

Return to the **Dependent Design Cases** panel.

When Duplicate Special was performed with Dependent Design Case (DDC) selected, each of the duplicated pipes was created with a special type of grouping. For example, pipes 401 and 1001 were grouped with pipe 1 as DDC pipes (see Figure 10). This type of assignment allows the dependent design pipes to be sized, but to not be counted in the cost so that the cost will not be duplicated.

Duplicate Special								
\checkmark Increment Selected Pipe and Junction Numbers By: 400 \checkmark								
Create Group								
Hide in Output								
Copy Layer Style Settings From Original Objects								
Make Dependent Design Case								
Keep Common Size Groups								
Clear Design Requirements								
✓ OK Cancel								

Figure 8: Duplicate Special settings to create a dependent design case

Global Junction Edit		
Choose Data From:	Click 'Select Assigned Flow Data' to Sp	pecify Parameters Guide >>
Junction Template Assigned Flow	 Select Assigned Flow Data 	
O Existing Junction	\sim	
All None Invert		
Junction List Workspace Special	Parameters to Change (Select in List):	All None Invert
107 Browns		
108 Peters	Name	Assigned Flow
109 Chambers		0.5 feet
110 Fords		0.5 1001
199 North Hydrant		Outflow
207 Norths	Flow Type	2 ant/aria
208 Stewarts		2 gai/min
209 Coles		
210 Allens	Replace With Show on Workspace	Number
299 South Hydrant	Design Factor	1
✓ 507 Browns	Replace With V Initial Pressure/HGL	Unspecified
508 Peters	Junction Icon	Apply Selected Junction Icon
509 Chambers	Junction Size	Default
✓ 510 Fords	Special Condition	None
S11 Reliys S99 North Hydrant	Loss Factor	0
✓ 607 Norths	Cost	
G08 Stewarts	Cost Report	Not Included
✓ 609 Coles	Design Alerts	
✓ 610 Allens	Replace With V Design Alerts	(none)
699 South Hydrant	□ Notes	
✓ 1107 Browns	Replace With Votes	No Notes
✓ 1108 Peters		
1109 Chambers		
✓ IIIU Fords		
1199 North Hydrant		
✓ 1207 Norths		
✓ 1208 Stewarts		
✓ 1209 Coles		
V 1210 Aliens		
1299 South Hydrant		
Selected: 20 of 36		
	Apply Selections OK	Cancel 👰 Help

Figure 9: Global Junction Edit is used to change the flows in the homes for the dependent cases

🧪 Workspa	ice 🧳	Sizing	📑 Model Data	🛄 Output	🖄 Graph Resi	ults	👁 Visual Report					
Lock Pane	el 🚇 Lo	ck All Pa	nels 🧯 Unlock	All Panels	Show Status Par	nel						
Pipes	- Gene	ral Junctio	ns									
Desender	- Design	Casaa										
The grid he	The original behave the relations of Dependent Design Case (DDC) objects to their base objects, as well as their design requirements											
Note that 9	Sizing Option	, Common	Size Group, Maxim	um Cost Group, Ca bio grid is informati	andidate Set, and (Cost Libr	aries/Modifiers will alw	ays be synchronized				
objects and		nueni: Des	sign case objects. I	nis giu is iniomau		iye parai	neters, go to the neces	ssary Sizing Faher.				
Pipes	DD	C Pipe?	Assigned Des	ign Requirements	3							
P1		NO	N	one								
P401	YE	S (P1)	N	one								
P1001	YE	S (P1)	N	one								
P10		NO	N	one								
P410	YE	S (P10)	N	one								
P1010	YES	S (P10)	N	one								
P20		NO	N	one								
P420	YES	5 (P20)	N	one								
P1020	YES	S (P20)	N	one								
P101		NO	N	one								
P501	YES	6 (P101)	N	one								
P1101	YES	6 (P101)	N	one								
P102		NO	N	one								
P502	YES	6 (P102)	N	one								
P1102	YES	6 (P102)	N	one								
P103		NO	N	one								
P503	YES	6 (P103)	N	one								
P1103	YES	6 (P103)	N	one								
P104		NO	N	one								
P504	YES	6 (P104)	N	one								
P1104	YES	6 (P104)	N	one				~				
Descript	ion and Hel	p		Ŧ								
T												
<u> </u>) (*	\$		$\langle x \rangle$		콽						
Sizing) Siz	e/Cost	Candidate	Design	Assign	Sizing	Dependent	Sizing				
Objecti	ve Assi	gnments	Sets R	equirements (Cost Libraries	Method	Design Cases	Summary				

Figure 10: Pipes in Dependent Design Cases have a special grouping relationship with pipes in the primary case

Step 5. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Step 6. Review the Sized Results

After the run finishes, examine the final pipe sizes calculated by the ANS module. The results for pipe size and overall cost are shown in Figure 11. One can see that the resultant size is 4-inch pipe. The lines to the houses are listed as N/A on the sizing output since they were not included in the sizing.

The cost for all sized pipes is \$64,449. This is the cost for Items in Sizing. Since we did not size the pipes to the homes (because these were fixed at 1- inch), there is an additional cost of \$7,288 for Items Not In Sizing. The pipes that were sized will be distinguished in the Cost Report by having a green background color. The total cost is merely the sum of the two: \$71,737.

It should be noted that if we did not have monetary cost information for the pipes in this example, we could get nearly identical sizing results for this system by choosing a non-monetary objective. A monetary cost objective is primarily necessary in order to size equipment like pumps, control valves, etc. with the pipes.

3	*	General Warnings		Warnings Design Alerts Cost Report Reservoir		t Report Reservoir		/
			Table Un U.S. Doll	iits: ars	Material	Installation	TOTAL	^
		TOTAL	OF ALL MO	DDEL COSTS			71,73	7
		Total of	All Shown (Costs	24,776	46,96	1 71,73	7
		Items In	Sizing		22,869	41,58	64.44	9
		Items N	ot In Sizing		1,907	5,38	31 7,28	8
		Pipe Su	btotal		24,776	46,96	1 71,73	7
	0	P1			9,900	18,00	0 27,90	0
	0	P10			1 485	2 70	n 4 18	5 4

♠ Pipes Sizing Pipe Design Requirements Library Sources

Pipe	Name	Sized - Material	Sized - Nominal Size	Sized - Type/Schedule	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches)	^
1	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
10	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
20	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
101	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
102	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
103	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
104	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
105	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
106	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
107	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
108	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
109	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
110	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
199	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
201	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
202	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
203	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
204	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
205	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
206	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
207	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
208	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
209	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
210	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
299	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	~

Figure 11: Cost summary and final pipe sizes

Step 7. Increase the Independent Pipe Sizes

To increase savings in the system we can remove some of the pipes from the Common Size Group, which will allow them to be varied separately and increase the number of Independent Pipe Sizes for the model.

Let's create a child scenario to see how much savings can be found.

In the Scenario Manager, right-click the Two Hydrants scenario, click **Create Child**, and name it *3 Pipe Sizes*. Navigate to the **Size/Cost Assignments** panel in the Sizing window. Unlock the panel if it has been locked and move pipe **P1** to **Not in Group**. Lastly, create a new Common Size Group by clicking **New**, naming it *Hydrant Pipes*, and moving pipes **P199** and **P299** to the new group.

Run the scenario and go to the Output to view the results.

The Cost Report and pipe size results for the 3 Pipe Sizes scenario shown in Figure 12. The total cost is the cost per unit length for material and installation multiplied by the length of each section. The cost data does not include excavation costs. Even with these rough costs, significant savings can be achieved. If the developer is willing to use three pipe sizes, the savings will be approximately \$2,500 or 3.5% of the total cost.

With this example, we can see that the limitations placed on the system by Common Size Groups can impact the sizing results.

In theory, to obtain the best possible sizing results, one can ungroup all the pipes in the neighborhood and allow each pipe to be sized independently. However, in practice this can result in increased fittings, installation, and maintenance costs, which is why common size groups are desirable.

*	General	Warnings	Design Alerts	Cost Repo	rt	Reservoir	Summary	
		Table Un U.S. Doll	its: ars	Material	Ins	stallation	TOTAL	^
	TOTAL	OF ALL MO	DEL COSTS				69,252	
	Total of	All Shown (23,206		46,046	69,252		
	Items Ir	Sizing		21,300		40,665	61,965	
	Items N	ot In Sizing	1,907		5,381	7,288		
	Pipe Su	Pipe Subtotal				46,046	69,252	
o	P1			9,900		18,000	27,900	~

~	Рір	es Sizi	ng Pipe Desig	n Requirements	Library Sources		
F	pipe	Name	Sized - Material	Sized - Nominal Size	Sized - Type/Schedule	Sized - Hyd. Diameter (inches)	^
	1	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	4 inch	schedule 40	4.026	
	10	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
	20	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	101	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	102	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	103	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	104	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	105	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
1	106	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
1	107	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
1	108	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
1	109	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
1	110	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
1	199	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.548	
2	201	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
2	202	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
2	203	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
2	204	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
2	205	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.549	
2	206	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
2	207	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
2	208	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
2	209	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
2	210	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
2	299	Pipe	PVC - ASTM	3-1/2 inch	schedule 40	3.548	~

Figure 12: Cost Report and pipe sizes for the system with three independently varied pipe sizes

Combined Modules Examples

The examples below utilize multiple AFT Fathom modules.

Combined Module Examples

Example	Complexity	Fluid	Pipes	Pumps	Description
<u>Fixed Head Sup</u> - <u>ply Tank</u>	Advanced	Water	3	1	Learn how to use the GSC module, XTS module, and cost calculations together to model system performance over time.

Fixed Head Supply Tank - GSC XTS

Summary

Previous examples have illustrated how to use each of the AFT Fathom modules by themselves. However, AFT Fathom also allows you to use the modules together, in any combination you choose. This allows even greater flexibility in the types of analyses that can be accomplished using AFT Fathom.

This example shows how the GSC and XTS modules and cost calculations can be performed simultaneously by examining a fixed head supply tank system.

A process plant requires the delivery of water at a fixed head, regardless of the system demand. This is accomplished by pumping the water to a supply reservoir, and maintaining a constant fill-level by varying the supply pump speed as the process demands change. Throughout any 24-hour period the process demands vary from as little as 500 gal/min to peak demands of 2,500 gal/min.

Use the GSC and XTS modules to analyze the system performance over a 24-hour period. Perform cost calculations to determine the energy costs for the pump with this daily operation over one year.

Note: This example can only be run if you have licenses for the GSC and XTS modules.

Topics Covered

• Using the GSC and XTS modules and performing cost calculations simultaneously

Required Knowledge

This example assumes the user has already worked through the <u>Beginner - Three Reservoir</u> example, or has a level of knowledge consistent with that topic. You can also watch the <u>AFT Fathom Quick Start</u> <u>Video Tutorial Series</u> on the AFT website, as it covers the majority of the topics discussed in the Three-Reservoir Problem example.

In addition, it is assumed that the user has worked through the <u>Beginner - Filling a Tank - XTS</u> example, the <u>Beginner - Heat Transfer in a Pipe - GSC</u> example, and the <u>Beginner - Cost Calculation</u> example and is familiar with the basics of GSC, XTS module, and cost calculation analyses.

Model Files

This example uses the following files, which are installed in the Examples folder as part of the AFT Fathom installation:

• US - Fixed Head Supply Tank - GSC XTS.fth

Step 1. Start AFT Fathom

From the Start Menu choose the AFT Fathom 13 folder and select AFT Fathom 13.

To ensure that your results are the same as those presented in this documentation, this example should be run using all default AFT Fathom settings, unless you are specifically instructed to do otherwise.

Step 2. Define the Modules Panel

Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. Navigate to the Modules panel. For this example, check the box next to Activate GSC and Activate XTS. Make sure Use is selected for GSC and Transient is selected for XTS. Two new groups will appear in Analysis Setup titled Goal Seek and Control and Transient Control. Click OK to save the changes and exit Analysis Setup. Open the Analysis menu to see the two new options called Goal Seek & Control and Time Simulation. From here you can quickly toggle between Ignore (normal AFT Fathom) and Use (GSC mode) for GSC and between Steady Only (normal AFT Fathom) and Transient (XTS mode).

Step 3. Define the Fluid Properties Group

- 1. Open Analysis Setup from the toolbar or from the Analysis menu.
- 2. Open the Fluid panel then define the fluid:
 - a. Fluid Library = AFT Standard
 - b. Fluid = Water (liquid)
 - i. After selecting, click Add to Model
 - c. Temperature = 70 deg. F

Step 4. Define the Pipes and Junctions Group

At this point, the first two groups are completed in Analysis Setup. The next undefined group is the Pipes and Junctions group. To define this group, the model needs to be assembled with all pipes and junctions fully defined. Click OK to save and exit Analysis Setup then assemble the model on the workspace as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1: Fixed Head Supply Tank model layout

Pipe Properties

- 1. Pipe Model tab
 - a. Pipe Material = Steel ANSI
 - b. Pipe Geometry = Cylindrical Pipe
 - c. Size = 5 inch
 - d. Type = STD (schedule 40)
 - e. Friction Model Data Set = Standard
 - f. Lengths =

Pipe	Length (feet)
1	30
2	500
3	100

Junction Properties

1. J1 Reservoir

- a. Tank Model = Infinite Reservoir
- b. Liquid Surface Elevation = 30 feet
- c. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
- d. Pipe Depth = 30 feet
- 2. J2 Pump
 - a. Inlet Elevation = 0 feet
 - b. Pump Model = Centrifugal (Rotodynamic)
 - c. Analysis Type = Pump Curve
 - d. Enter Curve Data =

Volumetric	Head	Efficiency
gal/min	feet	Percent
0	500	0
1250		60
2500	480	80
3750		70
5000	250	40

- e. Curve Fit Order = 2
- 3. J3 Reservoir
 - a. Name = Supply Tank
 - b. Tank Model = Finite Open Tank
 - c. Known Parameters Initially = Both Parameters (Liquid Surface Level & Surface Pressure)
 - d. Cross-Sectional Area = Constant, 314 feet2
 - e. Liquid Level Specification = Height from Bottom
 - f. Liquid Height = 15 feet
 - g. Liquid Surface Pressure = 0 psig
 - h. Tank Height = 20 feet
 - i. Pipe Depth = 15 feet
 - j. Tank Bottom Elevation = 20 feet
- 3. J4 Assigned Flow
 - 1. Elevation = 0 feet
 - 2. Type = Outflow
 - 3. Flow Specification = Volumetric Flow Rate
 - 4. Flow Rate = 500 gal/min

Step 5. Define the Goal Seek and Control Group

Specify the variables and goals for the model.

Variables Panel

Open the Variables panel in the Goal Seek and Control group in Analysis Setup. For this example, we will be adding one pump variable: pump speed.

Click **New Variable** and change the Junction Type to **Pump**. By default, J2 (Pump) and Variable Speed will be selected for Object Number and Name and Variable Parameter, respectively. The Variables panel should look now like Figure 2.



Figure 2: Defined Variables panel

Goals Panel

Navigate to the Goals panel. The desired goal is for the net volumetric flow rate into the junction to be zero, which will keep the water level in the tank constant.

Click **New Goal** and change the Object Type or **Reservoir**. By default, Vol. Flow Rate New Into Jct should be the selected Goal Parameter. Enter **0** as the Goal Value and select **J3 (Supply Tank)** for the Object ID. The Goals panel should now look like Figure 3.

Analy	is Setup		X
120	Modules	\sim	Goals
<u>_</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	
	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	New Goal Duplicate Goal Delete Goal Delete Al Goals Desired goals in Output
Ø!	Transient Control	^	Apply Goal Type Object Goal Criteria Goal Goal Object Object Location
	Simulation Duration		1 🗹 Point 🗸 Reservoir 🗸 Vol. Flow Rate Net Into Jct 🗸 = 0 gal/min 🗸 J3 (Supply Tank) 🗸 NA
00	Goal Seek and Control	^	
2	Variables		
2	Goals		
	Numerical Controls		
20	Steady Solution Control	\sim	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	
%0	Cost Settings	\sim	
	Miscellaneous	\sim	
			Al None Invert
Colle	ipse All Groups		🖾 Same As Parent 🕞 🖗 Help

Figure 3: Defined Goals panel

Step 6. Define the Transient Control Group

The XTS module is used to model the process demand changes over the 24-hour analysis period. Navigate to the Simulation Duration panel in the Transient Control group to view the Transient Control settings. Change the Start Time units to **hours** and enter a Stop Time of **24**. For Time Step, changes the units to **minutes** and enter **10**. The Simulation Duration panel should now look like Figure 4. The transient analysis is now set to run for a period of 24-hours with a time step of 10 minutes. Click **OK** to save and close Analysis Setup.

Analys	is Setup			×
20	Modules	\sim	Simulation Duration	
<u> </u>	Fluid Properties	\sim		
٢	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	Start Time: 0 hours V Stop Time: 24	
Ö	Transient Control	^	Time Step: 10 minutes V	
0	*Simulation Duration		Total Time Steps: 144	
00	Goal Seek and Control	^	Save Output to File Every Time Step Save Intermediate Output To File Every Time Steps	
2	*Variables			
2	*Goals			
	Numerical Controls			
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Relative	
æ	Environmental Properties	\sim	Absolute feet V	
200	Environmental i ropertes	Ť	Relaxation:	
?⊘	Cost Settings	\sim	Maximum Defaults	
	Miscellaneous	\sim		
Colla	pse All Groups		Same As Parent 🔹 🎱 Help 🛛 🖌 🛛 🐼 Can	cel

Figure 4: Transient Control settings for a 24-hour period

Step 7. Junction Transient Data

The flow variation in this model is driven by the J4 Assigned Flow junction. Open the J4 Assigned Flow Properties window and select the Transient tab. The process flow demands are modeled as time-varying flows. The flow profile over the 24-hour period is defined in the Transient Data table. Use Table 1 below to fill in the Transient Data table. Then, click Show Graph and make sure the Junction J4 Transient Data graph matches Figure 5.

Note that the time units are in seconds. Alternatively, you can change the preferred time units in User Options from seconds to hours to change the units of this table, then enter the values in this table in hours instead. However, to keep to the default units, this table is provided in time units of seconds.

Data Point	Time (seconds)	Vol. Flow (gal/min)
1	0	500
2	7200	500
3	14400	1500
4	25200	2000
5	28800	2500
6	32400	2500
7	43200	1000
8	50400	500
9	57600	500
10	64800	1500
11	68400	2000
12	75600	2000
13	82800	1000
14	86400	500

Table 1: Transient Data table for J4 Assigned Flow

lumber: 4	ber: 4				3 🖌	ОК
lame: Assigned	Flow	~	Downstream Pipe: None Cancel			
ibrary Jct:		Elevation				
Copy Data From Jct				feet	~	Jump.
					9	Help
low Model Management	Optional Design Alerts	Cost	Notes	S <u>t</u> atus		
Transient Special Condition			Transient	Data		
None			Absol	ute Values		
🔘 Ignore Transient Data			Relati	ve To Steady-S	tate Value	
nitiation of Transient			Data Point	Time (seconds)	Vol. Flow (gal/min)	^
Time	Event Cyclic		1	0	500	
○ Single Event ○ Dual	Event Sequential		2	7200	500	- L
			3	14400	1500	
			4	25200	2000	
			5	28800	2500	
			6	32400	2500	
			7	43200	1000	
			8	50400	500	
			9	57600	500	
			10	64800	1500	
			11	68400	2000	
			12	75600	2000	~
				dit Table 👻 🛛	Show Graph	



Figure 5: Flow demand over 24 hours at the J4 junction

In addition, the J3 Reservoir junction is modeled as a finite reservoir (Figure 6). The J3 Reservoir can potentially drain and fill, and the varying pump speed (and, hence, flow) is what will keep its liquid level at 15 feet. No further input is required for the Supply Tank.

Reservoir Properties		
Num <u>b</u> er:	3	<u>√ о</u> к
Na <u>m</u> e:	Supply Tank ~	X Cancel
Library Jct:	~	🍡 Jump
Copy Data From J <u>c</u> t	. 🗸	(2) Help
Reservoir Model	Pipe Depth & Loss Coefficients Transient	Optional Design Alerts Cost Notes Status
 Infinite Reservo Finite Open Tar Finite Closed Ta Cross-Sectional Area Cogstant Vai 314 feet2 Liquid Height: Elevation Height: Feet 	ight from Bottom	Liquid Surface Pressure

Figure 6: J3 Reservoir junction is finite, which means it can drain and fill

Step 8. Cost Settings

For this problem, the pump energy cost for the 24-hour analysis period is entered as a fixed energy cost on the Cost Settings panel. Open the Cost Settings panel from the Analysis Setup window to view the energy cost settings.

For Cost Calculation, select **Calculate**. Under Cost Definitions, check the box for **Operation/Energy** because that is the only cost of interest for this example.

Set the Cost Time Period System Life to **1 year**. The 24-hour operation is assumed to repeat every day for this one-year period, and the total energy cost will be calculated assuming the 24-hour operation repeats non-stop throughout the year. More complicated cost variation is possible when using energy cost libraries.

For Energy Cost, make sure **Use This Energy Cost Information** is selected and enter a Cost of **0.12 U.S. Dollars Per kW-hr**.

The Cost Setting panel should now look like Figure 7 below.

Analys	is Setup			×
120	Modules	\sim	Cost Settings	
<u>~</u>	Fluid Properties	\sim	Cost Calculation	
	Pipes and Junctions	\sim	Do Not Calculate Pump Energy Only Calculate Calculates the costs associated with system materials, installation, energy, and/or maintenance.	
٥	Transient Control	\sim	Cost Definitions Energy Cost	
00	Goal Seek and Control	\sim	Monetary Cost OUse Energy Cost Libraries Use This Energy Cost Information	
80	Steady Solution Control	\sim	Cost: 0.12 U.S. Dollars	
ø	Environmental Properties	\sim	Instalation Instalation Maintenance Operation/Energy Only this fixed energy and set here will be used. All	
?⊘	Cost Settings	^	Energy Cost settings in the Library Manager will be ignored.	
	Cost Settings			
	Miscellaneous	~	Cost Time Period System Life: Interest Rate: 0 % Inflation Rate: 0 % V Always Warn for Incomplete Pipe Subcomponent Costs	
Colla	pse All Groups		😰 Same As Parent 🚽 🎯 Help 🛛 🗸 Ca	ncel

Figure 7: Cost Settings window applies Operation/Energy cost, can set the energy cost, and specifies the cost time period

Return to the Workspace and open the properties window for **Pump J2**. Navigate to the **Cost** tab and under Cost Report, select **Include Cost in Report**. Click **OK**.

Step 9. Run the Model

Click Run Model on the toolbar or from the Analysis menu. This will open the Solution Progress window. This window allows you to watch as the AFT Fathom solver converges on the answer. Now view the results by clicking the Output button at the bottom of the Solution Progress window.

Note: When the GSC and XTS modules are used simultaneously, the GSC module is rerun for each time step. The GSC module variables are recalculated for the system conditions at each time step to ensure the specified goals are always met. This will typically result in longer run times, due to the increase in solution iterations that must be solved for each time step analysis.

Step 10. Examine the Output

When using multiple modules, the goal seek, transient and cost analysis results are shown in the Output window in the same manner as when they are used individually.

First open Output Control and go to the Format & Action tab. In the Time Simulation Formatting section, change the units to hours. Now all time units for XTS related output parameters will be shown using time units of hours.

The GSC variable and goal results in the General Output section can be viewed for each time step by using the slider bar at the bottom of the Output window, as shown in Figure 8.

☆ Gener	al Warr	nings [Design Alerts	Cost R	eport	Pump Summary	Pump Transient	Reservoir Summary	Reservoir Transient	GSC Variables	GSC Goals
Time: 0 Variable	Object Type	Object	Parameter	Value	Units						
1	Pump	J2	Speed	23.21	Percen	<u>.</u>					
➢ Pipes											
	ns										
Time: 0 hour	s		RTFF	I 🛡							
☆ Gener	al Warr	nings [Design Alerts	Cost R	eport	Pump Summary	Pump Transient	Reservoir Summary	Reservoir Transient	GSC Variables	GSC Goals
Time: 12 <u>Variable</u> 1	Object Type Pump	Object J2	Parameter Speed	Value 42.46	Uni Perce	tsnt					
➢ Pipes											
	ns										
Time: 12 hou	irs		BADB								

Figure 8: The slider bar at the bottom of the Output window can be used to view the transient results at any time step, including the GSC module variable and goal results. The GSC variable results for Time = 0 hours and Time = 12 hours are shown

Cost data is displayed in the Cost Report in the General Output section, as shown in Figure 9. The oneyear energy cost for the supply pump in this example was \$84,213.

^	General	Warnings	Design Alerts	Cost Rep	port Pun	np Summary Pump 1	Fransier 🔍 🗎
		Table U.S. Do	Units: bllars	Туре	Name	Operation/Energy	TOTAL
	TOTA	LOFALLM	IODEL COSTS			•	84,213
	Total of All Shown Costs					84,213	84,213
	Pump Subtotal					84,213	84,213
	J2			Pump	Pump	84,213	84,213

Figure 9: The cost data is shown in the Cost Report in the General Output section of the Output window

Figure 10 shows how the GSC module varied the pump's speed over time with the varying process flow rate.

Figure 11 shows that the water level in the process supply tank changes little over time because the net volumetric flow is held constant. The pump speed changes to increase and decrease the flow in order to keep the net flow into the Supply Tank zero. The minor changes in tank level are a result of the Forward Difference tank level calculation and can be reduced using the Central Difference method and a finer time step. These can be adjusted within the Transient Control section of Analysis Setup.



Figure 10: The GSC module varies the supply pump speed as the process flow rate changes over time (top)



Figure 11: The water level in the process supply tank (left axis) remains relatively constant over time and the net volumetric flow rate (right axis) remains exactly at zero due to the variation in the pump speed

Summary

Individually, the AFT Fathom modules provide you with powerful analytical tools to assist you in the design of your pipe systems. The ability to combine the capabilities of these tools provides you with even greater and more powerful modeling capabilities.

Index

W

Workspace Layers

From Workspace Selections | Primary.Complete | [31] 108